
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 14 December 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the public and press 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2022                        
(Pages 3 - 10) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

Key Decisions: 
 
4. Adoption of the Inclusive Economic Strategy - Report of 

Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth                
[Key Decision: REG/08/22]  (Pages 11 - 228) 

5. Ecological Emergency: Outline Strategy and Action Plan - Report 
of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 
[Key Decision: NCC/04/22]  (Pages 229 - 266) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
6. Quarter Two, 2022/23 Performance Management Report - Report 

of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 267 - 318) 

7. Adult Social Care Update Report - Report of Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services  (Pages 319 - 342) 

8. County Durham Plan Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 2021/22 - 
Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth  (Pages 343 - 452) 

9. Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme - Joint Report of 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and 
Director of Public Health  (Pages 453 - 472) 



10. Proposed revisions to the constitution for the Durham County 
Council Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 
(SACRE) - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People's Services  (Pages 473 - 500) 

11. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

12. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
6 December 2022 
 
 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors A Hopgood and R Bell (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council), Councillors T Henderson, C Hood, 
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth 
and M Wilkes 

 
 

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269714 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Durham on Wednesday 16 November 2022 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor A Hopgood (Leader of the Council) in the Chair 
 
Cabinet Members: 
Councillors R Bell (Deputy Leader of the Council), T Henderson, C Hood, 
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes 
 

 

1 Public Questions 
 
There were no public questions. 
 

2 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any item of business on 
the agenda. 
 

4 Council Tax Base 2023/24 and Forecast Deficit on the Council Tax 
Collection Fund as at 31 March 2023 (Key Decision: CORP/R/22/02) 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources to 
determine the council’s tax base for domestic properties liable to pay council 
tax, an important component in the council’s budget setting process for 
2023/24 and to report on the estimated collection fund deficit as at 31 March 
2023 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
In moving the recommendations, Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Portfolio Holder for Finance thanked the Corporate Director of 
Resources and his team for the comprehensive and very important report. 
Councillor Bell referred to the limited council tax raising capacity of the 
Council compared to many other areas, which the report illustrated. 83.2% of 
all domestic properties across County Durham were in Band A-C.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



This was well above the national average of 65.4% which placed the Council 
at a disadvantage compared to other authorities. The Government had been 
lobbied and continued to be lobbied on this issue. The report also proposed 
the continuation of grant payments to Town and Parish Councils of £1.5m 
next year, however, Councillor Bell commented that this continued 
concession would need to be seriously reviewed moving forward given the 
financial situation the Council faced. 
 
The Leader of the Council seconded the report and was pleased to be able 
to agree a tax base with some modest growth next year. Colleagues in Police 
and Fire would welcome notification of the initial estimates to aid their budget 
planning. The Leader supported the proposal to defer declaring the financial 
position for budget setting purposes until January 2023 to allow officers to 
consider the Q3 position on the collection fund. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

5 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2022/23 - Period to 30 
September 2022 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(12) savings 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided Cabinet with updated information on the: 
 

(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2022/23, based on the 
position to September 2022; 

(b) forecast dedicated schools grant and schools position as at 31 
March 2023, based on the position to 30 September 2022; 

(c) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 
position at 31 March 2023, based on the position to 30 
September 2022; and 

(d) details of the forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, 
cash limit and general reserves in 2022/23 and the estimated 
balances that will be held at 31 March 2023. 

 
The report also sought approval of the of the revised capital programme 
2022/23, other budget adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of 
the cash limit in year and provided Cabinet with an update on progress 
towards achieving MTFP(12) savings in 2022/23 (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
 
 

Page 4



Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Finance commended officers for a comprehensive and thorough report and 
budget managers across the Council for their continuing efforts to manage 
budgets. The unavoidable cost pressures being experienced currently were 
immense. Inflation and interest rate increases were impacting on pay and the 
price of everything we buy. The escalating demand for children’s social care 
and home to school transport was resulting in significant overspends. Apart 
from Adult and Health Services and Resources, all other services were 
forecasting overspends against their cash limit budgets this year, despite any 
ongoing covid related pressures and inflationary pressures linked to pay and 
price inflation being treated outside their cash limits. 
 
There remained significant uncertainty over the financial settlement from 
government from the next year into future years and the Council would await 
with interest the forthcoming budget announcement. The strong financial 
standing of Durham was better than many other councils. An amended 
capital programme, taking into account reprofiling would result in a huge 
capital programme. There were a range of budget pressures outside of the 
Council’s control, with many pressures continuing to impact into the next 
financial year. Strong financial resilience meant that some pressures could 
be met from reserves this year and into next, however, as everyone was 
accurately aware this was not a sustainable position to move forward. It did 
however, allow the Council to reform to find savings whereby difficult 
decisions would need to be made without significant funding from the 
Government.  

The Leader of the Council explained that accurately forecasting and keeping 
track of the finances for a Council with the scale and complexity of Durham 
was a huge challenge and indeed, managing finance was a key issue for us 
all set against a backdrop of increased demand, volatility, and an uncertain 
outlook in terms of future finance settlements. Pay and price inflation, 
particularly around energy, waste and transport costs were placing 
unprecedented pressures on the Council’s budgets which had been reflected 
in the forecasts. This would continue into next year and the continued 
uncertainty in terms of a government settlement meant that the Council 
would need to carefully reflect on updated forecasts in terms of impact it 
would have on the 2023/24 budget and on the MTFP position. 

Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



6 Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services and Chair of Children, Young People and Families 
Partnership Board that presented Cabinet with the Growing Up in County 
Durham (GUiCD) 2023-25 Strategy for endorsement (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
Councillor T Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People’s Services informed Cabinet that the views of Children and Young 
People had been listened to. Their views had guided the development of the 
strategy. Alongside this there had been a comprehensive consultation 
process which included a wide range of stakeholders, key partners and the 
voluntary and community sector and most importantly children, young people 
and their families. The strategy was written in an easy to understand format 
and focussed on adding to the excellent work already taking place across the 
County. Councillor Henderson was confident that the strategy included the 
correct actions for children and young people and their families and fully 
supported the vision.  
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Rural Communities 
and Highways, commented that during the consultation process many 
children and young people spoke of the importance of being able to go out in 
the community and access services, particularly after the series of lockdowns 
throughout the coronavirus pandemic. They recognised the importance of 
being able to socialise face to face and go to leisure facilities. As Portfolio 
Holder for Rural Communities and Highways, living in a rural community in 
County Durham during hard financial times made it difficult for people to 
access services they wanted or needed. It was pleasing to note that public 
transport issues had been recognised within the strategy. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be noted. 
 

7 Poverty Strategy and Action Plan  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services which 
presented the revised Poverty Strategy and Action Plan for approval 
following a consultation exercise undertaken April to August 2022. The report 
also presented to Cabinet the updated Child Poverty Action Plan as a 
separate document that focussed on addressing child poverty and was 
aligned with the wider Poverty Strategy and Action Plan (for copy of report 
see file of Minutes). 
 

Page 6



In moving the report, Councillor Alan Shield, Portfolio Holder for Equality and 
Inclusion thanked the Corporate Director of Resources and his team for their 
dedication and hard work on this extensive consultation and engagement 
programme working with all partners and stakeholders. Poverty was a 
complex issue, its impact devastating. The causes were complex and 
tackling such a complex problem required a multifaceted approach. 
Councillor Shield highlighted that the response was comprehensive and a 
strong safety net was in place to capture those who are were most 
disadvantaged and vulnerable in society. The Council needed to ensure that 
people in crisis were provided with advice, guidance and financial assistance 
to provide a sustained route out of poverty. 
 
Councillor S McDonnell, Portfolio Holder for Digital, Customer Services and 
Procurement also paid tribute to the Corporate Director of Resources and his 
team, particularly the Head of Transactional and Customer Services in 
helping to shape and deliver on the actions contained in the action plans. 
Whilst the scale of challenge was significant, it was important to highlight that 
the scale of the response had also been significant and was the envy of 
many other areas. The County Council could be proud of the scheme, 
support and initiatives that were in place across the County which would help 
and continue to help thousands of the most disadvantaged and vulnerable 
people across the County. Councillor S McDonnell seconded the 
recommendation. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved. 
 

8 County Durham Local Development Scheme and Publication Draft 
Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document 
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which sought approval to commence consultation on 
the Publication Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
Development Plan Document (M&WDPD) which supports the policies and 
provisions of the County Durham Plan which was adopted in October 2020.  
The report also sought approval of a new Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
which sets out the timetable for the preparation of planning documents 
including the M&WDPD (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor E Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships 
moved the report. Councillor Scott explained that the County Durham Plan 
was adopted in October 2020. The new LDS set out how the council would 
bring forward a number of documents over the next few years to support the 
content of the County Durham Plan.  

Page 7



Documents such as the Draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
Development Plan provided additional detail and clarity on what is required 
for new development to be acceptable which provided certainty for 
developers and reassurance for residents. Councillor Scott spoke of the 
importance of consultation and views would be sought on the document to 
inform its final content before examination in public. 
 
In seconding the report, Councillor J Rowlandson Portfolio Holder for 
Resources, Investment and Assets spoke of the importance for the County 
Durham economy in ensuring that we were planning for mineral extraction, 
waste management to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and 
goods the County needed. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved. 
 

9 Finance Durham - the First Five Years 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth which provided an overview and update on the 
performance of the Council’s Finance Durham Fund in its first five years of 
operation, and to look forward to its next phase following the re-procurement 
of the Fund Manager, which had recently been completed (for copy see file 
of minutes). 
 
Councillor J Rowlandson, Portfolio Holder for Resources, Investment and 
Assets commented that the Council vision for County Durham included the 
ambition to create more and better jobs and was convinced that Finance 
Durham was playing a key role in realising this vision. The fund had aligned 
well with other County Council initiatives and examples of the good work that 
had taken place were provided for information. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

10 County Durham Partnership Update 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change which update Cabinet on issues being 
addressed by the County Durham Partnership (CDP).  The report also 
included updates on other key initiatives being carried out in partnership 
across the county (for copy of report see file of Minutes). 
 

Page 8



The Leader of the Council, as Chair of the County Durham Partnership was 
delighted and inspired to see extent of partnership working across the 
County which had been drawn together in the update. The uncertain and 
difficult financial circumstances for many had cast a shadow over the update. 
The partnership event to be held later in the month would focus on the cost 
of living crisis and how partnership and community sectors could respond. 
 
The Board regularly received updates from the Poverty Action Steering 
Group which demonstrated the power of partnership working on this agenda 
and examples of several initiatives which had been delivered across the 
county such as the warm spaces network were provided to the Cabinet for 
information. 
 
Other areas highlighted related to the safeguarding adults work, the vital 
work of the partnership in terms of building on the innovative e-conversation 
process, highlights of Area Action Partnerships across the County alongside 
the vital humanitarian support work taking place and the role the partnership 
played in providing a place of safety for those fleeing conflicts across the 
world. 
 
Councillor E Scott, Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships echoed 
the positive comments, the work of the partnership and referred to some of 
the inspiring initiatives in the report. Councillor Scott also highlighted the 
work of the economic partnership in the new inclusive economic strategy and 
referred to the review of community engagement which was progressing well. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

11 Such other business 
 

The Journal Culture Awards 2022 
 

The Leader of the Council announced that the Council and the Durham Bid 
team for Durham 2025 received a special recognition award for their work 
around the City of Culture bid and the ongoing journey for culture and County 
Durham at the Journal Culture Awards 2022 held at Durham Cathedral. The 
Leader of the Council placed on record her thanks to everyone involved 
which epitomised the strength of partnership working. 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 Cabinet 

14 December 2022 

Adoption of the Inclusive Economic 

Strategy 

Key Decision No. REG/08/22 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to adopt the 
County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES) that has been 
developed through the County Durham Economic Partnership (CDEP). 

Executive summary 

2 In December 2021, the Council’s Cabinet agreed the process for 
developing a new Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES).  This is a strategy 
of our county, not of one organisation, and has been codeveloped in 
partnership.  It takes a holistic view of what the economy needs so that 
all people and places can contribute to and benefit from growth and the 
county’s success, whilst having a positive impact on the planet.  Our 
first County Durham IES has been developed by CDEP with residents, 
businesses, anchor institutions, and the voluntary and community 
sector.  It sets a clear long term vision for the County’s economy 
through to 2035, and will be delivered through a series of Delivery Plans 
formed and delivered in partnership through CDEP. 

3 The IES is underpinned by a comprehensive evidence base 
(Appendices 3a and 3b) and an Economic Statement (Appendix 4) that 
establishes the state of our economy today and our opportunities and 
challenges in the future.  This has informed the IES vision, priorities, 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

and areas of focus - such as our strengths in advanced manufacturing, 
key opportunity sectors for growth, and addressing the causes of 
economic inactivity around health.  But the journey and partnership 
working to build the strategy have been as important as the final 
document.  The Econversation – a new approach to public and 
stakeholder engagement that has provided a detailed understanding of 
the aspirations and priorities of our residents, partners and businesses 
and the barriers to creating economic growth that is inclusive for all.  
The draft strategy has also been considered by Economy and 
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC), and its feedback 
has been important in shaping the final IES (Appendix 6). 

4 The new approach to engagement has also allowed us to re-energise 
relationships with partners such as CPI, the University and the further 
education colleges, alongside the CDEP which have been integral in 
developing the IES.  More importantly, these partnerships are 
committed to being the key driving forces in delivering the future vision. 

5 Our vision for County Durham’s future is to have a sustainable, inclusive 
economy with a diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with 
targeted training and learning programmes tailored to our employment 
specialisms and needs of business.  The Strategy (Appendix 2) aims to 
raise aspirations in our young people and deliver a step-change in our 
economic growth with all our partners and activity aligned to delivering 
an agreed future vision. 

6 To achieve this the IES sets a framework for an inclusive economy, 
focusing on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet: 

• People - We will support people into education, training, jobs, and 
to excel in business and their careers; 

• Productivity - We will support business innovation, growth, and 
higher levels of productivity; 

• Places - We will improve places and plan infrastructure so that 

people and businesses can access opportunities; 

• Promotion - We will promote our county, assets and opportunities 
to businesses, investors, visitors, developers and residents; and 

• Planet - Within each of the above headings we have specific 
actions related to green growth.  The target for County Durham to 
become net zero has been brought forward to 2045.  The Climate 
Emergency Plan sets out how we need to be at the forefront of 
the clean, green, industrial revolution.  This strategy needs to 
complement these plans by investing in people, technologies, 
research and development, and business. 

Page 12



 

 

7 Our next steps are to develop a detailed Delivery Plan and monitoring 
framework to deliver against our Strategy.  CDEP will engage 
stakeholders, residents, businesses, education providers, and 
communities in decision-making and the development of relevant 
actions and initiatives.  The use of a Delivery Plan approach throughout 
the vision period will enable regular reviews to respond to economic 
changes; allow priorities to be reassessed and recalibrated; and actions 
to be refined based on whether outcomes are being achieved.  This will 
ensure the IES remains a relevant and live document throughout its 
lifespan. 

8 If Members are minded to adopt the IES, it will be formally launched in 
the new year.  It will also be promoted across social media and on a 
dedicated web page and become the key document in DCC’s Economic 
Development.  Reflecting CDEP’s key role in preparing the IES and 
owning its future delivery, where appropriate partnership members will 
also take the IES through their own approvals processes in parallel to it 
being signed off by Cabinet.  CDEP is also in the process of undertaking 
a review of its Membership to identify any gaps in representation and 
Terms of Reference in light of the new Strategy and its role in 
developing and driving the Delivery Plan. 

Recommendation 

9 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) adopt the County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy presented 
in Appendix 2. 

  

Page 13



 

 

Background 

10 The first stage in creating the IES was to produce a comprehensive 
economic evidence base to understand our economy (Appendices 3a 
and 3b).  This was captured in an Economic Statement (Appendix 4) 
which provides the strong foundations to make evidence-based 
decisions about the future of our economy.  The Statement provides 
clarity on how the economy is performing and what are the opportunities 
and challenges.  This has informed the IES vision, priorities, and areas 
of focus - such as our strengths in advanced manufacturing, key 
opportunity sectors for growth, skills and education, and addressing the 
causes of economic inactivity around health. 

11 The journey and partnership working to build the strategy have been as 
important as the final document.  The Big Econversation (Appendix 5) 
was undertaken between 31 January and 22 April 2022 and developed 
a new approach to engaging with our communities and stakeholders.  
The engagement was widely promoted including through press 
releases, social media, case studies, a radio advert for Smooth NE, bus 
panels and digital media.  There were also 86 events held and attended 
by over 1,500 people which identified key issues to be tackled and 
suggested some actions to address them.  A total of 1,455 surveys 
completed including from 918 residents, 94 businesses and 443 young 
people were also received.  Feedback received during the Econ-
versation was sense checked in a number of CDEP led workshops held 
in July and following preparation of a draft strategy a round of targeted 
engagement was also undertaken in September. 

12 It is this strategy that sets a long term vision for County Durham’s 
economy - In 2020 the Council adopted the County Durham Plan, but 
CDEP was working to an historic Regeneration Statement prepared 
back in 2012.  If the County Durham Plan looks at where growth will go, 
the Strategy sets out how we plan to achieve that growth and who that 
growth will benefit.  Some of this builds on the excellent work that is 
already taking place, but establishes clarity of direction and clear 
priorities to inform future decision making and drive a step change in 
delivering economic growth for the county. 

13 Once approved, the IES will provide the bold ambitious long-term 
vision, and a framework as to how that vision will be delivered.  The 
next stage of strategy development will be to create a detailed short to 
medium Delivery Plan through CDEP.  Applying a Delivery Plan 
approach will allow the adoption of a long term vision until 2035 that 
provides clarity, consistency and confidence, but then allows flexibility 
in delivery.  The development of a series of Delivery Plans throughout 
the vision period will enable regular reviews to respond to economic 
changes; allow priorities to be reassessed and recalibrated by future 

Page 14



 

 

administrations; and actions to be refined based on whether outcomes 
are being achieved.  

Figure 1 – IES development process 

 

 

Inclusive Economic Strategy 

The Vision 

14 The key to delivering an inclusive economy for County Durham is to 
have a clear, bold and ambitious vision for the future, developed in 
partnership, and to which all our partners have signed up to deliver.  
This long-term economic vision for County Durham in 2035 balances 
our need to growth with achieving prosperity for all.  At the same time 
as responding on the immediate challenges in front of us, we are 
focused on building a stronger County Durham, one where everyone 
realises their ambitions in a modern green economy firmly focused on 
the future. 

15 By 2035 County Durham will be a sustainable, inclusive economy with a 
diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with targeted training and 
learning programmes tailored to our employment specialisms and 
needs of business. 

16 We will have strengthened the existing strong partnership working in the 
county, with agile support for businesses, residents and places to 
transform the economies in all our communities - a catalyst that mines 
our assets in new and imaginative ways and delivers recovery and 
renewal rooted in our place to reconnect people, places, history, culture, 
and land. 

Page 15



 

 

17 The county will balance growth with prosperity for all and support for 
cost of living.  At the same time as responding on the immediate 
challenges in front of us, we are focused on building a stronger County 
Durham, one where everyone reaches their potential and we have a 
future focused economy.  That is the focus of this long term strategy. 

Developing our Inclusive Economic Strategy 

18 This is a strategy of our county, not of one organisation, and has been 
codeveloped in partnership.  It takes a holistic view of what the 
economy needs so that all people and places can contribute to and 
benefit from growth and the county’s success, whilst having a positive 
impact on the planet.  Our first County Durham IES has been developed 
by CDEP with residents, businesses, anchor institutions, and the 
voluntary and community sector.  The emerging draft strategy was also 
considered by the Economy and Enterprise OSC and their input helped 
shape the final version of the strategy (as set out in Appendix 6). 

19 The IES focuses on inclusive economic growth and aligns with existing 
strategies and plans in place across the county, including Council 
documents such as the County Durham Plan, Climate Emergency 
Response Plan, Digital Strategy, Poverty Action Plan and UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund Investment Plan, plus regional strategies from the 
North East LEP.  It does not describe everything that is happening in 
the county or replicate other documents. 

20 This strategy is deliverable and realistic.  It will address immediate and 
long-term opportunities and challenges, giving a 2035 perspective.  We 
will use this strategy as the vision and strategic framework to coordinate 
activity, it is designed to be inclusive for new ideas as they emerge. 

21 It recognises the excellent work we are already doing as partners 
across the county and identifies areas for further focus.  This is about 
County Durham activity and where we have agency as a partnership, 
focusing on county-wide and place-based actions where it makes 
sense, rather than giving national or regional solutions. 

22 We will codevelop in partnership a series of short to medium term 
Delivery Plans throughout the lifetime of the strategy, which will include 
detailed actions to deliver a step change for the county.  This process 
will also identify any further supporting strategies or plans needed to 
realise the IES.  This will build on and coordinate the project and 
programme ideas that we have collated from Our Big Econversation 
and stakeholder engagement.  We will consider and add 
transformational projects and programmes as our Delivery Plan is 
refreshed and updated. 

  

Page 16



 

 

Our Focus 

23 Our overarching focus for this strategy is to create more and better 
jobs in an inclusive, green economy. 

 

Figure 2 – IES areas of focus 

 

24 This means: 

• More jobs, in the county’s broad business base; 

• Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that 
pays a living wage; 

• Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly 
amongst our people and places; 

• Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the 2045 goal of net 
zero carbon County Durham. 

Delivering Our Vision 

25 We have developed a strategic framework to co-ordinate delivery 

against our vision and ambition.  This focuses on the five Ps: People, 

Page 17



 

 

Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet.  It will be delivered through 

a sixth P: Partnerships. 

 

Figure 3 – The 5 “P’s” strategic framework 

 

 

People 

26 We will support people into education, training, jobs, and to excel in 

business and their careers: 

• Priority 1: Raise skills levels, including higher and green skills, 
directly targeted to what employers need; 

• Priority 2: Overcome barriers into employment, including work 
readiness, skills, improved careers advice and guidance, and 
addressing poor health; 

• Priority 3: Increase in-work progression and upskilling linked to 
new opportunities; 

• Priority 4: Ensure good health and wellbeing leads to economic 

inclusion. 

Links to Planet 

27 Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that 
creates good jobs, by promoting green skills and jobs pathways within 

Page 18



 

 

the countywide careers service priority, with a focus on preparing young 
people for careers at an early stage. 

Productivity 

28 We will support business innovation, growth, and higher levels of 

productivity: 

• Priority 1: Harness the power of our major employment sectors 

and accelerate our opportunity sectors; 

• Priority 2: Provide excellent support at all stages for businesses to 

start-up, sustain, thrive and grow in County Durham; 

• Priority 3: Expand the thriving innovation ecosystem; 

• Priority 4: Drive good business practices, including improving 

health in the workplace. 

Links to Planet 

29 Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that 
creates good jobs, by developing a Green Park with Enterprise Zone 
status and encouraging the adoption of circular economy approaches 
amongst businesses and build the retrofit evergreen fund to support 
more businesses to adapt their premises. 

Places 

30 We will improve places and plan infrastructure so that people and 

businesses can access opportunities: 

• Priority 1: Build vibrant and diverse towns and villages; 

• Priority 2: Unlock employment land for high quality premises; 

• Priority 3: Improve physical connectivity between places in the 
county; 

• Priority 4: Enhance digital infrastructure and connectivity. 

Links to Planet 

31 Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that 
creates good jobs, by promoting Durham as a compact county by 
exploring the development of 20-minute neighbourhoods and 

Page 19



 

 

encourage biodiversity and protecting nature by enhancing green space 
and supporting woodland expansion and urban greening. 

Promotion 

32 We will promote our county, assets and opportunities to businesses, 

investors, visitors, developers and residents: 

• Priority 1: Develop a clear brand and place marketing; 

• Priority 2: Attract inward investment in the sectors and places it 

makes sense; 

• Priority 3: Grow a year-round visitor economy; 

• Priority 4: Enhance cultural and creative infrastructure. 

Links to Planet 

33 Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that 
creates good jobs, by encouraging active travel as part of the visitor 
economy offer. 

Delivering Our Strategy 

34 The IES is an ambitious economic strategy to 2035.  It sets out our 
vision for a new economic future and has a clear focus on how we will 
deliver this through more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy.  It will create a strong identity for the county, develop our 
strengths, address inequalities, and better connect residents to existing 
and new opportunities.  This could have enormous positive impact both 
locally and for the UK economy. 

35 To make it a reality will require new ways of working, collaboration, and 
funding from us all as partners.  The shift (and reduced funding) as we 
move to UK Shared Prosperity Fund requires us to think differently to 
build the resources we need to deliver this long term strategy.  This 
means that as a county we need to leverage as much external 
investment as possible through bids into relevant funding calls, by 
attracting private sector investment, and by creating the conditions for 
local growth and investment.  The best way to achieve this is through all 
our partners working towards a clear vision. 

  

Page 20



 

 

Delivery Plan 

36 Our next steps are to develop a detailed Delivery Plan and monitoring 
framework to deliver against our Strategy.  Whilst the IES sets the 
strategic direction and framework, this approach will apply the use of a 
series of short to medium term Delivery Plans throughout the lifespan of 
the IES that will contain the detailed actions and activity, with clearly 
identified leads and accountability, to realise the strategic vision.  This 
will provide the certainty of long term clarity for partners, businesses 
and investors, whilst allowing the IES to remain a flexible and live 
document, with regularly review periods to respond to economic 
changes; allow priorities to be reassessed and recalibrated by future 
administrations; and actions to be refined based on whether outcomes 
are being achieved. 

 Figure 4 – Delivery Plan approach 

 

 
37 Development of the first Delivery Plan will begin in the new year 

following the adoption of the IES. DCC’s Economic Development 
service area will be working collaboratively with CDEP to draw together 
all key stakeholders and delivery partners to develop innovative, clear 
and tangible actions that will drive transformative outcomes for our 
economy and communities.  The proposed approach is for CDEP to 
hold overall accountability for developing the Delivery Plan, with 
targeted working groups aligned to the IES themes responsible for 
developing the actions, KPIs and identifying lead organisations. 

Page 21



 

 

38 Figure 5 – Delivery Plan development process 

 

39 It is envisaged that the process to produce the first comprehensive 
Delivery Plan will take nine months to ensure that it has responded to 
the significant structural changes currently taking place through the 
transition to UK Shared Prosperity Funding, Devolution and the 
uncertain national economic outlook.  Under direction by CDEP a 
number of targeted working groups of key partners will collaborate from 
January through to the summer to define and design clear actions, 
outcomes and measures, and who will be accountable for each.  The 
emerging Delivery Plan will also be taken to Economy and Enterprise 
OSC for consideration and feedback. 

40 Once this process is complete, the Delivery Plan will be brought back to 
Cabinet for approval.  It is important to note that during this process the 
significant existing economic development work, inward investment, and 
commitment to the delivery of strategic employment sites will continue 
at pace.  The Delivery Plan is intended to build on this baseline to 
create a step-change in delivery. 

Monitoring Progress 

41 We want to monitor our progress in delivering more and better jobs in 
an inclusive, green economy.  We will take a bold and innovative 
approach to transforming our economy – trying new ideas and 
evaluating them to understand what works. 

42 The table below summarises a set of high-level outcome measures that 
reflect the priorities in this strategy and we will use to monitor progress.  
These measures will then be refined and quantified during the Delivery 
Plan phase.  We will also link to the metrics included in the Climate 
Emergency Plan to monitor our progress in the Planet pillar. 

  

Page 22



 

 

Pillar Outcome measures 

People 

• Residents with high level skills (NVQ Level 4 & 5) 

• Residents who are economically inactive but want 
a job 

• Residents in employment 

• 18-24 year old residents in employment 

• Disabled residents in employment 

• Healthy life expectancy of residents 

• GVA per capita 

• Employee jobs earning Real Living Wage or higher 

Productivity 

• Number of jobs 

• Proportion of higher-level jobs 

• Job density 

• Number of businesses 

• GVA 

• GVA per filled job 

• County Durham Procurement Family budget spend 
in the county 

Places 

• Proportion of neighbourhoods in the most 10% 
most deprived nationally 

• Town centre vacancy rate 

• Public transport connectivity 

• Employment land take up 

• Occupancy rate of council business premises 

• Premises with gigabit connectivity 

Promotion 

• Visitor expenditure  

• Number of visitors 

• Number of inward investment projects secured and 
value 

Planet 
• Link to metrics included in the Climate Emergency 

Plan 

County Durham Economic Partnership 

43 Reflecting CDEP’s key role in preparing and owning the IES, and its 
future delivery, it is proposed that the partnership’s members also take 
the IES through their own approvals processes in parallel to it being 
signed off by Cabinet.  CDEP will also be undertaking a review of its 
Membership to identify any gaps in representation and Terms of 
Reference in light of the new Strategy and its role in developing and 

driving the Delivery Plan.  It will also look to agree the approach to 
future oversight of the future Delivery Plan. 

  

Page 23



 

 

Conclusion and Next Steps 

44 The IES is an ambitious long-term economic strategy to 2035.  It 
provides a wider strategy for the economy, businesses and residents, 
complementing our overall vision, spatial strategy and plans to reduce 
the impacts of climate change, health and wellbeing, and poverty, and is 
fully integrated with regional and national policy. 

45 Should Cabinet adopt the strategy then it will be launched formally in 
the New Year through a series of internal, external and partnership 
events.  It is vital that the IES becomes a key driver of DCC activity, and 
that staff not only in Regeneration and Economic Growth, but across the 
council are fully aware of the vision, how we intend to get there, and the 
role that they play in its delivery.  This will be achieved through a series 
of briefings at all levels and through internal communications messaging 
to articulate the strategy, and by involving operational teams in the 
development of the masterplan. 

46 Externally a series of stakeholder and partner events are being planned 
for the winter and spring to communicate the strategy, the delivery plan 
process, and to engage new and existing partners to help drive forward 
the vision. It will also be used as a catalyst to develop new networks, 
such as a Developer Forum, by highlighting the scale and ambition of 
the opportunities in County Durham and generate private sector interest 
and investment.    

47 We are incredibly grateful to the individuals, communities and 
organisations, and scrutiny committee who have been part of the 
development of this strategy.  This is only the first step on our inclusive 
economic journey.  

Background Papers 

None. 

List of appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Implications 

• Appendix 2 – County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy 

• Appendix 3a – County Durham Economic Review 

• Appendix 3b – County Durham Economic Review update 

• Appendix 4 – County Durham Economic Statement 

• Appendix 5 – Econ-versation feedback report  

• Appendix 6 – Detailed response to points raised by Economy and  
   Enterprise OSC 

• Appendix 7 – IES Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

Page 24



 

 

Author(s) 

Mike Allum mike.allum@durham.gov.uk 

  

Page 25

mailto:mike.allum@durham.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will aid in negotiations for the devolution of 

powers from the Government. 

Finance 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will be used to inform decisions on how the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund and other national and regional funding is spent.  

It will also be used to attract private investment to the county. 

Consultation 

Our Big Econ-versation ran from 31 January to 22 April 2022. Targeted 

consultation on the emerging draft strategy was also undertaken across 

September.  The draft IES was also considered at Economy and Enterprise 

OSC and this input helped to shape the final version. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

A full Equalities Impact Assessment is set out in Appendix 7, but in summary 

the Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES) is intended to support everyone in the 

county but certain groups such as older persons, young people, disabled 

persons, GRT community, women and cohorts of males may be more 

positively impacted than other groups ensuring that inequalities are 

addressed, helping deliver an inclusive economy.  It focuses on inclusive 

economic growth and aligns with existing strategies and plans in place across 

the county. 

There are existing inequalities across our county, for example in health, 

education, connectivity, skills and employment.  This Strategy will focus on 

removing the barriers that residents face to employment, from skills to 

transport to health, addressing the inequality experienced between and within 

some of our places and ensuring that the benefits of growth are shared fairly 

amongst our people and places.  The IES focusses on the city, towns, rural 

areas and the coast in order to attract investment and create better jobs in all 

parts of the county.  It also identifies place-based and socio-economic 

‘Inclusive Economy Cohorts’ as part of the Delivery Plan, to ensure that we 

maximise the impact of the strategy and its actions effectively and target the 

people and places that need them the most. 

  

Page 26



 

 

Climate Change 

The Planet and the green economy is one of the key elements of the IES and 

each pillar has a section which considers net zero and other environmental 

considerations. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

Consultants Metrodynamics were procured to support Our Big Econ-versation, 

develop a county deal proposal, and draft the new Inclusive Economic 

Strategy. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Inclusive Economic Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM – 

 

 

 

Inclusive and green 

County Durham: a 

sustainable economy for 

a diverse county 

 

Inclusive Economic Strategy 
 

DRAFT December 2022 

Page 31



 

 

  

  

2 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 

 

 
This strategy has been developed by the County Durham Economic Partnership. 
The Partnership has representation from the private sector, voluntary and social 
enterprise, statutory agencies and elected representatives from Durham County 
Council that work together to drive a common purpose and ambition for 
economic development and regeneration activity in County Durham. As a 
business led partnership the Chair and Vice Chair are elected from the private 
sector.  

 

Page 32



 

 

  

  

3 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Contents 

Foreword ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Economic vision for County Durham ........................................................................... 54 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................... 76 

1 Introducing the Inclusive Economic Strategy ..................................................... 109 

2 Economic performance ..................................................................................... 1312 

3 What we heard in the Big Econ-versation ........................................................ 2118 

4 Our focus ........................................................................................................... 2320 

DELIVERING OUR VISION ..................................................................................... 2421 

5 People ............................................................................................................... 2421 

6 Productivity ........................................................................................................ 2825 

7 Places ................................................................................................................ 3229 

8 Promotion .......................................................................................................... 3633 

9 Delivering our Strategy ..................................................................................... 3936 

 

Page 33



 

 

  

  

4 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Foreword 

[FOREWORD TO FOLLOW ONCE FORMALLY APPROVED ]

Page 34



 

 

  

  

5 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Economic vision for County 
Durham 

Our overarching vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there 
are more and better jobs, people live long, healthy and independent lives, and 
our communities are well connected and supportive. 

The key to delivering this vision and an inclusive economy for County Durham is to 
have a clear, bold and ambitious economic vision for the future, developed in 
partnership, and to which all our partners have signed up to deliver. This long term 
economic vision for County Durham in 2035 balances our need to grow whilst 
achieving prosperity for all. At the same time as responding on the immediate 
challenges in front of us, we are focused on building a stronger County Durham, one 
where everyone realises their ambitions in a modern green economy firmly focused 
on the future. 

In achieving our economic vision we will have strengthened the existing strong 
partnership working in the county, with agile support for businesses, residents, and 
places to transform the economies in all our communities. This will be a catalyst that 
mines our assets and history in new and imaginative ways, delivering recovery and 
renewal rooted in our place to reconnect people, places, history, culture, and land. 

By 2035 County Durham will be a sustainable, inclusive economy with a 
diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with targeted training and learning 
programmes tailored to our employment specialisms and needs of business.  

At the heart of our strategy is innovation. County Durham has been at the forefront of 
economic progress for generations, producing the fuel, power and materials that 
drove the industrial revolution. Our economy has continued to adapt and evolve to 
become a leader in advanced manufacturing and space and satellite applications. 
County Durham is currently seizing the opportunities of green technology and our 
mining past to use the landscape to provide new sustainable energy to power our 
future growth. 

We have a world leading university that will continue to attract international research 
and development, headquarters and talent to the county. We will harness our proud 
industrial heritage, skills, and employment land to manufacture the products of our 
innovation. This will allow us to create high value jobs and skilled and aspirational 
pathways for all our communities.  

Innovation is so much more than just the work of higher education. Our strength will 
continue to be the innovation that takes place in all our businesses - from small 
independents to big multinationals. We will support our businesses to be at the 
forefront of research and development, to increase productivity, to fuel growth, and 
to create more and better-quality jobs. 

It is these better-quality jobs that will raise the aspirations in all our communities, and 
particularly our young people. There is no greater impact on people’s health and 
well-being than access to good quality housing, education, training, and meaningful 

Page 35



 

 

  

  

6 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

employment. Overcoming barriers for those in poor health will not only improve the 
quality of people’s lives but will allow the county’s economy to thrive.   

We will focus on the barriers that individuals face by taking a person-focused 
approach that incorporates targeted skills training. We will raise educational 
attainment and improve health outcomes. And we will improve the County’s transport 
network and infrastructure to support employment opportunities while homes across 
the County will be digitally connected to embrace the new opportunities of home and 
hybrid working. The job market will also offer more flexible and part time roles that fit 
around people’s daily lives and circumstances.  

To maximise the benefits of economic growth we will target key areas of opportunity, 
including research and advanced manufacturing, focused on our emerging green 
jobs, electronics, digital and creative, fintech, life sciences and satellite applications 
sectors. Inward investment will also be directly focused on these specialisms and 
ecosystems to create sustainable supply chains and jobs across the county and 
beyond.  

A strong County Durham needs to look beyond its boundaries, and will benefit from a 
strong, integrated, collaborative North East. County Durham has the potential, skills, 
and natural resources to be the economic driver of the whole region. Our key A1(M) 
and A19 corridor, with unrivalled road and rail travel links to both the north and 
south, and the improved A66 connecting east to west, will provide more jobs in a 
range of sectors on key strategic employment sites. And we will support our large 
rural communities to diversify, driving forward digital and mobile connectivity to 
support home working and remote access to high-value employment that can 
underpin local services and successful resilient places. 

Our celebrated heritage, natural beauty, high quality tourist attractions, and our 
people will attract investment for growth in the visitor economy, creating more quality 
jobs in the high spend overnight stay tourism. And our investment in tourism will be 
both sustainable and respectful of our communities, ensuring visitors underpin our 
uniquely beautiful Durham city and vibrant towns, villages and landscapes that 
support jobs and local services for our residents. 

  

Page 36



 

 

  

  

7 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Executive Summary 

The County Durham Economic Partnership is delighted to present County Durham’s 
first Inclusive Economic Strategy, codeveloped with and for residents, businesses, 
and the voluntary and community sector. It has been a year in development. It builds 
on the 2021 Economic Review and Economic Statement; since then, over 3,000 
residents, businesses and organisations contributed through the Big Econ-Versation, 
suggesting ideas and priorities to help the county accelerate towards an inclusive 
and green future.  

We have strong economic foundations. In 2022 our new green economy is growing; 
we are developing specialisms in emerging sectors like fintech and advanced 
materials, our global university is expanding, our cultural industries are emerging, 
and partners are committing investment to ensure our creative potential is realised. 
Pages 13 to 19 set out the economic opportunities and challenges facing our county 
today. 

This is not a traditional economic strategy. We have designed the strategy to be 
inclusive – ensuring that all our residents can benefit from and contribute to 
prosperity and growth through secure work and good pay. We start this strategy with 
a bold 2035 economic vision (set out on page 22) to create a step change in the 
county’s economic future and we finish with a commitment to support those who face 
additional barriers to inclusion (page 39). This will create County Durham’s inclusive 
economy. 

At the heart of this strategy is a clear focus: more and better jobs in an inclusive, 
green economy.  

More jobs, in the county’s broad business base.  

Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays fairly.  

Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our people 
and places.  

Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the 2045 goal of net zero carbon County 
Durham. 

This document sets out the strategic framework to deliver this focus through the 5 
Ps, on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet. 16 priorities are set out 
on pages 24 to 38. Reflecting feedback through the process, Planet priorities are 
embedded into the other Ps, recognising the importance of Planet and net zero in all 
our activity and future plans.  

The strategy is designed to steer and inform delivery; flexible to reflect changing 
economic circumstances, with actions that are updated and refreshed every few 
years. This doesn’t start with a blank sheet of paper. There are already many 
examples of good work happening across the county. This document builds on what 
we are already doing as partners and our direction of travel for creating a step 
change.  

Page 37



 

 

  

  

8 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

The 2021 Economic Statement identified high level targets; by 2035 the county will 
bridge the gap with national performance across key measures around employment, 
unemployment, higher level skills, and higher-level occupations. Detail is contained 
on page 13. Alongside this, we have developed measurements which we will use to 
guide delivery under each P. These are set out at the end of each of the Ps 
chapters, and are also collated on page 41.   

Delivery through partnerships  

The Inclusive Economic Strategy has been codeveloped with partners and will be 
delivered by a wide range of partners - businesses, community groups and key 
stakeholders, led by the County Durham Economic Partnership. We will also 
continue to work with our regional and national partners.  

Having adopted the long-term vision and established a framework for achieving that 
vision through the 5 Ps and priorities, the next stage will be to working collaboratively 
to codevelop and deliver through a series of detailed Delivery Plans. 

The use of a Delivery Plan approach throughout the vision period will enable regular 
reviews to respond to economic changes; allow priorities to be reassessed and 
recalibrated by future administrations; and actions to be refined based on whether 
outcomes are being achieved. This will ensure the Inclusive Economic Strategy 
remains a relevant and live document throughout its lifespan. 

The accompanying Delivery Plan(s) will set out detailed actions which will deliver a 
step change for the county, with next steps, lead partner(s), timescales, funding 
routes and deliverability status. We have already received significant input from 
residents and business from the Big Econ-versation and through stakeholder 
engagement, which has informed this strategy and will inform delivery. 

This is the start of our inclusive economic journey, one which will create more and 
better jobs in County Durham.

Page 38



 

 

    

9 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

A Framework for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green economy: The five Ps 

P
age 39



 

 

  

  

10 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

1 Introducing the Inclusive 
Economic Strategy 

 

This is a strategy of our county, codeveloped by the County Durham Economic 
Partnership with residents, businesses, and the voluntary and community sector.  

It focuses on inclusive growth. Inclusive growth is defined by the RSA Inclusive 
Growth Commission as ‘enabling as many people as possible to contribute to and 
benefit from growth’.1 This can be socially, benefitting groups that may face high 
barriers to quality employment, and place-based by addressing inequalities between 
different geographies. Moving to a new model of inclusive growth means integrating 
economic and social policy and seeing investment in social infrastructure on the 
same level as investment in physical infrastructure.   

This strategy is ambitious yet deliverable and realistic. It will address immediate 
and long-term opportunities and challenges, looking toward the 2035 economic 
vision. We will use this strategy as the vision and strategic framework to provide the 
social and physical infrastructure to match the aspirations of our communities and 
residents and deliver tangible change to people’s lives. 

It builds on work that is already underway across the county and identifies areas 
for further focus that will bring about transformative changes. We will build on the 
good work already being done by partners across this county to deliver this strategy, 
focusing on the priorities and areas which can really make a difference to County 
Durham.  

It aligns with existing strategies and plans in place across the county, including 
council documents such as the County Durham Plan, Climate Emergency Response 
Plan, Digital Strategy, the Durham 2025 UK City of Culture bid, recently adopted 
Poverty Action Plan, Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund Investment Plan, plus regional strategies from the North East LEP. It does not 
describe everything that is happening in the county or replicate other documents.  

This is about County Durham activity and where we have agency as a 
partnership, focusing on county-wide and place-based actions where it makes 
sense, rather than giving national or regional solutions.  

 
1 RSA (2017) Inclusive Growth Commission. Making our Economy Work for Everyone. 

Inclusive and green in 
design 

Going beyond a traditional 
economic strategy 

Inclusive in delivery 
Delivered as a partnership 

Inclusive in 
development 

Through the Big Econ-
versation 

Page 40



 

 

  

  

11 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

We will codevelop with partners our Delivery Plan, which will include our first set 
of detailed actions to deliver a step change for the county, as well as other daughter 
strategies to deliver in detailed areas. This will build on and coordinate the project 
and programme ideas that we have collated from the Big Econ-versation and 
stakeholder engagement. We will consider and add transformational projects and 
programmes as our Delivery Plan is refreshed and updated. 

Delivered as a Partnership 

As the County Durham Economic Partnership, we will draw on our close links with 
our business community and anchor institutions to deliver shared goals and gather 
intelligence of what is needed to support business growth and success. We also 
work in partnership to promote our cultural and visitor economy sectors. 

Across County Durham, 12 anchor institutions are part of the County Durham 
Procurement Family, working together through the County Durham Pound, to 
increase local spend, build capacity in our local businesses, develop strong, local 
supply chains, and support local businesses growth. There is also close working 
between Durham County Council and the County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust; we have a diverse voluntary and community sector that works to 
improve the lives of people in the county and support their communities, both by 
providing services and through volunteering opportunities. 

We collaborate closely across the North East. There is potential to leverage the 
presence of our globally leading university and our colleges as anchor institutions to 
deliver the strategy, working with regional partners and communities on skills, 
economic development, place, culture and heritage, building on the memorandum of 
understanding (MOU) between Durham County Council and Durham University 

Alongside work with partners, we will build on our Big Econ-versation approach to 
create a Citizens’ Panel, which brings together residents in a form of deliberative 
democracy, to allow residents and communities have a say in local decision making 
and direction setting around the inclusive economic strategy delivery plan.  

Page 41



 

 

    

12 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Our roadmap for developing and delivering our Inclusive Economic Strategy 

 

P
age 42



 

 

  

  

13 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

2 Economic performance 

 

In 2021 we launched the County Durham Economic Statement following the 
Economic Review. The Statement set out headline economic strengths and 
challenges that form the foundations of this strategy. In particular it highlighted the 
county’s lower prosperity with GVA per capita of £16,490, which is 55.4% of the 
national average (£29,757), and the importance of raising productivity in the country, 
addressing the growing gap of £1.6bn per annum between the county and national 
performance.  It proposed that our high level targets seek to bridge the gap with 
national performance across key measures around employment, unemployment, 
higher level skills, and higher level occupations.  

Below are some of the economic review’s findings that have informed this strategy. 

Page 43



 

 

  

  

14 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

The economy today 

Our economy has transformed over the past 3 decades and County Durham sits at 
the heart of the North East, with the biggest population and the strongest economic 
connectivity from the Tyne to the Tees. Many of our strategic employment sites are 
concentrated along the north to south axes of the A1(M) and A19 in the east of the 
county. Businesses in County Durham are part of multiple regional, national and 
international supply chains and we benefit from proximity to major growth centres 
including Teesside Freeport and the Darlington Economic Campus.  

The county has high levels of employment with an unemployment rate of 4.2% 
compared to the 4.6% England average.2 With strong road and rail links across the 
region, we have a highly connected labour market. At the time of Census 2011, 
almost 90,000 people commuted between County Durham and the rest of the North 
East. The employment pipeline is fuelled by the county’s good quality schools where 
educational attainment is above the national average at Key Stage 4.3 We have four 
successful further education colleges at Derwentside College, New College Durham, 
East Durham College and Bishop Auckland College, alongside DurhamLearn (the 
adult learning and skills service), and are home to the North East Institute of 
Technology, which provides specialist training in construction, engineering, 
manufacturing and digital sectors.  

The county has attracted new investment, delivering regional 
and national growth. This has been possible through the 
development of key emerging industries, strong strategic 
infrastructure, a range of employment sites and a connected 
labour market. The industrial economy remains a strength 
anchored by the large and productive manufacturing base. It 
is the largest source of full-time, well-paid jobs and the 
workforce productivity easily exceeds the national average.  

The county is also set to capitalise on new subsectors and opportunities. Space & 
satellites, fintech and the green economy are emerging as new opportunities, which 
will in turn create new jobs for residents. We are the second highest renewable 
energy generator in the North East with strengths in geothermal energy and onshore 
wind,4 and are home to innovative businesses leading the way in sustainability. 

The county benefits from a number of major strategic employment sites. Aykley 
Heads, an attractive city centre business location primed for delivery next to 
Durham’s main train station, is growing as a knowledge cluster, home to innovative 
businesses generating new ideas around technology and the service economy. The 
county is home to NETPark, a premier science park in Sedgefield, and some of the 
UK’s leading innovation institutions, including the Centre for Process Innovation 
(CPI), as well as clusters in Durham City and Newton Aycliffe. 

 
2 ONS Annual Population Survey (2021) 
3 ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 
4 Durham County Council (2019) Climate Emergency Update Report 

Page 44



 

 

    

15 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

County Durham’s national assets and strategic employment sites 

P
age 45



 

 

  

  

16 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 

Durham University, a major economic asset with a global reputation 

Durham University contributes £489m GVA to the County Durham economy and is 
one of the county’s major employers which supports over 8,000 jobs, and overall 
generates £1.9bn for the UK economy with over 17,000 jobs.5 Students and 
researchers from across the world are attracted to the university with 90% of its 
research rated as world-leading or internationally excellent6. The University is 
collaborating with academic institutions in the North East to develop regional 
research strengths and leads the Northern Accelerator programme which has 
transformed high-growth spinout activity across the regional universities. The 
University also provides strong support to graduate start-ups and works closely 
with local businesses and entrepreneurs to increase innovation.  

Durham County Council and Durham University have agreed an ambitious MOU to 
strategically collaborate on delivering inclusive growth for the county, and will work 
together to: 

 Encourage economic development by supporting the development of 
NETPark and Aykley Heads, driving innovation and productivity, catalysing 
start-ups and entrepreneurship, supporting inward investment activity, and 
generating social value and local supply chain opportunities 

 Leverage research expertise to improve the quality of life for our 
communities and residents through collaborative and participative research, 
for instance in inclusive growth and public health and inequalities 

 Develop and promote our culture and heritage offer, with partners, through 
joint strategic work, alignment of our offer with our research strengths, and 
developing festivals and cultural events 

 Build sustainable communities for residents and maximising the 
opportunities for the University’s activities to benefit the local community 

 Ensure the needs of regional employers are clearly articulated to improve 
the ability for learning and skills provision to meet this demand, 
collaborating with regional education providers 

 Raise the regional, national and international profile of County Durham, 
building key messages and joint approaches 

 

 
5 BiGGAR Economics (2022) Economic Impact Assessment of Durham University 
6
 Research Excellence Framework impact quality score of 3*/4* (2021) 

Page 46



 

 

  

  

17 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

The health sector has a large employment base in the county 
which supports and ensures the well-being of our residents and 
communities. We have the highest number of jobs in life 
sciences and pharmaceutical manufacturing in the North East.7 
This sector is a good source of employment opportunities 
across a broad range of skill levels, with continued high demand 
generating new job opportunities each year.  

The arts, entertainment and recreation sector 
has been growing faster (50%) than the North 
East average (23%) between 2009 and 2019. 
Arts, culture and tourism sectors have huge 
growth potential, capitalising on the strong 
culture and heritage offer, beautiful countryside 
and coast, with the North Pennines Area of 
Outstanding Beauty.  

County Durham is a large and mainly rural county – the 8th largest in the country by 
population – Durham City and our large towns act as major centres but two in five 
residents live in rural areas. The national shift to home and hybrid working is 
potentially transformative for the county in terms of land use and access to better 
quality jobs and wages. It has the potential to overcome transport issues, allow 
densification of office space so smaller footprints can support more jobs and 
economic activity, spreading spend across the county rather than focusing it in major 
employment sectors, improving quality of life and well-being impacts.   

The county is growing, with housing and employment growth plans set out in detail in 
the County Durham Plan. Our abundant land supply is one of the key economic 
assets to facilitate this. Future growth prospects will seek to achieve sustainable 
growth which will benefit both urban and rural areas of the county, investing in our 
town and village centres and place-based regeneration while respecting the 
landscape and natural assets, ensuring they are providing quality environments for 
people to live and visit. 

We are proud of the county’s progress, but we cannot stand still.  

The past five years have seen the country face multiple shocks and change. High 
inflation is having wide ranging repercussions for energy and material prices. 
Businesses and communities have time and again proved resilient to change and 
external pressures; however, the recent pandemic, and UK wide energy price 
increases and financing pressures, provide a very real risk of drawing the county’s 
residents into poverty and constrain our businesses. Reduced consumer spend will 
impact local and town centre businesses who are reopening in the county after two 
years of disrupted trade. The Council’s recently adopted Poverty Action Plan 
provides a complementary strategy which will be vital in this tough economic 
environment. 

 
7 Life sciences and pharmaceuticals – North East LEP Evidence Hub – Local Business; health and 
care - ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 

Page 47



 

 

  

  

18 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Some places and people face long-term – sometimes 
intergenerational – barriers to employment, resulting in 
deprivation and inequality, primarily in the east and north of the 
county. Almost 1 in 4 jobs in the county earn below the Real 
Living Wage and an estimated 21% percent of households 
across the county live in relative poverty before housing costs.8 
We have high levels of deprivation with 12% of 
neighbourhoods in the 10% most deprived in the county.  

Whilst the county is seeing low unemployment rates in 2022, 
economic inactivity levels are high, mainly driven by long-term 
health conditions, with 24,700 people economically inactive due 
to long-term health conditions and another 18,600 due to caring 
responsibilities.9 Average healthy life expectancy is 59, five years 
lower than the UK average, and this varies by 13 years across 
the county. This means on average our residents live 20 years in 
poor health and in the lowest performing neighbourhoods up to 25 years.10 This 
requires tackling the multiple barriers people face at the right time and in a joined-up 
way.  

The majority of our businesses are micro, small and medium size employers. They 
are at risk of rising costs; after 2 years of pandemic trading conditions their resilience 
& cash flow to manage turbulent conditions may be reduced. Our successful 
manufacturing base (one of the largest employment sectors in the county) are heavy 
energy users and as global traders they face rising costs of doing business.  

We are finding new ways to work together as partners to 
strengthen our local economy. Through the County Durham 
Pound, 12 partners across the county are working together to 
increase local spend, build capacity in local businesses, develop 
strong, local supply chains, and support business growth. 

The county has good North-South connectivity however, some areas see limited 
public transport options or major roads, especially to some of our more rural areas. 
Our large, rural geography means residents are often reliant on cars for commuting, 
and the cost and availability of transport may be a barrier for access to work and 
training opportunities. Public transport networks are of key importance, connecting 
people to employment and services and allowing young people to access education 
at our good quality schools and colleges.  

If we continue business as usual it’s likely that the county will see some businesses, 
residents and places thriving, and others feeling left behind. This is not an inclusive 
model of growth; already the county’s economy is growing slower than the national 
average, productivity and prosperity is lower and the gap is widening. It is vital that 

 

8 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (2020) Employee jobs with hourly pay below the living wage. 
Based on the Living Wage Foundation’s calculation of the Real Living Wage, which at the time was 

£9.30 outside of London. 

9 ONS Annual Population Survey (2020) 
10 Health deprivation – MHCLG Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019); ONS Life Expectancies (2018-
20) 

Page 48



 

 

  

  

19 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

we join the dots between the areas that are doing well and close the gap with 
national performance in order to improve local wages, quality of life, health and 
wellbeing for all residents and parts of the county.

Page 49



 

 

    

20 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

Our places 

 

P
age 50



 

 

  

  

21 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

3 What we heard in the Big 
Econ-versation 

The Economic Partnership have taken a bold and inclusive approach to co-
developing the strategy. We wanted a more creative way of engaging, starting with a 
conversation with business, residents, voluntary sector, and wider groups before a 
plan was developed, to really understand aspirations and opportunities. Over 
January to April 2022, we engaged with residents, businesses, young people, anchor 
institutions and partners through our Big Econ-versation. In September 2022 we 
undertook further engagement, asking residents for feedback on the strategic 
framework.  

Our Big Econ-versation engaged with 70 organisations and over 1,500 people 
through 86 conversations across the county. In addition, 1,455 surveys were 
completed by residents, businesses, and young people. We heard about the issues 
people face as they seek to grow and prosper, we asked what people would 
prioritise in this strategy, and we listened to ideas for interventions and policy 
direction that will help drive economic growth. 

 

 The Big Econ-versation was widely promoted through press, social, digital and 
broadcast media. We engaged widely across the county through our existing 
partnerships and used digital and physical versions of the survey to make sure we 
reached as many groups as possible. 

This has been an opportunity to capture the expectations and thoughts of residents, 
businesses and communities who will be able to benefit from the opportunities that 
economic growth will bring and to better understand the challenges faced as they 
seek to secure employment and embark on careers in the county.  

Page 51



 

 

  

  

22 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 

In the Econ-versation we heard 
that… 

By working in partnership, our 
strategy aims to… 

County Durham needs more good 
quality jobs 

Create and grow jobs in our opportunity 
and major sectors 
 
Support more businesses to start and 
grow here 
 
Encourage good business practices 
 

Jobs need to be accessible to local 
people, through improved public 
transport, especially in rural and 
deprived areas, and inclusive skills 
provision 

Make it easier to use our bus services 
and explore different solutions to help 
people get around to employment sites 
in the county and wider region 
 
Bring jobs closer to people by investing 
in digital infrastructure and our town and 
local centres 
 
Provide residents with a better 
understanding of training and career 
pathways so they can gain the skills that 
local and regional businesses need 
 

More needs to be done to market and 
promote the county 

Create a brand for County Durham to 
encourage people to visit, study, work 
and live in the county 
 
Build a year round visitor economy 
based on our assets 
 

Investment in places is needed county-
wide, particularly in smaller towns and 
villages 

Reimagine our town and local centres 
by transforming unused retail units into 
space for cultural and creative 
enterprises, start-ups and small and 
medium-sized enterprises. 
 
Encourage people back into our town 
centres through events, leisure, and 
culture 
 

Green economy and climate change is 
seen as an opportunity for growth, but 
this needs to protect jobs and not 
increase costs 

Up and reskill residents to work in new 
green jobs 
 
Equip businesses with the tools to 
transition to net zero 
 

Page 52



 

 

  

  

23 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

4 Our focus 

Our overarching focus for this strategy is to create more and better jobs in an 
inclusive, green economy.  

This means: 

 More jobs, in the county’s broad business base 

 Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays a living 
wage 

 Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our 
people and places 

 Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the 2045 goal of net zero carbon 
County Durham 

We have developed a strategic framework to co-ordinate delivery against our 
economic vision and ambition. This focuses on the five Ps: People, Productivity, 
Places, Promotion and Planet. It will be delivered through a sixth P: Partnerships. 

Over the following pages Planet priorities are woven into the People, Productivity, 
Places, and Promotion chapters. This is to recognise the importance and cross cutting 
nature of planet in all our work. 

 

 

Page 53



 

 

  

  

24 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

DELIVERING OUR ECONOMIC 
VISION 

5 People 

We will support people into education, training, jobs, and to 

excel in business and their careers. 

The Delivery Plan will identify how we will work with training, education, health and 
employment providers to ensure that skills and training are completely aligned with 
the jobs and areas for growth identified in this strategy. A focus in improving the 
quality of intelligence will allow further education (FE), higher education (HE) and 
training providers to respond to evidenced local skills needs and target our residents 
furthest from the labour market. Below are the Partnership’s People priorities. 

1. Raise skills levels, including higher and green skills, directly targeted to 
what employers need 

The county has high quality jobs already and these are 
likely to grow in our opportunity and major sectors, 
innovative businesses and public sector. Residents in 
County Durham have high aspirations; it is important 
that we harness this aspiration so that residents have 
the right skills that businesses need to enable them to 
access local and regional opportunities. Given our 
highly interconnected North East labour market, we also 
want our residents to have the maximum opportunity to 
access the wider regional opportunities from Tyne to 
Tees.  

We will: 

 Align skills provision and training with County Durham and regional major 
employment and opportunity sectors to create routes into work and talent 
pipelines 

 Provide a wide range of training routes for residents, including through 
schools, FE, apprenticeships and HE and ensure these are widely understood 
by young people to understand future skills pathways and working age 
residents 

 Enable FE, HE and training providers to respond to skills gaps and employer 
demands by improving the quality of intelligence on local skills needs 

Page 54



 

 

  

  

25 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 Ensure that the skills system responds to residents with lower skills levels and 
communities furthest from the labour market  

 Refresh and update a Skills Strategy for the county, defining its purpose and 
how it will be developed and delivered through the Delivery Plan 

2. Overcome barriers into employment, including work readiness, skills, 
improved careers advice and guidance, and addressing poor health 

 

 

 

 

 

Some residents require bespoke support to access employment opportunities – this 
requires a joined-up response that may go beyond traditional employment support to 
address barriers such as connectivity, health, or caring responsibilities. This will 
enable more residents to become economically active. Young people highlighted the 
importance of raising awareness of the opportunities available in the county – many 
knew what they wanted to do in the future but were unsure if the opportunity was 
available in the county. This is a barrier we need to unblock.  

We will: 

 Target residents with specific and often intergenerational barriers to 

employment and unlock employment opportunities in the county, for instance 

by exploring initiatives such as an intermediate labour market (specially 

created jobs) and ringfencing 

 Develop a countywide approach to Careers, Information, Advice and 

Guidance, raising awareness of training and career pathways and 

opportunities in our major employment and opportunity sectors, working with 

young people from primary education age upwards  

 Respond to new ways of accessing services through a network of physical 

and virtual integrated employment and skills services hubs 

Approx. one quarter of 
disabled survey 

respondents work full-
time, compared to over 

half of non-disabled 
respondents  

Page 55



 

 

  

  

26 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

3. Increase in-work progression and upskilling linked to new opportunities 

Our businesses perform well at offering on and off the 
job training relative to other places. As the labour 
market changes, with increased use of technology and 
new green skills, up & reskilling and progression 
opportunities will enable people to access higher 
earnings and increase productivity. For example, 
housing retrofit is a near time opportunity to improve 
the quality of our older housing stock, lower household 
bills, create new jobs, and to link these to residents 
through up & reskilling.  

We will: 

 Respond to skills and labour demands in the health and care sector, a major 

employer offering quality employment across a broad range of skill levels, by 

advancing skills and employment pathways 

 Ensure that employers can understand and diagnose their skills and training 

requirements to empower their workforce and support the productivity and 

growth of their business  

 Promote lifelong learning and progression opportunities for residents linked to 

new technology and jobs, for instance in the green and digital economy 

4. Ensure good health and wellbeing leads to economic inclusion   

Improving health outcomes will reduce inequalities and barriers to economic 
participation, increase productivity and decrease the frequency of days lost to 
sickness. This effects too many residents and places in the county; better linking 
economy and health policy and delivery could have a transformational impact. In 
2021/22, nationally, 17.0m days were lost to work related stress, depression and 
anxiety11, with the Covid-19 pandemic having had a negative impact on mental 
health and social isolation.12   

We will: 

 Work with employers to build and maintain healthy workplaces, including 

active transport for commuting journeys 

 Ensure that the health and economy agendas continue to be aligned and work 

together to deliver positive outcomes for all, building on existing good practice 

such as where embedded mental health practitioners working alongside job 

coaches 

 
11 HSE (2022) Work-related stress, anxiety or depression statistics in Great Britain 2022 using Labour 
Force Survey data 
12 Durham County Council (2020) A framework for good workforce mental health in County Durham 
businesses 

Page 56



 

 

  

  

27 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 Champion public sector service providers to improve individual and 

community health and wellbeing outcomes through better data sharing and 

joint working 

 

Our delivery plan will be measured through improvements in: 

 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 

economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates 

good jobs. 

 Promoting green skills and jobs pathways within the countywide Careers 

priority, with a focus on preparing young people for careers at an early stage 

Page 57



 

 

  

  

28 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

6 Productivity 

We will support business innovation, growth, and higher 

levels of productivity 

The Delivery Plan will build on the extensive work already underway locally and 
regionally, working with businesses and representative organisations to understand 
how and where the Partnership can add value, support the existing business base 
and create new opportunities for businesses to start and move to the county. These 
opportunities must be linked to our residents through the People priorities, ensuring 
that new jobs are created, and residents and young people are given the best 
chance of accessing those jobs, and our Places priorities, ensuring the infrastructure 
is ready to support business needs – for example land and digital connectivity. Below 
are the Partnership’s Productivity priorities. 

1. Harness the power of our major employment sectors and accelerate our 
opportunity sectors 

 

County Durham has a well-performing manufacturing and engineering sector, large 

health and care sector and growing visitor economy. Their growth is important to our 

economy, providing good quality jobs for residents and supply chain opportunities for 

local businesses. Alongside this County Durham has growing strengths in the green 

economy, space, advanced material electronics, life sciences, creative & cultural and 

high growth service sub-sectors, such as fintech. Developing clusters and 

specialisms in these sectors – linked to the wider North East - has the potential to 

create high-quality jobs and increase productivity, creating opportunities for inward 

investment and innovation. Together these will create more and better jobs in the 

county. 

We will: 

• Promote identified high growth opportunity sectors through targeted inward 

investment and skills and training, showcasing career opportunities to young 

people and attracting entrepreneurs to the region 

• Foster collaboration and attract more businesses and investment in our 

specialisms by linking in to, and in taking a lead in, regional and national 

Page 58



 

 

  

  

29 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

sector and ecosystem support networks and building multifaceted peer-to-

peer networks (for example across our green economy)  

• Support our SMEs to grow through access to supply chain and exporting 

opportunities, and ensure that SMEs are linked into university research to 

unlock new product and process innovation 

• Support cluster development by ensuring new and small businesses in 
opportunity sectors have access to finance, high quality incubation, coworking 
and flexible space in identified locations 

• Promote our research and business strengths, such as around geothermal, to 
attract and secure funding to the county  

2. Provide excellent support at all stages for businesses to start-up, 
sustain, thrive and grow in County Durham 

We will strengthen our economy by increasing the 
number of start-ups and encouraging business growth 
and business investment in the county. We have fewer 
businesses than expected for a population the size of 
County Durham (441 businesses per 10,000 working 
age residents), compared to the national average at 
(683 per 10,000).13 This priority will look to address this, 
creating more jobs and opportunities in all parts of the 
county across the business base and sectors, including 

amongst female entrepreneurs and women-owned businesses.  

We will: 

 Ensure businesses have access to a ‘single front door’ to access the business 

support they need at the right time, from marketing to access to finance to 

exporting advice 

 Attract investors to work with the county to invest and grow the business and 

enterprise base, including alternative business models 

 Promote networking and collaboration, bringing together businesses and 

partners within and across sectors to share knowledge, expertise and 

resources, and stimulate innovation and growth 

 Explore innovative ways to encourage entrepreneurship and enterprise in 

local communities  

 

13 Note this this does not capture our many micro-entrepreneurs and sole traders who are not 

VAT/PAYE registered).  

 

Page 59



 

 

  

  

30 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

3. Expand the thriving innovation ecosystem 

The county has a growing knowledge economy and innovation assets including 
Durham University, NETPark and CPI, as well as sectoral and spatial clusters of 
innovative businesses. This doesn’t sit in isolation, and is a vital part of a growing 
North East innovation ecosystem. We will build on and further develop the innovation 
ecosystem to support product and process innovation across the whole business 
base, sustained by skills, access to finance, business support, private sector 
networks and the necessary facilities that make up a thriving ecosystem.  

We will: 

 Build a leading UK innovation district, capitalising on existing spatial assets to 

create a corridor stretching from Durham City to NETPark  

 Maximise the county’s role in national R&D funding and programmes, 

ensuring that entrepreneurs and business understand the breadth and depth 

of support available  

 Increase the level of start-ups and spin-outs that start and grow in the county, 

through more accelerator programmes and wider support 

4. Drive good business practices, including improving health in the 
workplace 

All the county’s employers have an important role to play in creating a more inclusive 
economy with better outcomes for our residents. This includes through valuing and 
rewarding the workforce, investing in training, development and in-work career 
progression, promoting health and wellbeing in the workplace, and demonstrating 
social responsibility. This can increase retention, wellbeing and productivity. There is 
a link between productivity and workforce health. Research by the Northern Health 
Science Alliance estimates that 30% of the productivity gap between the Northern 
Powerhouse and rest of England is due to ill-health.14 This priority will build 
awareness and the case for change with local employers, to ensure that all local jobs 
are better jobs. 

We will: 

 Build on the existing County Durham Pound collaboration to strengthen our 

role as a national leader in community wealth building to support thriving 

communities and local economies by leveraging the collective power of local 

anchor partners, including continuing to use our spend to support local supply 

chains, and exploring our role as employers and the use of our land and 

assets  

 
14 Bambra, Munford, Brown et al (2018) Health for Wealth: Building a Healthier Northern Powerhouse 
for UK Productivity. Newcastle: Northern Health Science Alliance.  

Page 60



 

 

  

  

31 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 Encourage good practices across our diverse business base, including 

wages, training, job security, social value, and health and wellbeing, 

potentially through a Good Employment Charter 

 Explore the impact and opportunities to raise wage levels and productivity by 

setting up a living wage taskforce 

Our delivery plan will be measured by improvements in: 

 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 

economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates 

good jobs. 

We will: 

• Develop a Green Park with Enterprise Zone status 

 Encourage the adoption of circular economy approaches amongst businesses 

 Build the retrofit evergreen fund to support more businesses to adapt their 

premises 

Page 61



 

 

  

  

32 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

7 Places 

We will improve places and plan infrastructure so that 
people and businesses can access opportunities 

The Delivery Plan will focus on how we will unlock the economic potential of all our 
places, working alongside the County Durham Plan, which sets out future 
employment and housing land requirements and locations. There will be work to do 
on strategy and delivery – particularly around connectivity and inward investment – 
and this will involve local partners alongside regional and national agencies. These 
opportunities must be linked to existing and new businesses through the Productivity 
priorities, with our assets promoted through the Promotion priorities, ensuring that 
businesses, visitors, residents, and investors understand the excellent opportunities 
and assets available in the county. Below are the Partnership’s Places priorities. 

1.  Build vibrant and diverse towns and villages 

 

 

We have an opportunity to build on existing investment in many of our towns, local 
centres and rural areas, recognising their distinctive opportunities and challenges. 
Housing is a major enabler to achieving economic growth and better social outcomes 
for our communities. The council has committed to build over 24,800 new homes of 
mixed type, size and tenure between 2016 and 2035; alongside this housing growth 
we need to actively engage our communities to consider the role of town and local 
centres in the new economic context, create thriving mixed use centres alongside 
new homes, and increase footfall in thriving local centres. 

We will: 

• Explore the economic role of each of our towns, independently and as a 
network across the county, to enhance their unique character and attractions 
and improve digital and physical accessibility as places to live, work, study 
and visit 

• Expand the leisure, culture and event offer, building from the ideas that arose 
from the UK City of Culture bid alongside the local food economy  

• Develop innovative approaches to repurpose vacant retail units into flexible 
space for start-ups, small businesses and entrepreneurs 

• Ensure that housing is used as an economic enabler, supporting SME 
contractors and supply chains to deliver homes for our future, embedding new 

Page 62



 

 

  

  

33 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

low carbon construction methods and improving energy efficiency in new 
homes, industrial and commercial premises  

2. Unlock employment land for high quality premises 

Our opportunity and major employment sectors highlight the need for high quality 
employment space to attract and retain 
more businesses. The County Durham 
Plan sets out where this growth can go – 
this strategy supports that, focusing on 
building the concentration of businesses 
in clusters and on business parks, 
creating more and better jobs. 

We will: 

• Attract international headquarters, research and innovation, and support 
growth in fintech, life sciences and digital services, focused on growth 
locations such as the Aykley Heads development 

• Deliver phase 3 of NETPark, providing up to 270,000 sq ft of new laboratory, 
office production and storage space, allowing for science, engineering and 
technology companies to grow, scale up and commercialise their operations  

• Take early advantage of new investment opportunities in our major 
employment and opportunity sectors by developing an economic growth and 
investment pipeline for the county 

• Encourage innovation and enterprise in our rural communities by supporting 
rural diversification  

3. Improve physical connectivity between places in the county 

For too many people and places 
connectivity is a barrier to better jobs. 
The majority of those surveyed said 
they travel to work by car; this needs 
changing in order to deliver our net zero 
ambitions. Given our interconnected 
labour market, we need to think about 

travel within the county and also travel to other parts of the North East. Improved 
connectivity will be vital for business trade and for people to get to work, particularly 
for shift workers, those on low wages, young people, and people & businesses in 
rural areas. It is important that this is inclusive; transport improvements need to be 
affordable and frequent, creating a multi-hub county which is accessible to all. 

We will: 

• Carry out an in-depth piece of work led by the Council on developing further 
solutions to physical and digital connectivity through a Connectivity Strategy 

Page 63



 

 

  

  

34 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

• Explore innovative solutions, such as demand responsive transport, low / no 
cost electric bike rentals, electric vehicle car clubs and e-bike hubs 

• Develop a plan for commercial operators to transition to electric bus fleets, 
building on the electrification of Park and Ride 

• Encourage modal shift to public transport and behaviour change, both within 
the county and for residents to commute across the region, such as through 
the delivery of fares initiatives, ticketing and subsidised fares, as well as by 
utilising Council planning guidance to encourage delivery of sustainable 
transport options 

• Deliver on our carbon emission targets by reducing the volume of freight on 
the road by supporting the development of an intermodal rail freight 
interchange 

4. Enhance digital infrastructure and connectivity 

High-quality digital infrastructure is essential for productivity. It helps attract 
businesses, supporting sectors such as fintech. It also is important for inclusivity, 
enabling residents can access training and employment. Recently trends towards 
home and hybrid working in some sectors and roles require stable and fast 
connections. There is currently a lack of fast and reliable broadband in the county, 
where 53.1% of premises have access to ultrafast broadband compared to 71.5% 
nationally, with poor connectivity particularly in rural areas15. There is high risk of 
digital exclusion in parts of Chester-le-Street, Seaham, Peterlee, Newton Aycliffe, 
and south of Barnard Castle. Supporting home and hybrid working by improving 
digital connectivity will open up access to more and better paid jobs across the 
county, particularly in areas difficult to reach by public transport.  

We will: 

• Create digitally enabled towns and villages to increase technology uptake, 
encourage innovation, and improve access to digital services and skills by 
exploring initiatives such as municipal data networks and digital community 
hubs, and the adoption of innovative new technologies, including 5G and next 
generation satellites 

 
15 Durham County Council. 

Page 64



 

 

  

  

35 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

• Hardwire digital connectivity and inclusion considerations in regeneration and 
development projects  

 

Our delivery plan will be measured by improvements in: 

 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 

economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates 

good jobs. 

We will: 

 Promote Durham as a compact county by exploring the development of 20-

minute neighbourhoods 

 Encourage biodiversity and protecting nature by enhancing green space and 

supporting woodland expansion and urban greening 

Page 65



 

 

  

  

36 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

8 Promotion 

We will promote our county, assets and opportunities to 
businesses, investors, visitors, developers and residents. 

The Delivery Plan will build on the wide range of work ongoing around culture and 
visitor economy.  We know that we have excellent tourism assets and economic 
opportunities in the county. The priority now is to showcase this to the world, 
ensuring that we capitalise on the work underway through the Productivity and Place 
Priorities. Below are the Partnership’s Promotion priorities. 

1. Develop a clear brand and place marketing  

People are proud of the county – our cultural, 
heritage and natural assets – and think this 
should be better known regionally and 
nationally. We are home to a wide range of 
businesses and lead the North East for 
employment in advanced manufacturing and 
health & life sciences. We have an 
abundance of land and strong natural, 
cultural and heritage assets. This is a strong 

foundation for marketing and investment. There’s an opportunity to capitalise on this 
through a strong brand and county narrative for residents, tourists, and inward 
investors. 

We will: 

• Build the County Durham Brand, aligned with the distinctive strengths, assets 
and opportunities identified in this strategy 

• Grow our profile as a major destination for innovation, business and 
investment by attracting academic and business conferences and events, 
aligned to our major employment and opportunity sectors and research 
strengths 

2. Attract more inward investment in the sectors and places it makes 
sense 

The county already sees inward investment interest and this strategy sets out the 
sectors we have an opportunity to grow, our innovation potential, and the 
employment land assets. We need to develop a clear pitch for business attraction 
and expansion that attracts more and better jobs to help retain local talent and attract 
more highly skilled workers into the county. 

We will: 

• Develop a new strategic approach to inward investment, aligned to our major 
employment and opportunity sectors, promoting our strategic national and 

Page 66



 

 

  

  

37 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

international sites and assets, attracting corporate R&D headquarters and 
supporting innovative SMEs 

• Capitalise on our role at the heart of the North East by considering developing 
a regional Internationalisation Strategy promoting our sectoral strengths in 
energy and advanced manufacturing, tourism, trade and international 
investment, and maximising our links to international gateways in the Port of 
Tyne, Newcastle Airport, and Teesport  

3. Grow a year-round visitor economy 

The county is home to some of the country’s best natural 
assets, from coast, to countryside, heritage city and 
culture. This is an opportunity to capitalise on these 
strengths to grow the tourism and culture offer and 
positively impact our productivity and economic growth. 
We want to encourage people to stay longer and visit 
more parts of the county by investing in technology, 
physical assets, and events where it is needed. 

We will: 

• Maximise the potential of all places as visitor destinations by ensuring that 
they have the right infrastructure to meet their needs, such as 
accommodation, attractions and leisure facilities 

• Improve productivity in the culture, heritage and leisure offer in the county by 
using new technologies, for instance 5G and digital 

4. Enhance cultural and creative infrastructure 

 

We have growing strengths in culture and the 
creative sector. As part of the North East Screen 
Industries Partnership, Durham County Council 
and all the local authorities in the North East, 
signed an MOU with the BBC to attract new TV 
and film production to the county and North East, 
showcasing our natural beauty, warm people and 

providing new jobs across the sector. Culture has the potential to play an important 
role in revitalising our town and local centres. This requires investment in the sector, 
existing and new assets, and skills.  

We will: 

• Strengthen our asset base and capacity by delivering capital projects, 
including Riverbanks, Millennium Place and the transformation of the Durham 
Light Infantry Museum 

• Deliver an ambitious county-wide cultural programme as a legacy of 
shortlisted UK City of Culture bid 

Page 67



 

 

  

  

38 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

• Strengthen the resilience of our communities through citizen-led cultural and 
community projects 

Our delivery plan will be measured by improvements in: 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 

economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates 

good jobs. 

We will: 

 Encourage active travel as part of the visitor economy offer 

Page 68



 

  

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM – 

9 Delivering our Strategy 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy is an ambitious economic strategy to 2035. It sets 
out our vision for a new economic future and has a clear focus on how we will deliver 
this through more and better jobs in an inclusive, green economy. It will create a 
strong identity for the county, develop our strengths, address inequalities, and better 
connect residents to existing and new opportunities. This could have enormous 
positive impact both locally and for the UK economy. 

To make it a reality will require new ways of working, through close collaboration, 
and shared funding from us all as partners. The shift (and reduced funding) as we 
move to UK Shared Prosperity Fund requires us to think differently to build the 
resources we need to deliver this long term strategy. This means that as a county we 
need to leverage as much external investment as possible through bids into relevant 
funding calls, by attracting private sector investment, and by creating the conditions 
for local growth and investment. The Council is able to tailor programmes and use 
funding to achieve the ambition and priorities set out in this strategy. 

Our track record of delivery 

Through the delivery of the Inclusive Economic Strategy, we will build on our strong 

track record of delivery across skills, business support, regeneration, delivery of 

employment sites, culture and heritage, and net zero transition. The examples below 

highlight the transformational impact our projects and programmes have had on the 

economy and communities of County Durham. 

 

 

Page 69



 

 

 

   

40 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

2035 Targets 

Our overall ambition is to support the creation of more and better jobs across the 
county. Bridging the performance gap in the employment and unemployment rates 
will lead to more than 10,000 more residents in work. Supporting residents to 
achieve higher level skills and occupations will lead to productivity improvements, 
wage growth, and new business opportunities across the county and more 
innovation. It will also make the county’s economy more stable and more resistant to 
future economic recessions. It is proposed that our high level target is to bridge the 
gap with national performance across the following key measures.  

Employment - County Durham’s employment rate is typically 2 to 3 percentage 
points below the national average and a little above the regional average. Over the 
last 3-5 years the employment rate has averaged around 72%. 

Unemployment - County Durham’s unemployment rate is typically around one 
percentage point higher than the national rate but around 0.5 percentage points 
lower than the regional rate. Over the last 3-5 years the rate has averaged around 
5.5% but tends fluctuate. 

Higher level skills - County Durham has a far lower proportion of residents with 
higher level skills than the national average. This means that residents have lower 
wages and less disposable income, are less able to secure higher-level jobs, and are 
less innovative than the national average. This significantly affects the overall 
performance of the economy. Furthermore, this gap between the County’s 
performance and national rates is growing. 

High level occupations - Similar to the County’s skills profile, we have a lower 
proportion of higher level jobs; those requiring a high level of skill, education, and 
experience. Correspondingly, we also have a high proportion of routine jobs, which 
are particularly at risk of being automated in the medium to long-term future. Lower 
level jobs are also more at risk during economic recessions and downturns and may 
involve zero hour contracts where work is less secure. 

Delivery Plan 

Our next steps are to develop a detailed Delivery Plan and a monitoring framework 
to deliver against our strategy. The Economic Partnership will engage stakeholders, 
residents and communities, including Community Champions and Area Action 
Partnerships, in decision-making and coproduction of relevant actions and initiatives. 

Supporting all residents in our inclusive economy  

Through this strategy, we will continue to work with our strong business base, 
innovation assets, high-skilled workers, and graduates, but our strategy goes beyond 
a traditional economic approach – enabling everywhere and everyone in County 
Durham to contribute to and benefit from economic growth.  

As part of the development of a Delivery Plan, we will identify where help is needed 
to create an inclusive economy and focus activity, target our actions, and monitor 
success on those groups. This does not mean that they will be the only beneficiaries 
of this strategy. Rather, we recognise that alongside the broad support and activity 

Page 70



 

 

 

   

41 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

this strategy will generate, there are some people and places who may need addition 
support. In this way we will make this strategy – and the growth and prosperity it 
generates – inclusive for all. 

Some of these groups will be place-based and others will be based on socio-
economic or demographic groups. These will be reviewed every two years to ensure 
that we are still targeting activity in a way that will achieve maximum impact. These 
will be identified through a combination of quantitative and qualitative analysis. We 
will work with different partners already engaged in activity to encourage 
participation.  

This may include, for example: 

 16 neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation 

 Residents earning below the Real Living Wage 

 Households in fuel poverty or living in energy inefficient homes 

 Residents with a long-term physical or mental health conditions  

 Groups furthest from the labour market, either demographic e.g., Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller communities, or socio-economic e.g., young people or older 
residents not in work, residents with low skills levels, residents with disabilities 
/ learning difficulties 

 Reflecting differences in life opportunities and experiences, for instance due to 
gender or ethnicity  

Monitoring progress 

We want to monitor our progress in delivering more and better jobs in an inclusive, 
green economy. We will take a bold and innovative approach to transforming our 
economy – trying new ideas and evaluating them to understand what works.  

The table below summarises a set of high-level outcome measures that reflect the 
priorities in this strategy and will be used to monitor progress in the delivery plan. We 
will also link the metrics included in the Climate Emergency Plan to monitor our 
progress in the Planet pillar.  

As we codevelop the Delivery Plan with our partners, we will develop a set of impact 
measures to quantify the difference the strategy is making to illustrate the impact it is 
having on our outcome measures.  

We will baseline our current performance against aspirational targets of where we 
want to be and what we think good looks like. We will co-develop targets for 2035 
and interim targets to enable progress to be measured year on year.  

Page 71



 

 

 

   

42 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

We will also monitor the success of our actions in improving outcomes amongst our 
inclusive economy groups. 

Pillar Outcome measures 

People 

 Residents with high level skills (NVQ Level 4 & 5) 

 Residents who are economically inactive but want a job 

 Residents in employment 

 18-24 year old residents in employment 

 Disabled residents in employment 

 Healthy life expectancy of residents 

 GVA per capita 

 Employee jobs earning Real Living Wage or higher 

Productivity 

 Number of jobs 

 Proportion of higher-level jobs 

 Number of green jobs 

 Job density 

 Number of businesses 

 GVA 

 GVA per filled job 

 County Durham Procurement Family budget spend in the 
county 

Places 

 Proportion of neighbourhoods in the most 10% most 
deprived nationally 

 Town centre vacancy rate 

 Public transport connectivity 

 Employment land take up 

 Occupancy rate of council business premises 

 Properties with gigabit-capable broadband 

Promotion 

 Visitor expenditure  

 Number of visitors 

 Number of inward investment projects secured and value 

Planet  Link to metrics included in the Climate Emergency Plan 

Next steps 

We are incredibly grateful to the individuals, communities and organisations who 
have been part of the development of this strategy. This is only the first step on our 
inclusive economic journey.  

We invite you to be part of turning this into a reality now, identifying where and how 
you want to be involved in delivery. We will be setting up the Citizen Panel to ensure 
that residents have their say throughout, and the Economic Partnership will work 
with the broad partner base to codevelop actions. 

We’ve already achieved so much in the county. This strategy sets out our path for 
the next decade and how we will, in 2035, be a sustainable, inclusive economy with 
a diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with targeted training and learning 
programmes tailored to our employment specialisms and needs of business.  

Page 72



 

 

 

   

43 

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM 

 

Annex 

The strategy contains a short explanation of what we mean by more and 
better jobs in and inclusive, green economy. Below is a fuller definition. 

More jobs, in the county’s broad business base. This means creating the 
conditions for more businesses to start, move, and grow in all parts of the 
county, providing advice and guidance, access to finance, unlocking 
employment land, and investing in digital and physical infrastructure and 
places so that people can work closer to where they live. We will capitalise on 
our heritage, cultural and natural assets to grow our visitor economy, and we 
will promote the county widely to attract more businesses, investment, and 
visitors. This also brings an opportunity to attract more people to live here as 
digital and remote working increase. 

Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays a 
living wage. This is for jobs within the county, where we are already home to 
the highest number of advanced manufacturing and health & life sciences jobs 
in the North East, alongside growing clusters in areas such as green energy 
and fintech. We will also support residents with skills & training opportunities 
and transport options to access jobs across the wider region. We believe all 
jobs can be better jobs, and we will work with employers to ensure that they 
are supported into better work practices such as stable shift patterns, 
guaranteed minimum hours, in work training and health & wellbeing support.  

Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our 
people and places. There are inequalities across our county, for example in 
health, education, connectivity, skills and employment. This strategy will focus 
on barriers that residents face to employment, from skills to transport to 
health, addressing the inequality experienced between and within some of our 
places. The strategy will focus on the city, towns, rural, and coast for attracting 
investment and creating better jobs in all parts of the county. We will identify 
place-based and socio-economic ‘Inclusive Economy Cohorts’ as part of the 
Delivery Plan, to ensure that we maximise the impact of the strategy and its 
actions effectively to target the people and places that need them the most.  

Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the Climate Emergency and 2045 
goal of net zero carbon County Durham. We will capitalise on our green 
economy businesses and the innovation assets in the county and wider 
region. This will create more high-quality jobs for residents, and support all to 
reach net zero without putting increased costs on individuals and businesses, 
protecting jobs and workers. The Climate Emergency Plan sets out how we 
need to be at the forefront of the clean, green, industrial revolution. This 
strategy needs to complement these plans by investing in people, 
technologies, research and development, and business. 

Page 73



 

  

INCLUSIVE AND GREEN COUNTY DURHAM – 

 

 

Email address 

Phone number 

Email address 

Phone number 

Page 74



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3a 

 

County Durham Economic 

Review 

 

 

 

Page 75



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Economic Review 

Final Report 

 
 

March 2021 
 

 

 

  

P
age 76



     

 

 

Report completed/submitted by: John McCreadie, Esther Cordingley and Chris Peachey 

Proof check completed by:  Lee Williamson 

Date:  19th February 2021 

Amendments made: 1st - 19th March 2021 

Report reviewed by:  John McCreadie and Kirsten Powell 

Date:  19th February 2021, 10th March, 19th March 

 

P
age 77



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

     

Contents 
1 Introduction 1 

Overview 1 
Context 1 
Report structure 3 

2 Overview of the Economy 4 

Introduction 4 
Economic Performance 4 
Productivity Performance 4 
Summary 6 

3 People and Demographics 7 

Introduction 7 
Population 7 
Employment Rate 8 
Unemployment Rate 8 
The Claimant Count 9 
Inactivity 10 
Resident and workforce earnings 10 
Summary 11 

4 Employment 12 

Introduction 12 
Employment in County Durham 12 
Productivity by Sector 15 
Key Employment Locations 15 
Summary 17 

5 Business and Innovation 18 

Introduction 18 
The Business Base 18 
Innovation 21 
Summary 22 

6 Education, Training and Skills 23 

Introduction 23 
Skills and Training 23 

Occupation 23 
Education 25 
Future Skills 26 
Summary 27 

7 Housing and Communities 28 

Introduction 28 
Households 28 
Deprivation 29 
County Durham Geography 31 
Tourism and Cultural Assets 32 
Summary 32 

8 Connectivity and Infrastructure 33 

Introduction 33 
Transport 33 
Digital Connectivity 33 
Labour Mobility 33 
Employment Assets 34 
Summary 35 

9 The Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit 36 

Introduction 36 
Covid-19 36 
Brexit 38 
Summary 39 

10 Future Economic Growth 40 

Introduction 40 
Economic Output 40 
GVA per Capita 41 
Summary 41 

11 Recommendations and Investment Priorities 42 

P
age 78



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    1 

1 Introduction 

Overview 

 ekosgen were commissioned by Durham County Council to produce an Economic 

Review of County Durham.  

 The aim of the report is to provide a strategic overview of the economy and evidence 

base which will inform priorities for growth. To maximise the effectiveness of interventions to 

support the economy, it is vital that policy and investment decisions are based on a robust 

understanding of the economy’s current strengths and weaknesses, and a shared appreciation 

of the best opportunities to support future economic growth. 

 The report seeks to provide a comprehensive overview of the current economic 

conditions, and to highlight the economic and social factors which will affect the future growth 

of the County Durham economy. 

Context 

 There are a number of factors to consider which will impact upon future economic 

development. This includes both short and medium term shocks to the economy including the 

Covid-19 pandemic and the UK’s departure from the European Union as well as the rural nature 

of the County. 

 In addition there are important long term major technological and social trends which 

include: 

 Demographic change and an ageing population; 

 Digitisation, automation and Artificial Intelligence (AI); and 

 The move towards a low carbon economy. 

 Each of these will impact on the County Durham economy and need to be considered 

in regards to future priorities and interventions. 

Covid-19 

 The Covid-19 pandemic and is having a profound effect on the economy. Sectors 

which have been worst hit include the tourism, hospitality and culture sectors, as a result of 

national lockdowns, social distancing measures and travel restrictions. While various protection 

measures and home working have reduced the immediate impact for many sectors, as 

government support such as Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment 

Income Support Scheme come to an end increasing unemployment is likely to be experienced.  

 
1 ONS (2019) Which occupations are at highest risk of being automated? 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployee
types/articles/whichoccupationsareathighestriskofbeingautomated/2019-03-25 

 The impacts Covid-19 is having upon the economy is explored in further detail in 

Chapter 9. 

Brexit 

 The UK left the European Union on the 1st January. While to date the main impacts 

experienced have included customs and border disruption, significant longer term effects are 

likely to emerge, including on imports and exports as the UK diverges from the EU on product 

standards or other regulations and on skills and recruitment for health and service sectors which 

rely on EU labour. 

 Chapter 9 reviews the expected impacts of the departure from the EU in more detail. 

Digitalisation, Automation and AI 

 Digitalisation, Automation and Artificial Intelligence (AI) is likely to cause an 

increasing number of operative and lower-skilled jobs to become redundant particularly in 

transportation, hotels and restaurants, manufacturing, trade and construction. Analysis of the 

jobs of 20 million people in England found that 7.4% are at high risk of automation , although 

new jobs to support and operate the technology will reduce some job losses.1 Digital technology 

is anticipated to alter conventional employment structures reducing the demand for large office 

space, while technological advancements such as 3D printing will be disruptive to 

manufacturing and distribution allowing more to be produced in decentralised smaller facilities. 

Rural  

 Given that County Durham is primarily a rural county, future growth prospects must 

also seek to achieve growth in the rural areas. A lack of a fast and reliable broadband 

connection acts as a constraint to growth in rural areas. The roll out of superfast broadband 

provides an opportunity to open up new sectors in these areas while helping existing sectors 

including tourism, agriculture and forestry to improve. 

 As recognised in the Local Plan the countryside is a constantly changing workplace 

and there is a need to balance the protection of the countryside with the need to support the 

vitality and viability of the rural economy including through agriculture and tourism. 

Ageing Population 

1.13.1 Across many developed countries, an important demographic shift is taking place, as 

a result of people living longer and having fewer children, resulting in the increase in the 

average age of populations. An ageing population has implications for the labour market, and 

will require a shift in public expenditure to meet the rising costs of health and social care. 

P
age 79



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    2 

Without improvements to population health, the ageing population will also result in a larger 

number of people living with disability and suffering ill-health.  

 By 2040 almost 24% of the population will be aged 65 and over, and the old age 

dependency ratio, defined as the number of residents at the State Pension age and over for 

every 1,000 working age residents, is expected to reach 352. 

 The ageing population coupled with the declining working age population, will 

increase the need to support people to stay in the labour force for longer and will require 

employers to focus on retraining and adapting the workplace to ensure continued employment, 

removing barriers to remaining in work, and enabling workers to adapt to new technologies. 

Increased technological investment and greater automation is likely to occur reducing the 

dependence on labour as a result of the demographic shift.  

The Low Carbon Agenda 

 The global shift to ‘clean growth’ through low carbon technologies and the efficient 

use of resources is creating new industries and transforming existing ones. The shift to clean 

growth provides incentives to use technology to reduce input costs and to develop alternative 

‘environmentally friendly’ products.  The Government’s Clean Growth Strategy (2017) highlights 

opportunities in renewable energy generation, construction and manufacturing.   

 The shift to a low carbon economy is also boosting the circular economy, where high 

energy using industries ensure that more by-products of their activities are used productively, 

with a greater emphasis on recycling. However, whilst decarbonisation provides many 

opportunities, it also has a downside for some businesses, with those that are heavily energy-

intensive likely to come under pressure to reduce dependence on oil and gas. 

  

Policy Context 

The UK Industrial Strategy 

 The UK Industrial Strategy ‘Building a Britain Fit for the future’ identifies ‘Five 

Foundations’ which the Government argues are the “essential attributes of every successful 

economy”.  These are: 

1. Ideas – R&D and innovation 

2. People – skills, retraining and the labour market 

3. Infrastructure – transport, digital and housing 

4. Business Environment – increasing SME productivity and encouraging start-ups 

5. Places – tackling regional disparities in productivity and economic performance 

 The strategy also introduces a number of ‘Grand Challenges’ which overarch the 

Foundations and represent areas in which the UK has the opportunity to play a leading global 

role.  Reflecting the long-term economic drivers identified above, these include: 

1. AI and Data Economy 

2. Clean Growth 

3. Ageing Society 

4. Future of Mobility 

 Funding for economic development is increasingly being focused on Industrial 

Strategy priorities, with each LEP area being tasked to develop a Local Industrial Strategy 

which responds to the national priorities and reflects local economic strengths. 

 The Government has recognised that if living standards are to rise, the challenge is 

to increase productivity whilst keeping employment levels high across the UK.  In addition to 

the national framework provided by the Industrial Strategy, a number of regional responses 

have been developed to attempt to tackle economic disparities in the UK economy. 

 The North East LEP was due to have their local industrial strategy published in 2020, 

however the publication has been delayed likely due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

North East LEP Strategic Economic Plan 

 The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) was originally published in 2014 and sets out the 

ambition to increase the number of jobs in the north east economy by 100,000 by 2024. The 

plan is split into three distinctive parts:  

1     Four areas of strategic importance – Digital, Advanced Manufacturing, Health 

and Life Sciences, and Energy are areas where the north east can build a 

stronger economy that continues to contribute to regional, national and global 

economic growth.  

2     Four service sectors – Education, financial, professional & business services, 

transport and logistics & construction – these sectors support the wider 

economy and offer significant opportunity for more and better jobs in the north 

east.  

3     Five programmes of delivery – Business growth, innovation, skills, 

employment, inclusion and progression, transport connectivity and investment 

& infrastructure.  

 The Strategic Economic Plan recognises the importance of the digital, advanced 

manufacturing, health and energy sectors within County Durham’s economy and provides 

future spaces for investment and expansion. The Strategic Economic Plan is due to run until 

2024, whereby the Local Industrial Strategy that is aligned to the principles of the SEP will 

continue until 2030, 

The Northern Powerhouse 

 The idea of building a ‘Northern Powerhouse’ was first proposed by the Coalition 

Government in 2014.  The aim is to boost economic growth in the North of England particularly 

in the major cities of Manchester, Liverpool, Leeds, Sheffield, Hull and Newcastle.  The 

Government is investing in skills, innovation, transport and culture, as well as devolving 

significant powers and budgets to directly elected mayors to ensure decisions affecting the 

North are made in the North. 

P
age 80



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    3 

County Durham Local Plan 

 The County Durham Plan was adopted in 2020 and sets out a range of development 

proposals and planning policies for the county until 2035. The plan presents a vision for 

potential housing, jobs, transport, schools, healthcare and the environment until 2035. 

 The plan aims to:  

 Continue economic growth and investment in the county  

 Secure more and better jobs in the county  

 Address the causes of climate change and adapt to its effects 

 Secure the infrastructure to support new development and the relieve congestion 

and improve air quality 

 Protect the historic and natural environment.  

 To support the continued economic growth of the county and the aim of more and 

better jobs for residents, the plan includes over 302 hectares of new land to be developed for 

business and industry. This is in addition to protecting over 1,500 hectares of existing business 

and industrial land to prevent any other land uses. The plan also includes policies to support 

town centres and allow the council to take a more flexible approach to support businesses in 

rural areas encouraging the local economy whilst protecting the environment.  

Shared Prosperity and Place 

 The Government is committed to introducing a Shared Prosperity Fund as a 

replacement for losing ERDF and ESF resources as a consequence of leaving the EU. County 

Durham regularly used both of these funds to invest in a range of prospects. It will be important 

that the Council has sufficient pipeline proposals to take advantage of the new fund. 

 The recent Green Book review included consideration of place in the appraisal of 

projects. These new considerations are likely to apply to the levelling up agenda and these now 

need to be factored into to the developments of new propositions. 

Levelling Up Agenda 

 Guidance is now being developed for the new Levelling Up Fund and the County will 

need to have sufficient resources and a credible pipeline to take early advantage of new 

arrangements, which are likely to focus on early delivery. 

Report structure 

 The report is structured as follows: 

 Chapter 2 gives a high level overview of the County Durham economy focusing on 

its productivity performance; 

 Chapter 3 looks at the key characteristics of the local population and economic 

activity; 

 Chapter 4 considers employment and sectoral strengths; 

 Chapter 5 reviews the area’s business and innovation base and environment  

 Chapter 6 covers education, skills and training including the occupation profile and 

future skills needs; 

 Chapter 7 reviews housing and communities including housing affordability, 

workforce catchments, deprivation and tourism; 

 Chapter 8 outlines the current infrastructure position; 

 Chapter 9 asses the emerging impacts of Covid-19 and Brexit on the economy; 

 Chapter 10 provides forecast economic and productivity forecasts. 

 Chapter 11 provides the key strategic investment and policy priorities for County 

Durham. 

 

 

 

P
age 81



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    4 

2 Overview of the Economy 

Introduction 

 County Durham is the largest local authority in the North East and the 8th largest in 

the country. It is bounded by: Northumberland, Gateshead and Sunderland to the north; 

Hartlepool, Darlington, Stockton-on-Tees and Richmondshire to the south; and Eden to the 

west. It is located within the North East Local Enterprise Partnership (NELEP) area. 

 With a population of 530,100 and an employment base of 183,000, County Durham 

is a key contributor to the North East economy, accounting for 20% of the region’s population 

and 17% of total employment. Its population is primarily concentrated within the areas of 

Durham City, Chester-le-Street, Newton Aycliffe, Bishop Auckland, Consett and Peterlee, while 

two in five residents live in rural areas with a range of smaller towns and villages within the rural 

hinterland. 

 County Durham has successfully rebuilt its economy after the reduction in its 

historical strengths of coal mining and steel making. The industrial economy remains a strength 

of the County and provides a significant source of employment alongside the public sector.  

 While the scale of unemployment has fallen and is significantly below peak numbers 

seen in earlier decades and the employment rate has been increasing, many communities 

continue to be affected by low household incomes and health inequalities. 

 County Durham is home to 14,105 businesses, including major employers GSK, 

Hitachi Rail, Amazon, Caterpillar UK Ltd, Gestamp Tallent Limited and ZF, although business 

density is below the regional and national level. The key employment locations are within 

Durham City, the A1 Corridor and the A19 Corridor.  

Economic Performance 

 In 2018, County Durham contributed Gross Value Added (GVA) of £8.8 billion to the 

UK economy, accounting for 16% of the North East total (compared to 17% of the employment 

base and 20% of the regional population). Between 2008 and 2011 GVA growth flat lined, 

marking the aftermath of the financial crisis, however since then GVA has grown strongly.  

 County Durham’s annual GVA contribution has grown by £2.6bn, 43%, over fifteen 

years, marginally above the North East rate of growth (42%) but significantly below the national 

level (64%). The national growth rate has been supported by a number of sectors where the 

North East as a whole is less well represented: for example professional, scientific and 

technical, finance and insurance, and information and communication activities.  

 

 The number of jobs has also increased over the past 10 years, with County Durham 

now recording an additional 10,500 jobs. 

Productivity Performance 

 GVA and employment growth are good indicators of economic performance, while 

productivity – the amount of output produced from a given level of inputs – is an important 

determinant of prosperity. Productivity is the key determinant of both wages and profit, with the 

latter essential to allowing companies to maintain employment and finance re-investment. 

Productivity is of national interest given that productivity in the UK has fallen behind 

international comparators over the past decade. 

 Looking at the main measures of productivity used at local level in the UK, County 

Durham performs poorly on all measures: 

 GVA per hour worked is 84% of the England average  

 GVA per job is 81% of the England average 

 GVA per FTE is 82% of the England average 

 Prior to the recession and up until 2010, the gap in levels of GVA per hour between 

County Durham and England was narrowing.  However, since then the gap has widened. 

£6,000

£6,500

£7,000

£7,500

£8,000

£8,500

£9,000

£9,500

£10,000

£10,500

County Durham GVA (millions)
Source: ONS Regional Accounts

County Durham North East Trend England Trend

P
age 82



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    5 

 

 GVA per head (per capita), which measures the overall prosperity in society (and 

takes into account children and older people not in the workforce) is used as a measure of 

regional disparity.  It is affected by a number of factors: the proportion of the local population in 

work, how many hours they work and what sectors they work in, levels of productivity (per hour 

or per job) within those sectors, as well as the numbers and proportions of dependent children 

and older people. County Durham’s GVA per capita figure is 57% of the England average, at 

£16,763 compared to £29,356 nationally, indicating a much bigger gap in prosperity levels than 

there is in levels of productivity (with GVA per job and GVA per hour worked 81% and 84% of 

the England average respectively).  

 The major influence on the GVA per capita figure is high levels of older people and 

working age economic inactivity. The changing demographics, with regard to older people 

making up a much larger proportion of the resident population in future years, will increase the 

challenge of increasing the prosperity of County Durham communities. 

 GVA per capita has grown by 34% over the past 15 years, below the national growth 

rate (47%), increasing the performance gap. If GVA per capita had grown at the national rate, 

it would now be £18,328. 

 
2 Industrial Strategy Council, UK Regional Productivity Differences: An Evidence Review, 
2020 

 

 Geographical disparities in productivity are a result of a number of factors including:  

 Workforce skills and health 

 Capital investment and technology 

 Productive assets and infrastructure 

 Local geography, access to markets and institutions 

 Productivity disparities can arise because of geography, local culture, governance 

and infrastructure, which impact upon the economic activities and sectoral makeup of a place, 

shaping its workforce, while agglomeration and clusters of economic activity can have 

productivity benefits, leading to disparities with co-location of businesses driving knowledge 

sharing integrated supply chains. In addition, the impact of high skilled workers choosing to live 

in places with populations reflecting themselves can result in ‘brain drains’ in some locations 

while in others serving to increase productivity and attract investment.2 

 The average productivity statistics are skewed by a small number of highly productive 

places, particularly Inner London. It is worth noting that the most productive NUTS2 region 

(West Inner London) has an income per hour which is 70% higher than the median area’s GVA 

per hour. 

£20

£22

£24

£26

£28

£30

£32

£34

£36

£38

GVA per Hour Worked
Source: ONS Subregional Productivity

County Durham North East England

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

£30,000

£35,000

GVA per Capita
Source: ONS Regional Accounts and Population Estimates

County Durham CD National Trend North East England

P
age 83



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    6 

 Economic and political uncertainty, regarding Brexit (and more recently Covid-19) 

may have dissuaded firms wishing to invest in profitable projects from doing so, impeding 

growth in the amount of capital per worker. 

 As noted by the Bank of England, slower manufacturing productivity growth can in 

part explain the UK’s productivity gap with other comparable countries. Another potential 

reason is capital shallowing – where in manufacturing in particular, capital investment has not 

kept pace with increases in labour input. Given County Durham’s large manufacturing base, 

this may help to explain the disparity between the national average. 

 Some of the factors explaining the different levels of performance include: 

 Potential labour supply: County Durham’s population has a marginally lower 

proportion of working age residents than England as a whole. In 2018m 62.2% of the 

population was of working age (16-64), compared to 62.6% in England as a whole, 

accounting for £65m of the gap in GVA levels. Recent data suggests the working age 

population is expected to decline at a faster rate than the national population. 

 Real employment rate: Amongst the working age population, the employment rate 

is lower than the national average with 73.8% of the working age population in 

employment, compared to 74.7% nationally, accounting for £105m of the gap in GVA 

levels. 

 Productivity - sectoral mix: Despite County Durham having a much lower share of 

workers in typically high productivity sectors than nationally – such as information 

and communication, finance and insurance, and professional, scientific and technical 

services sectors – the manufacturing sector which accounts for 14% of County 

Durham’s workforce compared to 8% nationally and has a high GVA per employee 

of around £89,000, means that its sectoral mix is more productive given its GVA per 

employee by sector than if it had the same sectoral mix as the national population. 

This therefore narrows the GVA gap.   

 Productivity – sectoral performance: Across all sectors, levels of output per job in 

County Durham are 81% of the England average. This accounts for the majority of 

the gap in GVA levels, £2.0bn. 

 
3 UK Regional Productivity Differences: An Evidence Review, 2020 

 GVA per head is also impacted by the net outflow of residents commuting to other 

areas to work, where their GVA contribution is recorded in other local economies. While 

productivity is not the only indicator of economic performance, high-productivity regions also 

tend to perform well along many other economic and social indicators.3  

Summary 

 While increasing productivity is a national and County Durham priority, one 

consequence is that encouraging companies to introduce technologies such as robotics, will in 

the short term reduce the need for labour. These types of new technology investment are, 

however, essential if companies are to remain competitive. 

 County Durham benefits from some very productive sub-sectors and companies in 

its industrial economy.  These sectors will face the challenge of having to recruit skilled and 

experienced personnel to take account of an ageing workforce.  Recruiting a skilled workforce 

will be essential to maintaining and improving productivity in these high value added sectors, 

and may be more challenging given the UK’s exit from the EU. 

 It does, however, have a much lower representation in the high value service sub-

sectors such as digital and ICT. The County will need to strengthen a number of high growth 

service sub-sectors to create more jobs and increase productivity and increase the private 

sector’s contribution to the economy.  

 An underlying priority, in terms of addressing economic challenges, is for County 

Durham to increase its working age population through jobs growth in its priority sectors, 

supported by increased housing provision to accommodate an incoming skilled workforce. 

 County Durham also needs to provide the locations which will attract companies, 

making full use of new technology, operating in national markets in addition to supporting its 

current business base to adopt new technology and invest in innovation and introducing new 

products to strengthen their competitiveness and reach new markets.  More broadly, the County 

needs to invest in the economic infrastructure, notably transport, with a proven link to increased 

productivity.  

P
age 84



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    7 

3 People and Demographics 

Introduction 

 This section of the report provides an overview of County Durham’s resident 

population. The availability of labour plays an important role in the function and performance of 

local economies. Understanding the scale and composition of County Durham’s population, as 

well as the economic contribution that residents make, provides the basis for understanding 

both the challenges and opportunities to be considered in planning future interventions.  

Population 

 As of 2019, the population of County Durham stood at 530,094, 19.9% of the North 

East region’s population. The population has grown steadily since 2000, experiencing an uplift 

of 34,956 residents (7.1%), ahead of the North East’s rate of growth (5.0%) but behind the 

national rate (14.3%). Had County Durham’s population grown in line with the national average, 

it would now be home to 566,076 people – an additional 35,982 residents.  

 

 Within the North East, County Durham has experienced the second highest local 

authority population growth rate since 2000, behind Newcastle upon Tyne where the rate was 

10.8%; an uplift of 29,400 people. 

 Over the next 20 years (2019-2039), the population of County Durham is expected 

to grow by 5.4% (+28,484 people) to exceed 558,000 people. This is a much higher growth rate 

than forecast across the North East at 3.3% but remains below the national rate of 8.4% and 

will be a reduction on the last 20 years growth, reflecting the trend across all three geographies. 

Population Projections – Total Population (in 000s) 

 

2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 

2019 – 2039 

Change  

No.  % 

County 

Durham 
529.7 539.7 548.0 553.9 558.2 28,484 5.4 

North 

East 
2,667.1 2,698.7 2,723.7 2,741.9 2,755.8 88,682 3.3 

England  56,343.1 57,816.9 58,969.5 59,989.0 60,961.8 4,681,733 8.4 

Source: Sub-National Population Projections 2018 based 

Age Profile  

 Between 2009 and 2019, the working age population as a proportion of the total 

population shrank by 0.5 percentage points, whilst the proportion of those aged 65+ increased 

by 4.2 percentage points. This reflects the ageing population being recorded nationally and has 

implications for levels of economic dependency, although many residents may choose to 

continue to work into later life, in part due to changes in pension entitlement but also reflecting 

extended healthy life expectancy. 

This trend is expected to continue over the next 20 years, with the dependency ratio growing 

as the workforce declines relative to those of retirement age. By 2039, it is estimated that 26.4% 

of the population will be over 65 compared to 17.6% in 2009. The proportion of the population 

aged under 25 is also forecast to decline (from 29.4% of residents in 2009 to 27.2% in 2039), 

with implications for future workforce supply.  

 

480,000

500,000

520,000

540,000

560,000

580,000

Population 2000-2019
Source: ONS Population Estimates

County Durham North East Trend England Trend

16.1% 16.2% 14.8% 14.6%

13.3% 12.3% 13.5% 12.6%

11.1% 12.1% 10.9% 11.9%

21.6% 17.5% 17.8% 17.1%

20.2%
21.1% 19.0% 17.4%

17.6% 20.8% 24.0% 26.4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2009 2019 2029 2039

Population by age band
Source: ONS local authority based population estimates and population 

projections, 2018

0-14 15-24 25-34 35-49 50-64 65+

66.2% 63.0%
61.2% 59%

P
age 85



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    8 

 ONS population estimates suggest there will be an additional 36,850 people aged 65 

and over (+33.3%) resident in County Durham by 2039, while there will be 9,400 fewer people 

across the key working age groups of 25-34, 35-49 and 50-64 (-3.5%), revealing the extent of 

the shift in demographic. 

 

An Ageing Population 

 By 2039 the old age dependency ratio, defined as the number of residents at the 

State Pension age and over  for every 1,000 working age residents, is expected to reach 400 

in County Durham above the North East (387) and national (349) ratios. 

 An ageing population is highlighted as one of the Grand Challenges in the UK’s 

Industrial Strategy, noting that the demographic shift will “create new demands for technologies, 

products and services, including new care technologies, new housing models and innovative 

savings products for retirement”. 

 This illustrates the growing challenge of an ageing population, with implications for 

the labour market and health and care. Despite the raising of the state pension entitlement age 

and more people continuing to work beyond 65 than has been the case to date, there are still 

expected to be fewer workers over time supporting an increasing number of retired people, 

resulting in a higher dependency ratio.  

 There is a challenge to ensure older residents who wish to work longer are supported 

to do so and are equipped with the necessary skills and flexible employment opportunities to 

allow them to continue to work into later life.  

 As the population ages there is likely to be significant skill losses as a large number 

of the workforce moves into retirement, especially in manufacturing jobs. 

  Alongside economic considerations, the data highlights the need to ensure 

appropriate health and social care provision and a sufficient range of housing is available to 

cater for the changing demographic, e.g. for those downsizing and those with mobility restraints. 

It is important that local and national government strategy responds to this challenge. Current 

housing supply and trends are considered in Chapter 7.  

Employment Rate 

 Over the past ten years, County Durham’s employment rate has broadly tracked the 

North East average and remained consistently below the national rate. Since the year ending 

September 2017, the employment rate in County Durham has remained above the regional rate 

peaking at 74.5% in 2017/18. Since 2009/2010, the number of people in employment within 

County Durham has increased by 13,200. 

 According to the Annual Population Survey, the employment rate for the year ending 

September 2020, has dropped from its peak to 71.9%. This is similar to the regional rate. In 

comparison to the other local authorities in the North East, County Durham has a lower 

employment rate than North Tyneside, Darlington, Gateshead, Stockton-on-Tees and 

Northumberland.  

 

Unemployment Rate 

 Unemployment in County Durham has fallen over the past ten years. Having reached 

a peak of 11.1% of the working age population in the year ending September 2012, it fell to a 

low of 3.8% in 2017/18, although unemployment has begun to rise in the past two years. 

85,828

65,433

64,159

92,396

111,826

110,452

81,686

70,189

66,435

95,449

97,103

147,300

120,00070,00020,00030,00080,000130,000

0-14

15-24

25-34

35-49

50-64

65+

Age Profile 
Source: ONS local authority based population estimates and 2018-based 

population projections

2019 2039

60%

64%

68%

72%

76%

80%

Employment rate of working age residents (16-64)
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

County Durham North East England

P
age 86



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    9 

Unemployment has been consistently above the national figure in all but one year - 2017/18.  

When compared to the regional rate, County Durham has followed a broadly similar trajectory 

over the past ten years. 

 

 The 16-24 age bracket typically experiences the highest rate of unemployment, 

although this may reflect older groups moving into the economically inactive groups affected by 

health issues. Unemployment amongst those aged 16-24 has fluctuated dramatically over the 

past ten years, from a peak of almost 35% in 2011/12 to a low of 8.7% in 2017/18, while 

unemployment of those aged 25 and over remained more stable. This is consistent with the 

regional and national trends. However, the level of unemployment amongst young people in 

County Durham in the year ending September 2020, at 22.2%, is significantly above the 

national rate for this age group (12.9%), with the data showing that the unemployment rate 

amongst this group was growing even before the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic were felt. 

Covid-19 has disproportionately affected employment amongst young people, who typically 

have a high representation in sectors such as hospitality and leisure. 

 

The Claimant Count 

 The Claimant Count captures people claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and 

those who are claiming the unemployment related elements of Universal Credit, providing a 

more comprehensive view of unemployment levels.  

 As of December 2020, the claimant unemployment count in County Durham was, 

20,790, approximately 6.1% of the working age population, an uplift of 8,045 from the same 

period in the previous year. Whilst the number of claimants has been increasing since 2015, 

the notable spike in 2020 is likely a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Supporting people to return 

to work as the economy recovers will be a priority.  

 County Durham has consistently had a lower share of claimants in working age 

population than across the region, but a higher share than nationally apart from most recent 

data from December 2020, which highlights the impact of Covid-19 where the national 

proportion (6.4%) is above the County Durham level (6.1%). 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Unemployment rate of working age residents (16-64)
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

County Durham North East England

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Unemployment rate in County Durham by age group
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

16-24 25-49 50-64

P
age 87



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    10 

 

Inactivity 

Economic inactivity in County Durham amongst the working age population (i.e. those not in 

the labour force) is estimated at 23.8% for 2019/2020. The inactivity rate has been on a 

downward trajectory since 2009/2010, consistent with the regional and national trend, with the 

exception of a spike in 2014/15 in County Durham. The rate of inactivity follows a similar trend 

to the North East, but has remained consistently higher than the national rate over the last ten 

years.   

 

 Over 22,000 residents in County Durham are economically inactive due to long-term 

health conditions, accounting for 29.5% of those classed as economically inactive, exceeding 

the regional (28.8%) and national (23.0%) proportions. This highlights the need to tackle health 

inequalities, which act as a constraint to growth and influence deprivation among communities. 

 The second most common reason for inactivity is looking after family members or the 

home (24.8%), with 18,600 residents, above the regional (21.4%) and national (21.5%) 

proportion. There is a lower proportion of students amongst the economically inactive, with 

16,300 residents accounting for 21.8% of those classed as inactive, despite the existence of a 

university within the County.  

 In County Durham over a quarter (26.0%) of the inactive population would like a job, 

this is higher than the regional (24.9%) and national (21.9%) proportion, suggesting in County 

Durham this group may face more barriers to entering employment, or lack of training and 

employment opportunities than elsewhere. 

  

Resident and workforce earnings 

 The median earnings for residents of County Durham in 2020 were £28,002 for full-

time workers in line with the median earnings for the North East but more than £3,700 below 

the national average.  

 In contrast, the median earnings for workers within County Durham during 2020 were  

£26,495 for full time workers, below both the regional and national median earnings. This 

suggests residents commuting out of the County are higher paid on average than those 

commuting in, in part reflecting the sectoral and occupational profile of employment.  

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

Proportion (%) of working age adults who are 
claimants of JSA and Universal Credit (16-64)

Source: DWP Claimant Count , 2020

County Durham North East England

16%

20%

24%

28%

32%

Economic Inactivity of working age residents (16-64)
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

County Durham North East England

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

Other

Temporary sick

Discouraged

Retired

Student

Looking after family/home

Long-term sick

Reasons for economic inactivity
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

County Durham North East England

P
age 88



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    11 

 Over the past ten years the earnings gap for both residents and workers has declined 

slightly in County Durham, although it remains below the national average.  

 Looking at low earners, the 10th and 25th percentile of both resident and workplace 

earnings are below the regional and national averages. When compared to the national 

average, the earnings of the 25th percentile in County Durham equate to less than 90% of the 

England level on both resident and workplace measures.  

Resident Earnings – 2020  

 
County 

Durham 
North East England 

Median 28,002 27,971 31,766 

10th percentile 16,984 17,289 18,065 

25th percentile 20,177 20,991 22,932 

Workplace Earnings – 2020  

Median 26,495 27,865 31,777 

10th percentile 16,405 17,160 18,070 

25th percentile 19,685 20,819 22,938 

Source: ASHE 2020 

Summary 

 While the County Durham population will increase over the next 20 years, the 

challenge of an ageing population, with implications for the labour market and health and care, 

and a reduced number of working age residents will have implications for both economic growth 

and the sustainability of local centres.  

 There is a challenge to ensure older residents who wish to work longer are supported 

to do so and are equipped with the necessary skills and flexible employment opportunities to 

allow them to continue to work into later life. 

  The data highlights the need to ensure a sufficient range of housing is available to 

cater for the changing demographic, e.g. for those downsizing and those with mobility restraints, 

but also to increase the supply of family housing to attract a larger working age population from 

other areas. County Durham needs to increase family housing in popular locations to help 

attract the 30-50 age group, as part of a strategy to increase its working age population and 

reduce in-commuting for higher skilled jobs in County Durham companies and institutions. 

 County Durham has a good employment rate although this is likely to decline in the 

short term as the full impact of the pandemic emerges, with a corresponding increase in 

unemployment, particularly amongst young people. There is a pressing need to increase job 

support actions and encourage private sector investment to offset ground lost during 2020/21. 

 While there is a focus on higher skilled and higher paid jobs, many of the replacement 

jobs needed to offset pandemic redundancies are at the intermediate skills level, with potential 

replacement jobs in sectors such as distribution, logistics and the health sector.  

 It is likely that unemployment will remain high and increase most amongst younger 

people, particularly those in the tourism, leisure and hospitality sector, and there may be scope 

for providing training which opens up other opportunities to them, such as through enhanced 

digital skills. 

 Many younger people would be encouraged to delay entering the labour market in 

2021 and would be better serviced in gaining work related qualifications and looking for new 

jobs in 2022 when the economic recovery will be gaining momentum. 

 There are likely to be reduced opportunities for longer term unemployed and people 

seeking to return to work after an absence over the next two years. New supported employment 

initiatives and increased social value activities may be needed to provide additional support. 

 While the proportion of the working age population has been falling for some time, 

the County Durham inactivity rate is significantly above the national rate and large numbers of 

residents are unable to work due to care responsibilities and health related issues. Supporting 

local people to address these issues could help over the medium term to increase the size of 

the workforce and increase household incomes.  

 In particular a high proportion of the economically inactive population have long-term 

health conditions, highlighting the need to tackle health inequalities, which act as a constraint 

to growth and influence deprivation among communities 

 New health innovations are helping many people to better manage health conditions 

and these will help some people to return to work. The NHS is investing in digital health 

applications to assist people and County Durham needs to ensure such new approaches to 

better healthcare can benefit local residents. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 89



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    12 

4 Employment  

Introduction 

 This section of the report provides an overview of employment patterns in County 

Durham, including employment trends, sectoral strengths and key employment locations. 

Underpinned by historical strengths and reflecting evolution of the local, national and global 

economy, a thorough understanding of the employment base can set the wider economic 

review findings in context.   

Employment in County Durham 

 In 2019, 183,000 people worked in County Durham, accounting for 16.6% of total 

employment in the North East, a proportion below the county’s share of population. Between 

2009 and 2019, employment has increased by 10,500 (6.1%), above the regional rate (4.9%) 

but lower than the national rate of employment growth (12.8%). If County Durham’s 

employment level had grown in line with the national trend, there would be 11,600 additional 

jobs in the county in 2019. 

 

 Approximately two thirds (66.3%) of employees in County Durham in 2019 worked 

full-time, and a third (33.7%) part time. This employment split is similar to the regional (66.1% 

full time) and national averages (68.1%). Total employment exceeded the number of employees 

in County Durham by 8,000 in 2019, taking account of self-employed workers (who are 

registered for VAT or PAYE).  

Workplace Employment, 2019 

 No. % 

Full-time employees 116,000 66.3% 

Part-time employees 59,000 33.7% 

Total Employees 175,000 - 

Total Employment 183,000 - 

Source: BRES, 2019 

Sectoral Profile of Employment: A Traditional Employment Base 

 Manufacturing and health are County Durham’s most prominent employment sectors, 

accounting for 13.7% of employment (50,000 people) each, 4.5% of 1.1m jobs in the North 

East. Retail and education also account for a large proportion of employment. 

 

 At broad sector level there are some differences in the sector structure of County 

Durham’s economy compared to the national average:  

 Sectors which are overrepresented include: manufacturing accounts for 13.7% of 

jobs in County Durham compared to 8% nationally; education is also over 

160,000

165,000

170,000

175,000

180,000

185,000

190,000

195,000

200,000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Workplace Employment 
Source: BRES

County Durham North East Trend England Trend

25,000

25,000

20,000

20,000

15,000

13,000

10,000

9,000

8,000

8,000

Manufacturing

Health

Retail

Education

Public administration & defence

Accommodation & food services

Construction

Business administration & support…

Transport & storage

Professional, scientific & technical

Total Employment

Top 10 Employment Sectors in County Durham, 2019
Source: BRES, 2019

P
age 90



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    13 

represented within the local economy at 10.5% compared with the national rate of 

8.4%, this is in part likely to be due to the strong presence of Durham University.  

 Sectors which are underrepresented include: professional, scientific and technical 

professions that account of 4.4% of jobs in County Durham compared to 9.8% 

nationally.  

 The sectoral profile of employment therefore shows a bias towards employment in 

sectors that are undergoing a period of change (in the form of manufacturing and retail) and 

public sector focused elements of the economy.  

Sectoral Employment Change 

 Whilst employment has grown overall in County Durham between 2009 and 2019 

there have been significant differences in performance by sector.  

 Considering areas of higher than average growth:  

 The arts, entertainment and recreation industry grew by 50%, generating an 

additional 1,500 jobs, at a time when the sector grew by 23% across the North East 

and 15% in England. The sector now accounts for a similar share of total employment 

(4.4%) in County Durham as regionally (4.4%) and nationally (4.8%). 

 Education employment grew by 2,500 (+14%) compared to the sector’s stagnation 

across the North East and nationally. 

 Although the growth rate was below the national average, the addition of 1,500 

professional, scientific and technical jobs (+23%) represents significant growth in what remains 

an under-represented sector in County Durham. Overall, gains support the growing dominance 

of a service-based economy.  

Significant Employment Growth by Industry between 2009 and 2019 

 County Durham North East England 

 
Total 

change 

% 

change 

% 

change 

% 

change 

Administrative and support service 2,500 38 39 31 

Education 2,500 14 2 5 

Human health and social work 2,000 9 16 15 

Professional, scientific and 

technical activities 
1,500 23 5 36 

Arts, entertainment, and 

recreation 
1,500 50 23 15 

Wholesale and retail trade 1,000 4 3 3 

Information and communication 500 40 22 25 

Source: BRES, 2019 

 Conversely, some sectors within County Durham have experienced some moderate 

declines in recent years. As examples:  

 There was a loss of 625 (-26%) jobs in the financial and insurance activities sector – 

a greater loss than recorded across the North East (-9%) whilst this sector grew by 

1% nationally.  

 Whilst there was a loss of 1,000 jobs (-6%) in public administration and defence, this 

sector fared much better than regionally (-24%) and nationally (-14%), with the sector 

remaining a key employer in County Durham.  

Significant Employment Decline by Industry between 2009 and 2019 

 County Durham North East England 

 
Total 

change 

% 

change 

% 

change 

% 

change 

Public administration and defence -1,000 -6 -24 -14 

Financial and insurance activities -625 -26 -9 1 

Manufacturing -500 -2 -6 1 

Construction -500 -5 -19 8 

Source: BRES, 2019 

 Sub-Sectoral Strengths and Specialisms 

 Sub-sector data provides a more detailed understanding of the structure of the 

County Durham economy, including areas of specialism within the employment base. The 

analysis considers two factors – total employment, and the concentration of employment as 

measured by the Location Quotient (LQ).  The LQ is a measure of specialisation compared to 

the national average.  A LQ of 1 indicates that the share of total employment in a sector locally 

is the same as its share nationally.  A LQ above 1 indicates that the area has a higher proportion 

of employment in that sector than the national average.  A LQ less than 1 indicates that the 

area is under-represented in employment terms. 

 In actual terms, the service economy dominates County Durham’s top employment 

sub-sectors. The largest sub-sectors of employment are education and retail trade, collectively 

accounting for 22% of total employment and with employment levels growing over the last ten 

years. Public sector administration and defence is also an important subsector of the economy. 

In all three cases, the LQ exceeds 1. This highlights the prevalence of the public sector within 

the County Durham economy. 

 Although actual employment levels are lower, the LQ analysis shows that County 

Durham has notably higher than average concentrations of employment in residential care 

activities (a sector that is expected to grow to support an ageing population), land transport 

and transport via pipelines and social work activities within accommodation.  

 

P
age 91



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    14 

Employment by 2-Digit Sector 2019 

 
Jobs LQ 

2009-2019 

Growth 

Education 20,000 1.30 2,500  

Retail trade  19,500 1.16 2,000  

Public admin. & defence; compulsory social security 15,000 2.09 -1,000  

Food & beverage service activities 11,500 1.05 1,500  

Human health activities 11,000 0.82 500  

Social work activities without accommodation 7,000 1.36 500  

Residential care activities 6,500 1.57 1,000  

Specialised construction activities 6,000 1.20 -500  

Wholesale trade  5,000 0.69 -500  

Land transport and transport via pipelines 5,000 1.37 -500  

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey 

 The industrial economy remains important to County Durham – the primary 

(extraction of raw material) and secondary (manufacturing) sectors account for nine of the top 

ten sub-sectors by LQ. Although mining employment figures are now low, the sector remains 

an over-represented area of the local economy. The manufacture of pharmaceutical products 

is 8.11 times more concentrated that the national average (driven in part by the presence of 

Glaxo Smith Kline – a major pharmaceutical company)  whilst water collection and treatment is 

4.24 times more concentrated than the national average (with the Northumbrian Water HQ in 

the county).  

Employment by 2-Digit Sector 2019 

 
Jobs LQ 

2009-2019 

Growth 

Mining of coal and lignite 150 63.59 145  

Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical products & 

pharmaceutical preparations 
1,750 8.11  250  

Water collection, treatment & supply 1,000 4.24 0  

Manufacture of machinery & equipment n.e.c. 4,000 3.76 750  

Manufacture of fabricated metal products 4,750 2.80 2,250  

Manufacture of wood & of products of wood/cork 1,125 2.53 -125  

Electricity, gas, steam & air conditioning supply 1,750 2.37 - 250  

Public admin. & defence 15,000 2.09 -1,000  

Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers & semi-

trailers 
2,000 2.05 - 125  

Manufacture of electrical equipment 850 2.05 -100  

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey 

Manufacturing 

 The Durham economy has a large manufacturing sector and a number of major world 

leading companies established in the County that acknowledge both historic and emerging 

strengths. The sector is represented through a diverse range of sub-sectors, including a number 

where there is both a strong presence and growth potential.  

 The manufacture of fabricated metal products forms the largest component of the 

manufacturing base within County Durham accounting for 4,750 jobs, a figure that has grown 

by 2,250 jobs since 2009. This is followed by the manufacture of machinery and equipment that 

accounts for 4,000 jobs and has experienced an uplift of 750 jobs. 

 County Durham is host to an increasing number of key manufacturing employers and 

assets. For example: 

 Hitachi Rail has established a train manufacturing and assembly site at Merchant 

Park in South Durham employing around 600 and further sites have been identified 

within the county to expand operations further. 

 Glaxo Smith Kline (GSK) is a major international brand that also has a significant 

facility at Barnard Castle employing around 1,400 within West Durham.  

 Gestamp Tallent Limited, a Tier 1 automotive chassis manufacturer, employ around 

1,000 in Newton Aycliffe. 

 Caterpillar UK Ltd are the largest employers in Peterlee with over 1,000 employees 

and are the only manufacturer of off-highway articulated trucks in the Caterpillar 

Group. 

 ZF (formerly TRW Systems Ltd) are a Tier 1 automotive manufacturer of sensing 

equipment for cars, employing around 800 in Peterlee. 

 3M UK plc, manufacturers of respiratory masks and PPE, employ over 400 in 

Newton Aycliffe.  

 Husqvarna UK Ltd manufacture robotic lawnmowers, employing over 400 in Newton 

Aycliffe 

 This illustrates how traditional and advanced manufacturing companies have 

successfully established themselves within County Durham with potential for further growth to 

occur.  

 While some manufacturers will increase their competitiveness through digitisation, 

robotics and automation, reducing the workforce, there is the opportunity to offset these losses 

through growth in some of the strongest sub-sectors. This includes those that are able to take 

up new opportunities in growth markets in the green economy, clean energy and long-term 

activities to reach zero carbon and help to meet climate change objectives. 

 While the pandemic has had a limited effect on the advanced manufacturing sector, 

Brexit is likely to impact on those companies which are part of European supply chains and are 

dependent on the recruitment of high skilled international migrants. Conversely, over the next 

five years, new trading arrangements could unlock new opportunities. Increased advanced 

manufacturing employment provides an opportunity for increased employment in skilled, above 

average productivity roles, therefore increasing the mean productivity in the local authority. 

P
age 92



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    15 

Productivity by Sector 

 As noted in Chapter 2, County Durham’s economy generated £8.8bn billion of GVA 

in 2018, accounting for 16% of the North East total. One key measure of productivity is GVA 

per full-time equivalent (FTE) worker - the value of the output that one worker produces.  In 

County Durham in 2018, GVA per FTE was £61,601 20% less than the national average at 

£75,149.   

 GVA per FTE varies considerably by sector, as shown in the table below. The sectors 

with the highest productivity levels in County Durham are manufacturing and agriculture, mining 

and utilities. While County Durham is more productive in the primary and secondary sectors of 

manufacturing and agriculture, mining and utilities compared to the national average, it is 

notable that it records a lower output per FTE worker in all other sectors. The largest disparities 

are evident in finance and insurance activities (reporting the third highest level of GVA per FTE 

within County Durham but a rate that is less than half the figure reported nationally) and 

information and communication (where the GVA per FTE contribution is just over half the 

national average). 

 These low levels of productivity impact on business profitability and wage levels, 

depressing household incomes and limiting the amount of spending in the local economy.  

Driving up productivity levels, across all sectors, is an important priority for County Durham but 

particularly in those sectors where performance lags considerably behind the national average. 

 Manufacturing, agriculture, mining and utilities and public admin and defence all 

account for a larger proportion of GVA than employment, finance and insurance activities and 

information and communication account for the same share, while the reverse is true in the 

case of all other sectors.  

GVA per FTE by Sector, 2018 

 
County 

Durham 
England 

Agriculture, mining, electricity, gas, water and waste £139,956 £118,505 

Manufacturing £92,458 £78,802 

Financial and insurance activities £67,273 £143,805 

Public administration and defence £66,059 £78,763 

Information and communication £59,016 £116,376 

Construction £54,857 £90,860 

Education £46,820 £52,960 

Wholesale and retail trade  £40,267   £55,692  

Transportation and storage  £39,310   £58,950  

Other service activities  £38,857   £63,682  

Human health and social work activities  £36,333   £45,754  

GVA per FTE by Sector, 2018 

Arts, entertainment, and recreation  £35,368   £59,557  

Professional, scientific and technical activities  £34,476   £64,869  

Administrative and support service activities  £31,412   £47,506  

Accommodation and food service activities  £29,290   £32,627  

Economy wide  £61,601   £75,149  

Source: BRES and ONS Regional Accounts GVA (Balanced) 

*excludes Real Estate activities  

Key Employment Locations 

 The map overleaf, shows the distribution of employment across County Durham, with 

the darkest purple areas presenting the location of the highest number of jobs, as of 2019. This 

highlights concentrations of employment in Durham City, Newton Aycliffe, Peterlee as well as 

Bishop Auckland, Barnard Castle, Spennymoor, Seaham, Chester-lee-Street and Consett. The 

map also highlights the location of some of the largest public and private sector employers and 

key business locations and assets. Key employment locations are covered in more detail in 

Chapter 8. 

 

  

P
age 93



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    16 

Key Employment Locations 

P
age 94



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    17 

Summary 

 There has been significant employment growth in County Durham, with an additional 

10,500 jobs added since 2009.  However, the full impact of Covid-19 upon employment is yet 

to be experienced. 

 County Durham has a large industrial and public sector employment base. 

Manufacturing is a key sector of the economy with a large and diverse company base 

supporting 25,000 jobs. It makes the largest contribution in terms of GVA to the County Durham 

economy with its contribution per FTE exceeding the national average. While there is an 

underlying long term trend of workforce reduction in the sector, and this may be exacerbated 

by Brexit, the broad sector and particular sub-sectors have the potential to contribute to the UK 

Industrial Strategy, increasing County Durham and national productivity and supporting a move 

towards clean and renewable energy as part of zero carbon objectives. 

 It is impossible to overstate the importance of manufacturing to the County Durham 

economy. It is the largest source of full time, well paid jobs and the workforce productivity easily 

exceeds the national average. Maintaining and, if possible, increasing employment, in the light 

of many challenges, is the number one economic priority for County Durham. There is a long 

term downward trend in UK manufacturing employment, and County Durham will need to 

secure new and significant inward investment – an ambition that it has successfully achieved 

in recent years – to offset the inevitable jobs losses in some sub-sectors. 

 The health sector has a very large employment base in the County and this is likely 

to continue. Brexit is likely to lead to recruitment challenges for the care sector while the health 

sector supply chain is likely to seek to reduce dependency on international supply chains, in 

the light of the Covid-19 pandemic. The sector is the best source of employment opportunities, 

across a broad range of skill levels, with replacement demand generating new job opportunities 

each year.  

 The performance of the ICT sector in County Durham is very poor, with GVA/FTE 

less than half of the UK figure, as is financial and insurance services. While the latter is not 

surprising, the ICT figure is worth further investigation and to take advantage of new trends the 

development of a strategy to address this issue, covering all aspects of sector development 

including place, business premises, business support and new starts and skills, should be a 

priority. 

 County Durham continues to be over dependent on the public sector for jobs growth 

and sector specialism. Increasing private sector employment in the high growth service sub-

sectors is a requirement to rebalancing the economy, increasing employment and improving 

productivity. 

P
age 95



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    18 

5 Business and Innovation 

Introduction 

 This section of the report provides an overview of the business environment in County 

Durham, including the business base and key businesses and innovation performance and 

assets. The business environment and the ability to attract and cultivate successful businesses 

as well as the level of innovation is a key to the success of a local economy, supporting growth 

and development, higher wages, and productivity.  

The Business Base 

 As of 2020, there were around 14,105 businesses within County Durham, accounting 

for 20% of businesses within the North East, in line with its share of population. Since 2010, 

the business base has grown by 2,660 businesses; an uplift of 23.2%, compared to 27.9% 

across the North East and 33% nationally. The strongest gains have been recorded in the 

period since 2014. If County Durham had matched the national growth rate, it would now be 

home to 15,220 businesses, 1,115 more than the latest statistics show.   

 

 

 

 

 Business density provides a measure of the size of the business base relative to the 

working age population. The business density in County Durham has grown between 2010 and 

2020, from around 345 businesses per 10,000 working age residents to 430, roughly equal to 

the North East average, although it remains significantly below the national average (677). The 

rate of growth (24.6%) recorded over the period also remains below that recorded regionally 

(29.6%) and nationally (28.4%). County Durham would need an additional 8,126 businesses 

(58% of the existing business base) to achieve the England wide business density. 

   

Business Start-Ups, Deaths and Survival Rates 

 In 2019, 1,710 new businesses were created in County Durham, accounting for 17% 

of start-ups in the North East that year and 6% of the total business base. In recent years, 

County Durham’s business birth rate has remained consistently below the regional and national 

averages, as a percentage of the business base, although at 12.4% the numbers are 

substantial.  

 Intelligence shared by Durham County Council suggests that in 2020 the top four 

industries for start-ups were construction, real estate, professional services & support activities, 

and wholesale & retail trade. Sole traders accounted for over half (52.1%) of start-ups, limited 

companies accounted for 46.1% and other for profit start-ups 2.8%.  

11,000

11,500

12,000

12,500

13,000

13,500

14,000

14,500

15,000

15,500

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Number of Businesses 
Source: ONS UK Business Counts

County Durham North East Trend England Trend

345 333

527

430 431

677

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

County Durham North East England

Business Density: number of businesses per 10,000 
working age population

Source: UK Business Counts and ONS Population estimates

2010 2020

P
age 96



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    19 

 

 Considering business deaths as a proportion of the total business base, County 

Durham performs well, although this may be indicative of fewer business births as a share of 

the business base. On average, 10% of businesses have ceased per annum over the last five 

years, which is considerably lower than the regional attrition rate (which has consistently been 

more than double the rate recorded in County Durham) and consistently below the national rate 

(which has fluctuated between 10% and 13%).  

 

 Data from the ONS details the business survival rates for enterprises created in 2014. 

In the first year, a similar proportion of enterprises, more than 9 in 10, survived in County 

Durham, the region and nationally. Overall, in the subsequent five years, 43.1% of businesses 

in County Durham survived, exceeding the rate recorded across the North East and similar to 

the proportion in England as a whole.  

 

Businesses by Employment and Turnover 

 The majority of businesses in County Durham are micro businesses employing fewer 

than 10 people (88.1%). This is slightly above the average proportion for micro businesses for 

the North East (87.6%) and below the proportion for England (89.7%). In 2020, there were 40 

large organisations in County Durham employing over 250 people representing 0.3% of total 

businesses, a proportion marginally below the regional and national averages. Almost 300 

businesses in the county employ 50 or more staff.  

Business Size, 2020 

 County Durham North East England 

 No. % % % 

Micro (0 to 9) 12,425 88.1 87.6 89.7 

Small (10 to 49) 1,385 9.8 10.1 8.4 

Medium-sized (50 to 249) 255 1.8 1.8 1.5 

Large (250+) 40 0.3 0.5 0.4 

Total 14,105    

Source: Business Counts 2020 

10%

11%

12%

13%

14%

15%

16%

17%

18%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Business births as a proportion of the business base
Source: ONS Business Demography

County Durham North East England

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Business deaths as a proportion of the business base
Source: ONS Business Demography

County Durham North East England

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

1 Year
Survival

2 Year
Survival

3 Year
Survival

4 Year
Survival

5 Year
Survival

Business Survival Rates (%) for Newly Born 
Enterprises 2015-2018

Source: ONS Business Births and Deaths Table 5.1a, 2020

County Durham North East England

P
age 97



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    20 

 Businesses by turnover data shows that County Durham’s business base broadly 

mirrors regional and national trends. Reflecting the focus on micro businesses highlighted 

above, the majority of businesses in the county (84.3%) have a turnover of less than £0.5m per 

annum. In contrast, there are over 1,230 businesses with a turnover over £1m, equating to 

8.7% of the business base, compared to 9.5% nationally. 

Businesses by Turnover, 2020 

 County Durham North East England 

 No. % % % 

>£100K 5,085 36.0 36.1 37.3 

£100K to £499K 6,815 48.3 47.6 45.8 

£500K to £999K 980 6.9 7.3 7.4 

£1m to >£5m 930 6.6 6.7 7.1 

£5m to >£10m 145 1.0 1.0 1.1 

£10m+ 155 1.1 1.3 1.3 

Source: UK Business Counts 2020 

Businesses by Sector 

 The business base by industry shows that, unlike the share of employment, 

construction makes up the largest proportion of businesses (14.7%), followed by professional, 

scientific & technical; (12.2%) and agriculture (9.7%).  

 Sectors in agriculture and accommodation have larger than typical shares of the 

business base in County Durham when compared to the national picture, whilst the number of 

information and communications firms is below average.  

 County Durham’s largest employment sectors of manufacturing and health account 

for relatively small numbers of businesses, suggesting a focus on medium and large employers 

for employment in the sectors.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Businesses by Sector, 2020 

 County Durham 

 No. % 

Wholesale & retail trade 2,120 15.0% 

Construction 2,075 14.7% 

Professional, scientific & technical 1,720 12.2% 

Agriculture, forestry & fishing 1,375 9.7% 

Accommodation & food services 1,225 8.7% 

Administrative & support services 965 6.8% 

Manufacturing 880 6.2% 

Transportation & storage 740 5.2% 

Other service activities 685 4.9% 

Human health & social work 510 3.6% 

Information & communication 470 3.3% 

Real estate activities 365 2.6% 

Arts, entertainment & recreation 335 2.4% 

Education 240 1.7% 

Financial & insurance activities 190 1.3% 

Public administration & defence 85 0.6% 

Water supply; sewerage, waste management & remediation 60 0.4% 

Electricity, gas, steam & air conditioning supply 40 0.3% 

Mining & quarrying 20 0.1% 

Total 14,105   

Source: UK Business Counts 2020 

 

  

P
age 98



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    21 

Innovation  

 Innovation is a key driver of economic growth. Increasing the level of innovation and 

the uptake of new ideas gives businesses a competitive edge and can lead to productivity 

improvements. The UK’s Industrial Strategy also highlights the importance of innovation to 

economic growth and development, bringing benefits across the economy as a whole. 

 The Innovation Readiness Report prepared by Oxford Economics (2019), suggests 

that County Durham already has an established reputation for innovation and a specialism in 

R&D intensive sectors compared to the remainder of the North East. In 2016, R&D expenditure 

was estimated at £100m in County Durham, of which 45% was contributed by the higher 

education sector (reflecting the presence of research-led Durham University). The report 

forecasts that R&D spend will increase by 7% between 2017 and 2025 reaching £123 million 

by 2025. The research suggests that if the level of innovation was to match Cambridge and 

Oxford there would be £283 million in additional R&D spend and 16,000 additional jobs in 

innovation-orientated sectors by 2025. 

 The UK Government’s Industrial Strategy has a target to raise investment on R&D to 

2.4% of gross domestic product (GDP) by 2027. In 2018, R&D expenditure in the North East 

(region) was £780 million, 1.2% of GDP, below the national rate 1.8% and the Industrial 

Strategy 2027 target. R&D expenditure in the North East accounts for 2.4% of total English 

expenditure on R&D, including £443 million of R&D undertaken by businesses (1.9% of the 

national total) and £250 million by Higher Education Institutions (3.5% of the England total). 

 Reflecting the region’s focus of R&D expenditure within the Higher Education sector, 

the R&D spend per employee was just £722 in the North East region in 2018. This is the second 

lowest amount of investment per job in the English regions after Yorkshire and the Humber with 

£661. The average investment per job in England stood at £1225. To equal this, the North East 

would need to attract an additional £545m of R&D investment per annum. 

 Limited R&D investment across the business base is impacting on performance. 

Within the Benchmarking Local Innovation Report (2019), the North East LEP ranks 28th out of 

39 local enterprise partnership areas for the number of firms undertaking R&D with less than a 

fifth (19.3%) of firms undertaking this activity. In comparison, Oxfordshire is ranked number 1 

with 40% of firms undertaking research and development. 

Knowledge Intensive Industries 

 Knowledge intensive industries, which include High tech and Medium-High 

Technology Manufacturing and Knowledge-intensive Services as defined by Eurostat,.are 

based on industries’ use of technology, R&D intensity and the level of workforce skills and 

therefore provide one assessment of the level of innovation in an area. Within County Durham, 

91,000 people are employed in knowledge intensive industries – almost half of total 

employment (49.7%), marginally below the national level (50.9%).  

 
4 DLHE 2016/17 

 Knowledge-intensive service sectors are underrepresented in employment terms, 

accounting for 43.4% of employment compared to 48.4% nationally. If knowledge intensive 

services constituted the same proportion of jobs in County Durham as across the country, there 

would be an additional 9,000 jobs in knowledge intensive services. 

 In contrast, County Durham has recognised strengths in high or medium-high 

technology manufacturing, which account for 11,500 of jobs in knowledge intensive industries 

equating to 6.3% of total employment, the second highest concentration in the North East and 

notably above the England average of 2.5%, reflecting clusters of activity, including the 

manufacture of transport equipment such as at the Hitachi Rail plant in County Durham. 

High / Medium-high Tech Manufacturing Share of Total Employment, 2019 

 High-technology 
Manufacturing 

Medium-high-
technology 

Manufacturing 

High and 
Med-high-

tech 

County Durham 1.3% 5.0% 6.3% 

North East 0.5% 2.1% 2.5% 

England  0.5% 3.7% 4.2% 

Source: BRES 
*High/Medium-High Tech Manufacturing and Knowledge Intensive Services, Eurostat 

 Oxford Economics predicts the GVA for high technology and knowledge-intensive 

sectors will grow by 5% by 2025, driven by productivity improvements which will help to boost 

wages in these sectors and make County Durham more attractive to skilled individuals, as well 

as contributing to overall economic performance. 

Assets 

 Two key innovation assets and locations in the County are the University and the 

North East Technology Park (NETPark). 

 The prestigious Durham University is a key anchor institution for the County. 

Attended by over 19,000 students and employing 1,720 academic staff and 2,640 support staff, 

Durham University is a leading UK centre of excellence in higher education that forms part of 

the Russell Group of research-intensive universities. 

 The National Industrial Strategy recognises the key role for universities as suppliers 

of highly skilled graduates, drivers of innovation and enterprise and as significant local 

economic entities in themselves. The university is ranked in the top 40 universities worldwide 

for employer reputation, 98% of Durham graduates were in work or further study three and a 

half years after graduation.4  

 The university has world-class expertise in science, engineering and technology, 

social science, the arts and humanities. Around a third of all students are enrolled in STEM 

related subjects. For teaching, it is ranked first in the UK for Music, second for English and 

P
age 99



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    22 

Chemistry and third for Forensic Science and Archaeology. In the QS World rankings by 

subject, Theology and Religion, Archaeology and Geography at Durham University are in the 

world top 10.  

 Research performance is also strong. Durham University ranked within the top 20 

universities in the UK for research quality in 2021 and the university’s Research Excellence 

Framework (REF) results for 2014 found that 83% of research was “internationally excellent” 

or “world leading”. The University has a number of research institutes including the Wolfson 

Research Institute, that facilitates research in medicine, health and well-being.  

 The 2019 Oxford Economics Innovation Readiness Report suggests the university 

underperforms in regards to spin-off/ start-up activity potentially reflecting of an absence of a 

collaborative network surrounding the university. This presents an opportunity for development, 

allowing the County Durham economy to gain further benefits from the activities of the 

university.  

 NETPark, a leading science, engineering, and technology park, is another key asset 

which facilitates and encourages collaboration supporting businesses to innovate and grow. It 

is the only science park in the UK to have two Catapult Centres, as well as three national 

innovation centres for Healthcare Photonics, Formulation and Printable Electronics. The co-

location of the facilities and businesses helps to foster collaboration and innovation. 

Summary 

  County Durham has a large business base, with around 2,300 more companies than 

in 2014. There is a large pool of small companies, 1,385 in total employing between 10 and 49 

people, and some 295 companies employing between 50 and 249 people. The employment 

profile is reflected in the business turnover figures with some 145 companies with a turnover of 

between £5m and £10m and a further 155 with a turnover in excess of £10m.   

 While the business base by industry shows that construction makes up the largest 

proportion of businesses followed by professional, scientific & technical; the County has a very 

large number of manufacturing companies, 880 in total and 740 in transport and distribution. 

The County also has a significant number of businesses in key service sectors with 

considerable growth potential. This includes some 470 businesses working in ICT and 190 in 

financial and insurance services, although the data suggests employment numbers and 

productivity are low. Further investigation of this position could help to develop these two 

sectors which have very positive growth prospects. 

 In a typical year, some 1,700 new starts are established in County Durham and while 

the start-up rate is below the North East average, the survival rate is much better, with a 

significant proportion still trading after five years of operation. County Durham should seek to 

increase the new starts rate to consistently match the wider North East figure. 

 The Durham economy benefits from many established and substantive businesses. 

Within this pool there are likely to be a substantive number with growth plans and the potential 

for expansion over the coming years. Developing plans to assist these companies, particularly 

in growth and high productivity sectors, should be a high priority for business support, skills and 

innovation funding.  

 County Durham has recognised strengths in high and medium high-tech 

manufacturing, with a relatively high concentration of employment. However, knowledge-

intensive services are underrepresented in the county – presenting an area for potential growth. 

While the County benefits from a number of important assets, including the university, 

improving the skills level of the workforce is key to driving growth in innovation and productivity, 

with a highly skilled local labour force attracting more innovative businesses which then attract 

more highly skilled people to the area.  

 

 

 

   

P
age 100



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    23 

6 Education, Training and Skills 

Introduction 

 The education and skills system plays a key role in ensuring County Durham’s young 

people have the skills and abilities that they will need to thrive in the labour market, and ensuring 

employers can access the workforce they need – across all age groups and career stages – to 

compete.  Improving skills levels can drive growth, productivity, and the earnings potential of 

an economy as well as supporting individuals to respond to changing employer requirements. 

This section considers the current skills profile of the population and alignment with evolving 

skills needs within the economy.  

Skills and Training 

 The proportion of the working age population in County Durham skilled to Level 2 

and above (75.3%) is broadly in line with the national population (75.7%) and higher than that 

of the North East (73.5%). Greater variations are evident at both the high and low skilled end 

of the spectrum. Data shows that:  

 At 31.6%, the proportion of the population with a degree or a higher degree (Level 

4+) in County Durham is considerably below the national average (40.0%), and 

marginally below the North East average (31.9%).  

 At the other end of the skills spectrum, 8.7% of working age residents have no 

qualifications, above the national proportion 7.5% but below the regional level 9.4%.  

 People with no formal qualifications are likely to find it increasingly difficult to find 

permanent, secure jobs paying above the minimum wage, as the structure of employment and 

employer demands change. With a significant proportion of the County’s workforce in 

occupations at Levels 2/3, across both office based and industrial sectors, where jobs will be 

lost due to digitisation and automation, there is also likely to be a persistent demand for updating 

and refreshing skills to support people to move into new employment. 

  Overall, while the skills profile presents a broadly positive picture, these figures 

reveal that skills in County Durham are concentrated towards the lower end of the scale than 

nationally. Given changing skills requirements, a need for ongoing upskilling and re-skilling is 

anticipated to impact on all sections of the workforce over time. Supporting people of all ages 

to continue to enhance their skills will be important to facilitating access to and progression in 

employment, as well as supporting productivity gains across the economy. 

 

 Within County Durham 56% of businesses offer on and off the job training, exceeding 

the national rate of 50%. 100% of companies within County Durham offer any form of training, 

this is comparable to the national rate.  

 During 2018/2019, there were 3,060 apprenticeship starts in County Durham, 22% 

of the North East total. Just over 30% were intermediate apprenticeships, 43% were advanced 

and 24% were higher apprenticeships.  Apprenticeship starts are broadly in line with the main 

employment sectors with the highest numbers recorded in business, administration and law; 

health, public services and care for the health and social work sector; and engineering and 

manufacturing technologies for the advanced manufacturing sector.  

Occupation 

 As of 2020, professional occupations (19.9%) account for the largest share of the 

working age population in County Durham, followed by associate professional and technical 

occupations (13.8%) and caring, leisure and other service occupations (11.7%). The 

occupational profile is aligned to the North East, but the comparison to the national picture 

reveals some disparities.  

 Locally there is a larger share of the workforce working in lower skilled occupations 

for example: 11.7% in caring & leisure roles compared to 8.8% nationally; 11.3% in elementary 

32%

53%

75%

86%

6%
9%

32%

52%

74%

85%

6%
9%

40%

59%

76%

86%

7% 8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

NVQ4+ NVQ3+ NVQ2+ NVQ1+ Other
qualifications

(NVQ)

no
qualifications

(NVQ)

Skill Levels for working age residents (16-64), 2019
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2019

County Durham North East England

P
age 101



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    24 

occupations compared to 9.6% nationally; and 7.9% are plant & machine operatives compared 

to just 5.6% nationally. This is indicative of the County’s large industrial employment base. In 

addition, only 8.7% of the workforce are in managerial and senior roles compared to 11.8% 

nationally. 

 

 ONS Analysis from 20195 looked at the occupations most at risk of some tasks being 

replaced through automation, which found lower skilled jobs were most at risk. The analysis 

suggested 1.5 million jobs in England are at risk of being partially automated in the future, with  

women, young people, and those in part time work are most likely to work in jobs which are at 

high risk of automation – 70% of the roles at high risk of automation are held by women, and 

those aged 20-24 are most at risk.  

 Elementary roles and process, plant and machine operatives on average are most at 

risk of automation, while managerial and professional occupations are least at risk.  The three 

occupations with the highest probability of automation are waiters and waitresses, shelf fillers 

and elementary sales occupations, while medical practitioners, higher education teaching 

professionals, and senior professionals of educational establishment are at the lowest risk of 

automation. 

 
5 ONS (2019) Which occupations are at highest risk of being automated? 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployee
types/articles/whichoccupationsareathighestriskofbeingautomated/2019-03-25 

 

 Applying these probabilities to County Durham’s occupational profile, suggests 

around 45% of jobs are at high risk of being automated, the same proportion as across the 

North East but above the national proportion (43%). 

Skill Shortages 

 The UK Employer Skills Survey provides a comprehensive source of information on 

employer skills needs. In 2019, it found that 15% of employers in County Durham reported a 

skills gap compared with 13% in the North East and 13% nationally. Skills gaps of 3% are 

recorded in elementary occupations, skilled trades, and administrative and clerical staff, this is 

in line with national skills gaps reported for these occupations.  

 County Durham employers reported a lower proportion of hard to fill and skill shortage 

vacancies than the North East and national averages in labour intensive to middle-skilled 

occupations. However, 66% of hard to fill vacancies are due to a shortage of skills, compared 

to 67% nationally.  

 As noted earlier in the report, there is also the risk of significant skill losses as the 

population ages and people move into retirement, particularly in manufacturing industries. 

There is a need to ensure targeted upskilling on the workforce including younger generations 

to combat this challenge. 

8.7

8.4

11.8

19.9

19.9

22.4

13.8

14.1

15.3

8.6

10.1

10.0

10.3

9.7

9.4

11.7

10.5

8.8

7.8

8.7

6.7

7.9

6.8

5.6

11.3

11.6

9.6

County
Durham

North East

England

Occupational Profile, 2020
Source: Annual Population Survey, 2020

Managers, directors & senior officials Professional

Associate prof & tech Administrative & secretarial

Skilled trades caring, leisure & other services

Sales & customer services Process, plant & machine operatives

Elementary occupations

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Professional  occupations

Managers, directors  and senior officials

Associate  professional and  technical…

Caring, leisure and  other service…

Skilled trades  occupations

Sales and customer  service occupations

Administrative and  secretarial…

Process, plant and  machine operatives

Elementary  occupations

Probability of tasks being replaced by automation by 
occupation

Source: ONS Analysis 2019

P
age 102



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    25 

Young People not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)6 

 A young person who is not in education, employment, or training is classed as 

‘NEET’.  There is strong evidence that being NEET can have a long-lasting, negative impact on 

people’s labour market prospects, in terms of likelihood of experiencing future spells of 

unemployment and low earning levels, as well as on confidence and mental health. 

NEETs (2020) 

 County Durham North East England 

% age 16/17 NEET  4.9 5.9 5.5 

% female age 16/17 NEET 4.3 5.2 4.7 

% male age 16/17 NEET 5.5 6.6 6.2 

% age 16 NEET 3.7 3.9 3.5 

% age 17 NEET 6.1 7.9 7.5 

Source: NEET and participation: local authority figures 

 County Durham performs well in terms of young people not in education, employment 

or training against the regional and national rates. Whilst the percentage of 16 year old NEETS 

at 3.7% is higher than the national rate of 3.5%, it is lower than the regional rate of 3.9%, and 

the percentage of 17 year old NEETs at 6.1% is lower than the regional rate of 7.9% and the 

national rate of 7.5%.  

Education  

 The Department for Education implemented Attainment 8 and Progress 8 measures 

in 2017, creating a new secondary school accountability system.  Attainment 8 measures the 

average achievement of pupils in up to 8 qualifications including English and maths. Progress 

8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes from the end of Key Stage 2 to the end of Key 

Stage 4. It compares pupils’ achievement – their Attainment 8 score – with the average 

Attainment 8 score of all pupils nationally who had a similar starting point (or ‘prior attainment’), 

calculated using assessment results from the end of primary school. 

 Data from the Department for Education reveals County Durham’s educational 

attainment is above the national average. Although between the academic years of 2017/18 

and 2018/19 the average Attainment 8 score remained the same in County Durham, the 

Progress 8 score in the academic year 2018/19 reveals an improving position for County 

Durham. Despite this, the Progress 8 scores reveal that students continue to report poorer 

progress between the end of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 compared to the national average. 

 

 

 
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/neet-and-participation-local-authority-figures 

Secondary Attainment, 2017/18 -2018/19 

Average Attainment 8 Score per pupil 

 2017/2018 2018/2019 change 

County Durham 45 45 0 

England 44.5 44.7 +0.2 

Average Progress 8 Score per pupil 

 2017/2018 2018/2019 change 

County Durham -0.23 -0.2 +0.03 

England -0.02 -0.03 -0.01 

Source: DfE, GCSEs Key Stage 4 Statistics, 2017/18 -2018/19 

 In 2019, 65% of Key Stage 2 pupils were meeting the expected standard in County 

Durham for reading, writing and mathematics, equal to the national share but below the regional 

average of 67%. This marks a deterioration in performance locally since 2016, when that rate 

was at 70%. Although all areas considered have reported a deterioration in performance across 

the period, the reduction has been most significant in County Durham which previously 

performed ahead of the comparator areas.  

 

 Ofsted scores for 2019/2020 reveal that the majority of County Durham’s primary 

schools are either outstanding or good (89%), comparable to 88% nationally. However, a 

smaller proportion of County Durham’s primary schools are outstanding (16%) compared to 

18% in North East and 17% nationally. One in ten primary schools in the county require 

70%
68%

66%
65%

67%
65%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

County Durham North East England

Percentage of pupils reaching expected standard at 
Key Stage 2

Source: DfE, 2019

2016 2019

P
age 103



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    26 

improvement – a proportion that exceeds the rate in comparator areas - although just 1% of 

primary schools are inadequate compared to 3% nationally.  

 

 In comparison, Ofsted results for secondary schools reveal that a larger proportion 

of County Durham’s secondary schools are outstanding (22%) than the North East average 

(16%) and a slightly higher proportion than nationally (20%). However, a higher proportion of 

schools require improvement or are inadequate, 38% in County Durham compared to 24% 

nationally.  

 

 Outstanding primary schools and high performing secondary schools are an 

important feature in persuading families with school age children to move into and remain in 

the County, potentially reducing in-commuting and attracting high skilled staff to take up 

employment opportunities. 

 Schools in County Durham continue to improve attainment at all levels and provide 

older pupils with better information, advice and guidance to make the transition to further 

education or employment.  

Future Skills 

 It is widely recognised that skills requirements are changing across the economy and 

that there is a need for the workforce to be adaptable. For example, digitisation will have a 

significant impact upon employment and skills at all levels across all sectors and demand for 

higher level skills is increasing.  

 The UK Commission for Employment and Skills The Future of Work Jobs and Skills 

in 2030 report suggests there is likely to be a further polarisation of the labour market, with a 

shift towards higher skilled occupations and ‘a shrinking middle’ as increasing number of jobs 

which traditionally occupy middle skill levels and earnings range become redundant due to 

technological advance and globalisation. The highly skilled minority will have strong bargaining 

power while low skilled workers will be forced to work more flexibly increasing inequality. 

However, the report suggests new types of jobs will emerge to fill the middle ground, this means 

there will need to be a focus on ensuring people are retrained and reskilled and supported to 

moving into new roles to avoid rising unemployment levels as jobs become redundant.  

 The biggest increase in jobs is projected for managers, professionals and associate 

professionals, driving the demand for scientific and technical skills.  In terms of low skilled roles, 

caring, leisure and other service jobs are expected to grow, while mid-level skilled jobs in 

administration and production are expected to decline.    

 Nationally, the workforce is expected to become more highly skilled, with around 54% 

of people in employment qualified to Level 4 or above by 2024, reflecting demand and supply-

side factors as educational participation levels are expected to remain strong, older and often 

less qualified people retire, and demand grows for higher qualified employees to fill increasing 

numbers of managerial and professional jobs. This will have significant implications for the 

workforce in County Durham, which is concentrated within mid-level skills. 

 The 2019 Oxford Economics Innovation Readiness report suggests in County 

Durham there will be a continued shift in occupational profile with the highest skill-based 

occupations expected to account for almost half of all net additional jobs in the period up until 

2025. 

  

16% 18% 17%

73% 74% 71%

10% 7% 9%

1%
1%

3%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

County Durham North East England

Primary school effectivness rating (2019/2020)
Source: Ofsted, 2020

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

22% 16% 20%

41% 45%

56%

28% 24%

16%

9% 15%
8%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

County Durham North East England

Secondary school effectiveness rating (2019/2020)
Source: Ofsted, 2020

Outstanding Good Requires Improvement Inadequate

P
age 104



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    27 

Summary  

 The County Durham skills base reflects the structure of the economy, although the 

presence of major companies such as Hitachi Rail and GSK show that the County can provide 

a high skilled labour force to meet employer demand. 

 County Durham is well placed to provide the future workforce for a changing 

economy, with large numbers of young people regularly graduating from universities and its 

ability to attract staff from the wider North East. 

  The County has more of a challenge with regard to recruitment issues related to 

senior and experienced staff, an issue affecting a number of sectors and affecting the wider 

North East. Brexit is likely to make the UK a less attractive destination for international migration 

and could exacerbate these persistent problems. 

 A medium-term solution is the grow your own option and the County has an excellent 

record in apprenticeships, including higher level apprenticeships. The recruitment of 

apprenticeships should remain one of the most important priorities for the County given the 

evidence of the benefits to both the company and individual from investing in young people. 

 The occupational structure in County Durham shows much higher proportions 

employed in lower skilled occupations including in caring & leisure roles, elementary 

occupations and plant & machine operative roles and fewer working in more highly skilled 

occupations. Many routine jobs will be impacted by new technology. 

 County Durham has significant numbers in occupations which are at risk as 

digitisation, automation and robotics replaces jobs in both manufacturing and services. This 

often unseen but steady erosion of jobs will impact on efforts to increase employment and 

respond to the pandemic. Many of those affected will need to update their skills to take up new 

employment and the health sector, distribution and logistics are likely to be an important source 

of new jobs. 

 County Durham schools are underpinning improvements to the potential of pupils to 

move on to higher educated further education and employment.  There is a small but significant 

group who do very poorly, with a serious and long term effect on their life prospects.  Improving 

the educational performance of this group, who often are in challenging social settings, should 

be a major priority. 

 

P
age 105



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    28 

7 Housing and Communities 

Introduction 

 This section looks at the housing and communities’ elements of the County Durham 

economy, including housing provision and affordability, deprivation and health and the roles 

different areas of the County play in the economy. 

 Housing plays a vital role in supporting the growth of the area and is key to reversing 

the forecast decline in working age population and providing the workforce that will be required 

to support economic growth.  

 In addition, addressing deprivation is key to developing a more inclusive economy, 

and ensuring areas are not left behind but can contribute and benefit from growth. There is now 

a growing body of evidence which shows that increasing productivity and the number of jobs in 

an economy are not guaranteed to improve living standards. Addressing the challenges facing 

communities, including housing and neighbourhood conditions, is an important part of the 

inclusive growth agenda. 

Households 

 As of 2019, there were an estimated 233,930 households in County Durham, 20% of 

households in the North East, with the average household size 2.2 people. ONS household 

forecasts reveal the number of households is expected to grow by 21,682 (9.3%) in County 

Durham by 2039. This rate of growth is marginally above the North East wide growth (8.8%) 

but below the national growth rate (17.0%). 

Household Projections (in 000s) 

 
2009 2019 2029 2039 

2019-2039 Change  

No.  % 

Durham 220  234  246  256  22  9.3% 

North East 1,123  1,182  1,241  1,286  105  8.8% 

England 21,919  23,927  26,083  28,004  4,077  17.0% 

Source: DCLG Live table 406, 2014 based 

   Housing plays a key role in economic development. Successful housing delivery is 

key to retaining and attracting people in the area. The anticipated household growth highlights 

the need to ensure there is a pipeline of housing delivery to meet growth. Delivering the right 

sort and scale of housing development can enhance economic performance and make places 

more attractive and competitive.  

 The housing market can also lead to concentrations of poverty, or act as a constraint 

on growth. The quality of housing is a key issue in some parts of the County with an ageing 

housing stock. There is a need to renew and replace some housing to ensure it is fit for its 

residents, serving and uplifting communities, improving quality of life.   

 It is important that County Durham’s housing market, and housing growth plans, 

support its wider economic growth ambitions. This includes ensuring there is a supply of family 

housing built in good locations in terms of employment, schools, services, in order to attract 

working age people to the area, including those who currently commute into the County to work, 

to help to counteract the anticipated decline in the working age population. In addition, as the 

County’s population ages, ensuring there is suitable housing for the growing elderly population 

is also important, which in turn can help to release family homes for working households. 

 In the ten years between 2009/10 and 2019/20, an average of 1,231 new homes 

were completed each year, below the level of household growth over the same period. Data 

from the last two years shows an uplift in the number of homes completed, with 1,640 homes 

completed in addition to a further 1,440 homes started in 2019/20. This is above the Local Plan 

Annual Growth target of 1,308 between 2016-2035. 

 

 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Report 2019 finds there is capacity for 32,388 

houses over 375 sites that are identified as potentially suitable for housing development, of 

which 234 sites are existing housing commitments, some of which are under construction. 

Within the 1-5 years delivery time frame there is potential capacity for 18,357 houses across 

the county and within the 6-15 years delivery time frame there is the potential capacity for a 

further 7,747 houses. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

County Durham's Housing Delivery
Source: DCLG live tables 253 and DCLG Live table 406, 2014 based  

Completed Homes Average Completions

Average Household Growth Local Plan Annual Target

P
age 106



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    29 

 The Local Plan, adopted in 2020, reiterates the need to allocate housing close to jobs 

and services to ensure sustainable development by reducing the need to travel and ensuring 

that existing services are supported. The key housing allocations identified in the Local Plan 

match the employment growth locations and are concentrated within East Durham (20.9%), 

South Durham (16.4%) and Mid Durham (14.9%), which account for over half of the total 

allocations. 

Local Plan Key Map 

 
Source: Local Plan Adopted 2020 

Housing Affordability 

 Housing affordability is a key strength across County Durham. A commonly used 

indicator of housing affordability is the ratio of the median house price to median annual 

earnings. As of 2019, the median house price was over four times the median annual salary 

with a ratio of 4.35, suggesting housing in County Durham is more affordable than the North 

East as a whole, which had a ratio of 5.20, and significantly more affordable than nationally 

(7.83).  

 This is primarily driven by lower median house prices, rather than lower incomes. The 

median house price in 2019 in County Durham was £120,000, the lowest across all North East 

local authorities, marginally below the North East average (£140,000) and significantly below 

the national figure (£240,000). 

 The median housing affordability ratio has fallen since the decade before, similar to 

the trend across the North East but contrary to the national trend. 

 Housing is also relatively affordable for lower earners in County Durham. The ratio of 

lower quartile house price to lower quartile gross annual earnings is the lowest reported across 

all North East local authorities, at 3.68 compared to a North East average of 4.66, and 

significantly below the national ratio of 7.27. 

 

 A 2018 independent Residential Market Assessment of County Durham found that 

the County Durham market is granular in nature with house prices fluctuating significantly 

across relatively short geographical distances. 

Deprivation  

 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the most used measure of deprivation. IMD 

covers the following seven domains: income deprivation; employment deprivation; health 

deprivation and disability; education skills and training deprivation; barriers to housing and 

services; living environment deprivation; and crime.  

 In 2019, County Durham was the 62nd most deprived local authority in the country 

(out of 317), down from 75th position in 2015, representing a deteriorating position. Lower level 

statistics show that 12% of LSOAs are in the 10% most deprived in England, compared to 

20.1% across the North East as a whole, while exactly a third of LSOAs are in the most deprived 

20% across the country. Within a northern context, particularly when compared to many of the 

northern cities, County Durham does not perform poorly by this measure of deprivation. 

 The figure overleaf shows there are hotspots of deprivation in the East of Durham 

and coastal towns of Seaham and Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the South, 

Stanley in the North and parts of Durham City.  

4.35
3.68

5.2
4.66

7.83
7.27

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

Median Affordability Ratio Lower Quartile Affordability Ratio

Housing Affordability Ratio, 2019
Source: ONS Ratio of house price to residence-based earnings 2019

County Durham North East England

P
age 107



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    30 

Deprivation in County Durham, 2019 

 
Source: IMD 2019 and ekosgen mapping 

 There is a need to address longstanding pockets of deprivation which exist within 

certain localities. This includes communities disconnected to their housing and labour markets 

which has a negative impact on social mobility. As noted by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 

a paradox exists where despite particular neighbourhoods being located close to key 

employment sites, the residents continue to be underrepresented within their local labour 

market.  

 Key interventions include: action to ensure young people are able to gain the 

qualifications, skills and capabilities to take up training and employment opportunities; ensuring 

targeted support is in place for those with health issues, including mental health, to bring people 

back into training and employment; support for those who need multiple interventions before 

they are ready to take up training and employment opportunities. In addition, the physical 

regeneration of deprived and rundown areas will play an important part in raising aspirations 

and increasing community confidence. 

 Interventions which can help address these issues and foster inclusive growth are 

key to lifting areas out of poverty and supporting social mobility. Not all deprived areas face the 

same issues and barriers, and therefore policy approaches need to recognise diversity in areas.  

 
7 Public Health England 2016-2018 
8 Ibid. 

 County Durham performs relatively poorly in the health deprivation and disability and 

employment domains – ranked 32nd and 35th most deprived respectively – with around a quarter 

of LSOAs in the most 10% deprived for both domains. In contrast, County Durham performs 

particularly well in the barriers to housing and services domain and relatively well in terms of 

the education, skills and training domain.  

Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2019 

Domain 
Rank of Average 

Score 

% of LSOAs in 

most deprived 

10% nationally 

Overall Index 62 12.0% 

Income 49 12.7% 

Employment 35 24.7% 

Education, Skills and Training 109 9.3% 

Health Deprivation and Disability 32 25.3% 

Crime 78 14.5% 

Barriers to Housing and Services 288 0.9% 

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 45 16.7% 

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People 68 4.9% 

Source: IMD 2019 

Health Inequalities 

 As the IMD data suggest County Durham performs poorly in measures of health.  

Relative to regional and national levels, County Durham has: 

 A lower healthy life expectancy at birth, a measure of the average number of years 

a person would expect to live in good health, for both men and women7  

 Higher mortality rates from causes considered preventable (across all ages)8 

 A higher suicide rate and prevalence of mental health disorders (for those aged 16 

and over)9 

 In addition compared to the national level County Durham has a higher prevalence 

of obesity in children (Year 6 aged).10 Closing these gaps could impact on economic 

performance as well as individual enjoyment of life. 

 Ill health is the cause of a larger share of those economically inactive than nationally, 

reducing the size of the labour force available to local employers, and suppressing household 

income levels. 

9 Public Health England 2017-2019 
10 Public Health England 2019/20 

P
age 108



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    31 

 A Northern Health Science Alliance report, Health is Wealth, highlights the 

importance of health on productivity and how improving health outcomes can reduce the 

productivity disparities between the North and the rest of England. The report highlights how 

reducing ill health leads to higher employment levels, lower economic inactivity and higher GVA 

per head. 

 Educational attainment and employment are key predictors for health and wellbeing 

and vice versa with poor health and high levels of deprivation impacting on school attendance, 

educational attainment and productivity at work and sickness absence. It is therefore key to 

look at wider determinants of health, including income, educational attainment access to 

employment, in order to address long standing health inequalities. 

 Given the constraint poor population health has on economic growth, there is a need 

to prioritise interventions which tackle deprivation, as discussed above, which results in ill 

health, in addition to providing services that promote the health and wellbeing of the workforce 

and help people manage their long-term health conditions. 

County Durham Geography 

 Durham has a diverse geography, with distinct areas having different roles to play in 

the local economy with different opportunities and aspirations for growth.  

Durham City 

 Durham City lies at the heart of County Durham, economically, socially and culturally. 

Durham City is the main employment centre for the County, accounting for around a quarter of 

the County’s employment, providing access to employment and education, health and retail 

services for communities across the County. The City offers strong public transport and rail 

links, with Durham railway station and bus station, providing access to large potential labour 

pools.   

 Durham City Centre is the County’s main office location. The city centre and 

businesses parks within the town represent a distinct offer within the county. The Aykley Heads 

site forms a prominent, high profile, gateway site, within close proximity of Durham Railway 

Station.  

 Durham City is also a key draw for visitors. Home to Durham Cathedral and Castle 

World Heritage Site, the city was named as one of the best cities in the world to visit in 2020 by 

The Independent.11  

 There has been significant investment in Durham City including the £30m 

redevelopment of The Riverwalk Shopping Centre including an improved retail offer, a multiplex 

cinema and associated leisure uses and new public realm opening up the riverside walkways. 

The £120m re-development of the former Milburngate House site to deliver mixed-use 

commercial, leisure and residential development will help to regenerate a historic part of the 

 
11 https://www.independent.co.uk/travel/news-and-advice/city-breaks-2020-best-galway-
marseille-sarajevo-jordan-a9239491.html 

city. Recently, New Durham City bus station was awarded a further £3.6m towards a total 

£10.4m cost to deliver a new bus station increasing footfall into the city centre. 

Towns 

 County Durham’s towns also play an important role in supporting its communities.  

There are several larger towns which play an important role in the County’s economy including 

Barnard Castle, Chester-le-Street, Consett, Spennymoor, Peterlee, Stanley, Bishop Auckland, 

Newton Aycliffe, Seaham and Crook, all of which have a population over 6,000 and are key 

locations for employment, retail and local services. 

 An ambitious masterplan for Bishop Auckland town centre has been developed 

capitalising on significant investment at Auckland Castle, to reposition the town as a major 

tourist destination within the County. The recent Future High Streets Fund award of almost 

£20m will play an important role in supporting the programme of change. 

 There is a level of decline occurring within town centres in County Durham, similar to 

what is happening in town centres across the country, particularly in the North. Covid-19 has 

accelerated the decline caused by the rise of online shopping as well as out-of-centre retail 

parks.   

 Diversification of the offer will support the County’s town centres to have a 

sustainable future, reducing the reliance on declining retail and introducing new uses including 

housing, health and leisure, entertainment, education, arts, business/office space.  

Rural Communities 

 County Durham is a rural county with two in five residents living in rural areas. Rural 

areas can make a significant economic contribution, although dispersed populations and a lack 

of employment concentrations can at times mask their value.  Many rural areas face challenges 

in providing a diverse range of employment opportunities, notably offering sufficient higher paid 

employment whilst retaining their working age population.  Often there is a cycle of out-

migration from rural areas of younger working age people as a result of a lack of local 

employment and progression opportunities.   

 A key objective of the Local Plan is to “Support and improve the rural economy by 

encouraging diversification, retaining and enhancing key facilities, infrastructure and services 

while promoting appropriate new development in rural settlements.” 

 It is important to ensure rural communities have a balance of ages and are supported 

to grow while respecting the landscape and natural assets, ensuring they are providing quality 

environments for people to live and visit. Public transport networks are of key importance to 

rural communities, connecting people to employment and services and allowing young people 

to access education. 

P
age 109



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    32 

Tourism and Cultural Assets 

 County Durham is the second most visited local authority in the North East after 

Newcastle by international visitors. It has seen significant growth in international visitors with 

an uplift of 76% over the past ten years compared to growth of 30% in Newcastle. 

 While the City of Durham is a major destination for UK and international visitors, the 

County has a strong tourism offer across the geography with an attractive coastline and 

countryside offer with the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

incorporating much of the Durham Dales. There are approximately 70 regionally, nationally and 

internationally recognisable visitor attractions in the county.  

 According to data from VisitBritain, three of County’s visitor attractions rank in the top 

five destinations in the North East. The most visited are Durham Cathedral (more than 619,000 

visitors and worshippers in 2016) and Beamish Museum (797,203 paying visitors in 2017). 

Other attractions with significant visitor numbers include Hamsterley Forest, Hardwick Park, 

Locomotion (National Railway Museum at Shildon), Palace Green Library, The Oriental 

Museum, the World Heritage Site Visitor Centre, The Bowes Museum, Bowlees Visitor Centre, 

Auckland Castle, Raby Castle, Durham Castle, Diggerland, Crook Hall & Gardens, Barnard 

Castle, The Botanic Gardens and the Durham County Cricket Club. 

 In addition, the county boasts a number of historic townscapes as well as local and 

national walking, cycling and riding routes which link beyond County Durham's borders. The 

county hosts major events which attract large visitor numbers such as Lumiere Durham and 

the Durham Brass Festival. A major new attraction at Eleven Arches, Bishop Auckland has 

recently added to the county's tourism offer, linking to the wider art and heritage based tourism 

opportunities being realised at Auckland Castle and Bishop Auckland Market Place. 

 There remains considerable scope to increase visitor numbers and length of stay. 

The main challenge is developing and promoting the variety and quality of the County offer, on 

a par with the high-profile North Yorkshire offer, with both a natural environment and heritage 

offer in many smaller towns.  

 Tourism and the leisure market have a role to play in regenerating many of the 

smaller town centres which have declined as consumers have moved to online shopping and 

major chains have closed shops in many smaller high streets. 

Summary 

 Housing delivery has typically been below household growth in the past decade 

although in recent years there has been a notable uplift in the number of homes completed. It 

will be important to maintain high levels of housing completions, with the added bonus of 

providing local jobs in the construction industry. Housing delivery needs to balance meeting the 

needs of an ageing demographic as well as retaining and attracting a young and skilled 

workforce including through the provision of family housing in high demand locations.  

 As well as ensuring new good quality housing is delivered in the right locations to 

attract and retain working age population, there is an ageing housing stock and in some areas 

there is a need to renew and replace poor quality to housing to ensure it is fit for residents and 

does not continue to lead to concentrations of poverty and deprivation.There is also a need to 

make the housing stock more energy efficient as a contribution to the low carbon agenda. This 

is likely to require Government support and could provide opportunities for local employment. 

 Housing affordability is a key strength of the county: the median housing affordability 

ratio in 2019 in County Durham stood at 4.35 compared with the national ratio of 7.83, driven 

by lower median house prices, rather than lower incomes. In IMD deprivation indicators, County 

Durham performs well in the Barriers to Housing and Services domain.  

 In a northern context, relatively speaking County Durham, does not perform poorly in 

regard to levels of multiple deprivation, ranking 62nd nationally. In the North East, it is the 5th 

least deprived out of the 12 local authorities. However, there remains pockets of deprivation in 

certain communities across the County in the East of Durham and coastal towns of Seaham 

and Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the South, Stanley in the North and parts 

of Durham City.  

 County Durham performs relatively poorly in the health deprivation and disability and 

employment domains. There is a strong link between health inequalities and high rates of 

economic inactivity. Poor health is linked to low educational attainment, absence and poor 

productivity.  Multiple deprivation has affected many communities for many years, and various 

targeted initiatives have been tried over the past 20 years. There is a need to develop new 

solutions to make more progress. 

 County Durham town centres are likely to face major challenges as retail declines 

and online shopping and home deliveries increase. The pandemic is likely to lead to further 

high street closures while initiatives to help, such as the Future High Streets Fund, provide 

limited support to a small number of towns. There may be some benefit from looking across the 

UK for examples of community and business led successful town centre regeneration, focusing 

on smaller towns. 

 The diverse geography with Durham City, attractive towns and its rural communities 

have important and differing roles to play in the County Durham economy.  

 County Durham is a predominantly County with two in five residents living in rural 

areas. Ensuring there are suitable employment opportunities and transport links to key 

employment locations can help to retain younger working residents within rural communities, 

supporting the area to grow. It is also important that new development is delivered in a way 

which protects the natural environment and landscape. 

 Durham City plays a central role, home to key employers, anchor institutions and key 

cultural and heritage assets. The city is a key tourist destination with Durham Cathedral and 

Durham Castle, within a UNESCO World Heritage Site. The Bishop Auckland tourist offer is 

further being strengthened. As lockdown and travel restrictions are eased, tourism will help to 

play a key role in supporting the economic recovery post-Covid. 

P
age 110



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    33 

8 Connectivity and Infrastructure 

Introduction 

 The quality of the economic infrastructure is a key factor determining competitiveness 

and impacts on the productivity levels of local areas, as highlighted in the UK Industrial Strategy. 

Infrastructure helps to connect people and businesses to markets, increasing earning power, 

attracting inward investment and driving productivity. 

 Economic infrastructure covers a wide range of facilities and structures that an 

economy needs to operate successfully, including the transport network, broadband 

connectivity, and the availability and quality of employment land and commercial premises. 

Transport 

 County Durham benefits from direct access to the A1(M), A19 and A66, connecting 

the County to the rest of the country. The A1 plays an important role in the economy, providing 

the North East access to Scotland and the South of England, while the A19 connects the East 

of the County to Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley and the A66 in the South of the County 

provides an East-West link. Significant investment over recent years has improved capacity on 

the A1(M) and A19, benefitting manufacturers and exporting firms. 

 There are three airports within one hour of County Durham, providing access to 

Europe and the rest of the World. County Durham also benefits from access to ports on the 

North East Coast including Teesport and Port of Tyne. 

 The rail network is key to the economy with regular direct fast links to Newcastle, 

Edinburgh, Glasgow, York, Manchester, Liverpool, London, the West Midlands and the South 

West. County Durham benefits from services on the East Coast Main Line (ECML) stopping in 

Durham City and Chester-le-Street linking Edinburgh and London, providing connectivity to key 

locations.  In total, there are seven train stations across the County which had a total usage, 

defined by the number of entries and exits, of 3.4 million between April 2019 and March 2020. 

Durham Train Station, accounted for the majority of total station usage and was the second 

busiest train station in the North East, with 2.7m entries and exits. Between 2009/10 and 

2019/20, total station usage in County Durham, increased by 0.8m (32.2%), indicating growing 

demand for train travel in the area.12  

 There are capacity issues on the ECML which could be partially relived by reinstating 

the Leamside Line, which would also support a more regular service between Durham City and 

Chester-le-Street and Newcastle and York, as well as allowing this part of the ECML to be HS2 

ready and support the vision for the Northern Powerhouse Rail network.  

 
12 Office of Rail and Road 
13 Census 2011 

 The County benefits from a network of bus routes which connect residents throughout 

County Durham, Teesside and Tyne and Wear. Given the dispersed and ageing population and 

the 27% of households in County Durham who do not have access to a car13, the bus network 

is highly important, particularly within rural communities and the most used form of public 

transport in the county. There is an extensive network of services with around 175 services and 

over 3,000 stops.   

 The Local Plan references the potential for the Tyne and Wear Metro to reach County 

Durham in the longer term.  

 While much of East and mid Durham are well connected, transport connectivity in the 

rural parts of West Durham remains an area of concern. Given that County Durham is primarily 

a rural county it is important to address connectivity issues ensuring communities can access 

education and employment opportunities. Poor connectivity can also impact upon its 

attractiveness as a business location and place to invest.  

Digital Connectivity   

 Good broadband coverage is an increasingly important economic asset, enabling 

businesses and residents to connect to the information economy, work remotely and benefit 

from electronic commerce and new ways of working. As of January 2021, superfast broadband 

(over 30Mbps) coverage is approaching 100% of premises (96.5%) in the County, marginally 

below the UK average (96.6%). However only 27.3% of premises have ultrafast broadband 

speed over 100Mbps, compared to 64.63% across the UK as a whole.14  

 Within rural parts of the County a lack of reliable broadband connection remains a 

key issue that acts as a constraint to the economy in these areas. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown measures has significantly increased the 

importance of digital connectivity, with a drastic move to home working across many parts of 

the economy. 5G is now available in some parts of the County, around Durham City and the 

A19 corridor, although coverage lags behind Newcastle and parts of the Tees Valley. 

Labour Mobility 

 Data from the 2011 Census show that 127,525 people (66%) of County Durham 

residents remained in the county for work while 65,161 residents (34%) worked elsewhere. The 

County Durham labour market is closely connected to the surrounding areas in the North East, 

with the majority of those commuting in and out of neighbouring local authorities. There were 

relatively insignificant amounts of commuter travel along the west boundary of the county, 

14 https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/councils  

P
age 111



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    34 

particularly towards Cumbria and south into Richmondshire, corresponding with the 

concentration of population in the east of the County. 

 Around nine in 10 of those commuting out of County Durham are going elsewhere in 

the North East (89%). The majority of those commuting out of the area work in neighbouring 

Sunderland and Gateshead, which accounts for 40% of those working outside of County 

Durham. The next most common workplace destinations for County Durham’s residents were 

Newcastle and Darlington, each accounting for 13% of commuters.  

 In 2011, 35,193 people commuted into County Durham for work. Residents in the 

neighbouring local authority of Sunderland accounted for the largest number of those 

commuting into the county (27%), followed by Darlington and Gateshead who together with 

Sunderland accounted for over half of all in-commuters.  

County Durham Commuter Flows 

 

Source: Census 2011 

 In 2011, County Durham was a net exporter of labour with a net outflow of almost 

30,000. In 2017, data from Oxford Economics suggests this figure has risen to over 40,000. 

Out-commuting can be advantageous to support the economic success of the borough’s 

residents by offering the required scale and breadth of opportunities that contribute to the 

County’s higher residence-based than workplace-based earnings.  

 The net out-migration to work emphasises the importance of connections to other 

local authority areas to ensure residents have access to both the scale and variety of 

employment opportunities they require and demonstrates the quality and employability of the 

resident labour force. 

 However, it does suggest County Durham is not as successful at being an attractive 

place to work as it is to live, with insufficient employment options available to retain its residents 

and/or attract those from outside, meaning there could be untapped potential for local labour to 

be utilised in higher wage and more productive uses if the opportunities were available in the 

County. 

Employment Assets 

 Durham City is a key employment centre, with the largest office market, home to 

significant public sector occupiers, including the County Council, Passport Office, Land 

Registry, Northumbrian Water, Durham & Darlington PCT and Durham University as well as 

attracting private sector occupiers such as Atom Bank. However, the City is constrained by a 

lack of available sites which limits private sector investment.  

 The North East England Chamber of Commerce identified a lack of high-quality office 

space in and around Durham City as a constraint to growth in financial and professional 

services. Significant high quality office development at Aykley Heads, located within close 

proximity to Durham Train Station, will help to meet this gap and attract inward investment. In 

addition, Milburngate – the 450,000ft2 mixed use development on the banks of the River Wear 

– will deliver significant office, leisure and retail space as well as new apartments. 

 The A1 Corridor (including sites around Durham City) is the County’s principal 

industrial location. It has a number of major employment locations including: 

 Aycliffe Industrial Estate, Newton Aycliffe – A 400-acre industrial estate in the south 

of County Durham located close to the A1 with over 500 businesses and 10,000 

employees, home to Hitachi Rail, Gestamp Tallent, 3M, Inovyn, Husqvarna among 

others. The arrival of Hitachi Rail has supported large scale job creation and helps 

to position Durham as a key location for inward investment in advanced 

manufacturing. There is potential for further expansion of the Estate. 

 NETPark, Sedgefield – in South East Durham is one of the UK’s premier science, 

engineering and technology parks, home to several high-tech companies 

specialising in fields such as nanotechnology, X-Ray technology, forensics and 

semiconductor technology. NETPark has strong links with Durham University, with 

NETpark research institute housing part of the University’s Centre for Advanced 

Instrumentation. It is also home to two National Catapult Centres – The High Value 

Manufacturing Catapult, managed by CPI, and the North East Centre of Excellence 

for Satellite Applications, and three national innovation centres including National 

Formulations Centre, National Centre for Healthcare Photonics and National Centre 

for Printable Electronics. Plans for Phase Three will deliver a 26-acre expansion, 

supporting grow-on businesses wanting to expand and scale-up, and attracting 

further inward investment. 

P
age 112



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    35 

 Other key employment sites on the A1 corridor include the Drum Industrial Estate, 

although the availability of land is very limited and Belmont Industrial Estate. 

 Within the A1 corridor, Phase 1 of Integra 61, Bowburn, has recently been completed. 

The £300m mixed use employment development will provide a total of three million ft2 of 

industrial and logistics space, 300 new homes and 50,000ft2 of roadside opportunities, including 

a family pub/restaurant, hotel, drive-thrus, trade counter units, car showrooms, a care home 

and a nursery. Amazon has located its second robotics fulfilment centre in the North East at 

the site, one of the largest distribution centres in the UK, creating around 1,000 jobs. 

 The A19 Corridor in the East of the County is also a key employment location. The 

A19 Corridor has experienced strong levels of development, as a result of its Enterprise Zone 

Status, however it is noted within the Employment Land Review that this has led to an 

oversupply of larger office space with limited demand in part due to lack of public transport 

hubs.  

 The A19 historically has been a key industrial location with estates such as Peterlee 

North West and South West. Peterlee is home to a number of major national and international 

manufacturers, including Caterpillar and TRW.  

 The JADE Business Park, Seaham, is located within a designated Enterprise Zone. 

Phase 1 has delivered 155,000ft2 for distribution, technology and advanced manufacturing 

businesses. The Business Park is strategically located for businesses involved in the 

automotive construction supply chain, falling within the catchment area for Nissan supply chain 

companies. Phase 2 has the capacity to deliver a further 400,000ft2.  

 Bishop Auckland and surrounding areas, in the South of the County to the west 

of the A1, has a more localised employment market, offering typically lower cost and lower 

quality office and industrial premises than found in Durham City and the A1 corridor.  Bishop 

Auckland Town Centre is a key retail centre in the South and South Church Enterprise Park 

offers industrial space.   

 Consett and Stanley in the North of the County serve a more localised, self-

contained market. Lack of connectivity to the strategic road network is often seen as a key 

barrier to locating in the area by larger prospective occupiers. 

 Barnard Castle is the main employment and service centre for the rural western area 

of the County. Harmire Enterprise Park and Stainton Grove are the two key employment 

locations.  Barnard Castle contains a major industrial facility operated by GlaxoSmithKline 

(GSK) which has seen significant investment. 

 The Lichfield’s Employment Land Review (2018) indicated that a large proportion of 

industrial space is no longer fit for purpose, contributing to high vacancy rates in certain size 

bandings including in locations such as Consett, Peterlee and Newton Aycliffe. 

Summary 

 Transport and connectivity is linked to increased productivity and inward investment.  

The economy benefits from good connectivity within the County via the road, rail and bus 

networks as well as being well-connected to elsewhere in the North East and further afield, with 

three airports within one hour drive and easy access to ports on the North East Coast including 

Teesport and Port of Tyne. The potential for the Tyne and Wear Metro to reach County Durham 

would further strengthen the public transport links.  

 County Durham benefits from a good strategic road network, which has supported 

corridors of growth along the A1 and A19, establishing them as key employment locations, 

helping to attract inward investment targeted at advanced manufacturing, logistics and 

distribution. 

 There is a need to continue to invest in transport infrastructure and developing robust 

business cases for agreed transport priorities should be a priority, along with more local 

improvements to take advantage of new funding.  

 Digital connectivity is increasingly important to the economy, while almost 100% of 

premises have access to superfast broadband (over 30Mbps) coverage, only 27.3% of 

premises have ultrafast broadband speed over 100Mbps.Improving broadband connections in 

rural areas can open up new opportunities for businesses and residents. 

 The key employment sites are concentrated within: 

 Durham City – the key office market 

 A1 Corridor – the key industrial location  

 A19 Corridor – secondary industrial and office location 

 In addition, there are concentrations of employment in more localised markets around 

Bishop Auckland and Consett and Stanley. Barnard Castle, in the rural west of the county, also 

contains some large employment sites and employers including GSK. 

 Employment space in County Durham is dominated by industrial uses, accounting 

for 89% of all commercial floorspace, indicative of the large manufacturing base. The 2018 

Employment Land Review suggests industrial space in some locations is no longer fit for 

purpose, contributing to high vacancy rates. Consideration should be given to strengthening 

two major locations for advanced manufacturing and logistics/distribution as part of a strategy 

to attract large scale inward investment. 

 While office space is underrepresented in Durham, within the North East it is the 

second biggest market for office space after Newcastle with Durham City being the key office 

location. However, there is an identified lack of quality office space in Durham City which acts 

as a constraint to the growth of finance and professional services, which are underrepresented 

in the county’s economy. Development at Aykley Heads and Milburngate will help to meet this 

gap in the market. In contrast, there is a reported oversupply of office space in the East of the 

County leading to high vacancy rates.  

 There is a need to modernise a large part of the business stock, in terms of both 

industrial and office space, to ensure County Durham can continue to support its small and 

medium sized businesses to grow and attract inward investment. P
age 113



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    36 

9 The Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit 

Introduction 

 County Durham and the UK as a whole are facing two key challenges – the Covid-

19 pandemic and the UK’s departure from the European Union. The dual effects of Covid-19 

and Brexit are likely to continue to have a significant impact upon County Durham’s economy 

in the short and medium run and is likely to result in an immediate increase in unemployment 

and more challenging conditions for many businesses in both the service and industrial 

economy. 

 Sectors most exposed to the impacts of Covid-19 are not the sectors most at risk to 

Brexit, although the at-risk Brexit sectors are the high value added parts of the County Durham 

and include a number of major employers. The at-risk Covid sectors are dependent on a robust 

rebound when lockdown restrictions end and are pre-dominantly enterprises that have been 

unable to trade over a 12 month period. 

Brexit at risk sectors 

(Red = LQ 1 or above in County Durham) 

Most affected Covid-19 sectors 

(Red = LQ 1 or above in County Durham) 

Life Sciences Accommodation & food services 

High Value Manufacturing Arts, Culture & Recreation 

Chemicals Construction 

Logistics Education 

Food and Drink Transport & Storage 

Agriculture and Aquaculture Retail & wholesale 

Creative Industries Other Services 

Financial and Business Services  

Covid-19 

 The Covid-19 pandemic has caused a traumatic shock to the whole economy, with 

the impacts likely to continue to be borne out deepening many of the socio-economic 

challenges already being faced.  Although various protection measures and home working have 

reduced the immediate impact on many sectors, there have been profound impacts on some 

sections of the economy. 

North East Impacts 

 In May 2020 ICAEW published the expected regional Covid-19 impacts produced by 

Oxford Economics. The research suggested in terms of both output and employment, the North 

East is likely to be worse hit than the UK average in 2020 and recovery in 2021 may be slower 

than elsewhere.  

 The research suggests in the North East, the largest job losses will have been in 

accommodation and food services (circa. -12,000) followed by manufacturing (c.-9,000) and 

wholesale and retail trade (c. -8,000). 

 The research highlighted the region is more exposed to the impacts of Covid-19 in 

regards to poorer internet connectivity and the sectoral structure meaning that fewer people 

are able to work at home. In addition, the North East is more vulnerable due to exposure to 

impacts on trade and the proportion of the population over 65. 

Oxford Economics Structural Vulnerability 

Scorecard North East, May 2020 

 UK=0* 

Trade 1.1 

Population +65 0.5 

Hospitality -0.2 

Retail -0.6 

Manufacturing 1.2 

Self-employed -1.3 

Work from Home 1.6 

Small firms -2.3 

Internet 2.2 

Hospital beds -1.8 

Population Density 0.0 

* Greater than 0 indicates it is more exposed than 

the UK average 

Source: Oxford Economics ICAEW May 2020 

Economic Outlook 

Redundancies and Unemployment 

The number of people claiming Jobseekers Allowance and Universal Credit in County Durham 

was 20,185 in December, an increase of 7,420 compared to the year before. The number of 

claimants rose by 67% between March 2020 and May 2020 and has remained high, in an area 

that already reported unemployment levels above the national average.  In terms of age groups, 

P
age 114



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    37 

there has been the largest growth in claimants aged over 50. There has also been a sharp rise 

in unemployment amongst young people, who typically have a high representation in sectors 

such as hospitality and leisure, as well as more young people becoming economically inactive. 

 

 Data collected by Business Durham suggests there have been around 1,000 

redundancies across the County since the onset of the pandemic. 

 The latest Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme Statistics (December 2020, reporting 

figures as of 31st October) show there were 12,500 furloughed in County Durham, equal to 7% 

of employment in the County, down from 32,400 furloughed in July 2020 (17% of the 

employment base). The government have announced an extension of the furlough or 

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) until the end of March 2021, however concerns 

remain that as support comes to an end, redundancy and unemployment levels will start to rise.  

 The impact of COVID-19 has hit the self-employed particularly hard. The latest 

figures for the Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) to the 31st October 2020 

show there were a total of 13,200 claims made in County Durham, 20% of the North East total, 

equating to £30.6 million being claimed.  

 Unemployment is likely to increase further in the summer/autumn of 2021 as the 

furlough support ends and many businesses re-open with fewer staff. 

Sector Analysis 

 Data from the Annual Population Survey suggests 76,000 people (33.1% of working 

population) in County Durham are in key worker occupations. 

 The tourism, hospitality and culture sectors have been severely impacted by the 

national lockdowns, social distancing measures and travel restrictions. County Durham has a 

lower share of employment within accommodation and food sector and the arts, entertainment 

and recreation sector than nationally, although there are 1,560 businesses and almost 18,000 

jobs which are likely to have been impacted. While these sectors are forecast to rebound 

strongly in 2022, and possibly the second half of 2021, with tourism expected to support 

economic recovery, there will be significant job losses and company closures in the short term. 

Recently, a UK Hospitality survey reported that 41% of businesses surveyed suggested that 

their business would fail by mid-2021. 

 Manufacturing has not been hit as hard as other sectors. Business Durham 

intelligence suggests the majority of manufacturers were operating at near normal capacity as 

of November 2020.  

 While financial, professional services and digital businesses, have largely been able 

to transition to home working , it is expected there will be hidden job losses in certain business 

and professional services and digital and creative sectors, unseen to date. 

Schools 

 There is a significant challenge facing all the school age population as a result of the 

pandemic and the educational loss from the unprecedented disruption to school education. 

Department for Education research has shown that poor educational performance impacts 

directly on lifetime earnings and the pandemic risks damaging a generation of young people.  

 Without intervention, long term educational and employment inequalities are likely to 

be exacerbated by school disruption and as work placement opportunities fall. Resources are 

likely to be made available to allow pupils to catch up and a significant proportion of these need 

to be targeted on the most disadvantaged pupils from low income households, who are likely 

to have fallen further behind. The disruption to schools and the educational consequences are 

likely to take several years to address. 

 There is an immediate need to provide training and job search support to respond to 

the considerable job losses arising from the pandemic as well as the reduced opportunities 

from companies and organisations changing or postponing recruitment plans. The scale of the 

challenge will fully emerge throughout 2021 as Government job support measures end. 

Interventions 

 Supporting existing businesses is key to ensuring County Durham makes a strong 

recovery. The Government have delivered a range of schemes aimed at supporting 

businesses. In addition, Durham County Council has distributed over £104 million in grant to 

over 9,500 beneficiaries to support business resilience in the face of unprecedented 

challenges. There is also The Durham Business Recovery Grant, a £5m fund, designed to help 

County Durham businesses to recover from the effects of Covid-19. 

 While there is likely to be a strong bounce back, from a lower base, as restrictions 

are lifted, many hospitality and leisure related business may not reopen, while others may 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

County Durham Claimant Count
Source: ONS Claimant Count

P
age 115



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    38 

continue but with fewer staff. There is likely to be an increase in new starts and re-configured 

businesses. A number of centres will see increased vacancy rates and there are long term 

implications for commercial landlords and a number of high streets. 

 The loss of typical annual recruitment will affect young people and 2021 is a very 

poor time to enter the labour market. Many young people would benefit from remaining in 

training and education to improve their skills and qualifications and look for better opportunities 

in 2022 and 2023. 

 While support for those seeking employment and businesses is likely, directed 

through national programmes, it will be important that County Durham businesses and training 

organisations access these funds, with a need to focus training on the future skills needed. 

Brexit 

 While the UK left the EU on 31st December 2020, the full consequences of Brexit are 

likely to take a number of years to be fully felt, with uncertainty around the nature of future trade 

deals.  The implications of leaving the EU depends on various factors including: trade and 

migration policy including access to the European market; the risk of complex customs 

processes; the possibility of tariffs on European trade; and gaps in skills availability. 

 As the UK formally left the EU in the midst of a global pandemic, it is likely that it will 

be some time before the full impacts of Brexit are visible. A recent forecast suggested that 

Brexit will reduce growth in the economy by 1%-2% in 2022.  

Business Impacts 

 Those businesses reliant on importing and exporting – who benefitted from free and 

frictionless trade with the EU – will be significantly impacted by Brexit.  There is likely to be a 

reduction in exporting activity relative to the current position before leaving the EU as a result 

of the potential tariff and non-tariff barriers.  

 The early signs are that many businesses and agents have been prepared for the 

increased time and costs of importing and exporting, although the added delay to the process 

has considerably increased the friction for a number of sectors. The new arrangements are a 

disincentive for both exporters and importers and have provided an incentive for EU companies 

to look for other EU based suppliers. 

 In addition, there is also likely to be a reduction in the attractiveness of County 

Durham and the North East as a place to invest and re-invest relative to other cities and regions 

in the EU. The UK’s previous promotion of the UK as a base for European markets no longer 

applies. 

 There is no experience (yet) of the benefits of any new trading arrangements with 

other countries and trading blocs. 

Workforce and Skills 

 Every sector of the UK economy recruits higher skill personnel from the EU. This 

reflects skills shortages and the free movement of labour, with the UK an attractive destination 

with an excellent quality of life. 

 Arrangements have been put in place to allow EU residents in the UK to continue to 

work in the UK and to introduce new entry requirements for higher skilled workers globally to 

come to the UK. These new arrangements are not on a par with the former rights of EU citizens. 

 The UK is now likely to be a less attractive destination for many EU citizens and this 

could impact on both manufacturing and the health services, where highly skilled personnel 

have previously been recruited from the EU in substantial numbers. 

 The consequences for lower skilled and paid occupations which depend on economic 

migration, such as health and care and parts of food production and processing, are likely to 

be more severe and could result in a shortage of labour.  

 While the hospitality sector also depends on regular lower paid recruitment 

internationally, the job losses from the pandemic are likely to lead to a large group of people 

seeking new employment as the recovery builds momentum.  

Sectoral Impact 

 The industrial sector (excluding extraction) is the most exposed to Brexit, with 

manufacturing and construction likely to have the largest losses according to research by 

Oxford Economics.  

 Services such as finance and communications are also amongst the most exposed 

sectors to Brexit, due to a potential reduced ability to recruit EU higher skilled professionals 

and potential for post transition agreements to restrict UK access to European finance markets. 

These sectors however account for a much smaller share of County Durham’s economy than 

across the country, together accounting for 2% of total employment compared to 8% nationally, 

leaving it less exposed to the adverse impacts. 

Manufacturing 

 Manufacturing is at risk due to  tariff and non-tariff barriers and integrated supply 

chains with the EU, with some manufactures relying on ‘just-in-time’ delivery of parts or inputs, 

who may be experiencing disruptions in their supply chains caused by increased or uncertain 

processing times for goods at the border. Manufacturing is one of the largest sectors in County 

Durham with 25,000 jobs accounting for 14% of total employment. 

 The sub-sectors manufacture of automotive, transport equipment, chemicals and 

chemical products and textiles, in particular, are expected to be impacted the most. These 

together account for over a third of County Durham’s manufacturing sector, compared to 26% 

across the country, and 4.8% of total employment compared to 2% nationally.  

 

P
age 116



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    39 

Brexit: Most at Risk Manufacturing Sub-sectors 

 County Durham 
North 

East 
England 

 No. LQ No. No. 

Manufacture of textiles 400 1.1 1,125 53,000

Manufacture of chemicals and chemical 

products 
800 1.5 7,500 81,000

Manufacture of machinery and equipment 

n.e.c. 
4,000 3.8 11,500 158,000

Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and 

semi-trailers 
2,000 2.1 15,000 144,500

Manufacture of other transport equipment 1,500 1.9 2,750 116,500

Total sub-sectors 8,700 2.3 37,875 553,000

% in total manufacturing 34.1%  34.7% 26.2%

% in total employment 4.8%  3.4% 2.0%

Source: BRES 2019  

Health and Social Care 

There are three major risks to the health sector arising from Brexit and the consequences may 

have the greatest impact on the care sector. These are: 

 
Reduced ability to recruit EU higher skilled medical professionals. Although 

arrangements are in place to allow the economy to recruit higher skilled workers, the 

UK may now be less attractive to EU citizens. 

 

Reduced ability to recruit lower and medium skilled health workers, including care 

staff. There is likely to be a reduction in workers who qualify for entry to the UK, 

impacted by lower skills and wages, below the threshold. This has a potential impact 

on the cost of providing care, in the context of challenging Local Authority and NHS 

budgets.  

 

 
15 Oxford Economics ICAEW May 2020 Economic Outlook 

Delays at ports & limited warehousing facilities for medicines and health supplies 

may disrupt service and lead to higher costs. 

 

Summary 

 Over the 2020-25 period, economic growth in the North East is expected to be the 

weakest of any region, while unemployment at the end of the period could be the highest of 

any region.15 Regional disparities therefore may grow over the next four years, highlighting the 

importance of prioritising the ‘levelling up’ agenda. 

  This outcome in not inevitable and could be mitigated by early actions and new 

private and public sector investment, including new investment from the Shared Prosperity and 

Levelling Up Funds. 

 The major challenges are: 

Increased unemployment, particularly for young people, and fewer job opportunities 

as companies adopt a cautious approach to new recruitment. 

The educational damage to a generation of school students and the challenge of 

making up lost ground, particularly for pupils from low income households. 

The medium-term effect of Brexit on the County’s large manufacturing sector, 

including recruitment difficulties and increased friction for companies importing and 

exporting.  

The challenge to the NHS and care sector with regards to international recruitment 

(a key element in the workforce strategy) at a time when the sector is under intense 

pressure.   

  These challenges are compounded by uncertainty of when travel and social 

distancing measures will end and the likelihood that new post Brexit market opportunities may 

take several years to emerge. 

 

P
age 117



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    40 

10 Future Economic Growth 

Introduction 

 The future economic outlook for County Durham is considered in this chapter, using 

published data to inform forecasts.  

Economic Output 

 Forecast GVA growth for County Durham has been assumed to follow regional levels, 

as it did historically between 2006 and 2018.  

 Forecasts have been informed by Oxford Economics national and regional forecasts 

published in a House of Commons Briefing Paper in December 2020, which suggest:  

 GVA would decline by 11.4% in 2020 across the country, and fall by 12.2% in the 

North East; and  

 between 2019 and 2030 the average compound annual growth rate (CAGR) will be 

1.1% nationally and 0.6% in the North East.16 

 National GVA forecasts for 2021 have been informed by the HM Treasury Forecasts 

for the UK economy: a comparison of independent forecasts published in January 2021 which 

reviews 20 new forecasts from a range of sources. This suggests GDP growth of 4.4% in the 

UK in 2021. A Monetary Policy Report by the Bank of England published in November 2020 

has been used to inform national GVA forecasts for 2022 and 2023.  

 Where regional forecasts have not been available for the years 2021, 2022 and 2023, 

86% of national annual growth rate has been applied following the CAGR trend in the North 

East compared to England between 2000 and 2018.  

 Between 2024 and 2030, an average growth rate has been applied so that between 

2019 and 2030 the CAGR is in line with Oxford Economics forecasts for the North East and 

nationally for that period (CAGR of 0.6% and 1.1% respectively).17 

 
16 House of Commons Briefing Paper: Regional and Country Economic Indicators, December 
2020, Oxford Economics 

 

 Using these forecasts suggests the levels of GVA in the North East and County 

Durham will not recover to pre-Covid levels until 2027, while the country as whole will make a 

faster recovery with GVA above 2019 levels by 2025. 

17 Ibid 

-14.0%

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

GVA Forecast Growth 2019-2030
Source: ONS Regional Accounts and various published forecasts*

County Durham North East England

P
age 118



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    41 

 

GVA per Capita 

 If GVA in County Durham had grown at the national rate since 2010 and continues 

to grow at this level in the future, GVA per capita would be at the regional level by 2030.  

Although the gap between the national GVA per head would still be greater than it was in 2010, 

suggesting a greater up-lift in GVA is needed to move toward this level. 

 

Summary 

 The economic forecasts are likely to be revised as the national lockdown ends and 

the speed of economic recovery becomes clearer. The forecasts are typical in that the North 

East and County Durham lag behind the national recovery, although such as outcome is not 

inevitable. In particular, the success of the County is securing new inward investment and 

supporting businesses to recover and grow will have a major impact on the recovery trajectory 

for County Durham. 

 

£7.0bn

£7.5bn

£8.0bn

£8.5bn

£9.0bn

£9.5bn

£10.0bn

£10.5bn

£11.0bn

£11.5bn

£12.0bn

GVA Forecasts 2019-2030, £m
Source: ONS Regional Accounts and various published forecasts

County Durham North East Trend England Trend

£14,000

£16,000

£18,000

£20,000

£22,000

£24,000

£26,000

£28,000

£30,000

£32,000

£34,000

GVA per Capita Growth 2010-2030
Source: ONS Regional Accounts, ONS Population projection, and 

various published forecasts

County Durham North East England CD National Trend

P
age 119



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    42 

11 Recommendations and Investment Priorities 

Rebuilding a Powerful Economy   

 County Durham faced the challenge of rebuilding its economy after many years of 

job losses in coal mining and steel making. The scale of job losses, taking out full time and well-

paid employment, affected every community. Since 2000, County Durham has rebuilt and 

transformed its economy, and the resilience of its manufacturing base has ensured that it 

continues as an important industrial economy, even as it builds a strong service base.  

 While the scale of unemployment is well below the peak numbers seen in earlier 

decades and the employment rate has been increasing, many communities continue to be 

affected by low household incomes and health inequalities. 

 The successes of the past 5 years, including the arrival of new inward investors such 

as Hitachi Rail and Amazon, are now being affected by two new challenges - the Covid-19 

pandemic and the UK’s departure from the European Union.  

 The full effect of both factors is likely to result in an immediate increase in 

unemployment and more challenging conditions for many businesses in both the service and 

industrial economy. 

 The immediate challenges are compounded by the long term (20 year) population 

forecasts, which suggest that County Durham will experience a fall of some 7,000 people in its 

working age population and an increase of 35,000 in its older population. The outcome of this 

demographic change will lead to a reduction in local spending power, further undermining the 

viability of local centres across the County. This is in addition to the challenges for the health 

and care sector to provide support for a much larger elderly population. 

 Many of the successful changes to the economy in the past 20 years were shaped 

by important investment in infrastructure, industrial and commercial property, business support, 

skills training and inward investment sponsored by the County Council and supported by a 

range of regional and national funds. This scale of investment is now required over the next ten 

years to help the County respond to both the immediate and medium-term challenges and 

restore the economic momentum which resulted in new investment and employment. 

Developing the Pipeline for New Investment  

 Durham is part of the North East Combined Authority (NECA), along with Gateshead 

MBC, South Tyneside MBC and Sunderland City. NECA does not yet have access to devolved 

powers and funding, unlike the North of Tyne Combined Authority area and Tees Valley 

Combined Authority. Since 2015 the Council has been involved in discussions about the 

possibility of a North East devolution deal that would provide a long-term investment fund and 

devolve powers to help drive economic growth in the region. 

 The North East Local Authority 7 have put proposals to Government to provide 

significant additional resources to support the economic recovery over the next five years. 

These proposals are in addition to the support provided by a number of new funds. 

 The selection of suitable projects will be influenced by the final guidance for new 

funds and it is important that the County is prepared to act quickly, working with local partners, 

with processes to ensure only high-quality prioritised propositions are put forward. In 

anticipation of future opportunities officers are developing a pipeline of projects that fit within a 

long-term economic strategy and would benefit for support from regional and national 

opportunities including devolution, levelling up fund and the shared prosperity fund. 

 The potential new funds include:  

  Devolution 

  Regional Covid-19 Recovery Asks 

  Shared Prosperity Fund 

  Levelling Up Fund 

  Community Renewal Fund 

 In addition the Government’s recently published Build Back Better: our plan for 

growth sets out plans for high quality infrastructure linked to productivity growth; technical and 

basic adult skills priorities; and maximising innovation linked to transforming ideas into new 

products and services, all of which are relevant to opportunities for the County. In addition, 

some of the Grand Challenges set out in the UK Industrial Strategy, notably ageing society and 

clean growth, are directly relevant to the County. 

 External funders are increasingly using the 5 stage Business Case model outlined in 

the UK Treasury’s Green Book. A recent review has concluded that the major weakness in 

project submissions has been underdeveloped strategic cases, the first stage of the Business 

Case. The accompanying refresh of the Green Book introduced a place dimension, while 

reinforcing a Benefit to Cost Ratio metric to determine value for money. The calculation of 

benefits has become very technical and many projects struggle to justify a good BCR score. 

 The County Council would benefit considerably from investing time in staff training 

and identifying a member of staff to act as a Green Book expert and support other 

organisations. 

 The workload of the County Council’s Economic Development function is likely to 

increase markedly through 2021 and 2022.  Dealing with the consequences of the pandemic 

and the unfolding outcome of Brexit will be accompanied by the introduction of major new funds, 

with a Government preference for competitive bidding and an onerous business case and 

appraisal process. 

 The County has the opportunity to secure significant new investment although 

considerable staff resources are needed to submit convincing proposals, respond to external 

appraisers and subsequently agree contract conditions.  

 

 

P
age 120



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    43 

The Twin Challenge: Productivity and Jobs 

 One of the challenges facing County Durham is the level of productivity of the 

workforce, with productivity the key determinant of wages and, ultimately, household incomes.  

 The key measures of productivity suggest County Durham underperforms compared 

to the national average. GVA per hour worked is 84% of the England average while GVA per 

job is 81% of the England average and GVA per FTE is 82% of the England average. 

 There are four criteria which influence productivity:  

 The skills and health of the workforce; 

 The capital investment and technology which support business and workforce 

activity;  

 The products and services which the workforce provide; and  

 The market for goods and services provided – local, regional, national and 

international. 

 While companies such as Hitachi Rail and GSK demonstrate that County Durham 

can provide a productive workforce to match the best in the country, there are too few 

companies using the latest technologies and producing high value products in national and 

international markets. 

 While inward investment could help boost productivity, and increase the proportion 

of jobs in high productivity sectors, there is a need to work across all sectors – industrial and 

services – to help County Durham out-produce their competitors and increase efficiency to 

maintain competitiveness. 

 At the same time as improving the competitiveness and productivity of the current 

business base and workforce, a significant number of jobs will be impacted by robotics, 

automation and digitisation, making a number of intermediate skilled jobs redundant. Providing 

new employment at the intermediate skills levels, in sectors such as distribution and logistics 

will be important in maintaining employment levels, a challenge now exacerbated by the 

pandemic. 

 An underlying factor for the County Durham economy is the need to strengthen the 

private sector. The County has a large public sector employment base, although this primarily 

reflects the large population. It has, however, too small a private sector, partly a legacy of an 

industrial economy that was driven by nationalised industries, rather than the private sector. 

 In order to provide replacement jobs for a changing economy, maintain current 

employment rates and increase productivity and household incomes, County Durham needs to 

focus on its strengths, assets and growth sectors, with the potential to deliver more and better 

jobs.  

 These are: 

Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering 

Logistics and Distribution 

Digital Industries and Business Services 

Tourism 

Health Economy 

 These sectors can deliver the range of occupations needed to provide opportunities 

for all parts of the workforce.  

Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering 

 The Durham economy has a large manufacturing sector and a number of major world 

leading companies established in the County. There is a diverse range of sectors including a 

number where there is both a strong presence and growth potential. 

 While some companies will increase their competitiveness through digitisation, 

robotics and automation, reducing the workforce, there is the opportunity to offset these losses 

through some of the strongest sub-sectors most able to take up new opportunities in growth 

markets in the green economy, clean energy and long term activities to reach zero carbon and 

meet climate change objectives. 

 In addition, the County remains a competitive location for inward investment, and the 

prospects for securing new industrial investment and significant numbers of new jobs are very 

positive. The County offers a range of locations that are attractive to industrial companies, 

including small and medium sized companies requiring affordable premises. There is an 

opportunity to develop a major, regionally significant and high-quality industrial park to 

successfully compete for the major inward investment opportunities. 

 While the pandemic has had a limited effect on the advanced manufacturing sector, 

Brexit is likely to impact on those companies which are part of European supply chains and the 

recruitment of high skilled international migrants. Conversely, over the next five years, new 

trading arrangements could result in new opportunities. However, the most recent forecasts 

suggest that leaving the EU will result in a 1%-2% reduction in the national economy. 

Logistics and Distribution  

 County Durham is a competitive location for logistics and distribution. There are now 

8,500 jobs in the transportation and storage sector, an increase of 1,500 since 2015. The growth 

reflects a range of factors which have transformed the logistics sector, including the distribution 

of imports and home deliveries from the major supermarkets and the likes of Amazon. The 

increase in internet shopping and commitments to timely home deliveries has increased the 

regional super hubs for the leading companies. While many logistics related jobs are at the 

intermediate skills level, a significant proportion are technical jobs, and supervisory and 

managerial roles. 

 County Durham benefits from its strategic road network and its location between 

north and south, as well as providing easy access to the North East and Tees Valley ports and 

markets.  

 As with the industrial premises offer, the County offers a range of locations, attractive 

to small and medium sized distribution and transport companies requiring affordable premises. 

There is also an opportunity to develop a major, regionally significant and high quality logistics 

park, offering regionally significant capacity to accommodate a number of company super hubs 

at the top of the supply chain, to successfully compete for the major logistics investment 

opportunities. 

P
age 121



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    44 

Digital Industries and Business Services 

 Digital industries and business services have been major drivers of employment 

growth in the UK for many years. The County has benefitted from increases in employment, 

although these sectors favour major urban locations such as Leeds, Manchester and 

Birmingham. 

 The move towards digital applications is driving growth in every sector of the 

economy, including manufacturing, retail, logistics, professional services and health. The 

pandemic has further highlighted the importance of the digital economy. 

 The GVA/FTE figures for ICT in County Durham is very low which suggests that the 

area does not have sufficient numbers in higher value added sub-sectors. 

 From a County Durham perspective, embedding digital skills in the education and 

training system is an important priority for making the future workforce employment ready. 

There is a further opportunity to prioritise support for new and micro digital businesses to take 

advantage of the range of product and market opportunities. 

 Major cities have benefitted from a combination of apartment living for younger 

workers, the attraction of an urban lifestyle, and a supporting eco-system to drive new 

opportunities. There is an opportunity to review the current City of Durham offer and identify 

new proposals which could provide a competitive alternative to the large cities, particularly as 

households re-evaluate their housing and location priorities as a result of the pandemic. 

Tourism and Leisure  

 County Durham has a growing tourism and leisure sector based on major heritage 

assets and an outstanding natural environment. The City of Durham with its world-renowned 

Cathedral is a must visit centre along with York and Edinburgh, while new investment in Bishop 

Auckland has further strengthened the historical tourism offer. 

 The sector has been badly affected by the pandemic, with bars, cafés and restaurants 

forced to close for long periods and accommodation providers severely affected by travel 

restrictions. While the sector is forecast to rebound strongly in 2022, and possibly the second 

half of 2021, there will be significant job losses and company closures in the short term. 

 In the medium term, further growth in tourism and leisure will be based on quality, 

with further investment in accommodation, restaurants and cafés likely needed to support 

increased visitor numbers and expenditure. There is an opportunity for towns such as Barnard 

Castle and Bishop Auckland to increase visitor numbers.  

 Further investment in culture and heritage assets and the natural environment should 

be a priority for further strengthening the County’s offer for extended breaks to maximise leisure 

expenditure. Consideration should be given to developing a pipeline of proposals for cultural 

and natural environment projects. 

Health and Care Economy  

 The health economy provides a substantial employment base in the County and with 

an increasing number of elderly residents, health and care will continue to play an important 

role in both local economic potential and community health and wellbeing. 

 The NHS continues to face recruitment challenges for many occupations and the 

care sector also struggles to recruit personnel. Brexit is expected to make the UK less attractive 

as a place to work for skilled international labour and there is both a need and opportunity to 

increase local recruitment at both intermediate and higher skilled occupations. 

 As the integration of health and care services accelerates, new job opportunities will 

open, and the combined workforce will face both recruitment and staff retention issues. 

 The impact of health inequalities in terms of both communities and workforce 

productivity is now a national policy priority and increasing funds are being channelled towards 

health innovation in areas such as diagnostics, med tech, digital health applications and mental 

health. These new approaches are in addition to public health initiatives in areas such as 

smoking cessation and healthy eating in response to obesity. 

 Covid-19 has led to a number of new challenges, notably a need to address mental 

health issues amongst young people, including school students and within the wider workforce, 

with many employers now focused on the wellbeing of their workforce. 

 The County should develop its role in the health supply chain, considering the 

potential for a health campus and the further development of technical equipment and digital 

opportunities to benefit existing County Durham companies and support new inward investment 

opportunities. 

 There would be merit in the County developing a strategic economic framework for 

the health and care economy focused on workforce needs and development, linking 

opportunities to young people in schools and colleges, business start-up and supply chain 

opportunities and developing the anchor institution’s role. 

Start Ups   

 County Durham has a consistently good track record in generating new business 

starts each year. While inevitably many of these will not survive the opening years, others will 

go on to provide jobs for some time, with a small number growing quickly and employing 20-30 

people. 

 The need to provide more jobs in the economy means that new starts have an 

important role to play over the next ten years, with a combination of one and two person 

businesses and increasing numbers in digital and leisure adding directly to the business base. 

 In the light of the economic impact of the pandemic, there is likely to be an increase 

in new starts in 2021 and 2022 as individuals seek new routes to employment or re-launch 

businesses closed by the national lockdowns. 

P
age 122



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    45 

Place, Investment and Employment 

 Connectivity is central to the economic competitiveness of the County economy and 

the strong link between transport and improved productivity requires a rolling programme of 

transport investment.  

 The North Durham Economic Corridors enhancements on the A693, A691, A167 and 

A692 corridors is central to facilitating economic growth at key employment and housing sites 

in the North of the County, as well as improving journey times and reliability towards Durham 

and Tyneside. Investment in rail lines/stations as well as smaller local transport schemes are 

needed to open up more opportunities across the geography.  

 Durham City is a key employment centre, with the largest office market and home 

to significant public sector occupiers, including the County Council, Passport Office, Land 

Registry, Northumbrian Water, Durham & Darlington PCT and Durham University.  

 The city is constrained by a lack of available sites which limits private sector 

commercial investment and limited high-quality office space in and around Durham City is a 

constraint to growth in business and professional services. The train station is located close to 

the city centre but the topography provides a poor route to the centre and no commercial 

development close to the station has been undertaken to provide the offices and hotels which 

major railway stations typically support. 

 Although complex, increasing the supply of modern office space close to the station 

can be an important element of increasing the business service and digital industries business 

space which is a key feature of strong urban economies. Aykley Heads, a partnership with 

Durham University linking research and development with the digitally enabled business sector 

creating more and better jobs in county Durham with fintech specialisms, and Milburngate 

schemes will help to address this requirement.  

 The A1 Corridor (including sites around Durham City) is the County’s principal 

industrial location, containing a number of major employment locations including: 

 Aycliffe Industrial Estate, Newton Aycliffe – A 400-acre industrial estate in the south 

of County Durham located close to the A1 with over 500 businesses and 10,000 

employees, which is home to Hitachi Rail, Gestamp Tallent, 3M, Inovyn and 

Husqvarna among others. The arrival of Hitachi Rail has supported large scale job 

creation and helps to position Durham as a key location for inward investment in 

advanced manufacturing. There is potential for further expansion of the Estate. 

 NETPark, Sedgefield – In South East Durham is one of the UK’s premier science, 

engineering and technology parks, home to several high-tech companies and  home 

to two National Catapult Centres – The High Value Manufacturing Catapult, managed 

by CPI, and North East Centre of Excellence for Satellite Applications. NETPark 

Central is a new proposal for an iconic building at new entrance gateway providing 

incubation and office space including an amenity hub and to provide physical location 

for North East Space Hub. 

 Within the A1 corridor, Phase 1 of Integra 61, Bowburn, has recently been completed. 

The £300m mixed use employment development will provide a total of three million ft2 of 

industrial and logistics space, 300 new homes and 50,000ft2 of roadside opportunities, including 

a family pub/restaurant, hotel, drive-thrus, trade counter units, car showrooms, a care home 

and a nursery. Amazon has located its second robotics fulfilment centre in the North East at 

the site, one of the largest distribution centres in the UK, creating around 1,000 jobs. 

 The A19 Corridor in the East of the County is also a key employment location. The 

A19 Corridor has experienced significant development over the past two decades,. although 

there now exists an oversupply of larger office space with limited demand, in part due to lack 

of public transport hubs. The A19 historically has been a key industrial location with estates 

such as Peterlee North West and South West. Peterlee is home to several major national and 

international manufacturers, including Caterpillar and TRW.  

 The JADE Business Park, Seaham, located within a designated Enterprise Zone. 

Phase 1, has delivered 155,000ft2 for distribution, technology and advanced manufacturing 

businesses, and is strategically located for businesses involved in the automotive construction 

supply chain, sitting within the catchment area for Nissan supply chain companies. Phase 2 

has the capacity to deliver a further 400,000ft2. 

 While the two Corridors and other towns allow the County to offer a range of locations, 

attractive to industrial companies, including small and medium sized companies requiring 

affordable premises, a large proportion of industrial space is no longer fit for purpose, 

contributing to high vacancy rates in certain size bandings including in locations such as 

Consett, Peterlee and Newton Aycliffe. 

 There is the potential for Industrial Property Development Fund to provide gap 

funding for public and private industrial new build across the County including sites at Drum 

and Stella Gill (Chester le Street), Jade (Murton), South Church (Bishop Auckland) and 

Merchant Park (Newton Aycliffe) .  

 There are also two major opportunities to significantly improve the quality of industrial 

premises in the County. These involve building on strong locations to develop:  

A major, regionally significant and high-quality industrial park to successfully compete 

for the major inward investment opportunities. 

A major, regionally significant and high-quality logistics park, offering regionally 

significant capacity to accommodate a number of company super hubs at the top of the 

supply chain, to successfully compete for the major logistic investment opportunities. 

 It is equally important to continue to modernise both office and industrial space across 

the County to provide business space which meets the demand of changing work practices in 

locations where companies are keen to locate, including the many smaller businesses which 

make a valuable contribution to the County’s economy. 

 County Durham needs to modernise its major business locations to compete 

successfully with its neighbours in terms of industrial and office space. New investment is 

needed to deliver more and better jobs, improve productivity and increase its Business Rates 

income as a means of generating funds for re-investment in economic development across the 

County.  

P
age 123



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    46 

Rural Communities and Economy 

 In relation to rural communities, actions centred on new and affordable housing, 

business and tourism support and town centre renewal need to be underpinned by digital 

connectivity, working with the private sector to bring cutting edge broadband services to rural 

parts of the County to enable more people to work and access services from home.  

 Improved broadband to rural communities will underpin efforts to increase working 

from home, support new business starts up and help diversify the rural economy. It will also 

strengthen the visitor and leisure economy. The government has announced the first stages of 

its plans to get ultra-fast broadband to the majority of homes in the UK and the first to benefit 

will be homes and businesses in Cambridgeshire, Cornwall, Cumbria, Dorset, Durham, Essex, 

Northumberland, South Tyneside and Tees Valley. A former voucher scheme is also being 

relaunched to provide more immediate help to those struggling with poor broadband coverage, 

with up to £210m being made available. 

 Other important considerations for rural communities will be the strengthening public 

transport services and health as well as other public e-services which will help reduce rural 

isolation. Further improvements to village and town centres will play an important part in 

strengthening the vitality of rural centres. 

Skills, Learning and Communities 

 The proportion of the working age population skilled to Level 2 and above in County 

Durham (75.3%) is above the North East as a whole (73.5%) and marginally below the England 

wide average (75.7%).  

 While this is a very positive profile, those outside this group will find it increasingly 

difficult to find permanent, secure jobs paying above the minimum wage, as the structure of 

employment and employer demands change. 

 The County also has a significant proportion of its workforce in occupations at Levels 

2/3 across both office based and industrial sectors, where jobs will be lost due to digitisation 

and automation. There is likely to be a persistent demand for updating and refreshing skills to 

support people to move into new employment. 

 The proportion of the population with a degree or a higher degree (Level 4+) in 

County Durham is 31.6%, considerably below the national average (40.0%), and marginally 

below the North East average (31.9%). This proportion is likely to change as new employment 

opportunities in growth sectors change overall demand. The 2019 LMI toolkit analysis for the 

North East, reported demand for workers with higher level qualifications (Level 3 and 4) and 

apprenticeships, while demand for workers with no and lower level qualifications is expected to 

continue to fall, in line with national trends. 

 While County Durham is well placed to provide the workforce needed to support its 

employment ambitions, there are three major skills challenges: 

Improving the proficiency of the least well qualified cohort to increase their employability 

and work readiness and addressing barriers to moving into employment.  

Assisting those in vulnerable occupations to update their skills and move into new 

sectors and occupations. 

Addressing skills shortages and recruitment challenges in sectors such as 

manufacturing, construction and health. 

 The County has a strong training and further education sector and an excellent track 

record in apprenticeships. It is well placed to address skills challenges, although significant 

Government support will be required to put in place medium term programmes not dependent 

on annual or intermittent funding. 

 There is an immediate need to provide training and job search support to respond to 

the considerable job losses arising from the pandemic, as well as the reduced opportunities 

from companies and organisations changing or postponing recruitment plans. The scale of the 

challenge will fully emerge throughout 2021 as Government job support measures end. 

 Given the increasing numbers of young unemployed and the likely reduction in 

employer recruitment there is a need for a range of interventions to support young people gain 

skills and take opportunities presented by economic growth. Potential projects include 

establishment of Employment/ Youth Hubs in areas of high unemployment, communicating 

information on support available across the provider base in the county and enhanced 

marketing and communication of support available through DurhamWorks, DurhamAdvance, 

L!NKCD, National Careers Service and ROAD. 

 It will be important to increase adult employment support services providing wrap 

around support and progression opportunities for residents 25+ and, if possible, increasing the 

adult education budget within a localised commissioning framework to better supporting the 

training needs of residents.  

Schools 

 The Department for Education (DfE) implemented Attainment 8 and Progress 8 

measures in 2017, creating a new secondary school accountability system. DfE data reveals 

County Durham’s educational attainment is above the national average.  

 Ofsted scores for 2019/2020 reveal that most of County Durham’s primary schools 

are either outstanding or good (89%), comparable to 88% nationally, with 10% requiring 

improvement. A higher share of schools in County Durham are outstanding (22%), than across 

the region as a whole (16%) or nationally (20%). 

 Outstanding primary schools and high performing secondary schools are an 

important feature in persuading families to move into the County, potentially reducing in-

commuting and attracting high skilled staff to take up employment opportunities. 

 Schools in County Durham continue to improve attainment at all levels and provide 

older pupils with better information, advice and guidance to make the transition to further 

education or employment. There are three challenges which schools in County Durham now 

face: 

Ensuring that pupils in receipt of free school meals match the performance of their wider 

peer group in terms of educational outcomes and progression. 

P
age 124



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    47 

Assisting pupils in areas of very high multiple deprivation. 

Addressing the new challenge facing all the school population because of the pandemic 

and the educational loss from the unprecedented disruption to school education. 

 Department for Education research has shown that poor educational performance 

directly impacts on lifetime earnings and the pandemic risks damaging a generation of young 

people. 

 Resources are likely to be made available to allow pupils to catch up and a significant 

proportion of these need to be targeted on the most disadvantaged pupils from low income 

households, who are likely to have fallen further behind. 

 The disruption to schools and the educational consequences are likely to take several 

years to address. 

Communities and Towns 

 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the most commonly used measure of 

deprivation. IMD covers the following seven domains: income deprivation; employment 

deprivation; health deprivation and disability; education skills and training deprivation; barriers 

to housing and services; living environment deprivation; and crime.  

 In 2019, County Durham ranked 62nd out of the 317 local authorities in England. 

Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) data shows that 12% of LSOAs are in the 10% most deprived 

in England, compared to 20.1% across the North East as a whole, while exactly a third of 

LSOAs are in the most deprived 20% across the country.  

 There are hotspots of deprivation in the East of Durham and coastal towns of Seaham 

and Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the South, Stanley in the North and parts 

of Durham City. 

 While County Durham does not have the scale of deprivation seen in the major cities 

and conurbations across the country, particularly in the North of England, it does perform 

relatively poorly in the health deprivation and disability and employment domains – ranked 32nd 

and 35th most deprived respectively – with around a quarter of LSOAs in the most 10% deprived 

for both domains.  

 There is a strong link between health inequalities and high rates of economic 

inactivity, as well as unemployment and low GVA per head. There is an increased focus on the 

early identification and better management of cancer, cardiovascular and respiratory conditions 

and increasing efforts to reduce obesity and diabetes. Other innovations are assisting people 

to manage conditions more effectively.  

 It is also important to seek to address wider determinants of health, including income, 

educational attainment and access to employment, in order to address long standing health 

inequalities. New approaches need to be supported by continuing investment in long term 

public health initiatives including healthy eating, active lifestyle and smoking cessation. 

 While County Durham needs to continue to provide a range of targeted initiatives 

regarding housing, training and employment, the prioritisation of reducing health inequalities 

could have a major influence on reducing multiple deprivation in many communities. 

 Housing development has an important role to play in local regeneration, including 

the renaissance of smaller towns centres and rural areas. There is a need to deliver more 

affordable homes, specifically using brownfield land and also including a rural programme and 

introduce new support to bring forward brownfield sites.  

 While there is a continuing challenge of regenerating many town centres across the 

County there is an opportunity to widen local regeneration plans through the more flexible range 

of complementary initiatives now available through the Levelling Up Fund and the Community 

Renewal Fund. 

 Given the importance and scale of the housing challenge a more substantive 

Strategic Housing Growth is required to take forward the high quality housing within the 

development of the Durham Economic Growth Corridor.  

Maximising Local Opportunities – The Role of Anchor 

Institutions 

 The three anchor institutions – Durham County Council, the Durham and Darlington 

NHS Trust and Durham University – are the three largest employers, each rooted in the County. 

In addition to the large workforce, each has an extensive supply chain, increasing their 

economic role in the wider economy. 

 As well as providing important services to the community, the Council and Trust are 

central to community wellbeing, and both have an important role to play in reducing social and 

health inequalities. 

 The University – a leading UK centre of excellence in higher education – already 

supports a number of research and commercial activities which link the County to the UK 

Industrial Strategy, as well as providing thousands of new graduates and postgraduates each 

year. 

 The County Council is a very large employer and the provider of a number of key 

services. Each year it indirectly supports a large number of local companies through its supply 

chain expenditure. The Council is one of the largest Local Authorities in England and although 

under considerable financial pressure, its work on social value provides a sound platform for 

further actions to link local businesses and residents to opportunities. 

 There is an opportunity for the three Anchor Institutions to collectively review their 

role in the economy, with the potential to leverage more benefits for residents and businesses, 

provide supported employment places for residents in areas of high deprivation and provide a 

new range of actions to support young people.  

 This review could usefully tap into the University’s postgraduate capacity to examine 

best practice and new initiatives from across the UK to build the evidence base for a new 

approach. 

 All three Anchor Institutions already invest in social value and actively collaborate at 

a senior and operational level. There is a need and opportunity to move to a new level and 

present County Durham as an exemplar location in this field.   

P
age 125



County Durham Economic Review 2021 

    48 

 In addition to developing the role of the major anchor institutions, there are several 

other public sector organisations with the potential to contribute to social value activities. While 

many are less resourced, providing support to these organisations to develop local initiatives, 

possibly in collaboration, would provide additional opportunities. 

 There is now a growing commitment in the private sector to increase their Corporate 

Social Responsibility actions, and again this presents another opportunity for the County to 

increase social value activities. 

Delivering New Investment and Jobs 

 County Durham needs significant external public sector funding to meet its objectives 

of increasing employment and employability to fully contribute to the National Industrial Strategy 

and the levelling up agenda set out by Government. 

 It also needs to ensure that Government funding aimed at reducing unemployment, 

increasing participation, and tackling poverty are delivered in a way which meet the needs of 

County Durham residents and communities. This also applies to all Government support being 

provided to businesses, schools, training institutions and workers to respond to the pandemic. 

 The current Government approach to economic development and levelling up 

involves either national competitions (with winners and losers) or a time-consuming process to 

agree “deals”, with final funding uncertain and detailed negotiations to conclude contractual 

arrangements.  

 More positively, the recent Green Book Review re-stated the Government 

commitment to the levelling up agenda and introduced an emphasis on understanding the 

benefits of investment within a place-based theme. 

 Considerable resources are needed to fully advance the economic development 

ambitions of the County. This will involve: 

Working with regional networks and agencies and engaging with Government to 

influence policy and shape additional delivery plans across a range of Departments. 

Developing credible propositions with other County organisations and agencies and 

the private sector to produce compelling propositions with regard to residential and 

commercial development, transport and infrastructure, sectoral and innovation 

propositions and place based, inclusion and social value initiatives. 

Developing Green Book compliant Business Cases in line with the Green Book 

Review to secure new investment.  

 While there is uncertainty over how new funds will be made available, the County 

needs to progress development work in advance of formal funding announcements to allow a 

pipeline of proposals to be ready. 

 Specific to the County Council, there is an imperative for the County to successfully 

compete for new external funding over the next five years to meets its economic objectives and 

this will require both staff and resources to deliver the scale of new investment needed to attract 

the scale and nature of private sector investment required to create new and better jobs and 

increase productivity. .  

Areas for Further Exploration 

 There are a number of areas where the County would benefit from new research and 

exploration. These are: 

New responses to addressing poverty and areas of multiple deprivation  

 Local opportunities in the move to clean energy and zero carbon 

 New opportunities from changing procurement arrangements 

 Business and community led small town centre regeneration 

Two Challenging Years  

 The next two years are likely to be the most challenging that the economy has faced 

since the turn of the century. Covid and Brexit are compounding long term trends which are 

impacting on many sectors.  

 Establishing economic momentum will need a range of public and private investment 

in the early recovery period. The County offers multiple opportunities and these need to be 

pursued alongside increased activity to support residents to improve their employment 

prospects. The County Durham economy needs to recover quickly or any downturn may turn 

out to be permanent. 

 While the County faces a number of challenges – the impact of automation and  

digitisation, the costs of supporting an ageing population, the move to a low carbon economy – 

each challenge also creates new economic and employment opportunities, emphasising the 

need for a pro-active and innovative policy approach by leading stakeholders.  

 

 

 

P
age 126



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3b 

 

County Durham Economic 

Review Update 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Economic Review Update Report for 

County Durham  

 

December 2021 

 

 

Page 128



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

1 Introduction and Context ................................................................................................................. 1 

Purpose of the Report ......................................................................................................................... 1 

The Latest Context .............................................................................................................................. 1 

2 Updated Statistical Position ............................................................................................................ 4 

Introduction.......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Core People Statistics ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Core Economy and Enterprise Statistics ............................................................................................ 8 

Overarching Observations ................................................................................................................ 12 

3 Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit Review .......................................................................................... 13 

Introduction........................................................................................................................................ 13 

The Impacts of Covid-19 ................................................................................................................... 14 

The Impacts of Brexit ........................................................................................................................ 17 

4 Implications for the March Report Recommendations .................................................................. 19 

 

Page 129



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

1 
 

 

1     Introduction and Context 

Purpose of the Report 

This report provides an overview of County Durham’s latest economic conditions against a series of 

key indicators. The analysis considers the latest position relative to that reported at the time the County 

Durham Economic Review was completed in March 2021 with consideration also given to how changes 

compare to change reported England wide.  

Published data sets under the themes of People and Economy & Enterprise have been considered to 

provide the most up-to-date picture of the resident population, labour market, employment trends, sector 

performance, business base, economic output and productivity.   

In addition, a review of the impacts of Covid-19 and Brexit is also set out, considering what has 

happened since the Economic Review was prepared compared to expected trends at the time of its 

completion. The section provides an updated analysis for the County, drawing on recently published 

insights and forecasts to consider the future outlook in relation to key expected challenges and impacts. 

In all cases, the updated analysis is intended to provide stakeholders with an up to date understanding 

of the latest circumstances evident in County Durham and provide the basis for development of the 

Economic Strategy.  

The Latest Context 

There have been several changes in the political and economic context over the past 8 months which 

will – directly or indirectly – have played a role in shaping County Durham’s economic performance and 

outlook. The primary factors to acknowledge are:  

New local political leadership and opportunities  

 County Durham has seen a change in political leadership since the Economic Review was 

prepared.  The arrival of a new Council Leader – Amanda Hopgood – in May 2021 reflects the 

introduction of a coalition of Liberal Democrats, Conservatives, and independents, replacing 

long term Labour leadership in the County. Political priorities will evolve in response. 

 Discussions around a potential County Durham devolution deal have continued, providing 

scope for the County to secure new powers, as part of the Levelling Up agenda (considered 

further below).  

A changing economic outlook 

 The UK economy contracted sharply in 2020 by 9.8% but has shown signs of a strong recovery 

in 20211, with insights suggesting the UK will have grown by 7.3% in 20212. Both sectoral and 

regional imbalances are however anticipated. Forecasts for the North East are included within 

Section 3.  

 The strength of the rebound in demand in the UK in 2021 has led to supply constraints in several 

markets with the supply bottlenecks exacerbated by changes in the migration and trading 

regimes following Brexit.3  

 While emerging data looks promising, there are fears that the outlook remains uncertain. For 

example, the Institute of Fiscal Studies (October 2021)4 expect “a combination of lingering 

public health concerns, income losses and supply impairments to all drive a further fading of 

growth momentum over the winter”. In addition, the Omicron coronavirus variant might dampen 

the expected rebound in growth, even if new restrictions are not imposed, in response to 

heightened uncertainty. 

 The latest insights from the House of Commons suggest the labour market is continuing to 

recover. Nationally employment levels have risen as of September 2021 while unemployment 

 
1 House of Commons, Coronavirus: Economic Impact, September 2021 
2 House of Commons Research Briefing: Regional and National Economic Indicators, November 2021, Oxford Economics. 
3 https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-october-2021/  
4 https://ifs.org.uk/uploads/2-UK-economic-outlook-the-future-isn%E2%80%99t-what-it-used-to-be-.pdf  

Page 130



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

2 
 

levels have been falling, although the publication notes, increases in unemployment are 

forecast for late 2021.5 The PwC UK Economic Outlook for December 2021 suggests that 

although the short-term outlook for the labour market is cautiously optimistic, there may be a 

rise in the inactivity rate as workers are discouraged from entering the workforce after so long 

out of work. 

A strengthening Levelling Up narrative 

 The Levelling Up agenda has remained a priority for Government. A £4.8bn Levelling Up Fund 

was launched in March 2021 investing in town centre and high street regeneration, upgrading 

local transport, and investing in cultural and heritage assets, with £1.7bn allocated to places in 

the first round. Round one allocations suggest ambitions are broader than closing the 

productivity gap between the North and South, with activity supported across the country. 

Timescales for Round two bids remain to be confirmed.  

 County Durham were successful in securing £20m in the first round of the Levelling Up Fund 

to reopen Whorlton Bridge, deliver the A68 Toft Hill bypass and to create a heritage corridor 

along the Stockton and Darlington Railway line. These investments support the priority 

identified in the Economic Review to secure further investment in culture and heritage assets 

to strengthen the leisure economy.  

 The rebranding of the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government to the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and the appointment of Michael Gove 

MP as Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities in September 2021 has 

been seen by many as an indication that a refreshed approach is coming. The impacts are, 

however, yet to be realised.  

 The Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021 launched the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

(UKSPF), worth over £2.6 billion, to help people access new opportunities in places of need. 

Detailed proposals for the coverage and administration of the UKSPF still remain to be 

disclosed. While Community Renewal Fund (UKSPF’s predecessor) allocations have provided 

some short-term support to pilot projects, a clearer strategic focus around future funding 

streams is required.  

 The long-awaited Levelling Up White Paper was expected before the end of the year but has 

been delayed until 2022 with ongoing speculation about the scope of proposals. This will remain 

a publication to keep under review over the coming year.    

The continued impacts of Covid-19 

 During the first part of 2021, restrictions caused some sectors of the economy, including 

hospitality, tourism and leisure, to be severely impacted. Easing of some restrictions on 12th 

April allowed non-essential retail, hairdressers, public buildings and outdoor venues (including 

food & drink) to open, further easing on 17th May allowed indoor venues to open, and the 19st 

July saw all legal limits on social distancing removed allowing all sections of the economy to 

fully open up.  

 The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support 

Scheme (SEISS) ended on 30th September 2021.  

 The anticipated sudden rise in unemployment as the furlough scheme concluded has not yet 

materialised, although the true impacts on unemployment may not be seen until 2022. This 

may in part be due to those who have been made redundant being included in the payroll data 

whilst serving notice periods. Demand for labour does, however, remain strong.  

 Impacts and the speed of recovery have, however, been inconsistent across the economy. For 

example, some leisure and hospitality focused businesses are yet to see trade return to pre-

pandemic levels (e.g. town and city centre businesses who are dependent on office worker 

footfall at a time when working from home or hybrid working has remained popular) and it is 

these sectors of the economy that are also expected to experience the greatest impacts of 

current high and rising infection levels and the scope for further restrictions in later months 

(although the impact of this will not be evident in data for some time).  

  

 
5 House of Commons, Coronavirus: Impact on the labour market, October 2021 

Page 131



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

3 
 

Growing understanding of the impacts of Brexit 

 The transition period ended on 31st December 2020 and the UK left the EU single market and 

customs union with the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement (TCA). This has increased 

the bureaucratic burden on importers and exporters including as a result of checks on UK 

exports on the EU side, while implementing full checks on imports from the EU have been 

delayed in the UK for much of 2021.  Therefore in 2022 the impact of these checks on imports 

is expected to be fully understood. 

 While some businesses have begun adapting to the new trading arrangements with the EU, for 

others the longer-term impacts in competitiveness are yet to be felt. 

 Early implications of changes to labour supply are already being experienced in some sectors 

of the UK economy which disproportionately rely on EU workers including transportation, 

hospitality, and food-processing. 

 In 2020, the first net outflow of EU migrants in three decades was recorded for the UK. 

Page 132



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

4 
 

2     Updated Statistical Position  

Introduction 

The latest data for indicators under the themes People and Economy and Enterprise have been 

explored in this section. When selecting indicators, a focus has been placed on those measures where 

changes may have been expected to occur over a relatively short period of time. In many cases, change 

will only be evident over a longer period. Data for comparator geographies have also been presented 

to consider County Durham’s relative performance compared to the North East and England.  

The data presented in the March report for County Durham has also been presented for each indicator, 

while the column titled ‘change since March review’ indicates whether there has been an increase (), 

decrease () or no change (-) in the measure.  Change in County Durham’s performance relative to 

the national indicator is also considered in the tables below. Colour coding has been used show both 

the direction of travel within County Durham over the period and the current position relative to the 

national average and is represented as follows: 

Key 

Improved  

No change  

Worse  

Not applicable  

It is worth noting some changes in economic circumstances are also captured under section 3 of this 

report, which looks specifically at data and insights relating to the impacts of Covid-19 and Brexit.  

Page 133



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

5 
 

Core People Statistics  

People  

Indicator and period 
covered 

March report 
position  

Latest position County Durham direction of travel 

Commentary 
County 
Durham 

County 
Durham 

North East England 
Change since 
March review 

Change in CD6 
position relative to 
national since the 

March review 

Unemployment Rate 
(year ending June 2021)7 

6.5% 
(year ending, 

September 
2020) 

6.6% 6.8% 5.2% 

 

 Improved 

The unemployment rate in County 
Durham (CD) remains above the national 
average, and marginally below the 
regional rate. However, since the year 
ending September 2020, the 
unemployment rate has remained broadly 
consistent (+0.1%) for CD, while both 
regionally and nationally it has increased 
(by 0.5 and 0.8 percentage points – p.p.,  
respectively) causing the performance 
gap to reduce.  

Youth unemployment, 
aged 16-24 (year ending 
June 20218) 

22.2% 
(year ending, 

September 
2020) 

14.0% 16.9% 15.1% 

 

Improved 

Youth unemployment in County Durham 
has fallen from an average of  22.2% in the 
year ending September 2020 to 14.0% in 
the year to June 2021, a drop of 8.2 p.p., 
while nationally youth unemployment has 
risen from 12.9% to 15.1%, (+ 2.2 p.p.), 
over this period. County Durham’s youth 
unemployment rate is now below both the 
regional and national rates. 

Claimant Count, total 
claimants (November 
20219) 

20,790 
(December 

2020) 
14,950 87,780 1,650,840  Improved 

In County Durham, the number of 
claimants has fallen from 20,790 in 
December 2020 to 14,950 in November 
2021, a fall of 28%, compared to a 25% 
decline in the North East and 26% 
nationally. 

 
6 County Durham  
7 ONS Annual Population Survey via Nomis on 06/12/21 
8 Ibid, via Nomis on 06/12/21 
9 ONS Claimant Count by sex and age via Nomis on 14/12/21 

 

 

P
age 134



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

6 
 

Claimant Count as a % of 
working age adults 
(November 202110) 6.1% 

(December 
2020) 

4.5% 5.3% 4.7%  Unchanged 

Claimant Count, as a proportion of the 
working age population, has fallen by 1.6 
p.p. since December 2020, to 4.5% in CD 
in November 2021. The change is in line 
with rate reductions both regionally and 
nationally (where the rate fell by the same 
amount). 

Economic Inactivity (year 
ending June 202111) 75,400 

(year ending 
September 

2020) 

76,200 395,300 7,382,400  Improved 

There are 800 more residents classed as 
economically inactive in CD than at the 
time of preparing the Economic Review, 
an uplift of 1.1%. This is marginally below 
the upward trend in inactivity in the North 
East (+1.9%) and nationally (+2.4%). 

Economic Inactivity as a 
% of working age 
residents (year ending 
June 202112) 

23.1% 
(year ending 

September 
2020) 

23.7% 24.3% 21.2% 
 

Unchanged 

Economic inactivity has risen by 0.6 p.p. in 
CD, and is marginally below the North 
East rate, whilst remaining consistently 
higher than the national rate. 

Employment rate as a % 
of the working age (year 
ending June 202113) 

71.9% (year 
ending 2020) 

71.3% 70.5% 74.7%  Worsened 

In line with an increase in economic 
inactivity and unemployment, the 
employment rate has fallen by 0.6 p.p. 
since the March report. County Durham 
has maintained the trend of performing 
below the national average (with the 
national rate remaining at a similar level) 
although the employment rate is 
marginally above the regional average. 

No. residents on furlough 
(September 202114) 

12,500 
(October 2020) 

7,600 38,100 964,000  Not Applicable 

The number of residents claiming furlough 
fell from 12,500 at the end of October 
2020 to 7,600 at the end of September 
2021, as the scheme came to a close. 
Of those furloughed in CD, 29% were in 
the manufacturing sector (compared to 
10% nationally and 23% in the region) 
highlighting the dominance of the sector. 

 
10 Ibid, via Nomis on 14/12/21. 
11 ONS Claimant Count Survey via Nomis on 14/12/21. 
12 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 
13 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 
14 HM Revenue and Customs Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics, on 06/12/21 

 

P
age 135



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

7 
 

Take-up rate of furlough15 
(September 202116) 

6.0% (October 
2020) 

3.7% 3.6% 4.0% 
 

Worsened 

The take-up rate of furlough fell from 6.0% 
in October 2020 to 3.7% in September 
2021 (-2.3 p.p.) a smaller decline than 
seen across the North East (-2.9 p.p.) and 
nationally (-3.7 p.p.) 

Median Annual Resident 
Earnings Full-time 
(202117) £28,002 

(2020) 
£28,259 £27,646 £31,490 

  
 
 

Improved 

The median resident earnings have 
increased marginally since the March 
report, from £28,002 to £28,259, while 
regionally and nationally they have fallen, 
marginally reducing the gap with the 
national average.  

Median Annual 
Workplace Earnings Full-
time (202118) £26,495 

(2020) 
£26,354 £27,515 £31,480 

 
 
 

Improved 

The median workplace earnings have 
decreased marginally since the March 
report, from £26,495 to £26,354 in CD, a 
fall of 0.5% compared to a decrease of 
1.3% in the North East and 0.9% 
nationally. 

  

 
15 Of eligible employments 
16 HM Revenue and Customs Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics, on 06/12/21 
17 ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings via Nomis on 06/12/21 
18 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 

P
age 136



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

8 
 

Core Economy and Enterprise Statistics 

Economy and Enterprise 

Indicator and period 
covered 

March report 
position  

Latest position County Durham direction of travel 

Commentary 
County 
Durham 

County 
Durham 

North East England 
Change since 
March review 

Change in CD 
position relative to 
national since the 

March review 

Total employment 
(202019) 

183,000 
(2019) 

177,000 1,074,500 26,671,500  Worsened 

Between 2019 and 2020 total employment 
in CD declined by 6,000 jobs or 3.3%, 
compared to a fall of 2.5% across the 
North East and 1.8% nationally. CD’s 
employment accounts for 16.5% of total 
employment in the region, which is a 
marginal decrease of 0.5 p.p. since the 
March report. 

Top 3 sectoral 
employment gains 
(absolute terms) (2019-
202020) 

- 

Accom. & 
food: +2,000 
Education: 
+1,000. 
Admin. & 
support: +500. 

Accom. & 
food: +9,500. 
Human 
health & 
social work: 
+5,500. 
Education: 
+2,500. 

Human 
health & 
social work: 
+70,000. 
Education: 
+34,500. 
Transport & 
storage: 
+24,500. 

 Not Applicable 

Since 2019 the accommodation and food 
service activities sector has grown 
considerably by 15% with an additional 
2,000 jobs in 2020 in CD. In comparison, 
nationally this sector saw the largest 
overall decline in employment. Education 
has maintained an upward trend since the 
March report, with an additional 1,000 jobs 
(+5%), in line with growth in education 
across the region (+3%) and nationally 
(+2%). 

Top 3 sectoral 
employment losses 
(absolute terms) (2019-
202021) 

- 

Manufacturing: 
-2,500. 
Wholesale & 
retail: -2,000. 
Construction: -
1,500. 

Wholesale & 
retail: -
15,000. 
Profess., 
scientific & 
technical: -
12,000. 
Construction
: -7,000. 

Accom. & 
food: -
141,500. 
Wholesale & 
retail: -
107,000. 
Manufacturin
g: -89,000. 

 Not Applicable 

In CD, employment in manufacturing 
(previously the largest sector in the local 
authority) has fallen by 2,500 jobs, 
representing a significant 10% fall, 
consistent with the national picture 
although to a greater extent (-4% 
nationally). Employment in wholesale and 
retail trade has declined by 2,000 jobs 
since 2019 in CD, representing a 7% fall, 
consistent with regional and national 
losses within the sector, (-9% and -3%, 

 
19 ONS Business Register and Employment Survey via Nomis, 06/12/21 
20 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 
21 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 

P
age 137



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

9 
 

respectively). Employment in the 
construction sector declined by 14%, a 
similar scale of decline seen across the 
North East (-13%). 

Latest business counts 
(202122) 

14,105 
(2020) 

14,565 72,525 2,405,965 
 

Improved 

Between 2020 and 2021 there has been a 
3.3% uplift in the number of businesses in 
CD, a greater rate of growth than reported 
across the North East (+0.6%) and 
nationally (+1.5%). 

Business density (per 
10,000 working age 
population, 202123)  

430 
(2020) 

441 435 683  Improved 

Business density in County Durham has 
increased since the March report from 430 
to 441, marginally above the North East 
average. While the gap between County 
Durham’s business density and national 
business density has fallen marginally, the 
difference is still substantial, if CD 
matched the national business density 
rate it would have almost 8,000 additional 
businesses – a 54.9% uplift on the 
business count outlined above. 

Business start-ups as a % 
of business base (202024) 

12.4% 
(2019) 

12.6% 12.3% 12.1%  Improved 

The number of start-ups has increased 
from 1,710 in 2019 to 1,840 in 2020, an 
uplift of 7.6%. Business start-ups as a 
proportion of the business base increased 
by 0.2 p.p. between 2019 and 2020. The 
rate is above both the North East, and 
national average. This reflects an 
improvement in the relative position since 
2019, in which County Durham was below 
both the North East and national business 
start-up rate. 

Business survival rate 
(five years from 2015 - 
202025) 

43.1% 
(five years 
from 2014) 

40.9% 38.3% 39.5%  Improved 

The five-year business survival rate in 
County Durham has fallen by 2.2 p.p. This 
is, however, a smaller reduction than 
reported nationally (-3 p.p.). 

 

 
22 ONS UK Business Counts via Nomis, 06/12/21 
23 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 
24 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21. 
25 ONS UK Business Counts - enterprises by industry and turnover size band via Nomis, 06/12/21 

P
age 138



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

10 
 

Business survival rate 
(one year from 201926) 

91.9% 
(one year from 

2018) 
92.1% 91.0% 88.2%  Improved 

County Durham, as with the five-year rate, 
remains above the North East and 
national rates for business survival after a 
year and had risen marginally, while 
nationally the one-year survival rate has 
fallen.  

Business deaths as a % 
of the business base 
(202027) 

10.1% 
(2019) 

9.2% 10.1% 10.7%  Improved 

Business deaths as a proportion of the 
business base have fallen in CD between 
2019 and 2020. Consistent with 2019 
data, CD has a lower rate of business 
deaths than the North East and nationally.  

Total GVA (201928) 
£8,834 
(2018) 

£8,972 £55,339 £1,702,078  Worsened 

Between 2018 and 2019 total GVA for 
County Durham has increased by 3.2%, 
marginally above the rate of growth in the 
North East as a whole (+3.0%) but below 
the national growth rate (+3.7%). GVA 
data is not yet available for 2020 to 
understand the full impact of Covid-19 on 
economic output for County Durham. 

GVA per capita (201929) 
£16,763 

(2018) 
£16,925 £20,727 £30,239  Worsened 

GVA per capita in 2019 has increased by 
1.0% since 2018 in County Durham, 
compared to growth of 0.8% in the North 
East and 3.0% nationally. It remains 
considerably below the rate for both the 
North East and England. 

GVA per job (201930) 
£45,259 

(2018) 
£45,602 £47,504 £57,583  Worsened 

The 2019 GVA per job has increased 
marginally by 0.8% since, similar to North 
East growth rate (0.7%) and marginally 
below the national level (1.0%). The figure 
remains marginally below the average for 
the North East and significantly below the 
rate for England.  
 

 

 
26 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21. 
27 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21. 
28 ONS Subregional Productivity July 2021, via Nomis 06/12/21 
29 ONS Subregional Productivity July 2021, via Nomis 06/12/21 
30 Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21 

P
age 139



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

11 
 

GVA per hour worked 
(201931) 

£28.832 
(2018) 

£29.0 £30.3 £35.7  Worsened 

GVA per hour worked has risen marginally 
in County Durham between 2018 and 
2019, slightly below the increase recorded 
across the North East (+0.8%) and 
England (+1.0%) during this time. GVA 
per hour worked remains below the North 
East level (by £1.3 per hour), and 
nationally (by £6.7). The performance gap 
between County Durham and nationally 
has increased from a £6.5 per hour gap in 
2018 to a £6.7 per hour gap in the latest 
available data. 

 
31 Ibid, 06/12/21 
32 Due to updates in the most recent sub-regional productivity dataset the 2018 GVA per hour worked has fallen marginally from £30.0 (the value reported in the March report) to £28.8 

P
age 140



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

12 
 

Overarching Observations 

On balance, there appears to be an improving picture for the key economic indicators considered above. 

Statistics for County Durham show small improvements locally across 15 indicators compared to seven 

which have displayed a deteriorating position and two showing no change since the Economic Review 

report was produced. In a series of instances, the County has out-performed the trends reported 

regionally and nationally, helping to close the performance gap.  

Key points of note are: 

Positive changes:  

 A reduction in claimant unemployment levels and the youth unemployment rate, during a period 

of great economic uncertainty. 

 Small increases in resident earnings, with a marginal reduction in the gap with earnings 

nationally reported in both resident and workplace statistics.   

 A small rise in business start-ups with the rate now exceeding the regional and national 

averages and business survival and death rates moving in a positive direction, relative to the 

national picture.   

Continued need for attention:  

 Overall employment losses have exceeded the rate of change reported regionally and 

nationally.  

 Monitoring the continued level of manufacturing job losses and the implications this has for 

County Durham, a key sector of the local economy and a source of higher than average GVA. 

 Further growth in the productivity gap relative to the national average, exacerbated by further 

manufacturing job losses, despite a positive change in the GVA figures reported locally. 

Page 141



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

13 
 

3     Impact of Covid-19 and Brexit Review 

Introduction  

As reported at the time of the March review, Covid-19 and Brexit remain important challenges facing 

the UK as a whole which are likely to continue to have a significant impact upon County Durham’s 

economy in the short and medium term. This section – which draws on published statistics and research 

papers produced in recent months – considers trends that have been reported since the Economic 

Review was prepared relative those anticipated at the time of its production. A colour coding approach 

has been applied as follows in the right-hand column of the table:  

Key 

The current position/forecasts are an improvement on the anticipated position  

The reported position is in line with expectations  

The current position/forecasts are worse than anticipated at the time of the March 
report  

 

Not applicable/no data available   

The findings are presented overleaf.

Page 142



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

14 
 

The Impacts of Covid-19 

The key themes relating to the economic impact of Covid-19 as set out in the March report, have been revisited, considering whether predictions have been realised 

and/or whether forecasts suggest a continuation of the anticipated position. 

 Anticipated impact at 
the time of the March 
review  

Updated position / reported trends Summary finding/direction of travel  

Economic 
Output 

GVA would decline by 
11.4% in 2020 across 
the country and fall by 
12.2% in the North 
East33 
 

While published 2020 GVA data for England and the North East is not yet available, a House 
of Commons Briefing Paper suggests GDP34 for the UK declined by 9.8% in 202035, a lesser 
rate than first forecast although still representing a sharp contraction. 
The latest national and regional forecasts published in a House of Commons Briefing Paper 
suggest that GVA for England in 2021 will increase by 7.2% and by 8.6% in the North East, 
a greater rate of growth than previously anticipated for the year.  
The Institute of Fiscal Studies had forecast GDP growth of 4.4% in 2022 in the UK. 

Although the measures used are not 
directly comparable, the impact on 
economic output appears to have 
been slightly better than anticipated 
with future forecasts also appearing 
positive.  

Between 2019 and 
2030 the average 
compound annual 
growth rate (CAGR) will 
be 1.1% nationally and 
0.6% in the North East 

From 2020-2030 the latest forecast CAGR is 1.4% nationally and 1.2% for the North East,36 
up from previous forecasts. 
The UK’s recovery in 2021 was stronger than anticipated, supported by a better public health 
outlook, easing restrictions and the extension of fiscal support.37 

The CAGR forecasts have increased 
since the Economic Review was 
prepared. 

Redundancies 
and 
Unemployment 

Unemployment is 
expected to increase in 
Summer/ Autumn 2021, 
particularly as furlough 
ends 
 
 

Contrary to the expected trend, since the first quarter of the year (when claimant count as a 
proportion of the working age population averaged 6.1% in CD) the claimant count has 
continued to fall month on month. As of November 2021, there were 14,950 claimants of 
unemployment related benefits, equating to 4.5% of the working age population, compared 
to 5.3% in the North East and 4.7% nationally38. 
As the furlough scheme was ending at the end of September 2021, the number of residents 
claiming furlough in CD was 7,600, a take-up rate of 3.7% of eligible employment, compared 
to 4% nationally. 
Recent data and surveys suggest that many workers who were still furloughed in September 
remain in employment. Although there is expected to be a lag before the full impact is 
understood, due to furloughed employees that have been made redundant still being 
included in payroll data whilst serving notice periods. 39 However, record high vacancy rates 

Unemployment rates have not 
recorded the significant uplift 
anticipated at the end of the furlough 
scheme. Ongoing review of this 
indicator is however recommended as 
the future position remains uncertain. 

 
33 House of Commons Briefing Paper: Regional and Country Economic Indicators, December 2020, Oxford Economics 
34 In the absence of a reliable and up to date GVA figure, GDP has been used (with GVA being a good proxy for GDP)  
35 House of Commons Briefing Paper: Coronavirus: Economic Impact, September 2021 
36 House of Commons Research Briefing: Regional and National Economic Indicators, November 2021, Oxford Economics. 
37 https://ifs.org.uk/publications/15691 
38 ONS Claimant count by sex and age via Nomis on 14/12/21 
39 PwC UK Economic Outlook December 2021 

P
age 143



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

15 
 

might minimise the number of people registered as unemployed after being made 
redundant.40 
Unemployment could still increase at the start of 2022 as more people return to the labour 
market and the effects of the end of furlough are felt, according to recent Institute of Fiscal 
Studies insights.41 

Redundancy level 
expected to increase, 
Summer/ Autumn 2021 
 
 

While in September to November 2020 the recorded level of redundancies in the UK was at 
the highest since records began at 402,000, data for June-August 2021 suggests there were 
99,000 redundancies, below pre-pandemic levels. In the North East from September to 
November 2020, redundancies peaked at 14,000 whereas the most recent figures for 
August-October 2021 are 4,000 redundancies.  

The anticipated uplift in redundancies 
has not materialised. There does, 
however, remain scope for figures to 
rise over coming months as 
redundancies work through the data.   

Business Base 

Many hospitality and 
leisure related business 
were anticipated not to 
reopen due to Covid-19 
impacts 
 

Hospitality has been one of the sectors most affected by lockdowns and government 
restrictions throughout the coronavirus pandemic. The hospitality sector adapted to the 
changing restrictions, with the proportion of businesses temporarily closed in the UK falling 
from 81% in the spring 2020 lockdown to 54% in the early 2021 lockdown42. Across the UK 
the restaurant net openings/closures per year for 2019 was -4.5% (-273 units net change), 
while in 2020 the net change was -11.2% (-670 units net change)43. Between March 2020 
and the end of May 2021, Britain had 9,379 fewer licensed premises, representing a decline 
of 8.1% compared to the pre-COVID total.44 
Despite the challenges faced, between 2019 and 2021 the number of businesses in the 
accommodation and food and arts, entertainment and recreation sectors, has continued to 
grow in County Durham, with business counts up by 155, an uplift of 10.3%, above the 
growth in businesses seen across the region (+6.1%) and nationally (+5.1%). 
This is in line with employment data between 2019 and 2020 for County Durham where 
employment in accommodation and food service activities sector saw an uplift of 2,000 job, 
while nationally the sector declined by 7%.  

While data on the number of business 
closures for CD is not available, data 
on both business counts and 
employment show a positive picture 
for the sector, with a growing number 
of businesses and employment 
compared to the pre-pandemic level. 
Keeping a check on trends as trading 
conditions continue to present a 
challenge for the sector will however 
remain prudent.  

An increase in new 
starts and re-configured 
businesses anticipated 

In County Durham, the number of start-ups has increased from 1,710 in 2019 to 1,840 in 
2020 while business start-ups as a proportion of the business base has increased from 
12.4% to 12.6% (above the regional and national rate, of 12.3% and 12.1% respectively) in 
line with the prediction of an increase in new starts. 

An increase in start-ups has been 
recorded, as anticipated.  

Tourism, 
hospitality, and 
culture 

Expected to recover 
strongly in 2022, and 
possibly the second half 
of 2021 

The sector has begun to recover from Spring 2021 as restrictions have eased, although the 
sector is still performing below pre-Covid-19 levels.45 UKHospitality’s chief executive states 
“The anticipation was that the recovery would have been stronger than it has been”, “It 
underlines the fragility of the sector. Businesses are not operating at full capacity and full 
strength.”46 

Sector forecasts remain positive for 
2022, although recent developments 
with the Omicron coronavirus variant 
might yet impact upon the sector’s 
recovery.  

 
40 Commons Library Briefing Paper: Coronavirus: Impact on the labour market, October 2021 
41 https://ifs.org.uk/publications/15691  
42 ONS, Coronavirus and its impact on UK hospitality: January 2020 to June 2021 
43 PwC Store openings and closures: hospitality and leisure commentary. 
44 UKHospitality & CGA Future Shock Report - Issue Nine - Hospitality: COVID and beyond, July 2021 
45 https://www.ft.com/content/ac6266ed-3977-4d51-88bf-d60768ee8c7a 
46 https://www.ft.com/content/ac6266ed-3977-4d51-88bf-d60768ee8c7a  

P
age 144



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

16 
 

Recent PWC insights from December 2021 suggests that growth in the hospitality sector is 
projected to continue accelerating in a fully opened economy, forecasting growth of between 
16% to 20% in 2022.47  
The tourism sector is forecast to rebound in 2022, with VisitBritian forecasting visits and 
spend to have recovered to around 68% of pre-COVID levels by the end of 2022, although 
forecasts are contingent on travel restrictions not being tightened significantly, as well as a 
gradual return of traveller confidence.48 
Growing recruitment challenges are evident in the hospitality sector, with a rapid increase 
in job vacancies recorded throughout 2021. There were an estimated 165,000 job vacancies 
recorded in the UK in the sector in September to November 2021, with the highest ratio of 
vacancies to 100 employee jobs across all sectors,  around twice the pre-pandemic number 
of vacancies and around 5.7 times the number recorded in the same period a year prior.49 

Health and Care 

Recruitment challenges 
anticipated within the 
sector  

In the UK there has been a persistent shortfall of around 100,000 health workers for 
several years across NHS trusts. Over the past year the number of vacancies has in 
human health and social work sector has risen persistently to 198,000 in the UK in 
September to November 2021, up from 123,000 in the same period in 2020.50  
A thinktank predicts that vacancies in the sector could hit 350,000 by 2030 – leaving one 
in six posts unfilled.51  
During lockdowns new people were attracted to the sector as unemployment rose in the 
hospitality sectors, however this did not continue as restrictions were eased in 
spring/summer 2021 there has been an exodus away from healthcare again, and a return 
to pre-pandemic shortage levels.52  
Skills for Care (an independent charity partnered with the Department of Health and Social 
Care in England) report that vacancies for adult social care roles in England had risen above 
pre-pandemic levels since March 2021 and are anticipated to reach an all time high.53  
The requirement for health and care staff to be vaccinated has generated additional staff 
recruitment and retention challenges.  

Recruitment challenges have been 
reported and are expected to persist, 
exacerbated by demands placed on 
the system by Covid-19 and workers 
leaving the sector due to the 
pressures being placed on them. 

  

 
47 PwC UK Economic Outlook December 2021 
48 https://www.visitbritain.org/2022-tourism-forecast  
49 ONS Vacancies by industry 
50 Ibid. 
51 (https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-care-workforce-england 
52 https://tribepad.com/article/the-6-biggest-challenges-healthcare-recruitment-faces-in-2021/  
53 https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-information/The-state-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx  

P
age 145



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

17 
 

The Impacts of Brexit 

The key impacts of Brexit as considered in the March report have been revisited below, providing an updated position and considering whether predictions have 

been realised and/or whether forecasts remain consistent with the anticipated position at the time the previous report was produced. 

 
Anticipated impact at 
the time of the March 
review 

Updated position / reported trend Summary finding/direction of travel 

Economic 
Output 

Brexit anticipated to 
reduce growth by 1 – 2% 
by 2022 

Recently published insights are consistent with predictions that Brexit will lead to a 
reduction in growth although data is not available for a comparable period. The OBR latest 
forecasts (October 2021) suggest leaving the European Union will reduce GDP by around 
4% in the long run.  

Recent insights are consistent in 
suggesting that growth will be 
restricted although comparable data is 
not available to allow for an updated 
assessment.  

Manufacturing 

Manufacturing sector at 
risk and recruitment 
difficulties anticipated   
 

Brexit has resulted in significant disruption to supply chains for manufacturers during 2021, 
impacting upon the sector.  
In addition, recruitment challenges in the sector have been recorded. There were 93,000 
vacancies recorded in the UK in September to November 2021, up from 43,000 in the same 
period a year ago, with 3.8 vacancies for every 100 employee jobs. In 2019, 11% of workers 
in the sector were EU nationals, with 19% overall born outside the UK, presenting a risk. 
In County Durham between 2019 and 2020, there were 2,500 less people employed in 
manufacturing, representing a decline of 10.0%, compared to 3.6% across the North East 
and 4.2% nationally. However, between 2020 and 2021 the manufacturing business base 
in CD has grown by 5% - an additional 40 businesses.  

Recruitment challenges are impacting 
the manufacturing sector with a 
notable rise in vacancies over the past 
year across the UK. Job losses in the 
sector in County Durham suggest that 
wider challenges are also being faced.  
 

Increased friction for 
companies importing 
and exporting 

Increased trade barriers as a result of leaving the single market and customs union at the 
start of 2021 have resulted in disruptions to both the import and export of goods between 
the UK and the EU, as well as issues around rules of origin which have all impacted upon 
the sector.54 
Insights suggest larger firms have found it easier to adjust and cushion themselves against 
disruption, while small and medium sized enterprises are more likely to have struggled. 
CEO of Make UK, a body that represents manufacturers from the country, outlines how 
British businesses have been coping since Brexit came into play. “[British manufacturers] 
are falling into two groups at the moment,” he says. “Larger companies are generally coping 
with the impact because they have got the resources to be able to work through it. Smaller 
companies, and supply chain companies in particular, don’t have the same resources.”55 
Estimates suggest the additional costs of non-tariff barriers such as filling out import and 
export declarations range from £7.5 billion to £15 billion per year.56 

Businesses are reporting barriers to 
trade with a clear impact evident on 
trade statistics to date. 

 
54 https://www.makeuk.org/insights/reports/trade-and-cooperation-with-the-eu-six-months-on 
55 https://www.investmentmonitor.ai/business-activities/manufacturing/brexit-continues-its-assault-on-uk-manufacturing 
56 https://ukandeu.ac.uk/manufacturing-in-the-post-brexit-world/  

P
age 146



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

18 
 

Survey data reported British manufacturers’ export sales declined, with respondents 
commenting on “difficulties fulfilling orders to existing clients in the EU due to higher costs 
and transportation delays”57 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) data reported in January 2021, goods exported between 
the UK and the EU fell by 40.7% while imports also fell by 28.8%. 

Health and Care 

Problems with 
recruitment as flexible 
labour movements 
across the EU come to 
an end  

The shortfall of health workers has persisted in 2021, with ONS data as presented above 

recording 198,000 vacancies in health and social work sector September to November 
2021, up 61% on the year before. The Health and Care Visa, a fast-track visa scheme 
with a reduced visa fee for health and care worker, has helped to minimise impacts of 
new immigration system. However this has not benefitted the social care sector where the 
majority of social care workers are not eligible for the Health and Care Visa and many will 
fail to meet the salary and skill level thresholds put in place under the new rules. 
Data published in September 202158 shows that 5.4% of NHS staff in England are NHS 
nationals, a proportion that has continued to decline since the 2016 EU referendum. In 
June 2021 there were around 110,000 job vacancies in care in England and more than 3 
in 10 staff are leaving each year59. The care sector continues to have a reliance on EU 
nationals, accounting for more than 104,000 care jobs with fears that staff will continue to 
leave the sector.  
Outside the health and care sector, the challenges Brexit has presented for the food 
production sector and transportation has become increasingly evident since the Evidence 
Review was prepared.  

A series of labour supply challenges 
are now evident in health and care as 
well as wider sectors of the economy.  
 
Although exact figures for the number 
of EU nationals leaving professions 
are not known in many instances, 
there is a concern about the impact 
to date and potential for it to continue 
to grow.  

 

 
57 https://www.ft.com/content/e1a526ba-f1c8-45df-88f1-9aa32fa4af3e  
58 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7783/  
59 https://www.careindustrynews.co.uk/2021/06/what-brexit-means-for-our-valuable-eu-care-workers/  

P
age 147



Economic Review Update Report for County Durham 

19 
 

4     Implications for the March Report Recommendations  

While data presented in this report suggests the impacts on the economy and unemployment in 2021 

may not be as severe as initially feared as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit, and in some 

cases County Durham has reported improved performance, the short term outlook for the economy 

suggests challenges still lie ahead. County Durham has successfully supported communities and 

businesses, as well as securing new investment over the past year, helping to facilitate its economic 

recovery. Long term trends including automation and digitisation, the costs of supporting an ageing 

population and the move to a low carbon economy, do however remain creating both challenges and 

new economic and employment opportunities.  

The recommendations set out in the Economic Review in March 2021 remain valid in light of the 

assessment outlined in the sections above. While limited progress has been made in some areas, the 

overarching priorities for intervention remain unaltered and can be further summarised as follows: 

1. Develop a pipeline of new investment and compete for external funding to deliver new 

investment and jobs  

2. Seek to improve productivity and jobs in key sectors including: 

 Advanced manufacturing and engineering; 

 Logistics and distribution;  

 Digital industries and business services; and 

 Tourism and leisure 

3. Support start-ups as a route into employment and to expand the business base 

4. Enhance connectivity to support places, investments, and employment 

5. Support the rural economy with improvements to connectivity and local services  

6. Use skills, learning and school services to support people of all ages into work 

7. Tackle the multiple determinants of deprivation to support communities and towns 

8. Harness the powers of large anchor institutions to maximise local opportunities 

9. Explore local opportunities in the move to clean energy and zero carbon 

Further consideration of how these points may be actioned will be explored through the Economic 

Strategy development process, including by securing the perspectives of local stakeholders.  

 

Page 148



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 4 

 

County Durham Economic 

Statement 

 

 

 

Page 149



REBUILDING A POWERFUL ECONOMY 
County Durham Economic Statement
 
PURPOSE 
 
Over the coming months we will develop a new Economic Strategy – this Statement sets out 
some headline economic strengths and challenges and a direction for discussion with 
partners and stakeholders across County Durham. This statement and the development of 
the strategy will help us to: 
 
 Balance economic growth with the need to reduce carbon emissions and improve socio-

economic sustainability 
 Define priorities for growth and recovery from Covid-19 
 Take advantage of the opportunities emerging from Brexit 
 Align with the County Durham Vision 2035, which sets the ambition of generating more 

and better jobs across the county by: 
 Delivering a range of accessible employment sites 
 Having a strong, competitive economy and being a premier place to do business 
 Broadening the experience for residents and visitors to the county 
 Ensuring young people have access to good quality education, training, and 

employment 
 Helping people into rewarding work 
 Ensuring fewer people are affected by poverty and deprivation 

 
PROPOSED PRIORITIES 
 
In order to develop this statement and a new Economic Strategy we commissioned a high-
level economic profile of the County which recommended a range of actions for discussion 
and agreement. The recommendations were to: 
 
 Rebuild a powerful economy 
 Develop a pipeline of new investment 
 Improve productivity and jobs in key sectors 
 Support start-ups as a route into employment and to expand our business base 
 Enhance connectivity to support places, investments, and employment 
 Support the rural economy with improvements to connectivity and local services  
 Use skills, learning and school services to support people of all ages into work 
 Tackle the multiple determinants of deprivation to support communities and towns 
 Harness the powers of large anchor institutions to maximising local opportunities 
 Compete for external funding to deliver new investment and jobs 
 
 

Page 150



County Durham Economic Statement 

 
 

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 
 

Economy 

£9 billion 
 

Residents 

533,100 

Jobs 

174,000 

 
Workers 

254,000 
 

Highly Skilled Workers 

101,800 

Self-Employed 

30,100 

 
Average Wages 

£26,495 
 

Students 

18,800 

Businesses 

14,565 

The Gross Value Added (GVA) of our economy has grown by £2.6bn over the last fifteen 
years to £9bn, which is a 44% rate of growth but significantly below the national rate of 
64%. National growth has been driven by the business services sector, which is weaker in 
County Durham. The overall gap between the county’s performance and national 
performance is growing. 
 
At £16,925 our GVA per capita is 56% of the national average of £30,239. If we had matched 
national levels of growth in the last fifteen years it would be around 10% higher at around 
£18,400. It is vital that we attempt to close the gap with national performance in order to 
improve local wages and quality of life. 
 
GVA per capita, which includes the whole population, including children and older people, is 
a measure of the level of prosperity in County Durham. In contrast, GVA per filled job, 
reflects the productivity of the workforce. At 80%, County Durham lags behind the national 
average, but there are strong companies, sectors, and opportunities to close this gap. 
 

Gross Value Added Per Filled Job 

 

£36,884

England

£58,660

£31,000

County Durham

£46,865

£30,000

£35,000

£40,000

£45,000

£50,000

£55,000

£60,000

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

Page 151



County Durham Economic Statement 

 
 

 
Our overall ambition is to support the creation of more and better jobs across the county 
and it is proposed that our high level target is to bridge the gap with national performance 
across the following key measures. This ambition and these measures will be considered 
during the development of the Economic Strategy and as evidence of the economic impacts 
of Covid-19 and Brexit become clearer. 
 

Employment 
 

 
 

County Durham’s employment rate is 
typically 2 to 3 percentage points below the 
national average and a little above the 
regional average. Over the last 3-5 years 
the employment rate has averaged around 
72%. 

Unemployment 
 

 
 

County Durham’s unemployment rate is 
typically around one percentage point 
higher than the national rate but around 
0.5 percentage points lower than the 
regional rate. Over the last 3-5 years the 
rate has averaged around 5.5% but tends 
fluctuate. 

Higher Level Skills 
 

 
 

County Durham has a far lower proportion 
of residents with higher level skills than the 
national average. This means that residents 
have lower wages and less disposable 
income, are less able to secure higher-level 
jobs, and are less innovative than the 
national average. This significantly affects 
the overall performance of the economy. 
Furthermore, this gap between the 
County’s performance and national rates is 
growing. 

71%
74%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

County Durham England

6%

5%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

County Durham England

32%

43%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

County Durham England

Page 152



County Durham Economic Statement 

 
 

Higher Level Occupations 
 

 

Similar to the County’s skills profile, we 
have a lower proportion of higher level 
jobs; those requiring a high level of skill, 
education, and experience. 
Correspondingly, we also have a high 
proportion of routine jobs, which are 
particularly at risk of being automated in 
the medium to long-term future. Lower 
level jobs are also more at risk during 
economic recessions and downturns and 
may involve zero hour contracts where 
work is less secure. 

 
Bridging the performance gap in the employment and unemployment rates will lead to 
more than 10,000 more residents in work. Supporting residents to achieve higher level skills 
and occupations will lead to productivity improvements, wage growth, and new business 
opportunities across the county and more innovation. It will also make the county’s 
economy more stable and more resistant to future economic recessions. 
 
Employment in Key Business Sectors 
 
We have a range of multinational businesses located throughout the County including 
Hitachi Rail Europe, Husqvarna, GlaxoSmithKline, Caterpillar, Ineos, Gestamp, Thorn 
Lighting, and have recently secured a new Amazon Fulfilment Centre.  
 
Our key locational strengths are that we sit between Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley and 
have good north-south national connectivity with the A1M, A19 and East Coast Mainline 
running through the County. The demand for land and premises is greatest in these 
corridors and has seen escalating demand in the last decade or so. We also have numerous 
businesses that have a growing national and international presence that are based in the 
county including Kromek, Elddis, Thomas Swan, GT Group, Atom Bank, Honcho, Great 
Annual Savings, The Banks Group, The Vardy Group, The Esh Group, Crafters Companion, 
and many others. 
 
Our business sector profile differentiates us from many parts of the UK, with manufacturing 
and engineering being a particular strength. The business services sector is under-
represented in our economy and has potential for significant growth, with fintech being a 
niche opportunity. Within the public services we have specific strength in education which 
will be harnessed to support labour market improvements and economic growth. 
 

40%

50%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

County Durham England

Page 153



County Durham Economic Statement 

 
 

 
  
PROPOSED ECONOMIC STRATEGY FRAMEWORK 
 
We have developed a framework to simplify our overall approach to economic growth and 
demonstrate to stakeholders and investors where and how we expect to drive change. We 
will test this framework via the development of the Economic Strategy. 

 
1. People: Supporting people into education, training, jobs, and to excel in business and 

their careers 
2. Prosperity: Supporting business innovation, growth, and higher levels of productivity  
3. Places: Improving places and infrastructure so people and businesses can access 

opportunities 
4. Promotion: Promotion of the County and our assets to visitors, investors, and 

developers 
5. Partnerships: Working in partnership to develop an inclusive, greener economy  
 

County Durham, 
14% County Durham, 

12%

County Durham, 
34%

England, 
8%

England, 
26%

England, 
26%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Manufacturing Business services Public services

2. 

Prosperity

3.

Places

4. 

Promotion

5. 

Partnerships

1. 

People

Page 154



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5 

 

IES Econ-versation  

Feedback Report 

 

 

 

Page 155



County Durham

Inclusive Economic Strategy
Feedback Report for the Big Econ-versation

P
age 156



Overall process

Outline Strategy

May – June 2022

Targetted 

engagement with 

businesses and 

community
June – July 2022

Inclusive Economic 

Strategy

Autumn 2022

Finalise strategy and 

sense-check

Summer/Early Autumn

Feedback Report

April – May 2022

Economic Review & 

Economic Statement

2021

National policy context

121s and engagement 

with Working & 

Steering Groups

March – May 2022

January – April 2022

1

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 157



Big Econ-versation process to date 
• Engaged Gardiner Richardson to lead Big Econ-versation campaign

• Designed survey and developed stakeholder engagement plan
Planning & design

Surveys

Conversations

Feedback Report

Analysis & insights

• 3 surveys: residents, business & young people 

• From 31st January to 22nd April

• Widely publicised and available online and offline

• Brought this together into the Feedback Report – a key input to the 

County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy

• Analysed survey results 

• Developed qualitative insights from free text answers and feedback 

from the conversations

• Conversations with businesses, partnership, anchor institutions and 

partners, and community groups and residents

• Included meetings & events, presentations with Q&A, and workshops 

2

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 158



Summary of the Big Econ-versation

1,455 surveys

completed

70 organisations

and over 1,500 

people engaged 

through conversations

86 conversations

Business, partnerships,  anchor 

institutions & partners, 

community groups & residents & 

DCC staff engaged

Promoted via web,  

social media, bus & 

radio

Inclusive – diverse 

representation and 

online/offline reach

3

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 159



Surveys

4

P
age 160



Approach to surveys

• There were 3 surveys as part of the Big Econ-versation: 

• Residents – covering education, training and jobs; transport and 
digital connectivity; place, town centres and communities; 
tourism; environment and climate change; and services

• Businesses – motivations for basing a business in the county; 
advantages, challenges and barriers in the county; opportunities 
for growth; and climate change

• Young people – understanding their future plans and ambitions; 
jobs and business ideas; values; and barriers to work

5

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 161



Map of respondents

6

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 162



Our Big Econ-versation

Residents survey

7

P
age 163



Overview

8

The majority of respondents were aged 

over 45 

In full time employment Retired

Unemployed In part time work

Full time student Long term sick

Other

Most respondents were in full time 

employment918
residents

responded

63% Female 

36% Male 

1% Non-binary/other

20% of respondents 

identified as disabled 

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 164



Summary

9

1 in 3 respondents have faced 

barriers to good skills training, 

jobs & career progression 

“There are not enough well-

paying, high skilled jobs so many 

people commute for work or 

leave.” 

“There has been a historic lack 

of investment in the area 

compared to other parts of the 

country.”

“Most people I know travel large 

distances to their place of work 

or study, often in other counties.”

More good quality jobs

is a major priority. Skilled people 

are leaving or commuting outside 

the county. Good quality jobs in 

the county are often inaccessible 

to local people.

Public transport

is a major priority. The main barrier to 

economic opportunities

especially for rural communities.

33%

67%

Approx. one quarter of disabled 

respondents work full-time, compared to 

over half of non-disabled respondents 

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 165



Quality of education, training and jobs

10

The survey asked about access to good quality education, 
training, jobs and career development in County Durham. 
6 in 10 residents agreed or strongly agreed that they had 
access to good quality schools and education facilities.

Residents were mixed about whether they have access to:

Agree or strongly 

agree 

Disagree or strongly 

disagree

A variety of good jobs 36% 36%

Good training & apprenticeships 34% 28%

Good opportunities for career 

advancement
37% 29%

Asked for comment on the reason for their 

response, residents said: 

“There’s not enough good public transport links to 

get to training and skills centres.”

“There are too few good jobs available. Skilled 

people have to commute to County Durham or 

outside of the County.”

“Re-training options for the older generation are 

poor, and for career development opportunities 

there are not enough day time courses.” 

“There’s been little investment in the area for 

years, town centres and business are failing.”

Data reported is from question 1 of the Residents’ Survey. 

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 166



Improving town centres, leisure and retail

When asked what they felt was most important to improve 

town centres, 70% of residents reported a more attractive 

environment and fewer vacant shops; 63% said a greater 

choice of shops and 41% said more local and specialist 

shops.

Data reported is from question 7 of the Residents’ Survey.
11

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

• Many residents said they would like to see investment 

in town centres and high streets.

• They also said more events would improve the local 

leisure and recreational offer.

• Many residents said they would like to see investment 

in public transport and active travel to improve 

connectivity around the county

• Increased parking facilities was also noted as a way to 

improve town centre accessibility

P
age 167



Future priorities

12

Important or very important

Improving town centres 93%

Training the workforce 91%

Supporting an ageing population 90%

Improving public transport 86%

Retaining young people 85%

Attracting higher paying jobs 83%

Improving digital infrastructure/broadband 82%

Encouraging entrepreneurship 78%

Focusing on the green economy/Climate Change 76%

Increasing & improving tourism offer 70%

Recovering from COVID-19 69%

Building new homes 46%

Residents were asked to rate their priorities for 

the future across a range of areas.

The following 3 areas came out as top priorities 

for the future, with over 90% of respondents 

rating them as as either important or very 

important:

• Improving town centres

• Training the workforce

• Supporting an ageing population

Data reported is from question 10 of the Residents’ Survey.

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 168



Climate change

Almost half of residents rated focusing on the green economy and climate change as very important. The top 3 areas seen as 
important or very important for reducing climate change were: housing energy efficiency; reuse, recycling and compost; and 
businesses using local suppliers. Some saw the green economy as an opportunity, but others said they wanted a measured 
approach that protected jobs and other priorities. Increased use of electric cars and more working from home were areas where 
residents were less keen to make changes to their everyday lives. 

"Eco changes are vital. Schools need to lead the way in 

raising awareness and teaching environmental 

responsibility."

"We need to lead the way in renewable energy 

infrastructure, EV charging points, heat pumps in homes, 

insulation, better public transport including more train 

services."

"We need more green jobs and must retrain those in 

carbon-heavy industries. Change is needed but not at the 

cost of people's livelihoods."

Important or very 

important

Making housing energy efficiency 92%

Reuse, recycling, and composting 91%

Businesses using local suppliers 91%

Maximising use of renewable energy 89%

Minimising energy use/reducing pollution 87%

Improving public transport and increasing public 

transport use
83%

Reducing commuting distance for workers 71%

Increased use of electric vehicles where possible 59%

Encouraging more working from home 57%

Data reported is from question 11 of the Residents’ Survey.
13

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 169



Our Big Econ-versation

Business survey

14

P
age 170



Overview

Other services

Manufacturing

Arts

Professional and technical

Education
Financial and 

insurance

Wholesale and 

retail

Administrative

Construction

Human health 

and social 

work

Real estate 

activities

Charity 

sector

Information and 

communication

Public administration and defence

Sector of operation

94
businesses

responded

Number of employees

Less than 10 10 to 49

50 to 249 250+

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Less than 1

year

Between 1

and 10

years

Between 10

and 25

years

More than

25 years

Length of business operation

15

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 171



Summary

Raising capital
Was the rates as the biggest 

challenge faced by start ups

A skilled workforce

Was viewed as the best way to 

improve productivity

Skills, digital & 

transport 

infrastructure
Was seen as the key to economic 

growth

“My business is in County Durham 

because I am proud of where I live. ”

- Small education sector business

“We have a good network and 

infrastructure for supporting 

businesses here.”

- Large services business
Major negative impact Minor negative impact

Little or no impact Minor positive impact

Major positive impact

One third of businesses surveyed said that 

Covid-19 has had a major negative impact on 

the county

16

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 172



Advantages of being in County Durham

17

“Fantastic loyal 

people to hire.”

“Attractive built 

environment.”

“Well resourced business 

support in the region.”

“Access to two main 

centres of population in 

Teesside and Tyneside.”

“Good support 

network for small 

businesses.”

“Beautiful 

countryside.”

When asked about the advantages of being in the county, businesses highlighted local people, quality of life, good business 

support and networks, and the transport links and location.

Data reported is from question 6 of the Business Survey.  

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 173



Challenges of being in County Durham

18

“Far too many out of town 

retail parks and large 

supermarkets.”

“Passing footfall is low –

the high street is really 

run down.”

“Distance from rest of 

industry in the South.”

“Impression outside area of 

pits and industrial past.”

“Finding suitable premises that 

are central and accessible.”

“Lack of highest grade 

skills.”

“A1 seems to be forever 

congested.”

“Economic/Financial 

powerhouses in Newcastle 

and Leeds.”

“Lack of critical mass of companies 

in R&D.”

One of the main challenges identified by businesses was investment, particularly accessing growth finance and support for staff 

skills training. Other businesses mentioned skills shortages, employment space, perceptions of the county, low innovation, and 

deprivation and town centre decline. 

Data reported is from question 7 of the Business Survey.  

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 174



Improving productivity

19

Businesses were asked what would improve the productivity of their workforce: 45% highlighted the availability of a suitably 

skilled workforce, 40% identified transport and 38% chose access to finance. Of the 21% that selected ‘other’, some 

respondents referred to business support and networking, and access to employment sites and land.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Improving staff health and wellbeing

Increasing automation

Reducing your carbon emissions

Investing in new equipment

Investing in IT infrastructure

Upskilling your workforce

New premises or improvements to existing premises

Access to finance

Improved transport infrastructure

Availability of a suitably skilled workforce

Data reported is from question 9 of the Business Survey.  

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 175



Future growth sectors

20

Many businesses see manufacturing as a future growth sector for the economy, highlighting green, renewables and electric 

vehicles. Tourism also featured, as well as financial services and digital.

“Health – this region has numerous 

examples of companies pulling 

together through the pandemic.”

- Small manufacturing business

“There is substantial 

expertise in biotech and 

health in our universities.”

- Small technical and scientific business

“Green engineering and 

manufacturing services.”

- Large financial services business

Data reported is from question 11 of the Business Survey.  

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 176



Opportunities for growth

21

“There is huge scope to grow 

supporting government 

initiatives and employer need.”

- Large education sector business

“The opportunities in skilled 

manufacture for the green 

economy are enormous.”

- Small technical and scientific business

“We hope that an environmental 

focus will encourage people to 

shop locally.”

- Small retail business

“Support tech training in colleges 

and create start-up tech culture.”

- Small information and 

communication business

“Understand spinouts and 

high-tech businesses – give 

them a hand to get going!”

- Small technical and scientific business

“Support networking and put 

me in contact with people who 

can support my business.”

- Small services business

Growth

The environment and green economy are seen as major opportunities for growth. Businesses also highlighted the importance 

of business support and networks, particularly for small businesses.

Data reported is from question 12 of the Business Survey.  

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 177



Our Big Econ-versation

Young people survey

22

P
age 178



Overview

The majority of respondents were aged between 11 and 16:

443
young people

responded

49% Female 

45% Male

6% non-binary or other Most respondents lived near larger towns

23

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 179



Summary

“I'd like to go to a University outside 

of the County as I would like to 

study something vocational & the 

University here is very academic.”

“I don’t know where I want to live; it 

will depend on work opportunities 

but I’d like to stay in Durham near my 

family and friends.”

“Being happy and inspiring others 

are the most important things about 

work”

More employment opportunities

Wider choice of education/training courses

More market leading employers

More work experience/apprenticeship opportunities

More equal opportunities

Other

Don't know

What support young people would like 

to help them pursue their chosen 

career or business idea…

Go to university 

The most common aspiration 

for young people post-school/six form 

c. 57%
of those who plan to go to a 

university, said they would go to 

one outside of the county

54%
said they could not or are unsure 

they could pursue their chosen 

career or business idea in the county

67%
said ‘doing something interesting’ 

mattered more than pay or 

location when choosing a career

24

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 180



Next steps after full-time education

Young people were asked about their plans after leaving full-

time education:

• Almost one third of young people surveyed wanted to go 

to university

• Almost a quarter thought they would do an 

apprenticeship

• About one in five thought they would go into full-time 

employment

Of those that ticked ‘Other’, many respondents said 

‘College’, reflecting the younger age of some respondents 

with 37% aged 15-16 years and 36% aged 11-14.

% of respondents

University 32%

Don’t know 25%

Apprenticeship 23%

Full time employment 21%

Travel 10%

Other 6%

Data reported is from question 1 of the Youth Survey.  
25

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 181



Future jobs and business ideas

More support for girls and LGBTQ+ people, particularly in the science industries.

A wider choice of courses and opportunities to speak to entrepreneurs.

Better awareness around available opportunities in the county, work experience and 

apprenticeships through advertisements and job events.

Better connections to large, international companies, and attracting them to locate in the 

county.

Young people were asked about their future plans. They provided a wide range of jobs and business ideas, including teaching, 

working in public services, construction, law and the creative sector. However, the response to whether they thought they 

could get this job or start this business in County Durham was mixed, with 43% unsure. In response to what young people felt 

is needed in County Durham to help them get a job or start a business idea, suggestions included:

Data reported is from question 2 and 3 of the Youth Survey.  
26

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 182



Motivations for choosing a career

Money you earn
Doing something 

interesting

67%

Location and transport 

issues

11%57%

Others were motivated by job quality and culture, suggesting that ‘being treated equally’ and 

‘enjoying what you do’ were the most important things in work.

Young people were asked which aspect of work were most important to them when considering a job.

Data reported is from question 4 of the Youth Survey.  
27

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 183



Barriers to work

When asked what barriers to work young people face after 
leaving school/college or training, the most common 
response was a lack of experience.

% of respondents

Lack of experience 41%

Lack of local jobs 28%

Physical or mental health 27%

Too much competition for jobs 26%

Lack of qualifications 26%

Young people highlighted:

• The need for better awareness of work 

experience and apprenticeships

• More collaboration between businesses and 

education providers 

This will ensure young people know what paths are 

available for them and can become work ready.

Data reported is from question 7 of the Youth Survey.  
28

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 184



Conversations

29

P
age 185



Overview

Business

Start Up Providers Network

Visit County Durham Board

North East Federation of Small Businesses

North East England Chamber of Commerce

North East LEP

Engineering & Manufacturing Network

House Builders Federation

Business Durham Network

Partnerships

Health & Wellbeing Board

Resilient Communities Group

Place, Health & Communities Board

Housing Forum

County Durham Together Partnership

County Durham Economic Partnership Board

Poverty Action Steering Group

Climate Emergency Board

Net Zero Carbon Board

LA7

County Durham Association of Local Councils

Anchor institutions & partners

Durham County Council Members and officers

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust

Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust

Bernicia

Believe Housing

DAHMA

Livin

Karbon Homes

North Star Housing

Community groups & residents

Voluntary & Community Sector Group

Community Champions

Digital Durham Board

County-wide and regional organisations86
conversations

1,500
people engaged in total

And over

70
organisations engaged 

(Business: 21, 

Partnerships: 14, Anchor 

institutions & partners: 

15; Community groups & 

residents: 20)

with

30

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 186



Tackling poverty and levelling up

A complex, multifaceted challenge

• It was widely recognised that deprivation has a wide range of causes. However, there was a view that efforts 
to date have focused more on addressing the consequences of poverty rather than its causes.

• Many noted that there are economic disparities within as well as between communities in the 
county. Investment is needed in smaller towns and villages.

• The cost of living crisis will make the task of levelling up the county even more difficult.

A long-term, holistic approach is needed

• Need to build the economic resilience of the county so it can better withstand future crises and tackle the 
root causes of poverty.

• The economic strategy needs to go beyond a focus on business and jobs and include actions that focus on 
skills, health, housing, connectivity, and community wealth building.

• In order to level up we need to focus on improving digital connectivity and skills levels, the health, education 
and skills levels of the local population, public transport connectivity and the quality of housing and 
affordability.

31

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 187



Creating better jobs 

County Durham needs more and better jobs

• Concerns around low-paid and insecure work and the impact of these on deprivation and mental health.

• Creating more well-paid and secure jobs seen as crucial to increasing local employment, life chances, wealth, 

the retention and attraction of talent, inward investment and overall growth.

High value industry

• County Durham needs to build on its existing strengths in high value industries, including manufacturing, 

energy, digital, financial and business services, and supporting business and jobs growth.

• Supply chain support and investment in innovation and automation is required to grow the manufacturing 

sector.

• More innovation and business scale up programmes with neighbouring areas – Yorkshire and the Scottish 

borders – to support the growth of high value sectors.

32

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 188



Improving skills provision for all

A more flexible skills and training offer

• There was a sense that employers are not willing to employ older residents, and many noted the need for 

more upskilling opportunities for those already in employment and older residents.

• More support is required to raise the aspiration of younger residents and for them to have suitable 

experience for work. 

• There should be a greater focus on building digital and transferrable skills to keep options open in a changing 

job market.

A tailored offer for vulnerable groups

• Concerns around equality of opportunity, especially for those from more deprived backgrounds and 

vulnerable groups.

• There should be a tailored offer for vulnerable groups, including those with special educational needs and 

disabilities, and the long-term unemployed.

33

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 189



Supporting businesses to thrive and grow

An unstable economic context, creating challenges for local businesses

• Businesses are experiencing challenges around recruitment with fewer people applying for jobs, and regulatory 

changes caused by leaving the EU. 

• Low business start up rates in the county due to a limited skills pipeline and lack of suitable employment space.

• The cost of living crisis is impacting businesses as well as residents, with rising overheads and contracted profits, 

especially in some sectors such as tourism.

Businesses need both short-term and longer-term support

• Support is required to help businesses through the cost of living crisis and navigate the impacts of Brexit.

• Focus on retaining graduates, attracting talent into the county and encouraging previous residents to relocate or 

invest in the county.

• High quality office and industrial space with improved connectivity to key employment sites to attract workers 

and maximise supply chain opportunities.

• Ensuring investment benefits local businesses, for instance by creating supply chain opportunities.

34

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 190



Reviving town centres and neighbourhoods

Concerns around town centre decline in most towns and villages

• Consultees referred to diminishing footfall, vacant units, a low quality retail and leisure offer 

• Acknowledgement of the significant investment in town centres, but felt that little had changed.

• Young people highlighted that more could be done to make a range of environmental improvements in their 

areas such as reducing pollution, litter and dog fouling, and creating better parks and public spaces.

Reimagining and repurposing town centres

• A broader offer is needed with a mix of services, local shops and bigger employers, as well as a daytime and 

night-time offer. Many respondents mentioned the need for more events, markets and festivals.

• There was interest in repurposing empty units via ‘pop-up’ use schemes and more flexible tenancies, and for 

mixed use. 

• Financial support is needed for local businesses that are interested in relocating to town centres.

• To bring people back into town centres, some consultees spoke about centres being more accessible through 

increased transport links and more parking.

35

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 191



Improving transport and digital connectivity 

Poor connectivity creates barriers to accessing opportunities

• Poor transport links were reported in many parts of the county, especially rural areas, with infrequent, 

unreliable and costly services. 

• There are concerns that poor transport is affecting the skills and employment prospects of younger 

residents, especially in rural areas, and contributing to town centre decline.

• Home-working creates opportunities for people to work in the county but this requires upgraded digital 

infrastructure and consistent provision across the country.

A focus on public transport and improved digital connectivity

• Consultees prioritised more transport links to employment centres and town and village centres.

• People were open to embracing greener transport through more and better public transport links, and active 

travel schemes.

• Rollout of 5G and superfast broadband to all parts of the county was seen as key to support businesses and 

innovation.

36

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 192



Promoting the county

Challenges around retaining local talent and businesses

• County Durham has lots to offer but is currently underselling itself in terms of both inward migration and 
investment.

• It struggles to retain local talent and attract highly skilled migrants, which affect local growth and wealth 
building. 

• Business start-up rates and survival rates are low.

• Cultural and positive perception of place were seen as important to creating an attractive lifestyle offer to 
attract new residents to the region.

Promoting County Durham

• County Durham has a beautiful natural environment, diverse mix of city, towns, countryside and coast, a 
positive quality of life, and strong cultural and heritage offer. These should be selling points of the county.

• Important to promote and grow key sectors, especially in manufacturing and renewables, to attract 
investment and talent.

• The county’s strong tourism offer, culture and heritage provide opportunities to increase the numbers of 
visitors and create related opportunities for businesses.

37

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 193



What does this tell us

38

P
age 194



Lessons for the Inclusive Economic Strategy

• Residents, businesses and stakeholders were proud of County Durham for its beautiful natural landscapes, culture, 

heritage, people, innovative businesses and sectors, and saw many opportunities for county, including net zero, 

manufacturing, knowledge intensive sectors, and tourism.

• But many spoke of inequalities in the county with higher levels of deprivation and crime, declining town centres, and a 

lack of opportunity in some areas. Many also voiced concerns over the availability of good jobs and the ability for local 

people to access these, whether due to poor public transport or not having the right skills and work experience.

• This indicates that potential areas of focus for the Inclusive Economic Strategy include:

• Supporting business growth and job creation, particularly in opportunity sectors

• Improving public transport and access to facilities

• Developing a lifelong learning offer for residents

• Improving the health of residents and workers

• Promoting County Durham

• Building on recent investments to regenerate and reimagine town centres

• Transitioning to net zero through a just, flexible and innovative approach that creates new jobs and safeguards 

existing ones

39

Introduction Surveys
Residents 

survey
Business 
survey

Young people 
survey

Conversations
What does 
this tell us

P
age 195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 6 

 

Response to Economy and 

Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 197



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 198



1 

 

Responses to Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E&EOSC) comments on the Draft Inclusive 

Economic Strategy 

The draft County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES) was presented to the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (EEOSC) on Monday 7th November 2022, this was a final presentation of the strategy before the Council’s Cabinet 

meeting in December 2022 following and followed a series of updates on the IES evidence and findings during 2021 and 2022 .  

This was a helpful session with constructive and robust feedback from Council Members. Following this meeting, written comments 

were sent to the Corporate Director of Regeneration Economy and Growth from the Committee secretary on behalf of the chair and 

vice chair of the committee.  

The table below sets out a record of the comments from the committee and provides a response which articulates how this 

feedback has been reflected and or integrated within the Inclusive Economic Strategy document and the next steps of the delivery 

planning . 

Number Comment Response 

Engagement/Consultation process 

1 It was felt that Overview and Scrutiny should have been 
involved earlier in relation to the development of the 
consultation process and the development of the 
Inclusive Economic Strategy to confirm the priorities of 
residents, partners and businesses and detail of the 
barriers to creating economic growth. 

Overview and Scrutiny play a key role in the 
development of plans and strategies. Members will 
received a presentation to E&EOSC in December 2021 
that set out the findings of the Independent Economic 
Review and Economic Statement, which provided the 
foundations to develop the Strategy.  On 4 March 2022 
during the Econ-versation members of E&EOSC were 
asked for their views on what should be included in the 
IES. The findings of the Econ-versation were then 
presented to OSC on 28 June 2022 when members 
were asked to sense check what had been received.  
The draft IES was brought to E&EOSC November 2022 
for feedback to help shape the final draft 
 
E&EOSC will continue to have a key role in the future 
preparation of the IES Delivery Plan including the 

P
age 199



2 

 

opportunity to input into draft plans prior to submission 
to the Councils cabinet later in 2023. 
 

2 Concern about the numbers engaged with during the 
consultation including the ‘Big Econ-versation’ and that 
the strategy had moved forward on a poor evidence 
base.  
 
Concern that in relation to engagement with limited 
companies the figure was low with 0.24% engaging as 
part of the consultation process. 

The Big Econ-versation reached over 3,000 people 
across the county, and was undertaken between 31 
January and 22 April 2022, with significant focus on 
maximising engagement.   
 
A total of 1,455 surveys were completed during the Big 
Econ-versation, including 918 residents, 94 businesses 
and 443 young people from across the county (the 
distribution of responses is shown in the map attached). 
The 3 surveys for residents, businesses and young 
people were available online and offline, and paper 
copies of the survey were available for people to fill in at 
physical events, as well as in libraries and customer 
access points.  
 
The Big Econ-versation was also widely promoted with 
press releases, social media, case studies, a radio 
advert for Smooth NE, bus panels and digital media etc.  
 
We held 86 events, attended by over 1,500 people. 
Conversations were held with a diverse range of groups 
to ensure that the process was as inclusive as possible. 
This included business, partnerships, anchor institutions 
and partners, and community groups and residents. 
 
The Big Econ-versation demonstrates our ongoing 
commitment to engaging with residents, businesses and 
organisations across the county. Extensive engagement 

P
age 200



3 

 

will continue through the development of the Delivery 
Plan and implementation of the strategy.  
 
In terms of ensuring a robust evidence base, in 
December 2021, Cabinet approved the Economic 
Review which was completed by Ekosgen consultants. 
The review gives a detailed assessment of the County 
Durham economy based on the most up-to-date data 
and makes a number of recommendations which have 
informed the IES. This provides a robust evidence base 
that underpins the IES. 

3 It was questioned as to the level of engagement during 
the consultation process with businesses and 
companies led by women.  A large proportion of SMEs 
in the county are led by women.  Need to ensure that 
the strategy document reflects this particular element of 
diversity. 

The role of women in business is extremely important, 
and the Council is committed to a clear diversity and 
inclusion agenda. Whilst this inclusivity is a core theme 
running throughout the strategy we have now included 
reference to creating more jobs and opportunities in all 
parts of the county across the business base and 
sectors, including amongst female entrepreneurs and 
women-owned businesses. (see p. 29 of the IES) 

4 Feedback from officers present confirmed that there 
was detailed engagement feedback that had informed 
the draft strategy and suggested that this could be 
circulated to E&EOSC 

We produced a detailed Feedback Report, which is an 
overarching summary of the findings and messages 
from the Big Econ-versation. This will be an appendix to 
the December Cabinet report. DCC officers can circulate 
event templates if required 

Strategy 

5 A lot of what is in the strategy has been mentioned 
previously with the only additions the use of the word 
inclusive and an emphasis on the green economy. 

The IES is a significant new piece of work, based on a 
detailed evidence base, engagement process and 
developed in partnership.  
 
The underpinning evidence and data has been widely 
communicated with E&EOSC and this means that the P

age 201



4 

 

evidence base that has informed the plan has been a 
regular dialogue with committee.  
 
The IES is a ‘living’ and long term plan which seeks to 
support County Durham’s economy. There is already a 
lot to be proud of in our county including a substantial 
investment programme. However persistent challenges 
such as the productivity gap continue to be an issue. 
The plan therefore identifies new areas of focus and 
also seeks to sweat the benefits from existing plans 
including a more integrated approach. This integrated 
approach includes a focus on the positive relationship 
between on inclusive economies and green agendas  
 
 

6 Concern that the strategy is a partnership strategy 
owned by the CDEP and what control/ influence DCC 
would be able to exercise in relation to the delivery of 
actions in the Delivery Plan. 

DCC has established with its partners the County 
Durham Partnership Board which includes a number of 
thematic partnership boards. For the economy this is the   
County Durham Economic Partnership Board.  
 
DCC has control over its own activity, however a 
positive approach has been taken which acknowledges 
that economic growth can only be delivered as an 
ecosystem with partners and stakeholders working in 
collaboration, maximising the resources and levers 
available locally.  
 
DCC’s cabinet approves the IES and any subsequent 
delivery plans.  
 

P
age 202



5 

 

7 There was a lack of direction within the strategy on, 
which Green Industries would/could be targeted for 
development in Co Durham. 

The green economy is an emerging sector which is still 
being fully defined, and it should also be noted there is 
no SIC for the green economy and therefore job 
numbers must be estimated. The green economy is 
identified as a specialist growth area for County Durham 
and supporting its growth will be a key priority of the 
delivery plan.  
 
It should be noted that we already have a number of 
growing businesses in this sector, such as Power Roll, 
who provide solar panel film technology based at the 
Council’s Jade Business Park. We are also incredibly 
proud that the globally renowned Earthshot Prize short 
list includes an innovative company called Low Carbon 
Materials who are also based at Jade. 
 

8 The strategy references Durham University as a major 
partner which members generally agreed with although 
there were concerns at the accessibility of the 
University to County Durham students which reflected 
existing educational attainment and high entry 
requirements. It was also important to try to retain 
Durham Graduates within County Durham to increase 
GVA/earning potential. 

Durham University (DU) are a key Member of the CDEP. 
Beyond the partnership DU have a number of partner 
projects with DCC such as NETPark and most recently 
supporting the delivery of the new business school. 
  
DU  have been influential in the development of the IES. 
and DCC has an ambitious MOU in place with the 
University which includes a commitment around working 
together to improve learning and skills provision (see 
p.16 of the IES).  
 
The IES has sought to reflect the views of the O&SEE 
with an overarching focus on providing more and better 
jobs in the local economy and improving graduate 
retention (see p. 23). One of the priorities under People 
in the IES is to raise skills levels (see p. 24)  

P
age 203



6 

 

 

9 Need to ensure that the strategy makes reference to 
the 2021 census results/information and that changes 
are made to the strategy document to reflect relevant 
information contained in the census. 

As the Census data is published, the most up to date 
data will be used to inform the Delivery Plan and will be 
used to refresh the IES as a live document. 

10 Need to support working from home by creating access 
to hubs which will have the correct environment and 
facilities to support home working. 

This is a huge opportunity for County Durham and have 
referenced this both in our Economic Vision (see p. 6 of 
the IES) and in our priority around enhancing digital 
infrastructure and connectivity (see p. 34). The high 
quality of life in the county needs to be matched with 
high quality broadband and good quality housing and 
attractive towns and villages. We also need to ensure 
local people have the digital skills they need to access 
jobs, education, and public services – and facilities. This 
can also offset some of the transport challenges faced 
across the county. Digital connectivity and supporting 
home and flexible working are key priorities in the IES 
and will form a key strand in the Delivery Plan. 

11 Concern that with the high occupancy levels of 
business units in the county and the current pause on 
capital investment will result in a lack of units/premises 
for future business use. 

Private sector interest in the county is high despite the 
challenging economic conditions. The county is a 
competitive location compared to other places in the 
country where land and property values are high and 
may be prohibitive to investors and businesses. 
We need to continue to provide new employment land 
and premises, and have identified significant strategic 
employment sites in the County Durham Plan. Planning 
permission has recently been awarded for Jade Phase 
2, a Levelling Up bid has been submitted for the 
Bowburn relief road that will unlock phase 2 of Integra 
61, Aykley Heads is due to be taken to the market in 
2023, and the Council are committed to funding and 
delivering phase 3 of NETPark.  

P
age 204



7 

 

 
To reflect E&EOSC feedback we  have included a map 
with future strategic employment sites (see p. 15 of the 
IES) and will also incorporate existing employment sites 
in the final IES in response to helpful suggestions of 
OSC to reflect our already strong existing county-wide 
employment base. 

12 Need to ensure that the strategy continues to progress 
social value and the County Durham Pound initiative. 

 
It is extremely important to ensure the success and 
momentum of the County Durham Pound initiative.  
 
In response to this point we have included further 
references to the County Durham Pound upfront in the 
introduction (see p. 11 of the IES). To recognises this 
importance, we have added a more detailed reference in 
the Economic Performance section (see p. 18) and have 
strengthened the first action under the good business 
practices priority under Productivity (p. 30) to refer to 
how we could go further to leverage the collective power 
of anchor institutions. 
 
 

13 Concern that the strategy does not include a future 
employment site across the East of the county. 

It is important that we support business growth across 
the whole county.  
 
To reflect this the feedback from E&EOSC we highlight 
that phase 2 of the Jade Business Park has recently 
been awarded planning permission providing 500,000 
sq ft of new employment space alongside various 
redevelopment opportunities in various parts of East 
Durham. We have included reference to this in the map 
on p. 15 of the IES. 

P
age 205



8 

 

14 Suggestion that a further P (poverty) should be added 
to the Strategy. 

The IES will also complement the Council’s recently 
adopted Poverty Action Plan, by creating a more 
inclusive economy where people are able to contribute 
to and benefit from economic growth and prosperity. 
The priorities and actions included in the IES will 
address the causes of poverty.  

15 Concern about the level of funding from the UKSPF 
compared to the amount of EU funding County Durham 
received previously. Where will the funding come from 
to deliver the various actions within the Delivery Plan. 

County Durham’s share of UKSPF is less than the 
European Structural Funding it will replace, and the 
transition will be a challenge. However, UKSPF also 
offers opportunities by allowing investment decisions to 
be taken locally, and the process of developing the 
Investment Plan has drawn partners together to explore 
new ways of working. Investments that DCC have made 
in sites and infrastructure means that the county is well 
placed to attract private investors which will offset any 
reductions in public investment. 

16 Concern that in relation to ‘People’ element of the 
framework, that the structures need to be in place for 
conversations to take place between the key players in 
relation to skill requirements and development in the 
county.  We need to ensure that the skills developed 
meet employers’ skill requirements. How will this be 
achieved?  

This is an important point to consider in the delivery of 
the IES. 
 
We continue to work closely with businesses and 
employers to facilitate closer relationships with schools, 
colleges, and universities. These partners have all been 
involved in shaping the IES and will be crucial to its 
delivery.  
 
The agreed economic vision will allow us to clearly 
identify where there are skills shortages and the jobs of 
the future so that our training can align to these. The 
Delivery Plan will be developed through working groups 
focusing on each theme, and the People theme will 
consider in detail how we ensure these do align in the 
future. 

P
age 206



9 

 

 
The IES has reflected this through both the people and 
partnerships strands  

17 Need for schools to have in place good quality and 
timely careers advice which can be accessed at an 
earlier age by pupils in secondary schools. How will this 
be achieved? 

This is essential to the future of our economy going 
forwards and this was one of the main messages from 
the Big Econ-versation.  
 
We work closely with schools and colleges to raise the 
awareness of business needs and the Delivery Plan will 
set out new ways of working to improve careers advice 
and build on relationships with businesses and work 
experience to inspire our young people.   
 

18 Will all Co Durham colleges/training bodies be involved 
in delivering the new skills and opportunities that the 
strategy (hope) aims to deliver. How will this be 
achieved and by who? 

We will engage with a broad range of education and 
training providers to co-ordinate activity and address 
gaps in provision through the County Durham Economic 
Partnership and other regional and thematic 
partnerships. 

19 County Durham needs to develop a skills strategy. This important point is reflected as an action under the 
raising skill levels priority under People (see p. 24 of the 
IES). A revised Skills Strategy will be one of the 
daughter strategies developed through the Delivery 
Plan. 

20 There is a need for the Strategy to ensure that in 
addition to industry being located on various strategic 
and industrial sites throughout the county that it also 
provides the opportunity for industry to be located in our 
towns and villages. (Ex Brownfield Industrial Sites) 

In addition to major strategic employment sites the 
Council actively encourages and develops small to 
medium sized employment sites across the county, in 
addition to existing office and industrial units through 
Business Durham. 
 
The IES will also be used to launch a developer’s forum 
to encourage investors, developers and property agents 
to consider opportunities in town and village centres in 

P
age 207



10 

 

line with changing business practices and ways of 
working. 

21 The access to public transport in the county is essential 
particularly in relation to the remote and rural parts of 
the county to enable residents to access employment 
opportunities. 

This was one of the main messages that emerged from 
the Big Econ-versation, and we have included improving 
physical connectivity as a priority under Places (see p. 
33 of the IES).  
 
Access to employment, including through public 
transport, will be specifically addressed through a 
Connectivity Strategy which will be one of the daughter 
strategies developed through the Delivery Plan.  

22 The need to ensure that all areas in the county have IT 
connectivity to facilitate working from home for 
residents, micro businesses and for SMEs in the 
county. 

Enhancing digital infrastructure and connectivity is a key 
priority and is addressed under the Places theme (see 
p. 34 of the IES). It will be specifically addressed 
through a Connectivity Strategy which will be one of the 
daughter strategies developed through the Delivery 
Plan.  

23 Concern as to whether the National Power 
infrastructure has the necessary capacity to support 
new ways of working as reflected in the bullet point 
above.  

We are working with Northern Powergrid to discuss 
power requirements in line with our growth plans. We 
are also helping people and businesses to reduce their 
power consumption as well as investing in power 
generation themselves (e.g. solar panels which are 
becoming increasingly cost-effective). Many large 
businesses are also proposing developing their own 
renewable energy sources on site as part of future 
development plans. 

P
age 208



11 

 

24 Members highlighted a number of areas that they liked 
in the Strategy.  The areas are as follows: 

 Reference to a different approach in relation to the 
improvement of Town and Village Centres. (Can the 
Service Director provide examples please) 

 That the Strategy will be designed alongside sister 
plans/strategies with reference made to the poverty 
action plan, skills strategy/plan and transport 
plan/strategy. 

 That there is a focus on SMEs in the county. 

 That it focuses on the whole of the county. 

 That there is a need to attract major employers as 
well as SME’s 

The support for these elements of the IES is noted and 
welcomed. 

Delivery Plan 

25 The committee want early involvement and 
consideration of the Delivery Plan which will identify 
relevant actions and where responsibility sits for 
delivery of those actions. 

The emerging Delivery Plan will be presented to 
E&EOSC for feedback during its development.  

26 All DCC Service Groupings need to be evidenced to be 
working together to deliver those actions in the Delivery 
Plan for which DCC is responsible with responsibility 
and accountability to evidence this new way of working.   

The development of the IES has involved service areas 
across the Council in shaping the vision and priorities. 
The same collaborative approach will be taken to 
developing the Delivery Plan, with clearly identified 
accountability and responsibility for delivery.  
 
 

27 Suggestion that the Delivery Plan is reviewed annually 
with a delivery plan for each area of focus (the five Ps) 
in the framework. 

The Delivery Plan approach will allow regular reviews 
and to respond to economic changes; allow priorities to 
be reassessed and recalibrated by future 
administrations; and actions to be refined based on 
whether outcomes are being achieved. This will ensure 
the IES remains a relevant and live document 
throughout its lifespan. It is intended to approach the 

P
age 209



12 

 

Delivery Plan thematically, with CDEP working groups 
aligned to the 5 Ps. 
 

28 The Committee request that the Chair of the CDEP 
attends the next meeting of the E&E OSC (or advise a 
suitable date) when E&E OSC members will be able to 
ask how the CDEP will achieve the successful 
implementation of the Durham County Inclusive 
Economic Strategy with responsibility and 
accountability for delivering the IES.  

The Chair of the CDEP will be contacted to see if this 
request can be actioned. 

29 That the comments made by members today are 
captured and formulated into a formal Overview and 
scrutiny response which will be circulated to the 
members of the committee and then shared with the 
Service Grouping to help further develop the Strategy. 

 
We welcome the constructive comments from E&EOSC 
and this document sets out how these have been 
integrated into the IES. 

30 The committee recognises that without the Delivery 
Plan in place the Strategy cannot be implemented and 
would therefore request that the Delivery Plan is 
presented to the committee if possible, within a six 
month period. 

E&EOSC will have a key role to play in the preparation 
of future IES Delivery Plans. The Delivery Plan will be 
presented to E&EOSC at the earliest appropriate time 
and if possible within a six month period. 

 

P
age 210



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 7 

 

IES  

Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

Page 211



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Economic Development 

Lead Officer 
 

Andy Kerr 

Title 
 

Inclusive Economic Strategy 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

December 2022 

Start Date 
 

December 2021 

Review Date 
 

January 2023 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES) identifies the economic challenges and 
opportunities for the County and sets out priorities and actions to respond to them.  

 
It focuses on inclusive economic growth and aligns with existing strategies and 
plans in place across the county, including council documents such as the County 
Durham Plan, Climate Emergency Response Plan, Digital Strategy, Poverty Action 
Plan and UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan, plus regional strategies 
from the North East LEP. It does not describe everything that is happening in the 
county or replicate other documents.  
 
The IES is deliverable and realistic. It will address immediate and long-term 
opportunities and challenges, giving a 2035 perspective. We will use the strategy 
as the vision and strategic framework to coordinate activity and it is designed to be 
inclusive for new ideas as they emerge through the preparation of an annual 
Delivery Plan.  
 

Page 212



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

It recognises the excellent work we are already doing as partners across the 
county and identifies areas for further focus. This is about County Durham activity 
and where we have agency as a partnership, focusing on county-wide and place-
based actions where it makes sense, rather than giving national or regional 
solutions. 
 
We will co-develop in partnership our Delivery Plan, which will include detailed 
actions to deliver a step change for the county and respond to changes in national 
and local circumstances. This will build on and coordinate the project and 
programme ideas that we have collated from our evidence base, the Big Econ-
versation and stakeholder engagement. We will consider and add transformational 
projects and programmes as our Delivery Plan is refreshed and updated.  
 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

Anyone who lives in, studies in, works in, visits, or has an interest in County 
Durham will have an interest in the IES. This includes the general public, council 
staff, Elected Members, business owners, investors,  developers and landowners, 
various partners, stakeholders from the voluntary sector, interest groups and 
communities, Area Action Partnerships, Town/Parish Councils, Neighbourhood 
Forums and statutory consultees / prescribed bodies as defined by the 
Government. 
 
 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y (younger and 
older workers) 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N Y 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief N Y 

Page 213



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Sex (gender) 
 

N Y 

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
Negative impact is not anticipated as the IES sets out a framework for an inclusive 
economy. 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

 
The IES is a strategy of our county, not of one organisation, and has been 
codeveloped in partnership. It takes a holistic view of what the economy needs so 
that all people and places can contribute to and benefit from growth and the 
county’s success, whilst having a positive impact on the planet. This will help to 
address discrimination and advance equality of opportunity for all. Our first County 
Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy has been developed by the County Durham 
Economic Partnership with residents, businesses, anchor institutions, and the 
voluntary and community sector, which will foster good relations between people 
from different groups.  
 
There are potential positive impacts across the protected characteristics especially 
in terms of age (younger and older people), disability, race/ethnicity (GRT 
communities) and sex (both male and female). Engagement and assessment of 
equality impact is very much locality specific depending on the scale of 
development.  
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Page 214



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

There is national, regional and local evidence available which shows that people 
with certain protected characteristics can face multiple barriers in employment, 
health, access to services and information, participation in decision making and in 
consultation. Census 2011, data available on the ONS platform, data from Durham 
Insights, evidence from the Children and Young People’s services Annual Reports, 
from the DfE, and a report by the Albert Kennedy Trust have been used in section 
two of this assessment. 
 
This also links to the Durham Insight portal and uses data from the Office for 
National Statistics and other Government sources.  
 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s104486/Outcomes%20Report%20E
ducation.pdf 
 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s120686/OSC%20-
%20outcomes%20report.pdf 
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2389/2011-Census 
 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentan
demployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/september2022 
 
In addition, evidence has been collected as part of the three stage process to 
develop the IES 
 

(a) Economic Review: Core evidence base  
(b) Economic Statement: A short document to inform the conversations on the 

new strategy; and  
(c) Conversation and Strategy Development: A broad conversation with 

stakeholders and partners which will be used to develop a draft strategy.  
 
Consultation update 
The journey and partnership working to build the strategy have been as important 
as the final document.  The Big Econ-versation was undertaken between 31 
January and 22 April 2022 and was widely promoted including through press 
releases, social media, case studies, a radio advert for Smooth NE, bus panels 
and digital media.  There were also 86 events held and attended by over 1500 
people which identified key issues to be tackled and suggested some actions to 
address them.  A total of 1455 surveys completed including from 918 residents, 94 
businesses and 443 young people were also received.  
 
Feedback received during the Econ-versation was sense checked in a number of 
workshops held in July and following preparation of a draft a round of targeted 
engagement was also undertaken in September. 
 
The IES is firmly rooted in the Econ-versation that developed a new approach to 
engaging with our communities and stakeholders.  This has provided a detailed 
understanding of the aspirations and priorities of our residents, partners and 
businesses and the barriers to creating economic growth that is inclusive for all.  
The new approach to engagement has also allowed us to re-energise relationships 

Page 215



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

with partners such as CPI, the University and the Further Education colleges, 
alongside the County Durham Economic Partnership who have been integral in 
developing the IES.  More importantly, these partnerships are committed to being 
the key driving forces in delivering the future vision. 
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Andy Kerr, Head of Economic Development 
 

Date: 
21 Nov 2022 

Service equality representative sign off: 
M Gallagher, E&D Team Leader 
 

Date: 
17 Nov 2022 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 216



 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The IES will raise skills 
levels for residents in 
County Durham, linked to 
what employers need. This 
will include for young people 
(aged 18-24) and older 
persons aged 50 and above. 
 
Support in-work progression 
and upskilling and reskilling 
to enable people to earn 
more and potentially 
increase productivity. This 
includes older persons 
wanting to re-train or upskill. 
  
Overcome barriers to work 
for young people who lack 
work experience. 
 
Improve health and 
wellbeing, health outcomes 
and barriers to economic 
participation so that people 
live healthier for longer. 
Older persons will live 
healthier lives for longer. 
 
Create vibrant and diverse 
town and local centres, 
engaging communities in 
post Covid 19 context, which 
has had a specific impact on 
older people who were most 
vulnerable to Covid and 

The main source of data is the 
Claimant Count, which reflects 
the take-up of unemployment 
support such as Universal 
Credit. This is showing that at 
parliamentary constituency-
level, most places in the 
county have high levels of 
claimants in the 18-24 year 
old age cohort. In comparison, 
older age groups have levels 
of take-up that are more 
consistent with regional and 
national averages and have 
seen a smaller increase 
during the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
The Phase 1 Census Data 
(2021) estimates that the 
population of County Durham 
now stands at 522,100.   
ONS (2020) predicts that the 
county’s population will 
continue to grow over the 
coming years, increasing 
by 3.7% by 2028 and 
by 6.6% overall by 2043. 
 
The 2020 mid-year population 
estimates for County Durham 
shows that the population of 
those 65+ is 20.9%, and 
41.5% for those 50+, this is 
higher than the Northeast 
percentage of 20.1% and 
40.5% and the percentage of 

 
 

Page 217



 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

impacted health wise and 
isolation wise. 
 
Improve physical 
connectivity, such as public 
transport, which will benefit 
older persons and young 
people who are more likely 
to rely on public transport. 
 
 
Enhance digital 
infrastructure and 
connectivity. Faster more 
reliable broadband is 
essential for all residents but 
will have a positive impact 
on young people who will be 
able to have access to 
online learning, working and 
connection to communities, 
help and support. 
 
 
 
 
 

the population in England 65+ 
of 18.5% and 37.8%. The mid-
year population estimates for 
County Durham shows that 
the population of those aged 
18-24 years olds is 9.4%. This 
higher than the Northeast 
percentage of 8.9% and 
England percentage of 8.3%. 
 
The Big Econ-versation 
involved engagement with the 
County Durham community 
through surveys, including a 
young person’s survey, events 
with AAP’s and Community 
Champions and Primary 
schools and focus groups with 
colleges and recipients of 
support from Durham Works. 
The Conversation yielded 443 
Young person’s surveys and 
993 general surveys of which 
the majority of respondents 
were aged 50+. 
 
Based on this consultation 
feedback the IES has 
established that one of the 
priorities are targeting cohorts 
with specific and often 
intergenerational barriers to 
employment and linking them 
to employment opportunities 
in the county such as young 
people and older persons 
50+, for instance by exploring 
initiatives such as an 
intermediate labour market 
(specially created jobs) and 
ringfencing. This includes the 
priorities of: 
 
1. Raising skills levels, 
including higher and green 
skills, linked to what 
employers need 
2. Overcome barriers into 
employment, including work 
readiness, skills, careers 

Page 218



 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

advice and guidance, and 
poor health. 
 
Feedback from this 
engagement has also 
informed the priority to 
improve physical connectivity, 
including sustainable 
transport, which younger 
people and older persons 
would benefit from, and 
including in rural areas, to 
schools, colleges, services 
and leisure facilities, also 
more flexible access to 
transport to enable 
employment that is more 
suitable for them and so 
increase employment options 
and options for accessing 
education. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Raise skills levels, linked to 
what employers need, 
including people with 
disabilities. 
 
Overcome barriers to 
employment, giving support 
to residents who require 
support to access 
opportunities. This is 
relevant to people with 
disabilities who face added 
barriers to employment and 
in County Durham where 
Long-term sick numbers are 
high. 
 
Improve health and well 
being outcomes to reduce 
inequalities and barriers to 
economic participation, this 
includes those economically 

County Durham has a higher 
percentage of people with 
long term health issues and 
disabled people than the 
Northeast average, 
representing nearly a quarter 
of the overall population.  
 
County Durham has a 
percentage of working age 
(16-64) people classed as 
having a limiting long-term 
illness or disability (LLTI) of 
23.6%. This is higher than the 
overall figures for the North 
East, at 21.6%, and England 
and Wales, at 17.9%. (ONS 
2011 Census (NOMIS 
extract)). The ONS 2022-09 
reported the County Durham 
disabled employment rate is 
45.7% compared to the 

 

Page 219



 9 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

inactive due to long-term 
sickness, and people with 
mental health issues as well 
as physical health issues. 
 
Improve physical 
connectivity, including 
sustainable transport, which 
people with disabilities 
would benefit from via 
accessible transport, also 
more flexible access to 
transport to enable 
employment that is more 
suitable for them and so 
increase employment 
options. 
 
Enhance digital 
infrastructure and 
connectivity. Faster more 
reliable broadband is 
essential for all residents but 
will have a positive impact 
on people with disabilities 
who will be able to have 
access to online learning, 
working and connection to 
communities, help and 
support. 
 
Bringing jobs closer to our 
local communities by 
developing innovative 
approaches to repurpose 
vacant retail units into 
flexible space for start-ups, 
small businesses and 
entrepreneurs 
 
 

general employment rate for 
County Durham of 72.4%. 
 
The Big Econ-versation 
involved engagement with the 
County Durham community 
through surveys, events with 
AAP’s and Community 
Champions and focus groups 
with DurhamEnable. The 
Conversation yielded 993 
general surveys of which 20% 
identified as disabled. A 
quarter of the disabled 
respondents worked fulltime 
compared to over half of non-
disabled respondents. 
 
Based on this consultation 
feedback the IES has 
established that one of the 
priorities are targeting cohorts 
with specific and often 
intergenerational barriers to 
employment and linking them 
to employment opportunities 
in the county such as people 
with physical and mental 
disabilities, for instance by 
exploring initiatives such as 
an intermediate labour market 
(specially created jobs) and 
ringfencing. This includes the 
priorities of: 
 
1. Raising skills levels, 
including higher and green 
skills, linked to what 
employers need 
2. Overcome barriers into 
employment, including work 
readiness, skills, careers 
advice and guidance, and 
poor health. 
 
Feedback from this 
engagement has also 
informed the priority to 
improve physical connectivity, 
including sustainable 

Page 220



 10 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

transport, which people with 
disabilities would benefit from, 
and including in rural areas, to 
access schools, colleges, 
services and leisure facilities, 
also more flexible access to 
transport to enable 
employment that is more 
suitable for them and so 
increase employment options 
and options for accessing 
education. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Transport rural areas. 
Improve physical 
connectivity, including 
sustainable transport, which 
people from Gypsy Roma 
Traveller communities would 
benefit from in rural areas, to 
services and leisure 
facilities, also more flexible 
access to transport to enable 
employment that is more 
suitable for them and so 

County Durham has the 
second highest number of 
social pitches for the GRT 
community of all English 
authorities and over a third of 
all GRT pitches in the North 
East. 
 
Higher-level skills will 
increasingly be required to 
retain businesses in the 
county, in particular to support 

 

Page 221



 11 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

increase employment 
options and options for 
accessing education. 
 
The IES priorities will have a 
positive impact on the GRT 
community through: 
 
Raising skills levels, 
including higher and green 
skills, linked to what 
employers need. 
 

 Ensuring that the 
skills system 
responds to residents 
with lower skills levels 
and communities 
furthest from the 
labour market  

 
 
Overcome barriers into 
employment, including work 
readiness, skills, careers 
advice and guidance, and 
poor health 

 Some residents 
require support to 
access employment 
opportunities – this 
requires a holistic 
response that may go 
beyond traditional 
employment support 
to address barriers 
such as poverty. This 
will enable more 
residents to become 
economically active. 

 

the opportunity sectors and 
innovative businesses. 
Despite high attainment at 
school age, County Durham 
has challenges around skills 
levels – 32.4% have NVQ 
Level 4+ compared to 43.1% 
national average.1 Lower 
skills levels, a lack of work 
readiness, careers advice and 
guidance, and disabilities or 
learning difficulties create 
barriers to employment, and 
some groups may face more 
significant barriers, such as 
Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller 
communities. 
 
Groups furthest from the 
labour market, either 
demographic e.g., Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller 
communities, or socio-
economic e.g., young people 
or older residents not in work, 
residents with low skills levels, 
residents with disabilities / 
learning difficulties. 
 
The Big Econ-versation 
involved engagement with the 
GRT wardens’ groups Based 
on this engagement feedback 
the IES has established that 
one of the priorities are 
targeting cohorts with specific 
and often intergenerational 
barriers to employment and 
linking them to employment 
opportunities in the county 
such as the GRT community, 
for instance by exploring 
initiatives such as an 
intermediate labour market 
(specially created jobs) and 
ringfencing. This includes the 
priorities of: 
 

 

1 ONS Annual Population Survey (2021) 

Page 222



 12 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

1. Raising skills levels, 
including higher and green 
skills, linked to what 
employers need 
2. Overcome barriers into 
employment, including work 
readiness, skills, careers 
advice and guidance, and 
poor health. 
 
Feedback from the 
engagement with this group 
has also informed the priority 
to improve physical 
connectivity, including 
sustainable transport, which 
people from Gypsy Roma 
Traveller communities would 
benefit from in rural areas, to 
services and leisure facilities, 
also more flexible access to 
transport to enable 
employment that is more 
suitable for them and so 
increase employment options 
and options for accessing 
education. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The IES has a range of 
priorities that will have a 
specifically positive impact 
on female. These include:  
 
Raising skills levels, 
including higher and 

The ONS 2022-09 reports that 
females make up 50.8% of the 
County’s population. 
In 2022-09 the ONS reported 
that the female claimant count 
is lower than males, however 
females in County Durham 

 

Page 223



 13 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

green skills, linked to what 
employers need. 
This will have a positive 
impact for females in sectors 
that has under-
representation of this cohort, 
such as STEM and 
engineering. Also, for 
females returning to 
education or work to 
continue their qualifications 
and occupations. 
 
This will also have a positive 
impact on males so that their 
skills can be better aligned 
with employment and 
opportunities for education 
and qualifications to 
increase their opportunities 
for employment in County 
Durham. 

 
Overcome barriers into 
employment, including 
work readiness, skills, 
careers advice and 
guidance, and poor health 
 
This will have a positive 
impact on females who are 
more likely to face barriers 
to work such as childcare or 
caring responsibilities, lack 
of work experience as 
females are less likely to 
work full time or returning 
from a break from paid 
employment due to caring 
responsibilities. 
 
This will have a positive 
impact on males whose 
healthy life expectancy is 
lower than females. 
 
 
Support in-work 
progression and upskilling 
 

have a lower rate of economic 
activity, lower employment 
rate and rate of fulltime 
employment than men. 
Females have a higher rate of 
part-time employment than 
men. 
 
The ONS 2021reported that 
female’s average weekly 
earnings are lower than 
males. Furthermore, females 
fulltime average weekly 
earnings, and part-time 
weekly earnings are also 
comparably lower than males. 
 
The DfE reports that the KS4 
Attainment 8 rate for boys in 
County Durham was 42.2% 
compared to girls Attainment 
8 rate of 47.9% with white 
British males significantly 
underperforming nationally. 
 
The Big Econ-versation 
involved engagement with 
County Durham Residents 
including general surveys and 
young people’s surveys. 63% 
of respondents for the general 
survey identified as female, 
49% of respondents for the 
young person’s survey 
identified as female. 
 
Engagement from the Big 
Econ-versation helped inform 
the IES priorities that targeted 
certain cohorts such as 
women and cohorts of men in 
its priorities outlined in the 
impact column. 
 
 

Page 224



 14 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

This will have a positive 
impact on females as they 
are highly represented in the 
health and social care 
sector.  
 
This could have a positive 
impact on males as different 
opportunities for upskilling 
and progression will be 
promoted in sectors where 
they are under-represented, 
such as the care sector. 
 
Improve physical 
connectivity between 
places in the county, 
including public transport 
and active travel 
Transport improvements are 
vital for business trade and 
for people to get to work, 
particularly for shift workers, 
those on low wages, young 
people, and people & 
businesses in rural areas. It 
is important that this is 
inclusive, creating a multi-
hub county which is 
accessible to all. This will 
have appositive impact on 
females who are more likely 
to have lower average 
weekly earnings than males. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Page 225



 15 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

N/A 
 
 

  

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

The IES is intended to support everyone in the county but there is evidence that 
certain groups such as older persons, young people, disabled persons, GRT 
community, women and cohorts of males may be more positively impacted than 
other groups to ensure inequalities are addressed and enable an inclusive 
economy  
 
It focuses on inclusive economic growth and aligns with existing strategies and 
plans in place across the county, including council documents such as the County 
Durham Plan, Climate Emergency Response Plan, Digital Strategy, Poverty Action 
Plan and UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan, plus regional strategies 
from the North East LEP.  
 
To ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our people and 
places. There are inequalities across our county, for example in health, education, 
connectivity, skills and employment. This Strategy will focus on barriers that 
residents face to employment, from skills to transport to health, addressing the 
inequality experienced between and within some of our places. The Strategy will 
focus on the city, towns, rural, and coast for attracting investment and creating 
better jobs in all parts of the county. We will identify place-based and socio-
economic ‘Inclusive Economy Cohorts’ as part of the Delivery Plan, to ensure that 
we maximise the impact of the strategy and its actions effectively to target the 
people and places that need them the most.  
 
The Strategy also includes a simple ambition: more and better jobs in an inclusive, 
green economy.  To achieve this the IES sets a framework for an inclusive economy, 
focusing on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet: 
 

 People - Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, green 
economy by enabling residents to access economic opportunities and excel in 
business and their careers will particularly benefit young people who lack 
relevant skill, qualification and experience, older persons returning to work or 
wanting to retrain, GRT community who are a group far from the labour 
market, disabled persons who are less likely to work full time than non-
disabled persons, women who are more likely to be economically inactive and 
in part-time employment and male who have a higher claimant count than 
females in County Durham and white British Male who underperform at 
attainment 8 KS4 rates nationally. 

Page 226



 16 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 Productivity - Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive, 
green economy by supporting local wealth creation and retention, which will 
have a positive impact on the protected characteristics above. 

 Places - Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs by developing 
places and infrastructure so that people and businesses thrive, creating an 
inclusive, green economy. This will have a positive impact on all resident who 
use sustainable transport but particularly young people, older persons who 
are more likely to rely on public transport, disabled persons who rely on 
sustainable transport and, GRT communities who require public transport to 
access employment and service particularly in rural areas. Digital 
infrastructure as a priority will also have a particularly positive impact on 
these cohorts as it will enable them to access skills and education support, 
employment support, access to jobs and access to services that may 
otherwise not have access to as easily without this digital infrastructure. 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

The IES vision for County Durham’s future is to have a sustainable, inclusive 
economy with a diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with targeted training 
and learning programmes tailored to our employment specialisms and needs of 
business.  We can only achieve this vision by working together with our partners 
and anchor institutions and in collaboration with our communities.  
 
This is particularly important in the current circumstances, with cost of living and 
doing business rising for all.  This strategy has been developed alongside the 
Poverty Action Plan, an important plan to work together with communities so fewer 
people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the county.  At the same time 
as responding on the immediate challenges in front of us, we are focused on 
building a stronger County Durham, one where everyone reaches their potential, 
and we have a future focused economy. 

 
To make the Inclusive Economic Strategy a reality we will require new ways of 
working, collaboration and funding from us all as partners. The IES will work 
across and within communities to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared 
fairly amongst our people and places. There are inequalities across our county, for 
example in health, education, connectivity, skills and employment. This strategy 
will focus on barriers that residents face to employment, from skills to transport to 
health, addressing the inequality experienced between and within some of our 
places. The strategy will focus on the city, towns, rural, and coast for attracting 
investment and creating better jobs in all parts of the county. We will identify place-
based and socio-economic ‘Inclusive Economy Cohorts’ as part of the Delivery 
Plan, to ensure that we maximise the impact of the strategy and its actions 
effectively to target the people and places that need them the most.  
 
Our next steps are to develop a detailed Delivery Plan and monitoring framework 
to deliver against our Strategy.  We will look to engage partners, residents and 
communities, including Community Champions and Area Action Partnerships, in 
decision-making and the coproduction of relevant actions and initiatives. We will 
be monitoring the equality data to ensure that we are reaching the different 

Page 227



 17 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristics as far as possible and anything specific we will do to 
engage different groups. 
 
The use of a Delivery Plan approach throughout the vision period will enable 
regular reviews to respond to economic changes; allow priorities to be reassessed 
and recalibrated by future administrations; and actions to be refined based on 
whether outcomes are being achieved. This will ensure the IES remains a relevant 
and live document throughout its lifespan. 
 

 

Action Plan  

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Take the IES to Cabinet 
and the County Durham 
Economic Partnership for 
approval 

DCC Short-Term  

Develop a Delivery Plan to 
deliver the IES 

Partnership Medium-term  

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

Y 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

TBC 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
A Kerr, Head of Economic Development 
 

Date: 
21 Nov 2022 

Service equality representative sign off: 
M Gallagher, E&D Team Leader 
 

Date: 
17 November 2022 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 228



 

  

 Cabinet 

14 December 2022 

 Ecological Emergency: Outline Strategy 

and Action Plan 

Key Decision No. NCC/04/22 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change 

Councillor Mark Wilkes, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To outline an initial strategy and action plan for Council activities in 
response to the declaration of an ecological emergency made by 
Cabinet on 6 April 2022. 

2 To note that further iterations of these plans will be integrated into a 
wider Local Nature Recovery Strategy for County Durham, as well as 
future Climate Change Emergency Response Plans. 

Executive summary 

3 County Durham has a rich tapestry of habitats – from its upland 
peatland and moorland, to the Wear and Tees lowlands with semi-
natural ancient woodland, meadows and wetlands, to the magnesian 
limestone plateau with its species rich pasture and Heritage Coast.  
This represents not only a valuable resource for biodiversity and a store 
for carbon, but an incredible asset for recreation and wellbeing.  The 
Council, working with partners, has done considerable work in 
enhancing these assets, for example in several landscape scale 
initiatives, habitat restoration and creation, including tree planting and 
the management of nature reserves. 

4 The overall trend internationally, nationally and locally is one of 
biodiversity and habitat decline.  This was examined in detail by the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 229

Agenda Item 5



 

Committee (ESCOSC) and responded to by Cabinet with the 
declaration of an Ecological Emergency on 6 April 2022.  Cabinet asked 
for an initial action plan on Council activities in response to this 
declaration be provided within six months.  This report fulfils this 
request. 

5 The Ecological Emergency Action Plan (EEAP) is a corporately derived 
and cross-Council action plan which responds to the ecological 
emergency through activity across three proposed key themes: ‘Land 
Management’, ‘Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change , 
‘Policies and Strategies’.  New investment, announced as part of the 
MTFP 22-26, provides further impetus for this work through the 
appointment of two nature reserve officers, and staff to promote 
education/awareness, volunteer investment and a post of a Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy Officer.  Most are now in post and have 
commenced their work. 

6 In recognition of the tight financial climate, the action plan focusses on 
what can be achieved using existing resources, as well as potential 
income from the planning system.  This is an important first step, with 
any additional requirements in future plans, being subject to the usual 
Medium Term Financial Plan processes.  Most of the actions are 
therefore centred around the potential to streamline and improve 
existing work programmes, such as biodiversity interventions on open 
space, or by expanding existing programmes, such as awareness 
around climate change to further include the ecological emergency. 

7 Actions are also proposed that will improve biodiversity delivery within 
new built development and ensure that Council land holdings can 
benefit from biodiversity-focused financial contributions arising through 
the planning system. 

8 Systems are also proposed to ensure that procurement and decision 
making within the Council considers the impact on biodiversity in a 
similar manner to the processes in place for responding to the climate 
emergency. 

Recommendation 

9 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) approve the Ecological Emergency Action Plan (EEAP) as set out 
in the report. 

  

Page 230



 

Background 

10 County Durham has a rich tapestry of habitats – from its upland 
peatland and moorland, to the Wear and Tees lowlands with semi-
natural ancient woodland, meadows and wetlands, to the magnesian 
limestone plateau with its species rich pasture and Heritage Coast.  
Working with partners, the Council has a strong track record of 
conserving and enhancing these assets, for example in several 
landscape scale initiatives, habitat restoration and creation, including 
tree planting and the management of nature reserves. 

11 The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (ESCOSC) recognised these natural assets and 
accomplishments, but utilising evidence such as condition of designated 
semi-natural habitats in County Durham, data from Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) and Water 
Framework Directive (WFD), data on surface waters as well as atlases 
produced by relevant specialists, concluded that many of our habitats 
and species are in decline, mirroring international and national trends. 

12 The meeting of Cabinet on 6 April 2022 considered the report from the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and agreed to declare an Ecological Emergency for County 
Durham; requesting that an initial action plan on Council activities in 
response to the declaration be provided within six months.  This report 
responds to that request. 

Ecological Emergency; Strategy and Scope of Action Plan 

13 A copy of the subsequent Draft EEAP is attached as Appendix 2. 

14 The Ecological Emergency is focussed on the initial actions of the 
Council and the EEAP aims to identify key areas of Council activity 
which is required to deliver against the emergency.  A wider ecological 
strategy, a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS), for the county will 
be produced by the County Durham Partnership, specifically the 
Ecological Emergency workstream of the Environment & Climate 
Change Partnership. 

15 The Environment Act places a duty on the Council to publish 
‘biodiversity reports’ which summarise actions the Authority has taken 
plans to take to be compliant with the ‘general biodiversity objective’ of 
the act which is centred on the conservation and enhancement of 
biodiversity through the exercise of the Authority’s functions.  The 
actions within the umbrella of the Ecological Emergency will therefore 
feed into these future biodiversity reports. 

Page 231



 

16 The EEAP was developed within certain parameters; these incorporate 
recent staffing investments, such as nature reserve wardens and 
education officers however delivery of the plan at this stage would focus 
on the benefits of being more joined up in our approach (across several 
Council services) as well as doing things differently rather than new 
additional resources.  The attached draft plan therefore sets out current 
(already underway) and proposed areas of activity within three key 
themes as summarised below: 

17 Land Management is regarded as the main area within which the 
Council should deliver for biodiversity.  Land use change and alterations 
in the way land is managed are key drivers of changes in biodiversity at 
global, national and local scales.  These drivers are cited as one of the 
major reasons for biodiversity losses, especially in the UK which is one 
of the most biologically impoverished countries in the world. 

18 Actions held within the action plan aim to result in significant 
improvements in the management of the estate for biodiversity.  In order 
to achieve this, various objectives will need to be set, including: gaining 
a clear understanding of the Council’s landholdings, the potential for 
these landholdings to be used to deliver for biodiversity and the 
development of mechanisms to deliver against that potential. 

The plans incorporate the following headline measures: 

• A programme of re-wilding undertaken by Clean and Green 
services for central reservations and selected open spaces with 
reduced or no grass cutting in these areas; 

• A programme of environmental condition survey and improved 
management of the Councils nature reserves; 

• An on-going programme for improvements to the Council’s 
woodland estate, as well as utilising opportunities through 
Durham woodland Revival and Great North Forest for tree 
planting in appropriate locations. 

19 Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change is essential for the 
sustainable and equitable use of biodiversity and its conservation.  A 
lack of awareness of biodiversity and its importance through the 
ecosystem services it provides to our wellbeing and quality of life is a 
common occurrence.  The future of biodiversity will depend on the 
collective action of an educated society and a key challenge will be to 
draw attention to the importance and urgency of the biodiversity 
emergency to the residents of County Durham. 

20 Actions within the action plan therefore aim to raise awareness of the 
issues surrounding our biological resource enabling individuals to 

Page 232



 

develop a deeper understanding and knowledge to make informed and 
responsible decisions. 

The plans incorporate the following headline measures: 

• Continue important education programmes such as the Trees for 
Children scheme, and environmental education activities based 
from the Council Parks and bolstered by recent investments; 

• Improve site signage and community awareness to explain 
changes in land management (for instance reduced cutting 
frequencies); 

• In recognition of the strong links to climate change, the 
incorporation of ecological aspects in all appropriate marketing 
initiatives. 

21 Policies and Strategies shall require further development to ensure 
there is rational decision making with regards to biodiversity, whilst 
strategy documents are likely to be needed to achieve specific aims or 
objectives.  These policies and strategies could be used to guide 
development and our approach to procurement and land management.  
The action plan sets out to identify any policies and strategies required 
to deliver against the Ecological Emergency. 

The plans incorporate the following headline measures: 

• Producing supplementary relating to ecological matters/species 
protection to guide sustainable development; 

• Build ecological emergency into procurement processes including 
maximising opportunities in social value contributions; 

• Consideration of Ecological Emergency as an implication for all 
Council reports (similar to that of Climate Change currently). 

22 The Council continues to react proactively to new legislative 
requirements pertaining to the environment; most recently the need for 
most developments within the catchment of the Teesmouth and 
Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area (SAC) to be nutrient neutral.  
The SAC is protected under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, because of these regulations and European case 
law, Natural England has advised that projects and plans should only go 
ahead if they will not cause additional nutrient pollution to the protected 
site.  This means that, for example, new residential development can 
only happen if the nutrient load created through additional wastewater 
from the development is mitigated.  The Council is working with 
partners, including Natural England, Northumbrian Water, Environment 

Page 233



 

Agency and Durham Wildlife Trust to develop mitigation strategies to 
enable development to proceed without negatively affecting the 
protected site. 

Conclusion 

23 The proposed EEAP, outlined above and set out as a draft plan for 
approval in Appendix 2, is intended to provide an initial response to 
cabinet’s declaration of an Ecological Emergency in April 2022 by 
means of a delivery plan within 6 months of the declaration being made. 

24 Following approval, officers from across key services listed in the report 
will commence delivery against the plan’s objectives and monitor and 
report progress going forward.  A progress update will be provided to 
cabinet members twelve months hence. 

Background Papers 

• Cabinet 6 April 2022 Ecological Emergency Declaration 

Authors 

Oliver Sherratt Tel: 03000 269259 

Steve Bhowmick Tel: 03000 267122 

Stuart Priestley Tel: 03000 267135 

 

  

Page 234



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The EEAP is to operate within existing legal provisions. 

Finance 

The plans include recent investments made as part of MTFP 22-2r including 
nature reserve officers, woodland creation, community/education and Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy Officers. 

There are no additional budgetary requirements associated with the plan as 
these are focussed more on joining up the work across services as well as 
doing some things differently (for instance grass cutting). 

If additional resources are required through future iterations of the plan these 
will be considered through the MTFP planning processes. 

Consultation 

Members of Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee have been 
consulted throughout on preparations for declaring the Ecological Emergency 
and EEAP. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None identified. 

Human Rights 

None identified. 

Climate Change 

This is a key issue addressed throughout the report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

Staffing 

Delivery of the EEAP is to be met from within existing staffing resources. 

Accommodation 

None identified. 

  

Page 235



 

Risk 

If the EEAP is not adhered to, then the commitment to respond to the 

ecological emergency will not be met. 

Procurement 

Provisions for the procurement of Council goods and services that benefit 

nature and natural habitats are integral to the EEAP. 

  

Page 236



 

Appendix 2:  Ecological Emergency – Action Plan  

ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCY – AN INITIAL PLAN FOR 
COUNCIL ACTIVITIES 

 

October 2022 

 

  

  

  

 

Page 237



 

 

Note from Portfolio holder 

 

The Council has been doing a lot to support biodiversity, habitats, and 

landscapes, not just for the benefit of wildlife, but for  people and communities 

as we are all enriched by  contact with the natural world. Our activities range 

from a host of landscape wide initiatives, through to the management of 

nature reserves and  community conservation and education projects. 

It is evident however that more work needs to be done , as we have not been 

immune to national trends of biodiversity decline. This report focuses initially 

on what the Council can do through a more joined up approach and doing 

some things differently. In due course our Local Nature Recovery Plan will  

examine  what more can be achieved working with partners on a countywide 

scale, and this initial plan will put the Council in good shape to play an active 

exemplar role in this important work.  

Page 238



 

Contents          Page 

 

Purpose          1 

 

Background         1 

 

Resources           2 

  

Current activity in support of an Ecological Emergency  3 

i Policies and Strategies     3 

ii Land Management     4 

iii Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change 11 

 

Future Development of the Ecological Emergency Action Plan 15 

 

Further activity in support of an Ecological Emergency  17 

i Policies and Strategies     17 

ii Land Management     22 

iii Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change 24 

 

 

Page 239



 

Purpose 

 

1 To outline an initial Ecological Emergency Action Plan for Council 
activities in response to the declaration of an ecological emergency  
made by Cabinet on 6 April 2022.  

2 The Ecological Emergency Action Plan (EEAP) is focussed on the 
actions of the council and aims to identify key areas of Council activity 
which is required to deliver against the emergency. It is a corporate 
approach drawing across all Council services that impact and can 
influence the state of our environment. 

3 The EEAP is structured around key areas or themes which will deliver 
the most benefit, these being: Policies and Strategies’, ‘Land 
Management’,  ‘Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change’ 

4 A wider ecological strategy, a statutory Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
(LNRS), for the county will be produced by the County Durham 
Partnership, specifically the Ecological Emergency workstream of the 
Environment & Climate Change Partnership. The timescales for 
production of this document will be an estimated 12 to 24 months but 
this dependant on the detailed requirements set out in Government 
guidance which is currently not yet available. 

 

Background 

 

5 In the Cabinet meeting on 13 October 2021, national and international 
declines in natural habitats and species were recognised and a working 
group was established to examine if this was also reflected in the 
evidence-base for biodiversity within County Durham.  On 14 February 
2022 a summary of available information and trends for habitats, 
species and conservation management  was presented for 
consideration by the Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

6 The report concluded that in common with patterns country-wide, data 
for our terrestrial and aquatic habitats clearly shows that semi-natural 
habitats in County Durham are failing to meet their condition 
assessments and targets: 85% of SSSIs are in unfavourable condition, 
70% of LWS compartments are failing condition assessments and 
90.6% of surface waters are failing to meet the required ecological 
standards. 

Page 240



 

7 As habitats are in poor condition and being gradually lost due to a lack 
of, or inappropriate, management, then it follows that our species are 
also being negatively impacted upon. 

8 Some of our most iconic species have suffered declines or are 
declining, water voles were lost from 90% of their range by the late 
1990’s and further survey work showed a further loss of 30% percent 
between 2006 and 2015.  The red squirrel was lost from the east of the 
County by the early 2000’s and although some species, such as otter, 
have bounced back from historical declines the picture is one of further 
reductions or local extinctions.  The dingy skipper butterfly has been lost 
from around 30% of its known sites and many of our reptile species are 
showing evidence of declines with coastal populations of slow worm 
under threat from extinction. 

9 The report stated that although local species data does not allow trends 
to be produced over the same time periods as used by the national 
audit of species and habitats: ‘the State of Nature Report’, all the local 
evidence, across the species groups points to the conclusion that the 
local declines are comparable with the global and national picture. 

10 The national picture of declines in Priority Species is echoed at a local 
level across all species atlases whilst more recent anecdotal and survey 
evidence supports the interpretation provided by these publications. 
Consequently, at a special meeting of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14 February 2022, 
Members agreed that an interim report be sent to cabinet 
recommending that Durham County Council declares an ecological 
emergency. 

11 The meeting of Cabinet on 6 April 2022 considered the report from the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and agreed to declare an Ecological Emergency for County 
Durham; requesting that an initial action plan on Council activities in 
response to the declaration be provided within six months. 

 

Resources 

 

12 The EEAP focuses on how more can be achieved by through a joined 
up Corporate approach to the challenge, and where appropriate (for 
instance in land management) by doing some things differently. It builds 
in the additional investments from 22/23 announced as part of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan for instance staffing for Local Nature 

Page 241



 

Recovery Strategy, Rangers and Environmental education staff in 
Countryside services, as well as support for woodland creation. 

13 The Council is already making use of new funding streams and 
opportunities to diversify biodiversity on selected areas of amenity 
green space, for instance successful rounds on Urban tree Challenge 
Fund, as well as a recently awarded Parks Levelling up Grant. 

14 External funding streams can be used to deliver action held within the 
EEAP, most notably developer contributions for biodiversity net gain 
(BNG) to deliver habitat enhancement on Council land.  These 
developer contributions can be used to restore habitats back to good 
condition. 

15 The forthcoming Environmental Land Management (ELMs) scheme, 
which will replace current agri-environment schemes, should provide a 
mechanism to fund positive land management for biodiversity on parts 
of the Councils rural landholdings. 

 

Summary of Current activity in support of an Ecological Emergency 

i Policies and Strategies 

16 A raft of policies supporting the wider protection and enhancement of 
biodiversity across the county is held within the County Durham Local 
Plan.  Specific policies include:  

Policy 41. Trees, Woodlands and Hedges; 

Policy 42.  Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 

Policy 43.  Internationally Designated Sites; 

Policy 44.  Protected Species & Nationally and Locally Protected Sites; 

17 All relevant policies within the local plan aim to protect and enhance our 
biological resource and be cognisant of the level of protection afforded 
to designated sites.  Amongst other relevant polices include a Tree 
Management Policy which sets out a corporate approach towards tree 
management; inspections, maintenance, and replanting. 

18 The Council continues to react proactively to new legislative 
requirements pertaining to the environment; most recently the need for 
most developments within the catchment of the Teesmouth and 
Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area to be nutrient neutral. The 
Council is working with partners, including Natural England, 
Northumbrian Water, Environment Agency and Durham Wildlife Trust to 

Page 242



 

develop mitigation strategies to enable development to proceed without 
negatively affecting the protected areas. 

19 The Council’s Environmental Statement also references the Ecological 
Emergency and states that the Council will seek to protect and enhance 
natural capital across its estate, highways, woodlands and green and 
blue spaces.  It commits through its decision-making to ensure that net 
gains in biodiversity are achieved through the adoption of the most 
environmentally beneficial management regimes and that pollution is 
prevented. 

20 The County Durham Vision 2035, which was developed together with 
partner organisations and the public, sets out what we would want the 
county to look like in 15 years’ time. This vision is structured around 
three ambitions which are: More and better jobs, People live long and 
independent lives and Connected Communities.  Biodiversity is 
referenced under the More and better jobs ambition where the vision 
states that “we will protect and enhance our core heritage and natural 
assets”.  Other references to biodiversity and the natural environment 
come under People live long and independent lives where the vision 
says that “we will maximise the quality of our local environment”. 

21 The Climate Emergency Response Plan recognises that the county’s 
natural environment has a vital role to play in tackling climate change 
and includes key measures to work towards including the protection and 
restoration our coastal and marine habitats,  protection our existing 
semi-natural habitats and the utilisation and targeting of nature-based 
solutions. 

 

ii Land Management 

22 Parks and Countryside. The services with a major, active land 
management role within the Council are Parks and Countryside, Clean 
and Green and services involved with the woodland estate (CPAL and 
Landscape). 

23 Parks and Countryside have been delivering for biodiversity through 
active land management of the Countryside Estate for over 40 years.  
Although variable in approach and extent due to levels of resource, 
there is a clear ethos of considering biodiversity in all their activities. 

24 The countryside estate is approximately 1300 ha, compromising a suite 
of sites from the highest local, regional, and international wildlife 
designations to recreational assets such as the railway path network.  
The estate covers land across the county, with a bias towards central 
and eastern areas.  All sites contribute to the biodiversity of County 

Page 243



 

Durham and receive some intervention depending on site 
characteristics and available resource. 

25 Much of the work on the countryside estate is carried out by the 
professional members of the Parks and Countryside service.  Further to 
this, volunteers play a huge role in assisting with the delivery of 
management aims and have contributed work valued at many millions 
of pounds. 

26 With the reductions over a number of years of site-based staff, more 
emphasis has been placed on the use of contractors to deliver larger 
targeted actions on sites, particularly those that have Higher Level 
Stewardship (HLS) support payments from DEFRA agreements.  These 
works are covered by the payments received and have minimal financial 
impact on core Council budgets. Parks and Countryside are awaiting 
confirmation of Defra review of the HLS regime and what this means for 
financial support of high value site management moving forward. 

27 Recent investments in Parks and Countryside staff, do allow for a re-
focus of activity to address DCC’s Climate and Ecological Emergency 
declarations. 

28 With regards to land management, the new staff roles will allow the 
team to direct resources onto Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) currently held 
within the countryside estate. These sites will require survey effort to 
establish a baseline condition assessment which will then be monitored 
regularly to check progress against agreed targets. Where appropriate, 
the sites team will engage and support community and education 
outreach staff to provide a holistic approach to land management. 

29 The Parks and Countryside Service have identified barriers to 
biodiversity delivery including a lack of baseline ecological data and 
condition assessments, a decline in available management resources 
over the last 20 years and larger scale restoration requirements beyond 
current provisions.  Given the specialist knowledge held within the 
service and the size of the estate, there is potential to deliver significant 
biodiversity benefits through the restoration and creation of wildlife 
habitats should resources be found. 

30 Both the Ecology and Parks and Countryside services are currently 
working on a system to tap into Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
requirements through the planning system; a financial mechanism to 
deliver certain habitat enhancement works within the estate which is 
likely to lever in some additional necessary resource. 

 

Page 244



 

31 The wider Clean and Green team are responsible for providing a variety 
of services including grounds maintenance of parks, open spaces, 
school grounds, cemeteries, and closed churchyards. 

32 The Clean and Green Service has implemented a suite of biodiversity 
enhancements on open spaces ranging from habitat creation to 
changes in cutting regimes. The largest of the habitat creation projects 
has been the seeding of a hectare of open space in Durham to create a 
species rich grassland supporting a range of wildlife. Other interventions 
include overseeding grasslands with wildflowers at the Durham Coast 
and reducing cutting regimes on amenity grasslands across the county 
to allow wildflowers to set seed and spread. The service has also 
planted scrub woodland and installs and maintains all the Urban Tree 
Challenge Fund (UTCF) sites, with around 800 trees being planted per 
year under this scheme. 

33 The Clean and Green Service currently maintains 37 areas of meadow 
and wildflowers with a further 28 sites identified for potential future 
biodiversity interventions.  These sites will be subject to consultation 
and detailed design work to ensure any interventions are appropriate to 
the location.  A recent report by Clean & Green, ‘Rewilding, July 2022' 
showcases these potential sites and is an example of how Clean and 
Green are currently approaching biodiversity interventions on open 
spaces. 

34 Other notable achievements include the continual reduction in the use 
of fungicides, pesticides and herbicides and investigations into further 
reductions in herbicide use are planned.  The reduction in peat use is 
now well advanced with trails on several peat free composts for the 
annual bedding and Morrison Busty nursery on-going. The service has 
committed to be peat-free by 2025. 

35 Clean and Green are continuing to roll out biodiversity interventions 
across all sites and are developing a strategic document to improve the 
rate that sites can be brought under more wildlife friendly management 
in conjunction with input from Ecology. 

36 Once the approach has been defined and potential sites agreed in 
principle, the Ecology Service intend to assess potentially funding the 
interventions via BNG. 

37 The Ecology and Clean and Green services both acknowledge that 
there are constraints to the delivery of biodiversity interventions, 
including staff time to develop the site plans, undertaking consultations, 
and delivering the required interventions within the appropriate seasonal 
windows. These constraints and practical solutions will be explored 

Page 245



 

further within the more strategic approach towards interventions under 
development. 

38 Tree Initiatives. Since 2000, the Council with partners, has planted 
nearly a million trees on over 500ha of land as well as planting or 
restoring nearly 200 miles of hedgerow.  Several more recent 
improvements and initiatives that are continuing to build on this work 
including: Durham Woodland Revival (DWR), the Urban Tree Challenge 
Fund (UTCF), the Durham Woodland Creation (DWC) programme, a 
comprehensive management of Council-owned woodland and the 
recently launched North East Community Forest (NECF). 

39 The DWR programme is led by the Council and supported by the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund and other partners with the aim of 
restoring and reconnecting woodlands in County Durham.  The 
programme is to run for a further 18 months with a dedicated team who 
are giving landowners and communities opportunities to learn about, 
enjoy and re-imagine a purpose for their woodlands.  It is also 
establishing 60ha of new woodland across three major sites; planting is 
complete at 2 sites and a final 32ha will be planted in 2023/4. 

40 All of the woodlands owned by the Council have Forestry Commission 
approved management plans which can tap into a Woodland 
Improvement Grant Scheme, a DEFRA grant of almost £1 million for 
approved schemes.  A member of staff has been recruited to manage 
this five-year work programme which will help to bring neglected 
woodlands back into management and improve the condition of ancient 
woodland.  The Council was also successful in attracting UTCF over its 
three funding rounds to date with almost £850,000 being awarded. 

41 Resources from the Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) are 
now supporting a four-year countywide woodland creation programme 
(DWC) to establish 10,000 trees across the county’s 14 AAPs.  A Trees 
for Children initiative has also been introduced to plant a tree for each of 
the county’s 69,000 school children to help tackle climate change, 
engaging support from the OASES service (Outdoor and Sustainability 
Education Specialists), who are enabling school planting activities over 
the period of the DWC programme. 

42 A new Community Forest has been established; the North East 
Community Forest (NECF), which Newcastle City Council is leading in 
conjunction with the County Council as well as South Tyneside, North 
Tyneside, Gateshead, Sunderland Councils.  A national funding pot, 
‘Trees for Climate’ has been secured to fund an initial 5-year planting 
programme at a rate of £17k/ha.  Durham County Council will benefit 
from this resource to meet a commitment of planting up 300 ha of trees 
over the next 4 years on both private and Council owned land. 

Page 246



 

 

43 The Durham Hedgerow Partnership has been giving grants to 
landowners to plant and restore hedgerows for over twenty years and 
transformed many areas throughout the county with these traditional, 
naturalistic boundary treatments.  To date this restoration and planting 
is equivalent in length to the distance between Durham and Leeds, and 
the programme is ongoing. 

44 Landscape Scale Partnerships. The Council is directly involved with 
various landscape scale delivery providers these include SeaScapes, 
North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (NPAONB), Land 
of Oak and Iron and the Durham Heritage Coast. 

45 SeaScapes is hosted by the Council and consists of a consortium of 
partners united in their collective mission to influence support for, and 
increase the protection of our sea and coastline. Its focus and main 
geographical area of work is the England Coast Path along the shore 
and cliff tops from the Tyne to the Tees, covering an area up to six 
nautical miles out to sea. Funding has been awarded by the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund and partner contributions for a four year 
engagement programme to reveal the hidden heritage of this unique 
seascape and engage its communities in the stewardship of this unique 
coastline. 

46 SeaScapes is delivering sustainable land management through close 
working with the National Trust at White Lea Farm (Easington) to create 
and restore a valuable coastal habitat for species such as the Durham 
Argus Butterfly, a subspecies unique to the Magnesian Limestone cliffs. 
This is largely being done though volunteer days. A section of beach at 
Seaton Carew has also been more actively managed for migratory little 
terns, with over 80 chicks fledging in 2022; noted as a resounding 
success. 

47 Designated as an area of national habitat significance is the Durham 
Heritage Coast and a key purpose of the DHC area is to connect, 
protect, and expand natural and semi natural habitats from the Ryhope 
Dene in the north to the boundary of Hartlepool headland in the south. 

48 Works to protect valuable habitats have included the closure of the 
capillary of paths through the dunes system at Crimdon, protecting Sites 
of Scientific Interest and areas designated as both Special Protection 
Areas (SPA) and Special Areas of Conservation (SAC).  Impacts on 
habitats are currently being managed by fencing coastal meadow areas 
protecting them from being used as ad hoc car parks. 

49 Easington Local Nature Reserve has received Area Action Partnership 
(AAP) funding to improve paths and further funding has been received 

Page 247



 

to enhance the site through tree planting and limit access by illegal 
users. The site is an alternative to visitors using the protected coastal 
areas and so acts to reduce impacts on sensitive coastal habitats and 
bird populations. 

50 Further AAP funding has been received by the Heritage Coast to 
improve signage from Horden station to the village and to the English 
Coastal Path National Trail; this encourages the use of Public Rights of 
Way and directs people away from more sensitive areas. 

51 The Durham Heritage Coast is also working with Sunderland City 
Council’s Coast project to monitor both habitat quality and food 
availability as well as recreational usage of the SAC and SPA. The 
Heritage Coast also supports and funds Newcastle University for Blue 
Carbon research into kelp for its carbon and biodiversity benefits. 

52 The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (NPAONB) 
Partnership team delivers directly on work to address the biodiversity 
crisis, and convenes, supports and enables others to do so. 

53 The team is into its 17th year of direct delivery on peatland restoration, 
addressing the blocking of moorland drains and the restoration of bare 
and eroded peat. The team is directly responsible for over 42,000ha of 
restoration, an area three times the size of Newcastle. As well as its 
biodiversity benefits, this has avoided carbon loss benefits of the 
emissions form over 1m UK homes or the equivalent of taking 7000 
cars off the road. 

54 The NPOANB team is directly involved in increasing the area of tree 
and scrub cover across the AONB. This includes direct delivery through 
programmes such as Tees Swale – Naturally Connected, and the Heart 
of the Pennines Forest project, supporting landowners to increase tree 
cover through our woodland officers, or providing grant aid, crucially to 
support tree establishment following the principles of the ‘right tree, in 
the right place, for the right reason’. 

55 Hay meadow restoration has been a focus of the team for many years, 
with thousands of meadows surveyed and the species richness of 
around 500 hectares restored. 

56 The management of rivers and wetlands includes work with the coal 
authority on minewater pollution remediation to support biodiversity. The 
team is currently engaged in the creation of a series of scrapes and 
small wetlands across farmland. The team is continuing to work with the 
Environment Agency and Wear Rivers Trust on natural flood 
management in Weardale. Species-specific work has included a focus 
on curlew, water voles and waders; the team is represented in the 

Page 248



 

national Raptor Persecution Priority Delivery Group, as many other fora 
and partnerships aimed at recovering biodiversity. 

57 The team is actively engaged in delivering the LNRS across 3 counties 
and is helping to lead the work in County Durham through Chairing the 
Ecological Emergency Board of the County Durham Environment 
Partnership. 

58 The Land of Oak and Iron is a National Lottery funded landscape scale 
partnership extending over 177 square miles in and around the Derwent 
Valley, part of which is in County Durham with the remainder in 
Gateshead and Northumberland. In 2016 the three authorities joined 
forces with Groundwork NE to successfully bid for Lottery funding to 
develop a four-year programme worth over £5 million to promote and 
improve the areas rich natural and cultural heritage; ranging from 
woodland regeneration to restoring historic early industrial structures 
and a state of the art visitor centre. 

59 Now in a legacy phase, there is a trust in place to manage and maintain 
the programme going forward which includes the founding lead partners 
including the Council. Amongst recent achievements are arrangements 
for extension of contract to summer 2023 for a dedicated woodland 
manager working on woodland regeneration and community projects 
within the area. 

60 Discover Brightwater began as a £3.3 million Landscape Partnership 
programme with the aim to ‘reveal, restore and celebrate life around the 
River Skerne’ in County Durham. Largely funded initially by the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund (£2.7 million) it covers a 200 sq km area of the 
Tees Lowlands from the Trimdons in the north east to Shildon in the 
west and Darlington in the south. The concept was created by the Local 
Nature Partnership and is led by Durham Wildlife Trust working in close 
partnership with a wide range of partners. 

61 Discover Brightwater has already delivered approximately 20km of 
improved in-river and riverbank (riparian) habitats, through the use of 
natural techniques including flow deflectors and using brash bundles to 
encourage the river to re-meander to improve oxygenation in low-flow 
sections of the river. 

62 Delivery is currently focussed on approximately 80 ha of restored 
wetland which will be completed before the programme ends in March 
2024. One location, Bishop’s Fen, centres on an area of DCC land 
which has been leased to Durham Wildlife Trust to create a wetland 
nature reserve between Hardwick Park and Bishop Middleham. 

63 Discover Brightwater has also successfully leveraged in an additional 
£1.1million (from Veolia Environmental Trust, the Environment Agency, 

Page 249



 

DCC, National Highways and Northumbrian Water) to help with habitat 
and climate mitigation projects, including the purchase of Ricknall Carrs 
near Newton Aycliffe as an additional site for wetland creation. The river 
and wetland projects will deliver extensive benefits to wildlife and help 
to restore natural processes in the Skerne catchment. 

64 Discover Brightwater’s legacy includes the development of proposals for 
the creation of the Great North Fen, a vision for a 500ha patchwork of 
wet grasslands, carrs, fens and ponds at the centre of the Skerne 
catchment. Large projects of this type can provide both significant 
nature restoration and climate change mitigation and adaptation. The 
benefits this might generate for key national infrastructure, such as the 
East Coast Mainline and the A1M, which bisect the project area, is one 
of the elements that will be examined.  The potential for using integrated 
wetlands to remove excess nutrients from the Skerne is another topic 
for consideration and an assessment of all the services the catchment 
can provide - carbon capture, nutrient removal, biodiversity net gain - 
will be at the centre of the Great North Fen legacy plan. 

 

iii  Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change 

65 Parks and Countryside and Children & Young Peoples Services (CYPS) 
are the services with a defined remit under this theme. 

66 A core function of the Parks and Countryside service is to promote the 
Council’s countryside estate, ensuring work is delivered with value to 
communities by having high quality outdoor space nearby.  A Parks and 
Countryside programming team are delivering biodiversity/climate 
change themes through school education events and activities, as well 
as through a programme of guided walks.  The service also supports a 
range of initiative and projects through partnership working across the 
county. 

67 Members have recently agreed to resources and provisions for two new 
staff members as Parks and Countryside Awareness and Community 
Engagement Officers who are focussing on site-based nature recovery 
activities with local communities across the countryside estate.  This will 
provide valuable additional resources for engaging the community in the 
Ecological Emergency response going forward. 

68 New investment in the Parks and Countryside area has allowed for 
further community outreach. Specialist community projects and 
volunteering opportunities will connect the ecological emergency to 
communities on a more personal level. The projects aim to develop a 
greater sense of ownership by giving people the opportunity to see the 

Page 250



 

direct local impact of negative environmental behaviours and increase 
their understanding of the biodiversity value of countryside sites in their 
own neighbourhoods, whilst promoting awareness of wider nature 
recovery strategies and climate change impact. The new investment will 
also support continuing environmental education programmes. 

69 The promotion of the eco-emergency is interlaced throughout the 
outdoor learning programme, incorporating climate change issues 
during all workshops including KS1/2/3, encouraging positive and 
sustainable changes to reduce our individual impact. New workshops 
have been designed that explore the eco-emergency in our locality 
including activities focused on biodiversity, ecology, food, energy and 
weather/ landscape changes. Older students will be engaged through 
the John Muir Award which encourages a responsibility for our 
environment and promotes individual well-being. 

70 In 2012, CYPS engaged in a formal partnership with the charity Outdoor 
and Sustainability Education Specialists (OASES) which has led to a 
wide range of education projects and programmes that have benefitted 
schools across the county over the years.  These have been delivered 
through a range of funding streams – some national, including 
organisations such as Learning Through Landscapes, the National 
Lottery or more local funders such as AAPs’ and Members’ budgets. 

71 Current nature-based projects delivered through this partnership 
working include: 

• The Trees for Children initiative (referred to in paragraph 39) – 
funded by the CERP – working with 70 schools over 3 years to 
plant over 10,000 trees and collect and plant tree seeds in 
collaboration with the Woodland Creation Team and Education; 

• OASES bringing the Forest Schools programme to County 
Durham in 2003.  A hugely successful initiative, it has trained 
hundreds of teachers/ Early Years practitioners in woodland 
activities and enabled many of them to become accredited Forest 
School Leaders; 

• Forest Bathing – an accredited programme to bring the wellbeing 
benefits of woodlands and trees to teachers and young people; 

• Accredited Active Learning - supporting schools to take their 
learning outside to use the local environment as a learning 
resource; 

• Beach Schools – encouraging schools to explore coastal 
environments; 

Page 251



 

• A learning licence for Hamsterley Forest to support education 
visits; 

• Work with Seascapes and the Heritage Coast Partnership across 
Durham and Sunderland to engage schools with the coastal 
environment. 

72 CYPS has an appetite for new initiatives and opportunities to engage 
schools and young people but these need to be resourced 
appropriately.  Key drivers have been identified that could provide 
additional impetus for the expansion of the environmental education 
portfolio should further resources be identified.  These could potentially 
include the Department for Education’s Sustainability and Climate 
Change Strategy, a National Education Nature Park and a new Natural 
History GCSE to be launched in 2025. 

73 Raising awareness and engagement is a key part of the Climate 
Emergency response plan and although there is no specific reference to 
an ecological emergency within the current programme, there are 
obvious synergies between the two emergencies given the 
interdependence between climate change and biodiversity, with 
negative consequences for human health and wellbeing should this 
continue to be harmed. 

74 Biodiversity through the ecosystem services therefore provides an 
important contribution to both climate-change mitigation and adaptation.  
A nature, adaptation and land theme within the CERP’s climate change 
marketing strategy highlights the important role biodiversity can play in 
tackling climate change with actions to promote the issue. 

75 SeaScapes delivers under this theme and in the first year of the project 
3,754 people were involved in 230 different learning, events and 
participation activities. This includes 113 beach cleans, clearing over 
1300 bin bags of rubbish and bulky items such as tyres and shopping 
trolleys from our beaches. 

76 Volunteer Beach Clean Leaders are also trained in the impact of micro 
plastics on the marine environment. Durham Wildlife Trust has 
established a Citizen Science project to train volunteers to survey 
coastal habitats, reporting results to the Environmental Records 
Information Centre for the North East of England. Data paucity was 
recognised as an issue in protection of the marine environment; by 
training volunteers we can better address the lack of protection 
particularly beyond the intertidal zone.  A regular group of young people 
– ‘Beach Rangers’ have produced a short film highlighting concerns 
about climate change on the coast and learned how to record sounds of 
rockpools to better understand these habitats. Beach Tots sessions for 

Page 252



 

pre-school children and their parents are very popular, running weekly 
in the summer. 

77 Pupils in primary and secondary schools are given opportunities to join 
SeaScapes on the beach, or even in the sea. The Royal Yachting 
Association (RYA) has a contract to deliver its ‘Green-Blue’ sailing 
programme for secondary school pupils, resulting in basic sailing skills 
with an overarching theme of environmental awareness. Presentations 
have been made to college students about the impact of human 
behaviour on the marine environment, for example flushing wet wipes 
down the toilet. Many of these students have also joined us on beach 
cleans so they can see the impact for themselves. 

78 The NPOANB recognises the importance of education, awareness and 
communication; the team’s work on citizen science has delivered over 
300 training events for the public and generated over 50,000 new 
wildlife records. 

79 ‘Farming in Protected Landscapes’, a national programme co-designed 
by a group including the AONB Partnership Director, is delivering £2.7m 
of support on farms in the North Pennines over 3 years as part of a 
£52m package from Defra. This is enabling woodland and hedgerow 
creation, grassland restoration and support for nature-friendly farming 
practices. Work more generally with the farming community is partly 
focused on developing farmer clusters and encouraging large-scale 
work across multiple-holdings. 

80 The Durham Heritage Coast aims to encourage and help the public to 
enjoy, understand and appreciate the Durham coast. AAP funding is 
being used to deliver interpretation and engagement materials at the 
Dunes café at Crimdon with delivery in conjunction with SeaScapes. 

81 The partnership is working in conjunction with SeaScapes on a Towns 
and Villages AAP application for ‘Connecting the Coast’ to improve 
considerate access to the coast. It is also involved with access 
rationalisation around Castle Eden Dene mouth and encouraging 
understanding by local people of their environment. 

82 It plays a key coordination role in areas such as acting as Secretariat for 
NE England Coastal Path National Trail (South Shields to Stockton) and 
administer funds via Natural England, and engaging with the destination 
management organisations for sustainable tourism along the DHC area. 

 

Page 253



 

Future Development of the Ecological Emergency Action Plan 

 

83 This current iteration of the EEAP was written within the parameters of 
existing budgets and external funding streams. It is acknowledged that 
expansion of the EEAP will be dependent on taking opportunities that 
arise from any new funding streams and new resources being 
potentially made available. 

84 The development of the strategies within the current EEAP will start to 
bring into focus the potential for Council land holdings to deliver for 
biodiversity and may lead to proposals for more in depth work in future 
iterations of the EEAP. Understanding the amount, type and location of 
Council land available for biodiversity enhancements will enable 
efficient use of developer contributions and agri-environment schemes. 

85 Developing a strategic approach to biodiversity interventions on open 
spaces that delivers on a County-wide basis allows Clean and Green to 
not only maximise delivery in the short term; but also identify constraints 
to the long-term expansion of the programme and any resources 
required to alleviate the situation. 

86 The directing of resources to the assessment of Local Wildlife Sites by 
Parks and Countryside service areas will provide clarity on the condition 
of designated site within the estate.  An understanding of the 
management required to maintain or enhance these sites will inform 
future resource and funding requirements and bring into focus the 
financial implications of any further enhancements across the wider 
Parks and Countryside estate. 

87 CYPS and other services delivering education and awareness raising 
will continue to explore available funding streams and develop new 
programmes were possible. New drivers for the expansion of the 
environmental education portfolio may result in innovative project 
proposals that could be developed either through the provision of new 
resources or any additional funding streams. 

88 The LNRS will provide a county wide strategic approach to nature 
conservation and will highlight the habitats and species of concern and 
provide a guide as to where resources should be directed. The EEAP 
will need to be mindful of the recommendations of the LNRS especially 
in relation to land management and the enhancement and creation of 
semi-natural habitats. 

 

Page 254



 

89 Integrating the CERP and EEAP should be considered in future, given 
the linkages between the Climate and Ecological Emergencies and that 
nature-based solutions are a fundamental mechanism for addressing 
climate change (and delivering wider social and economic benefits). 

90 The current iteration of the EEAP identifies the development of 
strategies that will streamline our activities leading to improvements in 
our delivery; for example, those around the use of Biodiversity Net Gain 
funding, Clean and Green’s management of open spaces and CPaL’s 
work on land allocations and availability. These will provide the baseline 
information, evidence and learning to support the development of an 
Ecological Emergency Strategy that will further focus and improve our 
approach to biodiversity. 

91 Not with standing this, the current EEAP will help the Council focus its 
resources to improve the state of nature within County Durham. As the 
Council refines its approach to the Ecological Emergency future editions 
of the EEAP will improve upon and refine the current actions using the 
learning from the actions to target extant resources and requests for 
further resources to the most beneficial areas. 

  

Page 255



 

Further activity in support of an Ecological Emergency 

 

This section sets out what further action can be taken, and which area of service is responsible for delivery. 

 

i Policies and Strategies 

 

Service Action Potential Outcomes Lead Timescales 

 

Environmental 
Services 

 

 

• Produce an overarching Ecological 
Emergency Strategy: co-ordinating all 
the policy and strategy outcomes of 
the EEAP at a corporate level. 

 

 

Provide a framework for 
more co-ordinated and 

effective action around the 
EEAP themes. 

 

Head of Environment 

 

• December 2023 

 

Environmental 
Services 

 

 

• Commit to the continuous 
development and engagement with 
partners and stakeholders in the 
delivery of landscape scale 
programmes. 
 
 
 

 

Tangible improvements to 
biodiversity at a landscape 

scale. 

 

Head of Environment 

 

• On-going 

P
age 256



 

 

Environmental 
Services  

 

• Development of a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy with the County 
Durham Partnership 
 
 

 

The LNRS; a strategic 
document guiding nature 
conservation in County 
Durham. 

 

The County Durham 
Partnership; The 

Ecological Emergency 
Board 

 

• On-going 

 

 

Ecology / Spatial 
Planning 

 

 

• Produce a Biodiversity Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD), 
concentrating on delivery of 
biodiversity within urban and industrial 
developments. 
 

• Produced Contributions SPD, which 
clarifies the process and options 
available to developers to deliver 
biodiversity net gains. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Delivery for biodiversity 
through the planning 
process is enhanced. 

 

 

 

Principal Ecologist and 
Senior Policy Officer  

 

 

• July 2023 
 

 

• November 2022 
 

P
age 257



 

 

Ecology, 
Countryside, 

Clean and Green 
& Corporate 
Property and 

Land 

 

• Develop a methodology that enables 
developer contributions for BNG to be 
delivered, where appropriate, on 
currently available Council land. 
 
 
The methodology will concentrate on 
directing financial contributions 
towards restoring priority habitats and 
designated sites to good condition. 
 
 
 

 

Enables the funding of 
biodiversity enhancements 
on available Council land 
from BNG. 

 

Principal Ecologist and 
Senior Asset Strategy 

Officer 

 

March 2023 

 

Corporate 
Property and 

Land 

 

• Examine the need for and the 
potential to develop or change 
systems and policies so that the 
system for identifying and allocating 
land for biodiversity purposes is 
optimised.   
 
This action should be cognisant of 
other objectives (such as 
development requirements) and aim 
to provide a balanced approach to 
land allocation which is aware of the 
need to deliver against an ecological 
emergency. 
 

 

 

The need for any changes 
to internal systems are 
identified. 

 

Senior Asset Strategy 
Officer 

 

March 2023 

P
age 258



 

 

Procurement 

 

• Produce systems in relation to an 
Ecological Emergency using the 
model employed by the Climate 
Emergency.  
  

• Options include a PASS/FAIL system, 
detailing specifications, and standards 
for procured services. 
 

 

Ensures that the Council’s 
procurement seeks to avoid 
negative impacts on 
biodiversity. 

 

Chief Procurement 
Officer 

 

March 2023 

 

Legal and 
Democratic 

Services  

 

• Examine the potential to include 
ecological impact implications 
alongside those for climate and 
sustainability in committee and 
Council reports. 

 

 

 

 

Ensures that the Council’s 
decision making does not 
result in negative impacts 
on biodiversity. 

 

Democratic Services 
Manager 

 

September 2023 

 

Clean and Green 
/ Ecology 

 

• Produce a strategy document to 
define the approach to biodiversity 
interventions on public open spaces 
managed by Clean & Green and 
identify constraints to delivery as the 
programme continues to be rolled out 
across the county. 

 
 

 

Delivery of biodiversity 
interventions will be 
optimised within current 
resource availability. 

 

Technical & Service 
Development Manager 
and Principal Ecologist 

 

March 2023 

P
age 259



 

 

Development 
Planning / 

Spatial Planning 
/ CPAL / Ecology 

/ Drainage & 
Coastal 

Protection 
Management 

 

• Engage with partners, especially 
Natural England, to assist in 
developing a strategic solution for 
Nutrient Neutrality. 

 

Legal obligations under 
Conservation of Species 
and Habitats Regulations 
2017 are met and nitrogen 
pollution into the SPA is 
reduced. 

 

Planning Development 
Manager 

 

On-going 

 

  

P
age 260



 

ii Land Management 

 

Service Action Potential Outcomes Lead Timescales 

 

 

Parks and 
Countryside 

 

• Undertake condition assessments of 
designated sites (i.e., Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest and Local Wildlife 
Sites) within the estate. 
 

• Instigate appropriate long-term 
management to restore designated 
sites to good condition when 
resources are made available. 

 

 

 

All designated sites within 
the Parks and Countryside 
Estate will be managed 
appropriately. 

 

 

Principal Parks and 
Countryside Ranger 

 

2023 – 2028 

(a rolling programme of 
condition assessments) 

 

 

 

 

Clean and Green 

 

• Run trials on reduced cutting regimes 
on amenity grassland with a view to 
reducing cutting and encouraging a 
greater floral diversity on sites where 
ceasing management or a single 
annual cut is not a viable option. 
 

• Run trials on non-herbicide use in 
conjunction with Councillors who 
have expressed an interest in this 
subject.  
 

 

Grass cutting regimes on 
sensitive sites are balanced 
between amenity and 
biodiversity. 

 
The extent to which 
herbicide use can be 
reduced across the county 
will be understood. 

 

Clean and Green 
Manager 

 

December 2023 

P
age 261



 

 

Trees and 
Woodland 

Management 
(Cross-Service) 

 

• Consolidate and build on current 
activity to ensure Council woodlands 
assets are managed and maintained 
through current project development 
with a view to robust legacy and 
renewal provisions being in place 
following existing projects 

 

Legacy planning and 
resources sought and 
secured from key funding 
partners & stakeholders: 
e.g., North East Community 
Forest, Forestry 
Commission and National 
Lottery  

 

 

Environment & Design 
Manager 

 

On-going 

 

P
age 262



 

iii Engagement, Education, and Behaviour Change  

 

Service Action Potential Outcomes Lead  Timescales 

 

 

Climate Change 
& Sustainability 

 

• Introduce and promote the Ecological 
Emergency within the CERP 
Marketing Plan under the theme 
Nature, Adaptation and Land. 
 

• Determine the extent to which relevant 
articles relating to the Ecological 
Emergency can be hosted on the 
Climate Change website. 

 

• Investigate the potential to include an 
Ecological Emergency icon and 
relevant links within the Intranet page. 

 

 

 

 

Greater awareness of the 
Ecological Emergency. 

 

 

Communications & 
Engagement Strategy 

Officer and Sustainability 
Education Development 

Advisor 

 

 

 

On-going 

 

CYPS 

 

• Identify ecological improvement 
opportunities for County Durham 
schools and settings through the 
Department for Education 
Sustainability and Climate Change 
Strategy 
 

• Monitor available funding opportunities 
with a view to taking advantage of any 
new funding streams that become 
available. 

 

Enhancement of school 
grounds for nature and 
learning 

 

Greater delivery of 
environmental education 
programmes when new 
funding opportunities arise. 

 

 

Sustainability Education 
Development Advisor 

 

On-going 

P
age 263



 

 

Clean and Green 

 

• Develop standard site signage to use 
when undertaking biodiversity 
interventions on public open space 

 

Greater awareness of the 
Ecological Emergency 
within local communities. 

 

Clean and Green 
Manager 

 

March 2023 

 

 

P
age 264



 

 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet  

14 December 2022 

Quarter Two, 2022/23  

Performance Management Report  

Ordinary Decision   

   

Report of Corporate Management Team  

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present an overview of progress towards achieving the key outcomes of 
the council’s corporate performance framework and highlight key 
messages to inform strategic priorities and work programmes. 

2 The report covers performance in and to the end of quarter two 2022/23, 
July to September 2022. 

Executive Summary 

3 A new Council Plan for 2022-2026 was approved by Council on 22 June. 
This set out a new performance framework for the Council. Corporate 
Management Team committed to the development of a new quarterly 
performance report format, providing greater focus on these issues. This is 
the second report for the new reporting period to follow this format.   

4 The performance report is structured around the two main components.  

(a) State of the County indicators to highlight areas of strategic 
importance and reflected in both the County Durham Vision 2035  
and the Council Plan. 

(b) Performance of council services and progress against major 
initiatives as set out in the Council Plan.  

5 Performance is reported against the five thematic areas within the Council 
Plan 2022-2026: our economy, our environment, our people, our 
communities, and our council.  

Page 267

Agenda Item 6

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/34954/Durham-County-Council-Plan-2022-2026/pdf/CouncilPlan2022-2026.pdf?m=637969523673600000
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/VisionCountyDurham.pdf
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/34954/Durham-County-Council-Plan-2022-2026/pdf/CouncilPlan2022-2026.pdf?m=637969523673600000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/34954/Durham-County-Council-Plan-2022-2026/pdf/CouncilPlan2022-2026.pdf?m=637969523673600000


6 Performance is reported on an exception basis with key messages under 
each of the thematic Council Plan areas being broken down into national, 
regional and local picture, things that are going well, areas which require 
attention and other areas to note.   

7 We are continuing our transition into a post-pandemic world, but the 
impacts of COVID-19 can still be seen in our performance reporting. The 
last two financial years are not representative for many areas of 
performance and will be an unfair comparison due to pandemic impacts.  

8 We have therefore, wherever possible, tried to make the comparison of 
current performance against pre-pandemic data. Whilst COVID-19 
continues to impact on certain performance metrics, there is evidence of 
some areas returning to pre-pandemic levels.  

9 Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II died on 8 September and the county 
council were involved together with the Lord Lieutenant in the 
arrangements to mark this passing and the proclamation of the accession 
of King Charles III within the county. The official period of mourning and the 
additional national bank holiday for the date of the State Funeral on 19 
September also resulted in several events being cancelled and the closure 
of public buildings.  

10 The report highlights economic indicators are positive in several areas for 
the county, including higher employment levels, more apprentice 
opportunities, increased investment, high demand for business space and 
a recovering tourism sector. 

11 Some health indicators are also showing a more positive trend with 
smoking during pregnancy reducing, albeit we remain above national 
averages, a narrowing gap with the national average for breastfeeding at 6-
8 weeks, people discharged from hospital into reablement or rehabilitation 
services who remained at home 91 days later is the highest figure for four 
years. 

12 The council is responding to the Ukrainian refugee crisis through a multi-
agency group to ensure a holistic package of support and latest data shows 
438 refugees had been accommodated in the county.      

13 However, the largest challenge for our residents, local businesses and the 
council is the current cost of living crisis. Inflation is currently running at 
10.1%1 with the Bank of England expecting to remain above 10% for a few 
months before starting to drop2. The inflationary increase is largely driven 
by the rise in the cost of fuel and energy bills, which is being impacted 
significantly by world events, including the war in Ukraine, and currency 
markets.  

 
1 UK Consumer Price Index for 12 months to September 2022 
2 Bank of England  

Page 268

https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/knowledgebank/will-inflation-in-the-uk-keep-rising


14 The cost-of-living crisis has a triple impact on the council.  

(a) It impacts on our residents. High inflation is outstripping wage and 
benefit increases so income is falling in real terms. This will result in 
increased demand for services to help support people facing financial 
hardship or who are in crisis and services provided to vulnerable 
people such as social care for children and adults.  

(b) Increased costs for the council. Our premises and transport costs 
have increased because of the rise in energy costs and fuel prices, 
and, also the cost of other supplies and services where prices have 
increased as suppliers face similar issues themselves. It is also 
anticipated that employee costs will increase by more than in previous 
years when the pay settlement is negotiated to accommodate inflation.  

(c) Reduced income for the council. Users of council services may seek 
to save money resulting in a fall in income from discretionary services 
such as leisure centres and theatres.  

15 Other areas which require attention relate to the employment rate for those 
with a disability, occupancy rates across our some of our town centres, 
evidence of worsening mental health in the county, and the increasing 
numbers of rough sleepers. The amount of waste going to landfill and high 
levels of contamination of household kerbside recycling, and leisure 
centres usage. Staff recruitment and retention is proving difficult in some 
areas of the council, and employee sickness has broadly returned to pre-
pandemic levels. 

Recommendation 

16 That Cabinet notes the overall position and direction of travel in relation to 
quarter two performance, the continuing impact of COVID-19 and the 
increased cost of living on the council’s performance, and the actions being 
taken to address areas of underperformance including the significant 
economic and well-being challenges because of the pandemic. 

 
 

  

Page 269



Analysis of the Performance Report 

Going well 

Our economy 

17 Business Durham’s property rental portfolio has an occupancy rate of 96%, 
up from 95% last year.  

18 Almost 64,000 people attended our festivals during the quarter including 
30,000 at Bishop Auckland Food Festival in April. Bishop Auckland Food 
Festival generated a direct economic impact of almost £420,000 - a 697% 
return on our £60,000 Investment. Evaluation of the festivals held this 
quarter and will be included in the quarter three report. 

Our environment 

19 Latest data shows a 57% reduction in carbon emissions from the 1990 
baseline, but emissions from transport remains a significant challenge. 

20 We have made improvements to the National Cycle Network through the 
use of £1.2 million funding with a two-kilometre stretch between the A19 
and Dawdon; the boardwalk at Pesspool Wood; a section of the route 
between the A182 at South Hetton to Pesspool Lane; and the stretch from 
the new Jade development at Seaham to the old coke works at South 
Hetton. 

21 £1.25 million of funding will allow us to create 100 new electric vehicle (EV) 
charging points, mainly across rural areas where there is less infrastructure 
and in areas where residents do not have access to off-street parking. 

Our people  

22 In the six months ending 30 September, 883 families were turned around 
via the Stronger Families programme. 822 attained significant and 
sustained outcomes and 61 maintained continuous employment. 

23 The Stop Smoking Service is increasing activity in Level 2 providers such 
as GPs and pharmacies and funding to support smokers with mental health 
issues has been received.  

24 Face-to-face breastfeeding support groups have been re-established, with 
additional targeted support in the East where rates continue to be lower 
than other localities. 

Our communities 

25 During quarter two, regeneration projects supported 25 businesses and 
created 64 FTEs, 315m2 of business space was brought back into use and 
59 new retail businesses were engaged with.  Seven businesses were 
supported by Targeted Business Improvement funding, 13 by Towns & 

Page 270



Villages Programme, two by Seaham Townscape Heritage Programme, 
two by the Property Refuse Scheme (PRS) and one via Conservation Area 
Grant Scheme (CAGs).  

26 In addition, 336 net new homes were delivered, and 68 empty properties 
brought back into use following local authority intervention. 

27 Occupancy rates in six of the 13 town centres surveyed are above the 
national average of 86%: Seaham (94%); Barnard Castle (89%), Consett 
(88%), Crook (88%), Chester-Le-Street (87%) and Ferryhill (87%). 

28 438 of the 524 people who had established contact with residents through 
the ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme have arrived in the county. 

Our council 

29 Performance Development Reviews (PDRs) are an integral part of 
manager-employee engagement including one-to-ones, supervisions, and 
team meetings.  

30 Our PDR cycle is continuing, and the latest performance data shows that 
the process was complete for 117 leaders (100%), 964 managers (95%) 
and 5,799 core employees (75%). This represents both digital and non-
digital completions. The overall percentage of PDR completions is 78%. 
The next PDR cycle has begun with leaders required to complete their 
PDRs by 31 December 2022.    

31 465 employees are currently enrolled on our apprenticeship programme, 
equating to 2.6% of our workforce. 72 new apprentices started at the 
council in August and September, and an additional 33 are being recruited. 
The retention rate for apprentices is 71%. 

Areas which require attention 

Our economy 

32 Although the employment rate for those with a disability is statistically 
similar to last quarter (around 46%), the gap with England has widened 
over the last two years to 11 percentage points. 

33 Although theatre performances were well attended during quarter two, 
cinema screenings had low audience numbers.  

34 Although 97% of respondents to our survey rated the ‘whole experience’ at 
our theatres as ‘good’ or ‘very good’, only 70% rated the food and drinks 
facilities as ‘good’ or ‘very good’. The main reason for dissatisfaction was 
long queues and slow service. 

Our environment  

Page 271



35 6% more waste tonnage was collected and disposed of during the latest 12 
months compared to pre-pandemic. This increase has continued as a 
legacy from the pandemic and in the main is believed to be due to public 
behaviour change with people continuing to perform a level of home 
working, which means waste enters the domestic waste stream managed 
by the council, rather than through the workplace and into private trade 
waste streams.  

36 The recycling rate is broadly the same as it was last year but remains well 
below pre-pandemic levels of performance. Contamination of household 
kerbside recycling remains an issue with around a third of waste collected 
for recycling not being recyclable. This is being tackled through a new 
countywide contamination campaign.  

37 Higher levels of local authority waste is a regional issue causing capacity 
issues at the energy from waste plant, with DCC inputting the highest 
single local authority input into the plant. The proportion of waste diverted 
from landfill therefore remains below target.  

Our people 

38 Verified rough sleepers continue to rise due to the current financial climate; 
of 328 reports, 139 rough sleepers were verified, up by 18 on last quarter. 
The rough sleeper team is seeing more new presentations to the streets 
rather than returners. Available accommodation does not meet demand.  

39 There were 197 admissions under the Mental Health Act for assessment 
(Section 2) and for treatment (Section 3) during the quarter, and this 
continues to be higher than pre-pandemic levels (172) and latest data show 
suicides have increased and there is a widening gap with regional and 
national rates.  Work continues to focus on preventing the escalation of 
people’s low level mental ill-health.  

40 The proportion of adult social care users receiving an annual review has 
continued to reduce and is now the lowest ever recorded (58%). The Adult 
Care service has provided additional resource to address this issue and 
performance is expected to improve during 2023. 

41 Post-pandemic pressures have led to budget shortfalls in Leisure Centre 
income. Visitor numbers are being impacted by the current economic crisis, 
the temporary closure of the main pool at Consett for repairs to be 
undertaken and the temporary closure of Abbey Leisure Centre to facilitate 
the refurbishment works.  £1.537 million has been utilised from central 
contingencies to support budget shortfalls as a result of post-COVID 
pressures in respect of leisure centre income. 

42 Gym memberships are below target with cancellation rates higher than 
quarter one. There are no clear reasons why people are cancelling. 10% of 
people who participated in the Move programme have converted to a paid 

Page 272



membership (affordability was identified as the main barrier for those who 
didn’t).   

43 Filling staff vacancies and providing training increased homelessness 
preventions by 42%, which in turn reduced the number of cases going into 
relief (down 7% compared to quarter one). Households where there was an 
acceptance of the main homeless duty has almost halved. 

Our communities 

44 Free wi-fi in Crook, Spennymoor and Consett has been further delayed to 
April 2023 due to the continued global shortage of hardware.  

45 Reports of anti-social behaviour (ASB) decreased by 5% compared to the 
same period last year. However, the reduction is being driven by a 
significant fall in environmental ASB which is masking increases across the 
strands of nuisance (14% higher than pre-pandemic) and personal (66% 
higher than pre-pandemic). Reports from the frontline staff suggest this 
reflects less tolerance across our communities and a deterioration in 
mental health from the pandemic which is driving behaviour. Deliberate 
fires continue to be an issue, predominantly in the east of the county. 

46 Although our selective licensing scheme came into effect on 1 April 2022, 
only 17% of eligible properties are fully licenced. A further 9% of properties 
have submitted applications.   

Our council 

47 Councils are warning the triple impact of spiralling inflation, high energy 
costs and wage increases will increase budget pressures. We also expect 
increased demand for support services due to the cost-of-living crisis, and 
a reduction in our income generating services, such as gym memberships, 
and theatre and cinema attendance.  

48 More households are seeking financial assistance through our welfare 
assistance, Council Tax Reduction and Housing Benefit schemes. During 
quarter two, there was a 20% increase in claims for welfare assistance and 
146 households were helped save an average of £143 per household 
through Managing Money Better. 

49 43% of our workforce is currently aged over 50 years and we expect this 
will increase over the next five years to around half. Staff turnover currently 
stands at 9.0%, higher than the pre-pandemic figure of 7.2% but lower than 
the national average of around 10%. The Council makes an allowance for 
staff turnover in staffing budgets, and although staff recruitment remains a 
challenge, we are working to improve candidate reach and attraction, as 
well as reviewing our employee benefits. 

50 The latest sickness absence rate is 12.08 days per full-time equivalent 
(FTE). 12% of reported sickness was COVID-related, and if we extract this 

Page 273



from our data set, then our re-calculated rate of 10.50 days per FTE is 
broadly in line with our pre-pandemic position of 10.87. 

51 Sickness increased across all categories except musculo-skeletal 
(back/neck) and neurological. Days lost to ‘mental health and fatigue’ was 
14% higher than pre-pandemic, driven by increases in work-related stress, 
exhaustion/fatigue and bipolar disorder.  

52 During the last 12 months, 75% of employees recorded less than five days 
sickness and 58% recorded no sickness at all. 

Other areas of note  

Our economy 

53 Post-consultation engagement with all partners and stakeholders is now 
complete and the Inclusive Economic Strategy is scheduled to go to 
Cabinet for approval in December. 

54 Inward investment, businesses intensively assisted, and businesses 
engaged with Business Durham all performed well this quarter. The County 
Durham Growth Fund awarded £127,879 to 12 small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SME) and Finance Durham awarded a further £200,000 to one 
company.  

55 An additional £3.5 million of capital funding from the Rural England 
Prosperity Fund to support rural businesses and rural communities has 
been received and we are investigating how to target this spending to best 
effect. An update will be provided at quarter three. 

56 The business case for the £125,000 runner-up award (UK City of Culture 
2025) has been approved by the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport. A project plan has been developed for each work strand (place labs, 
programme development, congregate) and the rebranding to The Culture 
County will be launched shortly. 

57 Although 146 households were helped save an average of £143 during 
quarter two (through Managing Money Better), making savings is becoming 
more difficult due to fewer competitive energy tariffs. More people 
contacted the team for advice on fuel debt.  

Our environment 

58 We have submitted a strategic outline business case to create a passenger 
rail service running between Weardale and Darlington.  

Our people 

59 307 more people presented to Housing Solutions during quarter two (+9%) 
compared to last quarter, mostly due to landlords wanting to sell their 
property, rent arrears, or family no longer willing to accommodate.   

Page 274



60 The Health Needs Assessment to identify local assets that could help 
improve the health and wellbeing of people aged 50 and over is complete, 
and we now have recommendations for new ways for working and ways to 
reduce stigma and ageism.  

61 The Tier 2 Adult Weight Management Service has been extended to all 
residents with a BMI over 25. This was promoted throughout September 
and referrals have been recruited onto the 12-week programme.  

Our communities 

62 The introduction of a Durham Rental Standard has been further delayed to 
December while we await legal advice on the proposal to provide funding to 
landlords to become accredited with the National Residential Landlords 
Association. 

Our council   

63 Price inflation is driving significant upward pressure across a range of 
budgets with increases in some areas of council spend being higher than 
the current CPI of 10.1%. Our capital budgets are also under pressure due 
to increases in both construction costs and interest rates, and during 
quarter two, we paused all capital projects that have yet to commence 
which are principally funded from borrowing.  

64 Social Care is forecast to be over budget for the year by £13 million, mostly 
due to the cost of placements for children looked after as significantly more 
children are now in the care system and needs are more complex.  

65 Home to School Transport is forecast to overspend by £0.8 million (after 
taking account of £4 million as inflationary pressures to be funded 
corporately). In addition to inflationary pressures affecting contract prices, 
more contracts are reflecting changes in demand. 

66 We have created a £10 million Budget Support Reserve to assist with 
inflationary pressures within 2022/23. Our financial position going forward 
remains uncertain until we receive our financial settlement from the 
government later this year.  

67 Reported contacts continue to increase. This is mainly due to transferring 
lines to the automatic call distribution telephony system.  

68 The proportion of contact which is digital continues to increase with more 
customers accessing services through do-it-online and the open portal 
system, receiving council tax bills via e-mail, and communicating through 
webchat. 

69 Service requests received through our Customer Relationship Management 
system was 22% than pre-pandemic volume, 55% had a performance 
standard (which was met in 78% of cases), and 82% of respondents to our 
satisfaction survey stated they were satisfied with service delivery.   

Page 275



70 The council has started a major project to implement an enterprise 
analytics platform which will enable us to join together data from 18 of 
major line of business IT systems to provide new insights and citizen 
indexed data such as a single view of the child, single view of the adult and 
single view of the family. It will also lay the foundations for a more 
diagnostic and predictive approach to data analytics in future making us 
more data driven as an organisation and help deliver better outcomes for 
our residents.  

71 Adult social care, children’s social care and home to school transport have 
been prioritised and work is progressing to give us better analytics and help 
inform our budgeting and medium-term financial planning.   

72 Accreditations and awards during quarter two include: our mobile repairs 
system app won ‘Best Innovation or Demand Management Initiative’ award 
from the Association for Public Sector Excellence (APSE); ‘Green’ status in 
the Investors in the Environment accreditation scheme, and our e-learning 
awareness course for those issued a fixed penalty notice for littering was 
shortlisted for a ‘StreetScene Innovation’ award from APSE. 

Performance Indicators – Summary 

73 We are now transitioning into a post-pandemic world, but the impacts of 
COVID-19 can still be seen in our performance reporting. The last two 
financial years are not representative for many areas of performance and 
will be an unfair comparison due to pandemic impacts.  

74 We have therefore, wherever possible, tried to make the comparison of 
current performance against pre-pandemic data.  

75 A summary table of the performance indicators in the report is included 
here: 

 Direction of Travel  
(12 months previous) 

Direction of Travel  
(pre-COVID) 

N
o

t 
a

v
a
ila

b
le

 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

S
ta

ti
c
 

D
e

te
ri
o

ra
ti
n

g
 

N
o

t 
a

v
a
ila

b
le

 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

S
ta

ti
c
 

D
e

te
ri
o

ra
ti
n

g
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e
 t

o
 

T
a
rg

e
t 

No target set - 
tracker 

32 34 9 32 47 25 6 29 

Meeting or 
exceeding target 

4 21 1 3 6 14 4 5 

Within 2% of 
target 

        

More than 2% 
behind target 

 11 2 5 2 3 3 10 

Risk Management 

Page 276



76 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and improvement 
projects. The latest report can be found here.  

 

 

 

Background papers  

• County Durham Vision (County Council, 23 October 2019) 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115064/Draft%20Durham%
20Vision%20v10.0.pdf 

Other useful documents 

• Council Plan 2022 to 2026 (current plan) 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=56529  

• Quarter Four, 2021/22 Performance Management Report 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s157533/Year%20End%20pe
rformance%20report%202021-22.pdf  

• Quarter Three, 2021/22 Performance Management Report 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s152742/Performance%20Re
port%202021-22%20003.pdf 

• Quarter Two, 2021/22 Performance Management Report 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149087/Q2%20Performance
%20Report%202021-22%20-%20Cabinet.pdf 

• Quarter One, 2021/22 Performance Management Report 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144872/Q1%20Performance
%20Report%202021-22.pdf 

Author 

Andy Palmer   Tel:  03000 268551 

  

Page 277

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=155&MId=14388&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115064/Draft%20Durham%20Vision%20v10.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115064/Draft%20Durham%20Vision%20v10.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=56529
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s157533/Year%20End%20performance%20report%202021-22.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s157533/Year%20End%20performance%20report%202021-22.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s152742/Performance%20Report%202021-22%20003.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s152742/Performance%20Report%202021-22%20003.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149087/Q2%20Performance%20Report%202021-22%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149087/Q2%20Performance%20Report%202021-22%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144872/Q1%20Performance%20Report%202021-22.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144872/Q1%20Performance%20Report%202021-22.pdf


Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring process. 

Climate Change 

We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications of 

climate change in our reports and decision-making. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has been 

included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated 

into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 278



Appendix 2      

 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 

Quarter Two, 2022/23
 

Page 279



1.0  Our Economy: National, Regional & Local Picture 

1 Over the last 15 months, more people have become ‘economically inactive’, (mainly 

returning to education, looking after family / home, or suffering sickness long-term). 

This suggests people are moving out of the labour market rather than into 

employment.  

2 Although the employment rate for those with a disability is statistically similar to last 

quarter (around 46%), the gap with England has widened over the last two years to 

11 percentage points.  

1.1  Council Activity: Going Well 

Business Durham Floor Space  

3 96% of floor space is occupied: NETPark remains at 100%, industrial properties at 

97% and offices at 89%. More than £1.8 million of income was generated during 

quarter two, £0.5 million more than the same quarter last year.  

Business Durham: activity during quarter two 

4 278 businesses were engaged and 143 assisted. Engagement events included Net 

Zero Carbon Business Showcase, supply chain / meet the buyer events for the 

Routes to Contracts Success / County Durham £ and Phase 3 of NETPark.  

5 79 jobs were created and 267 safeguarded, which is on track to achieve the annual 

target of 1,500.   

Better Health at Work (BHAW) Award 

6 Five additional organisations expressed an interest in the BHAW award during 

quarter two.  Business Durham has agreed to incorporate the award into their 

website thereby raising its profile.  

7 A regional BHAW offer is being developed with the LA7 authorities, focusing on an 

organisation’s contribution to good pay, meaningful employment and local economic 

regeneration. 

Festivals 

8 Just over 28,000 people attended Seaham Food Festival and more than 35,600 

attended the BRASS festival. Evaluation of these events will be included in the 

quarter three report. 

Page 280



9 The Bishop Auckland Food Festival, attended by 30,000 visitors and 137 traders, 

generated a direct economic impact of £418,440. A 697% return on our £60,000 

investment.  

Visits to council owned museums during quarter two 

10 There were almost 48,000 visits.   

▪ Killhope Lead Mining Museum: 6,880 visitors - more than quarter one, following a 

busy summer programme, the café and gift shop continue to be popular. 

▪ DLI Collection at Sevenhills: 11,063 visitors - an increase on quarter one. 

Numbers include visitors to the DLI gallery and medal viewing, people engaged 

through formal/informal learning, visitors to Sevenhills, research enquiries and 

online visitors to our temporary exhibitions. 

▪ Durham Town Hall: 6,589 visitors - significant increase on quarter one (1,270) 

due to Durham Fringe Festival.  

▪ Bishop Auckland Town Hall: 23,336 visitors – lower than quarter one but income 

is up. The café remains popular with an increased income this quarter. Room 

bookings continue to increase. 

1.2  Council Activity: Areas which require attention 

Theatres: Gala, Bishop Auckland Town Hall and Empire 

11 Theatre performances were well attended during quarter two, but cinema screenings 

had low audience numbers.  

12 Theatres were impacted by the death of Her Majesty the Queen with two theatre 

performances and all cinema screenings over two days cancelled due to her funeral.  

13 Overall, across the three venues, respondents to our survey3 rated the following as 

‘good’ or ‘very good’: 

▪ Ticket booking experience: 95% 

▪ Staff welcome: 95% 

▪ Food and drink facilities: 70% 

▪ Quality of event: 97% 

▪ Value for money: 96% 

▪ Whole experience: 97% 

14 The most frequent causes for complaint in relation to food and drink facilities with 

long queues and slow service being cited as issues. 

 
3 January to October 2022. After every performance, the survey is sent to attendees for which we have an e-mail address Page 281



1.3  Council Activity: Other Areas to Note 

Inclusive Economic Strategy  

15 Post-consultation engagement with all partners and stakeholders is now complete. 

The strategy is scheduled to be considered for approval by Cabinet in December. 

Investments 

16 During quarter two, there were two inward investments, 12 small and medium 

enterprises (SME) received a combined grant of £127,879 from the County Durham 

Growth Fund, an e-company received £200,000 via the Finance Durham Fund, and 

grants were paid through the Digital Drive Programme (designed to help small 

businesses better use digital technology).  

Funding 

17 An additional £3.5 million of capital funding to support rural businesses and rural 

communities has been received from the Rural England Prosperity Fund and we are 

investigating how to target this money to best effect. An update will be provided in 

quarter three. 

18 The business case for the £125,000 runner-up award (UK City of Culture 2025) has 

been approved by the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport. The grant 

must be spent by 31 March 2023. A project plan has been developed for each work 

strand4 and the rebranding to The Culture County will be launched shortly. 

Employability programmes 

19 Referrals increased during quarter two due to the Ukrainian settlement scheme 

(+143%). However, registrations decreased as language barriers increased the time 

to register, people gained employment before registration was complete and more 

clients were mandated to the Government’s Restart Scheme.5 

20 During the quarter, 91 people progressed into employment and seven into education 

or training from employability programmes.  

Energy efficiency advice and support 

21 Although 146 households were helped save an average of £143 per household 

during quarter two (through Managing Money Better), making savings is becoming 

more difficult due to fewer competitive energy tariffs. More people contacted the 

team for advice on fuel debt.  

 
4 Place labs, Programme Development and Congregate 
5 Enhanced support for Universal Credit claimants who have been out of work for at least 9 months Page 282



2.0  Our Environment: National, Regional & Local Picture 

22 The carbon emission rate across the county is four tonnes per person (the Northeast 

is 4.7 and England is 4.3). 

2.1  Council Activity: Going Well 

Carbon Reduction 

23 Latest data shows a 57% reduction in carbon emissions from the 1990 baseline, with 

emissions from transport remaining a challenge. 

24 £1.25 million of funding from the government's Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 

(LEVI) pilot scheme will create 100 new EV charge points, mainly across rural areas 

where there is less infrastructure and in areas where residents do not have access to 

off-street parking. 

25 A ‘try before you buy’ scheme to encourage businesses to use electric vehicles has 

saved over 3,300kg in carbon emissions since April 2022. 

26 Using £1.24 million of funding we have made significant improvements to the 

National Cycle Network: a two-kilometre stretch between the A19 and Dawdon; the 

boardwalk at Pesspool Wood; a section of the route between the A182 at South 

Hetton to Pesspool Lane; and the stretch from the new Jade development at 

Seaham to the old coke works at South Hetton. 

2.2  Council Activity: Areas which require attention 

Waste 

27 6% more waste tonnage was collected and disposed of during the latest 12 months 

compared to pre-pandemic. This increase has continued as a legacy from the 

pandemic and in the main is believed to be due to public behaviour change, with 

people continuing to perform a level of home working which means waste enters the 

domestic waste stream managed by the council, rather than through the workplace 

and into private trade waste streams. 

28 Higher levels of local authority waste are a regional issue causing capacity issues at 

the energy from waste plant, with DCC inputting the highest single local authority 

input into the plant. The proportion of waste diverted from landfill therefore remains 

below target.  

Page 283



29 The recycling rate is broadly the same as it was last year but remains well below pre-

pandemic levels of performance. This is due to factors such as legislative changes 

relating to the recycling of carpets resulting in more carpets having to be managed 

as residual waste and the high levels of contamination in the recycling collected from 

households.  

30 Contamination of household kerbside recycling is being tackled through a new 

countywide contamination campaign. The initial task of renewing bin stickers 

showing which items can be placed in each bin has been rolled out and this is 

starting to have an impact on public attitude towards contaminated bins. 

2.3  Council Activity: Other Areas to Note 

Restoring Your Railway Programme 

31 We have submitted a strategic outline business case to create a passenger rail 

service running between Darlington and Weardale.  

3.0 Our People: National, Regional & Local Picture 

32 The next data release from the National Child Measurement Programme is expected 

in November 2022, but provisional findings at a national level suggest we will see a 

reduction in the proportion of year 6 children who are of a healthy weight.  

33 Latest data shows an increase in suicides and a widening gap between County 

Durham and the regional and national rates. Work has continued to target ‘high 

frequency areas’ such as Newton Cap Viaduct whilst partners including Wellbeing for 

Life have focused on a targeted community response in Bishop Auckland and 

Shildon.  

34 Research shows that around two-thirds of people who die by suicide are not in 

contact with mental health services 12 months prior to their death. The ‘Now You are 

Talking’ campaign (an initiative that encourages people to open up about their 

mental health) has been evaluated with further work to develop the approach across 

the county. 

3.1 Council Activity: Going Well 

Smoking 

35 The Stop Smoking Service is increasing activity in Level 2 providers such as GPs 

and pharmacies. Formal training is available to ensure providers can advise on 

nicotine addiction and treatment options.  Page 284

https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport
https://www.durham.gov.uk/adultmentalhealthsupport


36 Funding to support smokers with mental health issues has been received (from the 

Office for Health Improvement and Disparities).  

Breastfeeding 

37 Face-to-face breastfeeding support groups have been re-established, with additional 

targeted support in the East where rates continue to be lower than other localities. 

38 Work to better understand the barriers to breastfeeding is underway. The findings 

will help shape our future programme of education and promotion. 

Housing Solutions 

39 More people presented to Housing Solutions during quarter two (+9%) mostly due to 

landlords wanting to sell their property, rent arrears, or family no longer willing to 

accommodate. 

40 Of the 924 households helped to stay in their home, 98% was due to advice and 

intervention work - 166 households received adaptations via a Disabled Facilities 

Grant and a further five via the Financial Assistance Policy (owner occupiers and 

loans). The remaining 2% (19 households) were helped to stay through negotiation / 

mediation with landlords, friends, or family. 

41 237 households were helped to move into alternative accommodation during quarter 

two. Filling staff vacancies and providing training increased homelessness 

preventions by 42%, which in turn reduced the number of cases going into relief 

(down 7% compared to quarter one). Households where there was an acceptance of 

the main homeless duty has almost halved. 

Stronger Families Programme 

42 883 families (against the 2022/23 target of 760) were turned around via the Stronger 

Families programme in the six months ending 30 September 2022: 822 attained 

significant and sustained outcomes and 61 maintained continuous employment. 

3.2  Council Activity: Areas which require attention 

Mental Health and Wellbeing / Suicides 

43 Admissions under the Mental Health Act for assessment (Section 2) or treatment 

(Section 3) continue to be higher than pre-pandemic.   

44 Work continues to focus on improving financial resilience, reducing poverty, 

promoting positive relationships, reducing substance misuse and homelessness to 

prevent the escalation of people’s low level mental ill health.  

Page 285



45 As part of our ‘Mental Health at Scale Programme’ we commissioned ‘Lets Connect’ 

to deliver a programme of free Level 2 training for SMEs to support the mental health 

and resilience of their staff. A multimedia campaign promoting mental wellbeing has 

also been delivered across the county.  

Adult Social Care: Service Users receiving a review / assessment in last 12 

months 

46 This indicator continues to decline, and the latest data (58.5%) is the lowest ever 

recorded. The Adult Care Service has provided further resource to address this issue 

and performance is expected to improve during 2023.  

Children’s Social Care 

47 The continuation of an increasing trend in both children looked after and children in 

need6, combined with more complex cases, has led to caseload pressures for some 

social workers. We are reviewing our workforce strategy with colleagues in HR to 

focus on the recruitment and retention of social care staff. 

48 More children in care have led to increased placement pressures, which are 

reflected both regionally and nationally. We are focusing on increasing the capacity 

in our own in-house children’s homes, recruiting more foster carers, and working with 

children and their families to prevent them entering care. 

Rough Sleepers  

49 Verified rough sleepers continue to rise due to the current financial climate: of 328 

reports, 139 rough sleepers were verified, up by 18 on last quarter.  

50 The rough sleeper team is seeing more new presentations to the streets rather than 

returners. Reasons for new presentations are clients who were previously sofa-

surfing with friends or family, relationship breakdowns and impact of the cost-of-living 

crisis. There are fewer clients returning to the streets due to more longer-term 

options and support available through County Durham Lettings Agency (CDLA) and 

private rented sector. 

51 However, the nine crash pads and nine complex needs beds do not meet current 

demand. CDLA is working with other departments to make properties available, and 

we are moving people ready to sustain mainstream tenancies to free up 

accommodation. During quarter two, 23 rough sleepers were assisted into long term 

accommodation. 

52 The conversion of Shildon People’s Centre into four self-contained flats has been 

delayed to January 2023, due to additional asbestos being found.  

 
6 includes our children in care as well as children in need, children on a child protection plan and care leavers Page 286

https://www.eastdurhamtrust.org.uk/mind---lets-connect.html


Leisure Centres 

53 Visitor numbers are being impacted by the current economic crisis. Other factors are 

the temporary closure of the main pool at Consett, the mourning period for Her 

Majesty the Queen and the temporary closure of Abbey Leisure Centre as part of the 

transformation programme. 

54 10% of the 3,193 people who participated in the Move programme have converted to 

a paid membership with affordability being identified as the main barrier for those 

who did not.   

55 Gym memberships are below target with cancellation rates higher than quarter one. 

A mechanism to collect feedback on the reasons for gym membership cancellations 

is now and we are now starting to collect and analyse this data.  

3.3  Council Activity: Other Areas to Note 

Improving Healthy Life Expectancy 

56 The Health Needs Assessment to identify local assets that could help improve the 

health and wellbeing of people aged 50 and over is complete, and we now have 

recommendations for new ways for working and ways to reduce stigma and ageism. 

Recommendations include implementing an Ageing Well group to build upon the 

work of the current steering group and support the development of the Ageing Well 

Strategy.  

Healthy Eating 

57 The Tier 2 Adult Weight Management Service has been extended to all residents 

with a BMI over 25. This was promoted throughout September and referrals have 

been recruited onto the 12-week programme.  

58 We have delivered our first healthy options takeaway masterclass to a target 

audience of independent hot food takeaways owners / managers in Horden and the 

surrounding area. This training promotes healthier changes to cooking practices and 

menu options. An academic evaluation will inform our future plans for this activity. 

4.0  Our Communities: National, Regional & Local Picture 

59 Occupancy rates in six of the 13 town centres surveyed (46%) are above the 

national average of 86%: Seaham (94%); Barnard Castle (89%), Consett (88%), 

Crook (88%), Chester-Le-Street (87%) and Ferryhill (87%).  

Page 287



60 Occupancy rates in the remining seven town centres are below the national average. 

Durham City (86%), Spennymoor (85%), Newton Aycliffe (80%) and Bishop 

Auckland (74%), are below the national average but have improved from last year.  

61 Stanley (83%), Shildon (83%), and Peterlee (67%), are below the national average 

and show a slight decrease on last year. 

62 Bus passenger numbers drastically reduced during the pandemic and services 

needed to be sustained by additional financial support. The council agreed to re-

direct funding from the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) 

budget, which at that time was forecast to be under-claimed by around £2 million due 

to fewer passengers travelling.  

4.1  Council Activity: Going Well 

Housing of Ukrainian refugees 

63 438 of the 524 people who had established contact with our residents through the 

national ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme have arrived in the county. 

64 191 of the 253 sponsors have had guests arrive. Although there were 2,021 online 

expressions of interest for housing Ukrainian families, 1,768 links have not yet been 

made.  

Empty properties 

65 Of the 68 empty properties brought back into use due to local authority intervention, 

11 involved CDLA interventions and 57 by other means, including advice and 

assistance and financial support via empty homes loans.   

Businesses supported and jobs created through regeneration projects 

66 During quarter two, 25 businesses were supported, and 64 FTEs created. Seven 

businesses were supported by Targeted Business Improvement funding, 13 by 

Towns & Villages Programme, two by Seaham Townscape Heritage Programme, 

two by the Property Refuse Scheme (PRS) and one via Conservation Area Grant 

Scheme (CAGs).  

67 315 square metres of business space was also brought back into use as a result of 

businesses supported via PRS and CAGs.  

68 Over the same period, we engaged with 59 new retail businesses. 

Ease of travel  

Page 288



69 Bus passenger numbers remain subdued and temporary financial support is set to 

end in October 2022. The council has agreed to redirect the ENCTS budget during 

2023/24 to support bus services across the county, subject to annual review.   

70 Improvements of roads and footpaths include refurbishing a stretch of footpath from 

Claypath to the junction at Providence Row, and specialist cleaning in Durham 

Market Place, Magdalene steps and Old Elvet Bridge.   

4.2  Council Activity: Areas which require attention 

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) Newton Aycliffe Housing Growth 

programme 

71 Development of the outline planning application and masterplan for Low Copelaw 

are likely to be delayed to summer 2023 due to ongoing nutrient neutrality 

requirements.  

72 Disposal of Woodham, Cobblers Hall and Congreve Terrace is on hold until off site 

mitigation measures for the nutrient neutrality legislation are identified.  

73 The Low Copelaw infrastructure project is under review as we are looking to 

expediate works and change planning approach.  

74 We are seeking to submit detailed planning application for Central Avenue and 

deliver these works, alongside Rushyford Roundabout, and Ricknall Lane in 

2023/24.  

Selective Licensing 

75 Our selective licensing scheme came into effect on 1 April 2022. 4,844 private sector 

properties are now fully licenced, equating to an estimated 17% of all properties 

covered by the scheme. A further 2,581 applications are in the system, which 

equates to a further 9% of properties.   

Digital Infrastructure Provision 

76 Free wi-fi in Crook, Spennymoor and Consett has been further delayed to April 2023 

due to the continued global shortage of hardware.  

77 A new proposal, using alternative technology, is being developed for Durham City as 

we have been unable to secure the required licence agreements from building 

owners. However, this may exceed contract costs. The revised implementation date 

is currently unknown. 

Durham City Heritage Infrastructure 

Page 289



78 Defect repairs in the Market Place, Silver Street and Saddler Street have 

commenced. The project at the Baileys has been delayed pending the outcome of 

the in-year Levelling Up Fund. 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

79 ASB continues to be defined through three strands: environmental7 ASB which 

makes up 63% of the total, nuisance8 which makes up 31% and personal9 which 

makes up 6%. Although reports of ASB reduced by 5% during the 12 months ending 

30 September 2022, compared to the same period last year, this was mainly due to 

a significant fall in environmental ASB, a fall which masked increases across the 

strands of nuisance and personal.  

80 The initial rise in environmental ASB during the pandemic was mainly due to 

residents spending more time at home and/or in their local community, noticing 

more, and having more time to report issues. As we exit the pandemic, levels are 

reducing, but remain 55% higher than pre-pandemic.  

81 The increase in nuisance ASB during the pandemic was mainly due to a spike in 

noise reports. The more recent increase reflects the end of COVID restrictions and 

an increasing trend in deliberate fires, predominantly in the east of the county. 

Nuisance ASB is 14% higher than the pre-pandemic level. 

82 Reports of personal ASB is 66% higher than the pre-pandemic level. Frontline staff 

have identified that these increases reflect less tolerance across our communities 

and deterioration in mental health from the pandemic which is driving behaviour.   

 County Durham Rental Standard10 

83 The Durham Rental Standard has been further delayed to December while we await 

legal advice on the proposal to provide funding to landlords to become accredited 

with the National Residential Landlords Association. 

5.0  Our Council: National, Regional and Local Picture 

 
7 Criminal damage/vandalism/graffiti, environmental cleanliness (e.g., litter, dog-fouling, fly-tipping (both public and private land), 
abandoned shopping trolleys, discarded drug paraphernalia), abandoned cars, pollution (smoke, light, smells) 
8 Noise, rowdy behaviour, nuisance behaviour, drug/substance misuse/dealing, stray animals, deliberate fires, vehicle nuisance 
9 Intimidation, harassment, abuse 
10 a free hybrid accreditation scheme for landlords 

4.3  Council Activity: Other Areas to Note 

Page 290



84 Inflation in the UK which is forecast to peak at around 11%11 in October 2022 is 

resulting in budget pressures. Service areas where energy and fuel are major factors 

are being impacted significantly (more detail).  For example, Home to School 

Transport is forecast to overspend by £0.8 million (after taking account of £4 million 

as inflationary pressures to be funded corporately). In addition to inflationary 

pressures affecting contract prices, more contracts are reflecting changes in 

demand. 

85 Social Care is forecast to be over budget for the year by £13 million, mostly due to 

the cost of placements for children looked after as significantly more children are 

now in the care system and needs are more complex.  Latest data shows that the 

rate of children looked after is 100.7 (per 10,000 population of 0-18 years old) which 

equates to 1,027 children compared to a rate of 93.8 (944 children) pre-pandemic.  

86 Our capital budget is also under pressure due to increases in both construction costs 

and interest rates. During quarter two, we paused all capital projects that have yet to 

commence on site and which are principally funded from borrowing. This includes 

new school builds, council house building programme, towns and villages initiatives, 

the leisure transformation programme as well as any uncommitted sums in other 

areas of the capital programme.  

87 We have created a £10 million Budget Support Reserve to assist with inflationary 

pressures within 2022/23. Our financial position going forward remains uncertain 

until we receive our financial settlement from the government later this year.   

88 Attracting employees remains a challenge. Local and national skills shortages 

continue to drive competition for skilled workers amongst all neighbouring local 

authorities and other employers including the private sector. 

5.1  Council Activity: Going Well 

Accreditations and Awards 

89 Our mobile repairs system app, developed in-house for the building repairs and 

maintenance teams, won ‘Best Innovation or Demand Management Initiative’ award 

from the Association for Public Sector Excellence (APSE).  Recognition was given to 

enhanced service delivery and the app is credited with improved health and safety 

standards, streamlined business processes and financial savings.  

90 ‘Green’ status in the Investors in the Environment accreditation scheme has been 

achieved. 

 
11 UK Consumer Price Index for 12 months to September 2022 Page 291

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s161859/Q1%20Forecast%20of%20Outturn%202022-23%20-%20FINAL%20Cabinet%2014%20September.pdf


91 Our e-learning awareness course for those issued a fixed penalty notice for littering 

has been shortlisted for a ‘StreetScene Innovation’ award from APSE. 

Audit Score (statement of accounts) 

92 A progress report relating to the council’s unaudited statement of accounts for 

2021/22 was presented to September’s Audit Committee by the external auditor. The 

accounts are scheduled to be approved at November’s Audit Committee in line with 

statutory deadlines. 

Collection Rates 

93 For those struggling to pay, a range of special arrangement payment plans are 

available. When issuing statutory notices, we automatically include documentation 

relating to payment plans. We are also telephoning residents identified as needing 

additional support to agree sustainable payment arrangements. 

94 Administration of £150 energy rebate payment scheme continued into quarter two 

and as of 30 September we had paid 90%. All outstanding payments, where no 

refund had been requested or issued, have been transferred to individual Council 

Tax accounts. For these accounts, the £150 Energy Rebate Payment has been 

deducted from the balance of council tax due for the current financial year. Amended 

bills were issued to advise customers of the reduced or credit balance. There are a 

small number of query accounts which are being investigated to make sure that all 

payments due are made to customers. 

95 We are continuing to process more claims and changes in circumstances but 

following the return of staff from working on coronavirus test and trace support 

payments, processing times have improved. 

5.2  Council Activity: Areas which require attention  

Recruitment and Retention 

96 Attracting employees remains an ongoing and increasing challenge for the council; 

local and national skills shortages are impacting heavily and driving competition for 

skilled workers amongst all neighbouring local authorities and other employers 

including the private sector.  

97 A comprehensive action plan is in place to strengthen and modernise our strategic 

approach to recruitment across the council, including initiatives on attracting more 

potential employees, we are further developing the DCC brand, extending the range 

of recruitment options available to managers, streamlining recruitment activity, and 

improving the candidate’s journey/experience.  

Page 292

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s162801/09%20External%20Audit%20Progress%20Report%202021-22.pdf


98 As part of our benefits package, staff discounts are also being reviewed. More detail 

will be provided at quarter three. 

Staff Development  

99 Performance Development Reviews (PDRs) are an integral part of manager-
employee engagement including one-to-ones, supervisions, and team meetings.  

100 Our PDR cycle is continuing, and the latest performance data shows that the 

process was complete for 117 leaders (100%), 964 managers (95%) and 5,799 core 

employees (75%). This represents both digital and non-digital completions. The 

overall percentage of PDR completions is 78%.  

101 The next PDR cycle has begun with leaders required to complete their PDRs by 31 

December 2022.    

102 During quarter one, we reported the results of our recent survey12 which assessed 

the digital skills and confidence levels of our staff. We are now developing an 

approach to consult members during quarter three.   

Attendance Management  

103 The latest sickness absence rate is 12.08 days per full-time equivalent (FTE). 12% of 

reported sickness was COVID-related, and if we extract this from our data set, then 

our re-calculated rate of 10.50 days per FTE is broadly in line with our pre-pandemic 

position of 10.87. 

104 The most frequently reported sickness reasons remain mental health and fatigue 

(33%), musculo-skeletal injury (19%) and infections (17%.)  Almost three quarters of 

infections were COVID-19.  

105 Sickness increased across all categories except musculo-skeletal (back/neck) and 

neurological. Days lost to ‘mental health and fatigue’ was 14% higher than pre-

pandemic, driven by increases in work-related stress, bipolar disorder, exhaustion 

and fatigue. 

106 Two service teams (Business Services and Care Connect) are participating in a pilot 

which automates the Attendance Management Interview (AMI) process and 

improves the efficiency and accuracy of the AMI recording process. 

Customer contact 

107 Contact through our reported channels over the last 12 months is more than 267,000 

higher than the pre-pandemic year. The main reason for this increase, accounting for 

around two thirds of the additional calls, is transferring telephone lines to our 

 
12 The results will help shape the future of our digital training offer, maximise the benefit of technology at both work and home, and 
inform other key pieces of work such as IT licence renewals, IT user profiles, hardware requirements and recruitment processes Page 293



automated call distribution (ACD) system13. As we can’t migrate past data, transfers 

create artificial increases in call volumes.   

108 The transition of our leisure centres on to ACD system has driven this increase by 

adding around 130,000 additional calls (the lines being fully operational in the last 12 

months but not in the pre-pandemic year).  

109 Other lines contributing to the increase but in smaller volumes include County 

Durham Outreach and Support Team (+12,000), Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (+7,000), bereavement services (+6,000), school admissions (+4,000), and 

welfare rights (+2,500).   

110 100% of services included within the scope of the integrated customer services 

project are now fully migrated to the ACD system.    

111 If we adjust overall call volume by removing those telephone lines for which we do 

not have a complete pre-pandemic comparison, then overall call volume shows an 

increase of around 86,000 (+8%) compared to pre-pandemic volume.   

112 Although three-quarters of contact is by telephone, digital contact continues to 

increase as more service requests are submitted through do-it-online and webchat 

increases in popularity. Digital contact now makes up 23% of all contact, compared 

to 15% pre-pandemic  

113 Contact through our Customer Access Points (CAPs) has yet to return to pre-

pandemic volumes – it is currently around 44%.  

114 Services experiencing increased levels of contact compared to the pre-pandemic 

year include council tax and benefits, waste, registrars, social care direct, children’s 

safeguarding, the integrated transport unit, welfare assistance, and the 

concessionary bus line.  

Performance Standards 

115 At the end of quarter two, a performance standard had been applied to 78 service 

requests. 55% of service requests processed during the quarter were assessed 

against a performance standard with the standard met in 79% of cases.  

5.3  Council Activity: Other Areas to Note 

Carbon Emissions  

 
13 Telephone calls are received either through our Automatic Call Distribution (ACD) system, which routes calls to groups of agents based on a first-
in-first-answered criteria, or directly to a telephone extension (non-ACD).  Only calls received via our ACD system are included in our telephone 
statistics. When we transfer non-ACD lines into the ACD system, there is no past data. Consequently, it appears that call volume has increased. Page 294



116 The slight increase in carbon emissions from council operations is due to working 

practices returning to normal post-pandemic.  

117 Projects underway which will help meet the council’s net zero commitment by 2030 

include a solar farm with battery storage at Morrison Busty Depot, and further works 

including heating, lighting and solar PV installations which are underway at Newton 

Aycliffe, Peterlee, and Abbey Leisure Centres, Comeleon House and Meadowfield 

Depot. 

118 Having a pool car fleet of electric vehicles has reduced CO2 emissions by more than 

8,000 kg since April 2022.  This equates to 1.6% of business travel. 

 

Organisational Structure 

119 43% of the council’s workforce is aged over 50 years (4,177 employees). 

Extrapolation of this data (assuming no changes) suggests that most of the 

workforce (52%) will be aged over 50 by 2027.  

Staff Well-being 

120 We have now launched our staff well-being survey, the results of which will help 

shape the support we provide to our staff. Initial findings of what we are doing well 

and what we could improve will be reported at quarter three, and improvement 

actions at year-end. 

Apprenticeships (programme / levy started May 2017).   

121 Our £10 million investment has supported almost 1,400 employees. Half participating 

employees were new to the council and half were existing staff upskilling. 465 

employees are currently enrolled (2.6% of our workforce). 

122 72 new apprentices started at the council in August and September. 25 unfilled posts 

(alongside eight new posts) were advertised in quarter two. The retention rate for 

apprentices is 71%. 

123 We are developing a policy to support skills development across local businesses 

through a levy transfer, for approval in December 2022. 

Customer Satisfaction14 

124 Overall, 82% of respondents were satisfied with overall service delivery. In addition: 

▪ 97% felt their request was handled knowledgeably and effectively handled 

▪ 92% found it easy to contact the right service 

 
14 We have linked a satisfaction survey to 127 service request types and our CRM automatically e-mails a survey to the customer 
when the service request is closed. Page 295



▪ 87% were satisfied with our handling of the initial contact 

▪ 83% were satisfied with the time to complete the task 

▪ 82% felt they were treated with dignity and respect 

▪ 82% were provided with clear information 

▪ 78% were informed of how long it would take to complete the task 

▪ 64% were kept informed of progress. 

125 Service request types attaining an overall satisfaction rating of at least 90% include 

requests relating to: birth, death and marriage certificates (98%); waste permits 

(98%); bulky waste collections (96%); assisted collection (96%); joining the garden 

waste scheme (95%); domestic pest control (95%); and applying for free school 

travel (94%). 

126 Service request types attaining a satisfaction rating of less than 70% include 

requests relating to: complaints (47%); draining and flooding (65%); pruning or 

removing a tree or hedge (65%) and generic enquiries (65%).  

127 The main driver for these low satisfaction levels is timeliness (both 
acknowledgement and response). 

Data and Insight / Business Intelligence Project 

128 The council has started a major project to implement an enterprise analytics platform 

to sit above all our line of business IT systems and replace current management 

information reporting systems, dashboards and data warehousing arrangements for 

reporting operational, strategic, performance management and customer 

intelligence.  

129 This will enable us to join currently disparate datasets together to provide new 

insights and citizen indexed data such as a single view of the child, single view of the 

adult and single view of the family. It will also lay the foundation for a more 

diagnostic and predictive approach to data analytics in future making us more data 

driven as an organisation and help deliver better outcomes for our residents.  

130 Adult social care, children’s social care and home to school transport have been 

prioritised and work is progressing to give us better analytics in these areas which 

we are hoping will also provide greater insight into identification of possible 

efficiencies and MTFP savings.  

Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations 

(EIR) 

131 234 requests were received during quarter two, 3% less than the same period last 

year. We responded to 79% of requests within 20 working days, this is below the 

target (95%).  

Page 296



6.0  Data Tables 

 

Key to Symbols  

 
Types of indicators  
There are two types of performance indicators throughout the report: 

1. Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and  

2. Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and / or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.  

National Benchmarking (N) 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, e.g., educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils, however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils.  

North East Benchmarking (NE) 
The North East comparator is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region - County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-on-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland.   

More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk  

 

 

Performance against target 
and previous performance 

 

Performance against comparable groups  

 

Direction of Travel 

 meeting or exceeding   Performance is better than national or north east  higher than comparable period 

 within 2%   Performance is worse than national or north east → static against comparable period 

 more than 2% behind     lower than comparable period  

NB: oldest data in left column 

P
age 297

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Our Economy 

Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Increase employment land approved and 
delivered by 300 hectares (Ha) by 2035 

5.51Ha 15.8Ha 36.69Ha 17.29Ha 
- -     No 

(2021/22)    

Narrow the gap between no. of private sector 
business per 10,000 pop. within County Durham 
and England  

274 Tracker 271 263 
  →    Yes 

(2022) -   

Narrow the gap between no. of private sector 
employments per 10,000 pop. within County 
Durham and England  

2,651 Tracker 2,779 2,651 
      No 

(2020) -   

Increase the level of GVA per filled job in line with 
national levels by 2035 

£46,245 Tracker £46,036 £46,245 
      No 

(2020) -   

Increase the employment rate for 16-64-year-olds 
in line with national levels by 2035 

72.4% Tracker 71.2% 71.1% 
      Yes 

(Jul 21-Jun 22) -   

Increase the proportion of residents with higher 
level skills in line with national levels by 2035 

32.4% Tracker 31.6% 31.6% 
  →   → No 

(2021) -   

Increase the number of organisations involved in 
the Better Health at Work Award  

70 Tracker 81 75 
- -     Yes 

(2021/22) -   

Increase proportion of young people in education, 
employment and training to be consistently higher 
than regional and national levels 

87.4% above N / NE 85.3% 85.6% 
     n/a No 

(Jun 2022)    

Increase the % of 16-17-year-olds in an 
apprenticeship 

5.6%  Tracker 5.5% 6.8% 
     n/a No 

(Jun 2022) -  

Increase the overall disability employment rate / 
close the gap  

45.7% Tracker 48.1% 47.4% 
      Yes 

(Jul 21-Jun 22) -   

Attract 11.96 million visitors to the county in 2021 
(5% increase on 2020) 

15.77m 11.96m 11.39m 11.39m 
- -     No 

(2021)    

P
age 298



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Increase the proportion of visitor attractions which 
are served by public transport (against 2021 baseline) 

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

% uptake of free early education entitlement for 3-
4-year-olds 

93.7% Tracker 92.8% 96.1% 
  →    No 

(2022) -   

Reduce the number of heritage assets ‘at risk’ 
that are categorised as ‘Priority A’ and/or in ‘very 
bad condition’  

7 Tracker 8 8 
- - → → →  No 

(2021) -   

Improve the proportion of children achieving 
expected standards in maths and reading at KS2 
in line with 2030 ambitions* 

65% Tracker  67% 65% 

  n/an/an/an/a No 
(2018/19) -   

Improve the average grade of achievement of all 
our pupils within GCSE English and Maths to a 
Grade 5 (in line with 2030 ambitions) 

new PI 5 by 2030 new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

Improve the educational attainment of our most 
disadvantaged cohorts to meet basic threshold 
measures in English and Maths 

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

Number of council owned/managed heritage 
assets classed as 'at risk' 

3 Tracker 2 2 
- - → → →  No 

(2021) -   

% of Business Durham floor space that is 
occupied 

96% 85% 94.8% 86.4% 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Gross jobs created / safeguarded as a result of 
Business Durham activity 

346 375 2,015 1,001 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of inward investments secured 
2 1 8 4 

- -    → Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

Amount of investments secured for companies 
£775,982 £1.25m £911,728 - 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

P
age 299



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

No. of businesses supported by Business Durham 
(engagements) 

278 250 103 204 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of new businesses supported by CED Team 
59 30 38 41 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. jobs supported by the visitor economy 
10,063 8,153 6,794 6,794 

- -     No 
(2021)    

Amount (£ million) generated by the visitor 
economy 

£826.6m £608.40m £506.75m £506.75m 
- -     No 

(2021)    

No of tourism businesses actively engaged with 
Visit County Durham 

236 Tracker new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

No 
(2021) -   

FTE jobs created through regeneration schemes 
64 18 - - 

- - n/a n/a n/a n/a Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of people attending cultural 
events/programme events  

185,312 Tracker new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

No 
(2021) -   

Average number of tickets sold per cinema and 
theatre screening/performance during the quarter 

41 TBC 16.68 74 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of people attending Council owned museums 
(Killhope, DLI & town halls)  

47,868 Tracker - - 
- - 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI   Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of library members 
215,398 Tracker 229,793 233,904 

- -     No 
(Apr-Jun 22) -   

No. of registrations to employability programmes 
210 Tracker 282 256 

- -     Yes 
(Apr-Jun 22) -   

P
age 300



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

No. of participants on employability programmes 
progressed into employment / education or 
training 

98 Tracker 195 92 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Jun 22) -   

No. of households receiving energy advice from 
Managing Money Better (MMB) Initiative 

146 Tracker 124 209 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   
*Not reported for 2019/20 or 2020/21 academic years as no Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) or Key Stage 2 (KS2) assessments took place 

Our Environment 

Performance Indicator  
Latest data  

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Increase the proportion of waste diverted from 
landfill to at least 95%   

91.3% 95% 90.1% 97.8% 
   → →  Yes 

(Jul 21–Jun 22)    

County Durham to become net zero by 2045 
57 Tracker 54 54 

- -     Yes 
(2020) -   

Raise cycling and walking levels in County 
Durham in line with national levels by 2035 

67.7% Tracker 68% 68% 
     Yes 

(2020/21) -   

Work towards Durham City Air Quality 
Management Area NO2 levels being below the 
govt threshold of 40µg/m3 

96% 100% 54% 96% 
- -     No 

(2020)    

Plant a minimum of 140,000 trees by 2024 
40,414 Tracker new PI new PI 

- - 
new 
PI 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
(2021/22) -   

% of household waste that is re-used, recycled or 
composted 

38.1% Tracker 38.2% 41.1% 
  → → Yes 

(Jul 21-Jun 22) -   

Contamination rate (%) 
33.5% Tracker 34.96% 29.95% 

- -     Yes 
(Jul 21-Jun 22) -   

P
age 301



Performance Indicator  
Latest data  

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

No. of contamination notices issued 
7,762 Tracker 7,795 17,017 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Overall satisfaction with cycle routes and facilities 
(%) 

54% Tracker 50% - 
      No 

(2021) -   

Our People 

Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Children in the Early Years Foundation Stage 
achieving a good level of development (reported as 

academic year) 

71.8% Tracker 72.8% - 
  n/a n/a n/a n/a No 

(2018/19) -   

% of pupils attending an Ofsted judged ‘good or 
better’ school 

84.5% Tracker n/a - 
    n/a n/a Yes 

(at 25 Oct 22) -   

No. of Children Looked After per 10,000 
population 

100.7 
[1,027] 

Tracker 93 
[2020/21] 

- 
- -     Yes 

(at 30 Sep 22) -   

No. of Children in Need per 10,000 Population 

384 
[3,920] 

Tracker 361 
[2020/21] 

 
- -     Yes 

(at 30 Sep 22) -   

% of Children Looked After placed within 20 miles 
of their home address 

85% Tracker 87% 
[2020/21] 

89% 
    →  No 

(at 31 Mar 22) -   

% of mothers smoking at time of delivery 
14.8% 0% 15% 18.1% 

      No 
(Jan-Mar 22)    

P
age 302



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

No. of families on our Stronger Families 
Programme attaining significant and sustained 
outcomes 

883 760 
[2022/23] 

571 311 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Sept 22)    

% of smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+) ** 
14.3% 5.0% 17.0% 17.0% 

  - - - - No 
(2020)    

Reduce % point gap in breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks between County Durham and national 
average 

17.4pp Tracker 20.2pp 20.2pp 
-      No 

(2020/21) -   

Increase the % of children aged 4-5 who are of a 
healthy weight *** 

74.6% 90% 75.6% - 
  →    No 

(2019/20)    

Increase the % of children aged 10-11 who are of 
a healthy weight *** 

61.5% 79% 61.1% - 
      No 

(2019/20)    

10,000 more adults undertake 150 minute of at 
least moderate intensity physical activity per week  

260,500 266,500 265,800 261,400 
- -     No 

(Nov 20-Nov 21)    

15,000 less adults are inactive (undertake less 
than 30 minutes of physical activity per week)  

136,300 105,800 132,100 122,100 
- -     No 

(Nov 20-Nov 21)    

No. of children and young people with an 
Education, Health and Care Plan 

4,043 Tracker 3,888 3,496 
- -     Yes 

(Sep 2022) - - - 

Healthy life expectancy at birth – female 
59.9 years  Tracker 58.3 years - 

      No 
(2018-20) -   

Reduce the gap between County Durham and 
England for healthy life expectancy at birth – 
female 

4.0 years Tracker 5.2 years  - 
-      No 

(2018-20) -   

Healthy life expectancy at birth – male 
58.8 years  Tracker 59.6 years - 

      No 
(2018-20) --   

P
age 303



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Reduce the gap between County Durham and 
England for healthy life expectancy at birth – male 

4.3 years Tracker 3.6 years - 
-      No 

(2018-20) -   

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – female 
10.2 years Tracker 9.0 years - 

      No 
(2018-20) -   

Reduce the gap between County Durham and 
England for healthy life expectancy at 65 – female 

1.1 years Tracker 2.1 years - 
-      No 

(2018-20) -   

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – male 
7.7 years Tracker 8.3 years - 

      No 
(2018-20) -   

Reduce the gap between County Durham and 
England for healthy life expectancy at 65 – male 

2.8 years Tracker 2.3 years - 
-      No 

(2018-20) -   

Increase self-reported wellbeing (by reducing the 
proportion of people reporting a low happiness 
score)  

8.8% Tracker 10.9% 10.9% 

      No 

(2020/21) -   

Reduce the overall suicide rate (per 100,000 
population) 

15.8% Tracker 14.3% 14.3% 
      Yes 

(2019-21) -   

No. of admissions under the Mental Health Act 
197 Tracker 217 172 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22) -   

Increase the satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

64.5% Tracker 69.6% 69.6% 
      Yes 

(2021/22) -   

Increase the satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 

40.8% Tracker 51.2% 51.2% 
  n/a   No 

(2021/22) -   

Increase % of older people still at home 91 days 
after discharge from hospital into reablement / 
rehabilitation services 

89.4% 84.0% 88.3% 86.9% 
  →    Yes 

(Jan-Jun 22)    

P
age 304



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Increase % of hospital discharges receiving 
reablement 

2.7% Tracker 3.8% 3.8% 
      No 

(2020/21) -   

Deliver at least 600 homes suitable for older 
persons by 2035 

245 43 new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
(2021/22)    

Increase no. homes approved meeting accessible 
and adaptable standards by 5,613 by 2035 

510 400 new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

Yes 
(2021/22)    

Increase the average age whereby people are 
able to remain living independently in their own 
home 

84.5 years Tracker 84.1 years 84.3 years 
- -     Yes 

(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted 
on a permanent basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care  

282.1 309.7 345.0 384.5 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Sep 22)    

Increase the % of people aged 65+ with aids and 
assistive technologies in their homes 

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

% of service users receiving an assessment or 
review within the last 12 months 

58.5% Tracker 77.1% 87.9% 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Sep 22) -   

% of individuals who achieved their desired 
outcomes from the adult safeguarding process 

92.7% Tracker 93.9% 95.2% 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Sep 22) -   

No. of gym & swim members 
20,003 20,435 17,569 18,013 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of people attending Leisure Centres 
754,146 887,854 589,360 814,219 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of Chapter Homes houses built which are for 
Older Persons 

new PI TBC new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

 Yes 
0    

No. of Chapter Homes houses built which meet 
M4(2) standard 

new PI TBC new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

 Yes 
0    

P
age 305



Performance Indicator 
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

No. of Council houses built which are for Older 
Persons  

0 TBC new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

 Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of Council houses built which meet M4(2) 
standard 

0 TBC new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

 Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of Care Connect customers  
11,040 Tracker 11,352 12,015 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of households accessing the Housing 
Solutions Service 

3,748 Tracker 3,505 3,361 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of households helped to stay in their home 
924 Tracker new PI new PI 

- - 
new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI  Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of households helped to move to alternative 
accommodation 

237 Tracker 231 243 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

*Not reported for 2019/20 or 2020/21 academic years as no Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) or Key Stage 2 (KS2) assessments took place 
**Smoking prevalence: prior to COVID-19 this was collected via face-to-face interviews. In 2020, this moved to telephone interviews. Data for 2019 and 2020 is therefore not comparable. 
***National Child Measurement Programme ceased March 2020 when schools closed due to the pandemic, so north east and nearest neighbour comparators should be treated with caution due to 

missing data from some LAs. Whilst the data for the academic year 2020/21 has been published, local authority data is not available as only a 10% sample of data was recorded. 

Our Communities 

Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

% of Harbour clients feeling more confident in 
themselves on case closure 

89% Tracker 95% - 
- -     No 

(Oct-Dec 21) -   

% of Harbour clients feeling their quality of life has 
improved on case closure 

76% Tracker 66% - 
- -     No 

(Oct-Dec 21) -   

P
age 306



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

% of children and young people completing an 
intervention with Harbour and reporting feeling 
safer 

84% Tracker 85% - 
- - →    No 

(Oct-Dec 21) -   

Bring 200 empty homes back into use per year as 
a result of local authority intervention 

68 50 54 48 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Increase occupancy rate of all town centres to 
above national levels by 2035 

46% Tracker 46% 62% 
- -    → Yes 

(2022/23) -   

Return the number of fly-tipping incidents to at 
least pre-COVID levels by 2035 

5,298 6,548 7,382 6,548 
- -     Yes 

(Oct 21-Sep 22)    

% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of 
cleanliness - detritus  

7.9% 12% 12.1% 13.4% 
- -     No 

(Apr-Jun 22)    

% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of 
cleanliness - litter  

4.3% 6% 6% 6.6% 
- -     No 

(Apr-Jun 22)    

% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of 
cleanliness - dog fouling 

0.6% 1% 0.8% 1.6% 
- -     No 

(Apr-Jun 22)    

Increase the % of households (within a 5 mile or 
15 mile radius) which can access key service 
locations using public transport 

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

Increase the % of County Durham residents who 
can access employment sites by public transport 

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

Maintain levels of satisfaction with bus operators 
at a minimum of 92% 

92% 92% 91% 92% 
- -     No 

(2019)    

Maintain a downward trend in the amount of 
Highways Maintenance Backlog 

£171.2m Tracker £172.6m £171.2m 
- -     No 

(2020) -   

P
age 307



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Aim to increase levels of public satisfaction with 
highways maintenance above the national 
average. 

44% Tracker 51% 50% 
      No 

(2021) -   

Respondents who agree that police and local 
authorities are dealing with anti-social behaviour 
and crime issues that matter to them (confidence 

intervals +/-4pp) 

30.7% 30.4% 30.4% - 

- -  n/an/a No 
(2021/22)    

Increase net delivery of new housing by 19,620 
units by 2035 

336 327 407 431 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Increase net delivery of affordable homes to 
contribute to meeting identified need of 12,540 by 
2035  

536 836 478 628 
- -     No 

(2021/22)    

Achieve 100% licensing of private rented sector 
properties covered by the Selective Licensing 
Scheme by 2027  

17% Tracker new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

n/a Yes 
(Sep 22) -   

Reduce ASB rates within the Selective Licensing 
Scheme areas by 10% (against the 2021 baseline) 

data Q3 new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

new 
PI 

No 
    

% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3.1% Tracker 3.0% 3.0% 
   →   No 

(2020) -   

% of B roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3.0% Tracker 3.3% 3.3% 
   →   No 

(2020) -   

% of C roads where maintenance is 
recommended 

2.6% Tracker 2.3% 2.3% 
   →   No 

(2020) -   

% of unclassified roads where maintenance is 
recommended 

22.5% Tracker 21.3% 21.3% 
  →    No 

(2020) -   

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal Roads 
82.0% Tracker 81.1% 81.1% 

- -     No 
(2020) -   

P
age 308



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

% of recorded Category 1 highway defects 
repaired within 24 hours 

97% 90% 95% 98% 
- -    Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of ASB enforcement action taken 
4,729 Tracker 4,192 2,636 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

No. of fully licensed private rented sector 
properties in the selective licensed areas 

4,844 Tracker new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

n/a Yes 
(Sep 22) -   

No. of people KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of 
fatalities 

4 Tracker 8 5 
- -   → → Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of people KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of 
seriously injured 

33 Tracker 49 41 
- -  →   Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of children KSI in road traffic accidents - No. 
of fatalities 

0 Tracker 0 0 
- - → →   Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of children KSI in road traffic accidents - No. 
of seriously injured 

3 Tracker 5 4 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of business supported through regeneration 
projects 

25 10 new PI new PI 
- - n/an/an/a Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Public satisfaction with ease of access 
77% Tracker 78% - 

- -     No 
(2021) -   

No. of Council houses built 
0 TBC  new PI 

- - 
new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

 Yes 
(Apr-Jun 22)    

No. of Chapter Homes properties sold  
7 Tracker 9 - 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22) -   

P
age 309



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: 
Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Reports of anti-social behaviour 
50,483 Tracker 53,355 36,127 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Reports of environmental anti-social behaviour 
31,811 Tracker 36,109 20,606 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Reports of nuisance anti-social behaviour 
15,497 Tracker 14,539 13,612 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Reports of personal anti-social behaviour 
3,175 Tracker 2,707 1,909 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Our Council  

Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE 
Time Equivalent (excluding schools)  

12.08 days Tracker 10.06 days 10.87 days 
- -     Yes 

(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE - 
excluding COVID-19 related (excluding schools) 

10.5 days Tracker 9.09 days 10.87 days 
- -     Yes 

(Oct 21- Sep 22) -   

% FOI and EIR requests responded to within 20 
working days  

79% 95% 83% 86% 
- -    → Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Reduce the council’s carbon emissions to net 
zero by 2030 (reduction from 1990 baseline) 

57% Tracker 58% 51% 
- -     Yes 

(2021/22) -   

% of council tax collected  
55.9% 54.8% 54.8% 56.0% 

- -  n/an/an/a Yes 
(Apr-Sep 22)    

P
age 310



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

% of business rates collected  
57.3% 53.9% 53.9% 58.7% 

- -  n/an/an/a Yes 
(Apr-Sep 22)    

No. of new housing benefit claims processed 
850 Tracker 460 650 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22) -   

% of new housing benefit claims processed within 
14 days of all information being received 

71.3% 85% 55.4% 94.6% 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Time to process new housing benefit claims 
(days) 

28.1 days 24.1 days 29.7 days 10.9 days 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of change of circumstances for housing 
benefit claims  

9,245 Tracker 8,000 36,594 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22) -   

No. of new council tax reduction claims processed 
4,137 Tracker 2,937 4,254 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22) -   

% of new council tax reduction claims processed 
within 14 days of all information being received 

80.1% 77.5% 65.3% 94.6% 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

Time to process new council tax reduction claims  
19.7 days 21 days 29.9 days 13.7 days 

- -     Yes 
(Jul-Sep 22)    

Time to process change of circumstances for 
council tax reduction 

9.5 days 9 days 8.6 days 5.7 days 
- -     Yes 

(Jul-Sep 22)    

No. of change of circumstances for council tax 
reduction claims processed 

38,164 Tracker 31,268 39,128 
- -     Yes 

(Apr-Jun 22) -   

MTFP targets achieved 
new PI new PI new PI new PI 

- - 
new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

P
age 311



Performance Indicator  
Latest data 

(period 
covered) 

Performance compared to: Direction of Travel - 
last four reporting 

periods 
updated  Period 

target 
12 months 

earlier 
Pre-COVID N NE 

Audit opinion (Q – qualified / UQ – unqualified) 
UQ (draft) UQ UQ UQ 

- - → n/an/an/a No 
(31 Mar 21)    

No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship 
programme - new posts 

275 Tracker 284 258 
- -     Yes 

(30 Sep 22) -   

No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship 
programme - existing staff upskilling 

252 Tracker 289 196 
- -     Yes 

(30 Sep 22) -   

% of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship 
programme 

2.9% Tracker 3.3% 1.4% 
- -     Yes 

(30 Sep 22) -   

% of employees aged over 50 years  
43.0% Tracker 43.1% 42.1% 

- -    → Yes 
(30 Sep 22) -   

Employee turnover  
9.0% Tracker 7.4% 7.2% 

- -     Yes 
(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

% of CRM service requests received which were 
self-serve 

72% Tracker 67% 49% 
- -    → Yes 

(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

% of respondents satisfied with overall service 
delivery with services requested through the CRM 

82% Tracker 78% 81% 
- -    → Yes 

(Oct 21-Sep 22) -   

% of the Corporate Business Intelligence Review 
completed  

new PI new PI new PI new PI 
- - 

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

new 
PI

No 
    

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 312



Appendix 3:  Direction of Travel Comparisons  

 

 Direction of Travel  
(12 months previous) 

Direction of Travel  
(pre-COVID) 

N
o

t 
a

v
a
ila

b
le

 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

S
ta

ti
c
 

D
e

te
ri
o

ra
ti
n

g
 

N
o

t 
a

v
a
ila

b
le

 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

S
ta

ti
c
 

D
e

te
ri
o

ra
ti
n

g
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e
 t

o
 

T
a
rg

e
t 

No target set - 
tracker 

32 34 9 32 47 25 6 29 

Meeting or 
exceeding target 

4 21 1 3 6 14 4 5 

Within 2% of 
target 

        

More than 2% 
behind target 

 11 2 5 2 3 3 10 

 

 

 

No target set – tracker (improving) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Narrow the gap between no. of private sector business per 10,000 pop. within County 
Durham and England 

Improving 

Increase the level of GVA per filled job in line with national levels by 2035 Static  

Increase the employment rate for 16-64-year-olds in line with national levels by 2035 Improving 

Increase the proportion of residents with higher level skills in line with national levels by 
2035 

Improving 

Increase the % of 16-17-year-olds in an apprenticeship Improving 

% uptake of free early education entitlement for 3-4-year-olds Deteriorating 

Reduce the number of heritage assets ‘at risk’ that are categorised as ‘Priority A’ and/or 
in ‘very bad condition’ 

Improving 

Average number of tickets sold per cinema and theatre screening/performance during the 
quarter 

Deteriorating 

No. of households receiving energy advice from Managing Money Better (MMB) Initiative Deteriorating 

County Durham to become net zero by 2045 Improving 

Contamination rate (%) Deteriorating 

Overall satisfaction with cycle routes and facilities (%) Not available 

Reduce % point gap in breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks between County Durham and national 
average 

Improving 

Healthy life expectancy at birth – female Not available 

Page 313



Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for healthy life expectancy at birth 
– female 

Not available  

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – female Not available 

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for healthy life expectancy at 65 – 
female 

Not available 

Increase self-reported wellbeing (by reducing the proportion of people reporting a low 
happiness score) 

Improving 

Increase the average age whereby people are able to remain living independently in their 
own home 

Improving  

No. of households accessing the Housing Solutions Service Improving  

No. of households helped to move to alternative accommodation Deteriorating 

% of Harbour clients feeling more confident in themselves on case closure Not available 

Maintain a downward trend in the amount of Highways Maintenance Backlog Static 

% of B roads where maintenance is recommended Improving 

No. of ASB enforcement action taken Improving 

No. of people KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of fatalities Improving 

No. of people KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of seriously injured Improving 

No. of children KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of fatalities Improving 

No. of children KSI in road traffic accidents - No. of seriously injured Improving 

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal Roads Improving 

Reports of anti-social behaviour Deteriorating 

Reports of environmental anti-social behaviour Deteriorating 

% of CRM service requests received which were self-serve Improving 

% of respondents satisfied with overall service delivery with services requested through 
the CRM 

Improving 

 

 

 

No target set – tracker (static) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Raise cycling and walking levels in County Durham in line with national levels by 2035 Static  

Increase occupancy rate of all town centres to above national levels by 2035 Deteriorating 

Children in the Early Years Foundation Stage achieving a good level of development 
(reported as academic year) 

Not available  

% of household waste that is re-used, recycled or composted Deteriorating 

% of Children Looked After placed within 20 miles of their home address Deteriorating 

Healthy life expectancy at birth – male Not available 

Page 314



% of individuals who achieved their desired outcomes from the adult safeguarding 
process 

Deteriorating 

% of children and young people completing an intervention with Harbour and reporting 
feeling safer 

Not available 

% of A roads where maintenance is recommended Static 

 

No target set – tracker (deteriorating) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Narrow the gap between no. of private sector employments per 10,000 pop. within 
County Durham and England 

Static 

Increase the number of organisations involved in the Better Health at Work Award Deteriorating  

Increase the overall disability employment rate / close the gap Deteriorating 

Improve the proportion of children achieving expected standards in maths and reading at 
KS2 in line with 2030 ambitions* 

Static 

Number of council owned/managed heritage assets classed as 'at risk' Deteriorating 

No. of library members Deteriorating 

No. of registrations to employability programmes Deteriorating 

No. of participants on employability programmes progressed into employment / education 
or training 

Improving 

No. of contamination notices issued Deteriorating 

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for healthy life expectancy at birth 
– male 

Not available 

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – male Not available 

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for healthy life expectancy at 65 – 
male 

Not available  

Reduce the overall suicide rate (per 100,000 population) Deteriorating 

Increase the satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support Deteriorating 

Increase the satisfaction of carers with the support and services they receive Deteriorating 

Increase % of hospital discharges receiving reablement Deteriorating 

% of service users receiving an assessment or review within the last 12 months Deteriorating 

No. of Care Connect customers Deteriorating 

% of Harbour clients feeling more confident in themselves on case closure Not available  

Aim to increase levels of public satisfaction with highways maintenance above the 
national average. 

Deteriorating 

% of C roads where maintenance is recommended Deteriorating 

% of unclassified roads where maintenance is recommended Deteriorating 

Public satisfaction with ease of access Not available 

Page 315



No. of Chapter Homes properties sold Not available 

Reports of nuisance anti-social behaviour Deteriorating 

Reports of personal anti-social behaviour Deteriorating 

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE Time Equivalent (excluding schools) Deteriorating 

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE - excluding COVID-19 related (excluding 

schools) 
Improving 

Reduce the council’s carbon emissions to net zero by 2030 Improving 

No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship programme – new posts  Improving  

No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship programme – existing staff upskilling Improving   

% of employees enrolled on to apprenticeship programme Improving  

 

Meeting target (not available) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

FTE jobs created through regeneration schemes Not available 

Deliver at least 600 homes suitable for older persons by 2035 Not available 

Increase no. homes approved meeting accessible and adaptable standards by 5,613 by 
2035 

Not available  

No. of business supported through regeneration projects Not available 

 

Meeting target (improving) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Attract 11.96 million visitors to the county in 2021 (5% increase on 2020) Improving  

% of Business Durham floor space that is occupied Improving 

No. of businesses supported by Business Durham (engagements) Improving 

No. of new businesses supported by CED Team Improving  

No. jobs supported by the visitor economy Improving 

Amount (£ million) generated by the visitor economy Improving 

No. of families on our Stronger Families Programme attaining significant and sustained 
outcomes 

Improving  

Increase % of older people still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement / rehabilitation services 

Improving 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted on a permanent basis in the year to 
residential or nursing care 

Improving  

Bring 200 empty homes back into use per year as a result of local authority intervention Improving  

Return the number of fly-tipping incidents to at least pre-COVID levels by 2035 Improving  

Page 316



% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness - detritus Improving 

% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness – litter Improving 

% of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness - dog fouling Improving 

Maintain levels of satisfaction with bus operators at a minimum of 92% Static 

Respondents who agree that police and local authorities are dealing with anti-social 
behaviour and crime issues that matter to them 

Not available 

% of recorded Category 1 highway defects repaired within 24 hours Static 

% of council tax collected Static 

% of business rates collected Deteriorating 

% of new council tax reduction claims processed within 14 days of all information being 
received 

Deteriorating 

Time to process new council tax reduction claims Deteriorating 

 

Meeting target (static) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Audit opinion (Q – qualified / UQ – unqualified) Static 

 

Meeting target (deteriorating) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

No. of inward investments secured Deteriorating 

Amount of investments secured for companies Not available 

Increase net delivery of new housing by 19,620 units by 2035 Deteriorating 

 

More than 2% behind target (improving) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Increase proportion of young people in education, employment and training to be 
consistently higher than regional and national levels 

Static 

Increase the proportion of waste diverted from landfill to at least 95%   Deteriorating 

Work towards Durham City Air Quality Management Area NO2 levels being below the 
govt threshold of 40µg/m3 

Static  

% of mothers smoking at time of delivery Improving  

% of smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+) Improving 

Increase the % of children aged 10-11 who are of a healthy weight Not available 

No. of gym & swim members Improving 

Page 317



No. of people attending Leisure Centres Deteriorating  

Increase net delivery of affordable homes to contribute to meeting identified need of 
12,540 by 2035 Deteriorating 

% of new housing benefit claims processed within 14 days of all information being 
received Deteriorating 

Time to process new housing benefit claims (days) Deteriorating 

 

More than 2% behind target (static) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Increase the % of children aged 4-5 who are of a healthy weight Not available 

10,000 more adults undertake 150 minute of at least moderate intensity physical activity 
per week Static 

 

 

More than 2% behind target (deteriorating) 
Compared to 
Pre-COVID 

Increase employment land approved and delivered by 300 hectares (Ha) by 2035 Deteriorating 

Gross jobs created / safeguarded as a result of Business Durham activity Deteriorating 

15,000 less adults are inactive (undertake less than 30 minutes of physical activity per 
week) 

Deteriorating 

% FOI and EIR requests responded to within 20 working days Deteriorating 

Time to process change of circumstances for council tax reduction Deteriorating 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 318



 

 

 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 14th December 2022 

 Adult Social Care Update Report  

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director Adult and Health Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health 
Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update Cabinet on current issues impacting on the Adult Social Care 
service in County Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 The profile of the Adult Social Care workforce and the demands upon 
and the delivery of services have significantly changed compared with 
pre Covid-19 pandemic.  

3 There are a number of significant changes ahead for the service 
including some key legislative/ policy changes. 

4 These changes include: 

• Social Care Charging Reforms 

• Introduction of a national inspection framework for local authority 
Adult Care services by The Care Quality Commission (CQC)   

• Amendments to the Mental Capacity Act (2005) which will replace 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards with Liberty Protection Safeguards 

Page 319

Agenda Item 7



 

• A refreshed national Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework. 

5 As well as managing changing demand on the service (including 
increased complexity in need and a changed demographic), 
implementation plans are currently in place in relation to each of these 
key drivers, as well as responding to other changes in demand across 
adult care.  

Recommendation(s) 

6 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the contents of this report and to receive a further update 
report in 6 months. 

  

Page 320



 

Background and Context 

  

7 General service level data. Adult Social Care services in County 
Durham currently support 19,883 people who need and are eligible for 
support (correct as at September 2022). 

People who access our services 

19,883 individuals 

10,005 open cases in older persons/ physical disabilities/ sensory 
support services (7,293 with care & support provisions) 

2,394 open cases in integrated learning disabilities services (1,685 
with care & support provisions) 

7,484 open cases in integrated mental health services (438 with care 
& support provisions) 

Workforce 

1048 total staff in Adult Care workforce 

296 in older persons/ physical disabilities/ sensory support service 

133 in integrated learning disabilities service 

117 in integrated mental health service 

117 in safeguarding, access & practice development service 

30 in operational support  

355 in County Durham Care and Support (in-house provider) 

Budget 

£391M AHS gross expenditure 

£254M AHS gross income 

£137M AHS net expenditure 

Of the above, £187M is spent on independent sector care provision 

 

 

Page 321



 

 

8 The aims of the service are to: 

a) support adults to regain or maintain independence.  

b) ensure vulnerable adults who are at risk of abuse, harm or neglect 
are safeguarded. 

c) improve people’s wellbeing and help them achieve outcomes. 

d) prevent unnecessary admissions into hospital or other forms of 24hr/ 
long term care. 

e) prevent, reduce, and delay the demand for formal adult social care 
support. 

9  This is achieved by: 

a) providing individuals with lower level needs the advice, information, 
and support to self-manage and retain independence for as long as 
possible. 

b) providing individuals with higher level needs short term services with 
a focus on enabling the person to regain some independence. 

c) assessing and meeting longer term needs once the person is at their 
optimal level of functioning and where all other options have been 
explored. 

d) making enquiries and undertaking investigations in situations where 
potential abuse is suspected. 

10 The service benefits from strong regional relationships with other Local 
Authorities via the North East Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services Network (ADASS) and North East Adult Principal Social 
Workers Network. Within these networks, collaboration is underway to 
further develop a number of key areas of focus including workforce, 
support to carers, technology enabled care, equality and diversity 
issues and quality assurance.  

11 Adult Social Care operates within a complex legislative framework, and 
there are a number of key national policy drivers due for implementation 
in 2023: 

a) The Health and Care Bill 2022 will bring about 2 significant changes: 

(i) amendment to the Care Act (2014) to implement Adult Social 
Care Charging Reforms. 

Page 322



 

(ii) introduction of a new assurance framework which will include an 
independent assessment of local authorities’ delivery of adult 
care functions by the Care Quality Commission. 

b) Amendments to the Mental Capacity Act (2005) which will replace 
existing Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards with new Liberty 
Protection Safeguards. 

12 Despite the Department for Health and Social Care offering local 
authorities the option of applying Care Act easements during the 
pandemic where they would struggle to deliver on some of their key 
functions, Durham County Council Adult Social Care Service continued 
to operate a full care management and care co-ordination service 
throughout the pandemic.  

13 The service presents regular assurance reports to Durham 
Safeguarding Adults Partnership (including throughout the pandemic 
period) regarding quality and availability of the Adult Care service to the 
public and users of our services.  

14 Reflecting a national trend, recruitment and retention are significant 
issues for the service at present, and the workforce currently has high 
turnover and absences compared with the averages over the last 4 
years.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15 Significant staff turnover has been experienced as the service comes 
through the pandemic period.  This has resulted in losses of 
experienced workforce. Experienced staff and managers have left the 
service, and those replacing them include high levels of newly qualified 
and inexperienced staff.  This trend is not unique to County Durham and 
is an illustration of the pressure faced across the adult social care 
sector. 

Rolling year workforce data 

Quarter 2 

Sickness % Time 
Lost 

Average 
Working Days 

Lost 
Turnover % 

2022/23 6.66% 16.72 12.03% 

2021/22 5.02% 12.70 9.33% 

2020/21 5.26% 13.36 8.34% 

2019/20 4.75% 11.97 5.80% 

Page 323



 

16 Currently, over half of Durham’s Adult Care workforce are over 50 years 
of age and 14% are over the age of 60. This is an influencing factor as 
more staff have chosen to retire from their roles early as we have 
emerged from the pandemic. 

17 Such turnover impacts on service quality and continuity. Consequently, 
the service has recently undertaken audit work to understand this 
further and to inform its current and planned service development 
activity.  

18 Competitive salaries, hybrid working models that afford greater 
flexibility, and rationalising the amount of work-related travel due to 
cost-of-living pressures are factors that have resulted in greater 
numbers of staff moving between jobs across the region. 

19 Many of the service’s quality assurance processes were temporarily 
scaled back during the pandemic response period. As health and social 
care work through a recovery period, a revised quality assurance 
strategy has been implemented which includes: 

a) enhanced quality assurance activity to triangulate data and evidence 
already known, with feedback from frontline practitioners and 
managers, peer review activity, and feedback from service users and 
carers. 

b) a more robust approach to recording and acting upon lessons 
learned from case reviews, and monitoring impact on direct social 
work practice. 

c) making use of real-time data in Business Intelligence dashboards to 
highlight performance issues at an earlier stage, undertaking 
detailed analysis where required and developing actions to improve 
performance. This work directly feeds into a Service Improvement 
Plan. Adult Care are currently working with corporate ICT colleagues 
to pilot the use of new (intelligent-i) software to support this work.   

20 The Covid-19 pandemic and Adult Services’ response to the challenges 
it brought have also changed social care professional practice with 
adults in several ways, including the acceleration of ‘digital practice’ 
models, and a refreshed acknowledgement of the need for trauma 
informed approaches – not only in relation to work practices with adults, 
but also how staff care responsibilities are approached.  

21 Tools to better measure complexity in adult care caseloads are currently 
being developed. Due to the multi-faceted nature of the core business 
these are likely to be beneficial as a guide only. Professional feedback 
from frontline operational teams suggests that the service has seen an 
increase in complexity and level of need in users of our services. 

Page 324



 

Certainly, operational teams are experiencing sustained levels of 
pressure. This is also supported by national commentary, including 
through regular surveys undertaken by ADASS.  

22 Increasing demands on social care are result of several factors, 
including; 

a) The legacy of the pandemic, where the standing down of elective 
surgery has resulted in a progression of health/care needs.  

b) The cost-of-living crisis which is impacting on mental and physical 
health and contributing to a range of growing complex social 
challenges. Similarly, there has been a significant increase in 
mental health presentations and a higher prevalence of hospital 
discharge referrals and of elderly patients leaving hospital with 
pre-existing social care needs. 

23 In response to how strongly they agreed with the following statement in 
the latest national Local Government Association (LGA) annual Social 
Work Health check survey – “I have experienced an increase in severity 
of need in people being referred to me and/or my team” – Durham Adult 
Care staff scored this 86 out of 100 (i.e., a significant proportion of staff 
who responded to the survey agreed or strongly agreed with the 
statement). This experience is mirrored regionally and nationally within 
LGA Health check narrative feedback which includes: 

• “workloads are undoubtedly increasing and feel more complex due 
to the issues on the ground we are facing currently” 

• “workload is often dependent on the amount of workflow and staffing 
which means it’s not always possible to have a manageable 
workload”.  

A number of factors are contributing to this, including higher staff 
turnover; people delaying in asking for help during the pandemic; 
increased prevalence of mental health; increased social isolation and 
loneliness; increased pressure and demand on NHS provisions. This 
complexity is extremely challenging to manage, the workforce is under 
considerable and sustained strain, it is showing signs of fatigue, and 
resources are increasingly stretched.  

24 In the most recent national Social Work Health Check survey 
undertaken in Dec 2021/January 2022, 115 DCC adult social care staff 
responded to the survey, this equates to c.20% of the eligible staff 
cohort. The outcome of which rated their employer as good against all 
8 national standards for employers of social workers for the second year 
running. 

Page 325



 

25 The 8 standards are: 

• a strong and clear social work framework  

• effective workforce planning systems  

• safe workload and case allocation  

• wellbeing  

• supervision  

• continuous professional development  

• professional registration  

• strategic partnerships.  

26 Despite the obvious pressures, this is a sign of a positive working 
culture.  

27 In response to the changing profile of the workforce, and the complexity 
in casework, the service is rolling-out a programme of service 
improvement which will continue until the end of the current financial 
year. This started in October 2022 with a ‘Practice Reset’, refreshing 
baseline standards, and ensuring all staff and managers are aware of 
these. To support this work, a casework toolkit has been launched for 
frontline adult care practitioners covering specific practice areas outside 
of their everyday interventions. This is to be complimented by delivery 
of a robust series of events around the theme of managing risk where 
practitioners will be invited to improve or consolidate their existing 
knowledge and skills in relation to risk analysis and risk management, 
including positive risk taking and its impact of people’s wellbeing and 
personal autonomy. 

28 The vision for Adult Care has recently been refreshed to reflect the 
national vision for adult social care, and in conjunction with the new 
AHS service plan. The Adult Care Vision is to: 

Ensure adults with care and support needs and their carers 
receive the care and support they need, when they need it, to 
support them to live the lives they want. 

In order to achieve this, there is a focus on our three key themes of 
prevention, choice and control, and quality assurance.  

Page 326



 

29 Over the next 12-24 months, the service will be required to respond to 
the implementation of at least two key national policies (as well as some 
other changes in adult social care): 

• Care Quality Commission Assurance Framework. 

• Mental Capacity Act amendments which will implement new 
Liberty Protection Safeguards. 

These are significant changes, and each requires its own robust 
implementation programme, significant resources, robust 
communications plan, and appropriate learning and development for the 
officers involved.  

 

30 Until the autumn statement announcement on 17th November, the 
service was working toward the implementation of the Social Care 
Charging reforms. The government has now pushed this back until 
October 2025 at the earliest. 

31 The autumn statement has also resulted in government taking funding 
from care reforms and fair cost of care implementation and transferring 
to a Social Care Grant which can be utilised for adult and children social 
care. Nationally this equates to; 

•  £1.3 billion in 2023/24 and a further £600 million in 2024/25 
bringing total to £1.9 million. 

• Extra £640 million nationally for local govt in 23/24 and a further 
£440 million in 2024/25 bringing total to £1.08 billion to support 
early discharge from hospital. Funding via BCF and a new 
specific grant for adult social care. 

• Ability to increase council tax by 2% for an adult social care 
precept in 23/24 and 24/25. 

32 Implications of the remaining key strategic drivers, and updates on other 
strategic priorities are set out below.  

 

CQC - Assurance Framework for Local Authorities delivery of Adult 
Social Care 

33 From April 2023 onwards, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) will re-
introduce an assurance framework for local authority Adult Social Care 
services. It is anticipated that this will take the form of inspection. 

Page 327



 

34 The national assurance framework is based around the 5 Key Lines of 
Enquiry currently used by CQC for social care provider services and 
NHS services i.e. It will seek assurance on whether our services are: 

• Safe 

• Effective 

• Well led 

• Caring 

• Responsive to people’s needs 

35 CQC will look at evidence including data collection; narrative in a self-
assessment document where it will gauge the service’s understanding 
of its own strengths and weaknesses (including what plans it has in 
place to address its weaknesses); perceptions of leaders, managers, 
and staff; perceptions of users of our services. 

36 The CQC will collate evidence and focus its interrogative enquiries 
around 4 key themes: 

• Working with people – assessing needs, supporting people to 
live healthier lives, prevention, wellbeing, information, and advice. 

• Providing support – markets (including commissioning activity), 
integration and partnership working. 

• Ensuring safety – safeguarding, safe systems, continuity of 
care. 

• Leadership – governance, learning, improvement, innovation. 

37 As part of our approach to quality and assurance within Adult and 
Health Services a corporate Oversight and Assurance group chaired by 
the Chief Executive and involving the Corporate Management Team, 
and a service-based Quality Assurance Board chaired by the Corporate 
Director, Adult and Health Services have been established. Part of their 
remit is to oversee Quality and Innovation Leadership Team Meetings, a 
Self-Assessment Writing Group, and Inspection Preparation Group.  

38 Our Quality Assurance Strategy is currently being refreshed. The 
service is working closely with its partners who are already subject to 
regular inspection including Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Trust, 
County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust, Children and Young 
Peoples Services, and also our own in-house provider to enhance our 
understanding of how they co-ordinate their response to inspection.  

Page 328



 

39 A programme of service improvement activity is in progress for the rest 
of the current financial year including staff and manager sessions with 
the senior leadership team (see point 26).  

40 The Performance Management Framework has been reviewed and the 
senior leadership team uses this to focus in on specific areas requiring 
further interrogation. ‘Impact Statements’ proformas are used to frame 
the key line of enquiry and to provide a framework to ensure 
consistency in developing the understanding of issues and in setting 
improvement actions, then monitoring those actions. 

41 To ensure the service’s public-facing information remains accessible 
and complies with the requirements of the Care Act, work is being 
undertaken with corporate communications and ICT colleagues to 
update and refresh the Adult Care pages on the council’s website. 

42 Work has started to remodel the approach to service user and carer 
engagement to ensure that the voices of users of our services are 
integral to our service improvement work. Using the principles within the 
corporate co-production toolkit, an Integrated Involvement Strategy has 
been developed (led by our Integrated Commissioning Service).  

43 The first annual Self-Assessment document has been prepared. This 
document, read together with an extensive evidence-base gives some 
narrative context to the services performance data across the 4 key 
CQC themes referenced at point 34. It highlights what we do well, 
where our areas for development are and what our improvement plans 
aim to achieve over the next 12 months. It also gives a summary of 
what the leadership team understands about the successes/ areas for 
improvement in each of the key areas as well as the perceptions of the 
frontline workforce, and our service users and carers. 

44 As a member of the regional ADASS group focussing on assurance-
readiness, Durham County Council agreed to be the first to submit its 
Self-Assessment as part of an annual conversation with an ex-Director 
of Adult Social Services. This took the form of a peer-led review and in 
September 2022, the senior leadership team spent a half day engaged 
in this activity. 

45 Rigorous professional challenge was applied across various areas of 
the overall evidence submitted and a findings report was shared with 
the group.  

46 The table below summarises the high-level findings. 

 

Page 329



 

Good Practice Areas for Development 

Theme 1: Working with People 

• Comprehensive co-production 
framework 

• Effective reablement offer 

• ‘Proud track record of effective 
partnership working’ 

• Relative high satisfaction from 
survey findings. 

• Some good audit results 

• hospital discharge assessments 
prioritised 

• Strong integrated health and social 
care foundations 

• A programme of engagement/ co 
production/ user survey activity 

• A risk assessment matrix/ algorithm 
to improve assurance over casework 
backlogs 

• Caseload data 

• Refreshed audit schedule and 
methodology 

• The demonstration of how 
integration is making a difference 

• Improve info to public offer, including 
Locate, website 

• Strength based practice 

 

Theme 2: Providing Support 

• The investment in Supported Living 
and Extra Care 

• Levels of engagement concerning 
Fair Cost of Care 

• Work with providers during the 
pandemic 

• In house CQC ratings and 
recognition of benefits of retaining 
some provision. 

• The model/ prevalence of 
reablement provision 

• The domiciliary care and direct 
payment offer 

• Further development of outcome-
based commissioning 
methodologies (residential and 
domiciliary care) 

• Signposting to the Voluntary & 
Community Sector 

• Relationship development with care 
sector 

Theme 3: Ensuring Safety 

Page 330



 

• Support for individuals lacking 
capacity during safeguarding 
episodes 

• Recognition of where investigative 
work to improve practice is needed 

• Clear signposting on the 
Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) 
website 

• Community reference group and 
expert by experience input at SAB 

• The outcomes from LGA SW health 
check- ‘good’ across all 8 standards 

 

• The low concern to enquiry ratio 
from the police 

• Clarity on pathways across 
safeguarding interventions 

• The potential quality differential 
across areas of adult protection  

• The completion of tasks within the 
system 

• Some gaps in data 

 

Theme 4: Leadership 

• Level of NHS investment  

• Level of operational integration 

• Influential system leadership & 
jointly appointed senior posts 

• Our relative Integrated Care System 
journey 

• ‘Effective partnership working with 
strong foundations’ 

• AHS Workforce Development 
Strategy and its associated 
successes 

• Prominence of staff Mental Health, 
wellbeing, and resilience throughout 
the service 

• The Care Academy successes 

• Staff engagement 

• Comprehensive Data Insight 
Reports about performance 

• ‘Adult social care as a corporate 
priority’ 

• The read across from corporate 
docs/ priorities to AHS delivery 

• Clear set of objectives with the VCS 
(an outcome framework) and 
visibility of effectiveness 

• Improving data quality to support 
informed decision making 

• Quarterly reporting, including 
reasons why staff leave the service 

• Supervision rates in Mental Health 
services 

• Improve reported evidence of the 
difference integrated care delivery 
makes 

 

Page 331



 

 

47 The next steps will be to shape a service improvement plan based 
around these findings, and to continue with the service’s practice 
improvement programme. This includes the implementation of a 
refreshed quality assurance strategy, and the commencement of CQC 
assurance preparation work with staff in advance of direct case file 
evaluations and interviews with inspectors.   

Implementation of Mental Capacity Act amendments including Liberty 

Protection Safeguards 

48 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards are a key part of the Mental Capacity 
Act (2005), and provide a robust process for ensuring that any adult 
who is unable to make their own significant decisions regarding where 
they should live or how their care and support needs should be met are 
- where it is necessary for their own safety and protection – 
appropriately deprived of their liberty in order to have their care and 
support needs met, either within a care home or acute hospital setting, 
or within their own home or other community supported living 
arrangement. Specialist assessments must be carried out by qualified 
Best Interest Assessors to ensure that all other least restrictive options 
have been explored and that the person has access to adequate 
representation. 

49 Currently, the Local Authority acts as the authorising body for any 
deprivation of liberty in care homes or acute hospital settings (unless 
the decision to deprive the person of their liberty is contested), whilst 
any authorisations of deprivations of liberty in community settings, as 
well as any contested cases must be via a court order from a judge in 
the Court of Protection. 

50 Most of the deprivation of liberty referrals relate to adults in care homes 
and the process for authorisation is fairly streamlined. However, for 
contested decisions and all community cases, additional work is 
required by social work staff who must prepare witness statements and 
other supporting evidence for court hearings.  

51 Changes to be implemented in 2023 - when, as part of Mental Capacity 
Act (2005) amendments, Liberty Protection Safeguards will replace the 
current Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards - will see more responsibilities 
for “necessary and proportionate” assessments becoming part of 
mainstream social work assessments, and the introduction of Approved 
Mental Capacity Professionals to undertake more complex 
assessments. 

Page 332



 

52 Although the changes should ultimately lead to reduced numbers of 
referrals into the court of protection, there will be significant retraining 
requirement for social work staff, a minimum ‘awareness’ training for the 
rest of the workforce and redesign work in the current case recording 
system. 

53 As of 18 October 2022, there were 1,250 adults within eligible social 
care needs in Durham who are subject to Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS).  The DoLS service in Durham have a number of 
outstanding applications (like many other local authorities since a 
benchmark case in 2014 – known as the Cheshire West Judgement - 
established a low threshold for what constitutes a deprivation of liberty 
and substantially changed practice in this area of adult social work). 
After this change in 2014 there was a 10-fold increase in referrals into 
our DoLS Team without a significant increase in the staffing of the 
service.  

54 As a result, there are currently 1,213 outstanding DoLS applications in 
Durham, of which 39% are currently progressing though the 
assessment process.  Of this total 578 (48%) relate to new applications, 
379 (31%) have had a previous application granted, and 256 (21%) 
have a previous application not granted. 

55 Since 2014, work has taken place with Legal Services colleagues to 
risk-assess the managed backlog and a robust screening system is in 
place in the team. The risks have been deemed as low, as these adults 
are typically in a place of safety in residential or nursing care, not 
challenging placement decisions or actively asking to or trying to leave. 
Higher risk or complex cases are prioritised for assessment.  

56 Due to the significant changes in the Mental Capacity Act amendments 
expected to be implemented in 2023, Local Authorities are refocussing 
their efforts on reducing backlogs to minimise risk of additional work 
when the changeover in frameworks for managing these cases occurs.  

57 A Project Board, chaired by the Head of Adult Care was established in 
January 2022 to oversee the management of the backlog. Data and 
Systems and Performance colleagues have overseen significant 
improvement in breaking down the performance and associated issues.  

58 £550K additional resource has been made available (£150K in 2021/22 
and £400K for 2022/23) to manage the volume of work required to 
address the backlog. Extensive use of independent Best Interest 
Assessors (BIAs) is being made and 3 additional temporary BIAs have 
recently been appointed to the in-house team. Other local authorities 
will also be trying to address their backlogs ahead of the Mental 
Capacity Act amendments expected to be implemented next year, and 

Page 333



 

there is limited availability of potential candidates with the specialist 
skills and qualification.  

59 We continue to do everything we can to reduce the backlog as far as 
possible prior to the implementation of new legislation – including 
training more existing staff in this specialist area of practice and 
pursuing further temporary recruitment episodes.  

Other issues affecting the service currently 

60 Recruitment and retention remain a significant challenge in the 
service, with current turnover and vacancy rates further impacting on 
capacity and performance (see point 15). This mirrors the national 
picture affecting the social work workforce.  

61 The new AHS Workforce Strategy and specific action plans for each 
part of the service outline the intentions to further strengthen career 
pathways for existing staff, and the services focus on succession 
planning. 

62 The service works very closely with Payroll and Employee Services and 
corporate People and Talent Management colleagues to regularly 
monitor the recruitment issues and have recently created a new 
temporary post to focus specifically on the immediate recruitment needs 
of the service. Corporate Human Resources continue to support with 
work already ongoing. 

63 Recruitment and retention issues in the social care sector are not 
specific to adult services. Where practicable the service therefore works 
closely with Children and Young People’s Services to consider joined-
up approaches. This includes sharing approaches to workforce 
development strategies, digital learning, and development platforms, 
and working together to consider opportunities to raise the profile of 
social work in Durham by using events such as the annual World Social 
Work Day (in March) to showcase good practice, continuing 
professional development and career pathways offers to social work 
staff.  

64 Self-neglect and hoarding cases. The service has seen an increase 
in, self-neglect and hoarding possibly due to the increased prevalence 
in mental illness. Self-neglect became a formal category of abuse with 
the introduction of The Care Act (2005) and requires a structured and 
co-ordinated response from skilled professionals using a multi-agency 
approach, trauma-informed approach.  

65 Self-neglect and hoarding are recurring themes in national 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews.  

Page 334

https://durhamcc.learningnexus.co.uk/pluginfile.php/47354/mod_resource/content/1/AHS%20Workforce%20Development%20Strategy%202021-2025.pdf


 

66 7% of all safeguarding adult concerns in County Durham feature self-
neglect and it is now the joint third most prevalent category of abuse 
(after physical abuse and neglect/acts of omission). 

67 Much self-neglect/ hoarding behaviour stems from past trauma, adverse 
childhood experiences, Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, 
bereavement, illness, or addiction. Effective social work with adults who 
self-neglect requires a specific skill set and a longer term more in-depth 
approach to build trusting relationships, using trauma-informed 
approaches. 

68 This is a growing area of work the service is responding to, requiring a 
robust new training programme to embed trauma informed practice. 
Additional resource has also been secured to bolster the County 
Durham Care and Support, Support & Recovery Service to provide an 
effective intensive response where it is needed. 

69 Health and Social Care Integration. The Health and Care Act 2022 
received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022. The Act includes provisions to 
strengthen health and care integration which the Government set out in 
more detail in the Integration White Paper (February 2022).   

70 Cabinet agreed on 14th September 2022 that health and care partners 
should work towards a Joint Committee which will be co-produced with 
the Integrated Care Board; operate in 'shadow form' from October 2022; 
and be fully operational from April 2023. 

The Council has a strong track record in integrating health and care 
services over many years. In 2018, the Council and Partners formed the 
County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) which brought people and 
organisations together to organise and deliver care closer to home 
through new paradigms which improve service delivery and provide 
better care. The Partnership’s shared vision is “To bring together health 
and social care and voluntary organisations to achieve improved health 
and well-being for the people of County Durham”.  

 

71 To date the Partnership has: 

• integrated Adult Care and NHS Community Services and formed 
stronger working relationships with primary care.  

• sustained integrated teams in Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities services. 

• progressed integration through an Integration Programme.  

Page 335



 

• made joint appointments with health partners in Commissioning 
and Adult Social Care and Community Services  

• revised the CDCP structures in April 2021 in anticipation of 
changes in the Health and Care Act 2022. 

The Adult Care service is part of an Integration Programme working 
across 12 operational areas to: 

• Streamline services to make access easier for service users. 

• Share resources especially the skills of our workforce and the 
finance available. 

• Prevent needs becoming more acute through early intervention. 

Of note has been the work undertaken with the NHS on improving 
Occupational Therapy, working collaboratively on hospital discharge, 
and setting up an Urgent Community Response Service. 

72 The local authority’s longstanding partnership with Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valley (TEWV) NHS Trust supports our multi-disciplinary approach to 
supporting the needs of adults with learning disabilities or mental 
illness. The trust has recently undergone a restructure including in the 
senior leadership team, and new strategic relationships are developing. 
It is recognised by both organisations that there are significant 
operational challenges – both having launched new case management 
systems within the last 18 months, growing pressure on psychiatric 
wards, appropriate and proportionate community provision and 
managing crisis response. 

73 The integrated leadership team have therefore jointly committed to a 
Practice Reset programme to support integrated teams, managers, and 
practitioners to work effectively and in a co-ordinated way to achieve 
improved outcomes for service users.  

74 A new role – integrated with TEWV - has been created and it is 
anticipated that this officer will work with the Director of Integrated 
Community Services and the Head of Adult Care to further progress the 
integration programme within mental health and learning disabilities 
services. 

75 A refresh of the national Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 
(ASCOF) is to be implemented soon and this will directly impact on the 
services performance monitoring and reporting systems.   

76 ASCOF is a national data reporting set which measures how well care 
and support services achieve the outcomes that matter most to people. 

Page 336



 

The ASCOF is used both locally and nationally to set priorities for care 
and support, measure progress and strengthen transparency and 
accountability. The Department for Health and Social Care is leading on 
a refresh of the framework.  

77 It is anticipated that the refreshed framework will: 

• Better measure what people value in their lives in terms of 
independence and wellbeing. 

• Measure the impact of local authorities’ adult social care functions 
in meeting those policy objectives of the Care Act currently 
omitted from ASCOF, for example: the effectiveness of 
commissioning in driving a high quality, sustainable care market, 
and how well a local authority prevents the need for adult social 
care, the escalation of people’s needs (demand management) 
and wellbeing. 

• Include a more balanced set of health and social care indicators 
including what happens to people before/ after they leave 
hospital. 

• Better measure efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources by local authority adult social care functions. 

Conclusion 

78 Nearly three years on from the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, the 
service finds itself in a position where:  

• the workforce has changed significantly (including levels of skill 
and experience across the staff and managers).  

• social work practice itself has changed significantly with 
increased use of digital communications and proportionate face-
to-face interactions. 

• remote working has altered opportunities to learn directly from 
peers and inductions into the service and student placements are 
different to previous experiences and therefore consistency and 
quality may have been impacted in some areas. 

79 The service is operating at full capacity with ‘business as usual’ levels of 
referrals but service users experiencing increasing levels of complex 
needs. Over a decade of austerity has significantly contributed to case 
work becoming increasingly complex as community infrastructure has 
retracted. Rising numbers of hospital discharge and safeguarding 

Page 337



 

referrals and work requiring trauma informed responses contribute to a 
system under considerable pressure. 

80 The resilience and dedication of staff is to be commended. They 
continue to make such a difference in their support to some of our most 
vulnerable and disadvantaged adults; by ensuring their rights are 
upheld and their social care needs are addressed. 

81 General customer satisfaction rates remain good - 64.5% of service 
users report being extremely or very satisfied with the care and support 
services they receive. This is comparable to the NE figure of 65.3% and 
the national figure of 63.9%. Numbers of complaints into the service 
remain relatively low (79 in the year 2021-22, with 32% of them not 
upheld).  

82 The adult social care landscape continues to change due to 
demographic and societal changes, and in response to national policy 
drivers.  

83 The service is as prepared as it can be for the introduction of a number 
of major national changes in adult social care delivery and monitoring, 
despite these posing major strategic and operational challenges and 
requiring significant resource to implement. 

84 We continue to prioritise the visibility and accessibility of our supportive 
leadership team and maintain a strong focus on staff wellbeing and 
resilience and workforce development. 

85 Feedback from recent Head of Service staff engagement sessions and 
Adults and Health Service Roadshows indicates that staff feel engaged 
and supported by the senior leadership team. 

86 Our in-house CQC regulated care providers consistently achieve 
positive outcomes from their annual inspections. At present, 2 of our 3 
regulated provisions are rated as ‘outstanding’ and 1 as ‘good’.   

87 Initial findings from the recent annual conversation have supported the 
service’s focus on learning from performance data and feedback from 
staff, managers, and service users, as well as consolidating 
understanding of what works well in Adult Care in Durham. 

88 Despite the challenges that lie ahead, the service is in a good position 
to reset social care practice following the impacts of the pandemic and 
establish new baselines and quality assurance models moving towards 
annual inspection, social care reform and other key pieces of national 
policy/ legislative change over the next couple of years.  

 

Page 338

https://durhamcountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Home%20of%20Adult%20Care%20Transformation/SitePages/Adult-social-care-head-of-service-spring-Q-%26-A-summary--June-2022.aspx


 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Author(s) 

Lee Alexander, Head of Adult Care:   Tel: 03000 268180 

Karen Barnes, Principal Social Worker Adults: Tel:  03000 268185 

  

Page 339



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The service must ensure it is compliant with all legislative frameworks, and 

responsive to change as these are amended. All staff must be supported with 

legal literacy relevant to their social care rolls. Without this, the authority is at 

risk of reputational damage and litigation.  

Finance 

Additional resources have been secured to support the anticipated changes 

and further scoping work is underway in relation to Social Care charging 

reform and LPS implementation.  

Consultation 

Consultation Advisory Group will be engaged in any public consultation if 

required in relation to the impending changes.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A – all service user groups affected. Equality Impact Statements 

undertaken. 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

Human Rights are upheld by the application of existing legal frameworks – 

The Care Act (2014), The Mental Capacity Act (2005) and the Mental Health 

Cat (1983). 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

Further resource secured to support planning & modelling stages and 

eventual implementation of the changes detailed within this report. No existing 

contracts will be affected. 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

Page 340



 

Risk of reputational damage and litigation if the service is not redeveloped 

appropriately to meet the policy and legal changes planned. This is managed 

within the corporate risk register.   

Procurement 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet 

14 December 2022 

County Durham Plan Annual Monitoring 

Report (AMR) 2021/22 

Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 

Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Partnerships  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for the content of 
the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) of the County Durham Plan (CDP) 
and to agree to its publication.  The Council adopted its new local plan, 
the County Durham Plan on 21 October 2020. This is the second AMR, 
but the first that covers a full year, of the adopted CDP and covers the 
period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. 

Executive summary 

2. All local authorities are required to produce a monitoring report of its 
local plan by the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.  The AMR monitors the effectiveness of 
planning policies contained within the County Durham Plan (CDP).  The 
CDP has 61 policies, all of which have monitoring indicators associated 
with them. 

3. The AMR includes analysis of all policy indicators and assesses 
whether policies have met any targets that have been set.  As of March 
2022, the CDP has been adopted for 17 months, therefore in some 
instances there is limited analysis that can be undertaken at this stage, 
however some comparison can be made with the data collected last 
year.  This and future Annual Monitoring Reports (AMR) will assist in 
determining whether any intervention or early review of the CDP is 
required. 

Page 343

Agenda Item 8



 

 

4. Key information within the AMR includes analysis of the levels of 
employment land approved and completed.  It also details housing 
approvals and housing completions. 

5. The CDP allocates 300ha of general employment land as well as 
specific use and safeguarded site allocations.  In the last year 
approximately 29 hectares of employment land has been approved for 
employment uses, over half of this is at NETPark Phase 3a.  A further 
5.51ha of employment land has also now been completed mainly 
smaller units at Aycliffe, Belmont, St Helen Auckland, Willington, 
Consett and South Hetton. 

6. The AMR confirms that the Council has passed the Housing Delivery 
Test (HDT) with 1,671 net housing completions in the year compared to 
an annual target of 1,308 and that the Council can demonstrate a 5-
year supply of housing of 5.47 years, in line with the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  This means the County 
Durham Plan is working well and its policies can continue to be used to 
determine planning applications. 

7. Meeting the need for affordable housing is a key objective of the County 
Durham Plan.  During the reporting year 536 affordable houses were 
completed.  Of these, 411 were for Affordable Rent, 75 were Rent to 
Buy, 13 were Help to Buy, 6 were Affordable Home Ownership and 
there were 31 where tenure was not specified. 

8. The AMR reports on the performance of the county’s town centres in 
terms of vacancy rates and occupancy and finds that the average 
vacancy rate has decreased from 16.4% to 16.1% which, however, is 
still 2% higher than the national average.  Performance varies across 
our towns however, from 32.8% for Peterlee to 10.6% for Barnard 
Castle. 

9. The Council’s response to climate change features prominently within 
the CDP and there are several policies which seek to support the 
transition to a low carbon economy.  The AMR provides data on the 
levels of renewable energy generation in the county, this data shows 
growth in renewable energy generation from 505,899MWh in 2018 to 
545,522MWh this year. 

Recommendations 

10 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree the content of the County Durham Plan Annual Monitoring 

Report (attached at Appendix 2) and agree its publication on the 

Council’s website.   

Page 344



 

 

Background 

11. The Council adopted its new local plan, the County Durham Plan (CDP) 
on 21 October 2020.  This followed an Examination in Public in late 
2019 and early 2020.  The adopted plan sets out 61 policies, each of 
which have monitoring indicators and, where relevant, targets. 

12. The AMR includes analysis of all of the policy indicators and assesses 
whether policies have met the targets that have been set.  The Plan is 
still relatively recent and therefore in some instances there is limited 
analysis that can be undertaken at this stage, however, this year’s AMR 
allows some reflection 17 months on from its adoption.  Future AMRs 
will establish patterns in the monitoring data and importantly, will assist 
in determining whether any intervention or early review of the CDP is 
required. 

13. The AMR is structured in line with the CDP and by policy.  Some of the 
indicators monitor development generally, such as the number of 
homes delivered, whereas others are specific to policies in the adopted 
CDP. 

14. Prior to the adoption of the CDP, the Council made use of ‘saved 
policies’ from the former district local plans, however these policies 
were not associated with a consolidated county wide monitoring 
framework.  Therefore, previous AMRs have reported on a number of 
hybrid indicators linked to topics, such as housing, employment land, 
town centres and the environment.  This AMR for 2021/22 is the first to 
report against the specific indicators within the adopted CDP over a full 
12-month period. 

Update on the implementation of the Plan and additional 
Development Plan Documents (DPD) and Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) 

15. At the end of this monitoring period the Plan has been adopted 17 
months and in terms of this report its now 2 years adopted.  The Plan 
provides up to date policies to determine planning applications. In 
addition, the site allocations are now starting to be developed out.  
Further to this it is important that policies are being used to uphold 
planning decisions made by the Council if the applicant subsequently 
appeals that decision.  Over this monitoring period, just under 90% of 
appeals were dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate following refusal 
by the Council showing that policies are found to be robust and are 
being applied correctly. 

16. As well as having an adopted plan, the Council consulted on a Minerals 
and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan Document 
(M&WDPD) in September/October 2021.  This DPD will supplement the 

Page 345



 

 

Minerals and Waste policies with the CDP and on adoption will have its 
own monitoring framework that will be reported within the AMR.  A 
further stage of consultation on a Publication Draft is programmed for 
November 2022.  Once this consultation is completed the DPD, subject 
to Full Council approval, will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate 
for an Examination in Public by an independent inspector.  Following 
adoption, it will form part of the statutory development plan for County 
Durham and will replace the remaining saved policies of the County 
Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) and the County Durham 
Waste Local Plan (April 2005). 

17. As well as the M&WDPD, a number of SPDs are in production. 
Consultation took place in June 2022 on the Development Viability, 
Affordable Housing and Financial Contributions SPD.  A further round of 
consultation is due to take place in January/February 2023 with the view 
to adopting this document in April 2023.  In addition to this four other 
SPDs are to be consulted on for the first time in January/February 2023.  
These are a Housing Needs SPD, a Design Code SPD, a Trees 
Woodland and Hedges SPD and a Solar Power SPD.  A further SPD on 
Ecology is to be prepared later in 2023. 

18. These documents will supplement the policies within the Plan as the 
Council continues to monitor the performance of the Plan’s policies.  
The Council also monitors evolving national policy, notably the Levelling 
Up and Regeneration Bill which was introduced into Parliament in May.  
As the Bill progresses, we will look to respond to any consultations that 
come forward on specific provisions within it.  Once enacted this Bill 
may have implications for a future review of the Plan however, there is 
currently no indication that an early review of the Plan is required. 

Overview of Findings 

19. Given the recent adoption of the CDP, in some instance there is limited 
analysis and assessment that can be made at this stage.  There are 
however indicators within the CDP that have been carried forward from 
previous AMRs that pre-date the adoption of the CDP, which allows 
comparison.  This report provides an overview of the findings of the 
AMR by themes of the CDP. 

Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

20. The CDP sets out policies and allocations to deliver the homes that are 
needed. Policy 1 (Quantity of Development) sets out that the housing 
need for County Durham is 1,308 dwellings per annum which, when 
applied over the Plan period equates to 24,852 dwellings.  Over the 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, there have been 1,671 net 
housing completions.  This is much higher than the target in Policy 1 of 

Page 346



 

 

1,308 net completions and is significantly higher than last year’s figure 
(1,328), and the highest since the start of the Plan period.  The Covid 
19 pandemic impacted on completions in quarter 1 of last year, which in 
part explains the significant increase from last year, as it was expected 
that developers would be compensating for that this year.  We have 
also seen several sites started and completed within this year.  Given 
the above, the target has therefore been comfortably met. 

21. The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) provides the Government’s official 
measure of housing delivery performance at local authority level.  It 
measures net additional dwellings in a local authority area against the 
homes required, using national statistics and local authority data.  The 
CDP aligns one of its indicators to the test which is the percentage of 
the number of net homes delivered against the number of homes 
required over a rolling three-year period.  The AMR finds that County 
Durham has passed the HDT for 2022 with a result of 145% and is 
therefore above the required ‘pass mark’ of 95% where no action needs 
to be taken.  This is higher than last year (133%), due to a higher 
number of completions over the 3-year period. 

22. National planning policy require Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to 
maintain a five-year supply of deliverable sites (against housing 
requirements) to ensure choice and consumption in the market for land.  
Based on this, as at 1 April 2022 the Council can demonstrate a supply 
of housing of 5.47 years against its Local Housing Need.  This is slightly 
lower than last year’s housing land supply figure, due to a number of 
factors.  This year has seen significantly higher completions than last, 
moving housing units out of the supply as they have now been 
delivered.  This excludes the sites which fall within the catchment of the 
Teesmouth and Cleveland Special Protection Area (SPA)/Ramsar and 
have been affected by requirements of nutrient neutrality.  Where a site 
does not have full planning permission or conditions relating to 
drainage/water still need to be discharged, they have been pushed 
beyond the 5-year supply. 

23. Meeting the need for affordable housing is a key objective of the County 
Durham Plan.  During the reporting year 536 affordable houses were 
completed.  Of these 411 were for Affordable Rent, 75 were Rent to 
Buy, 13 were Help to Buy, 6 were Affordable Home Ownership and 
there were 31 where tenure was not specified. 

Building a strong and competitive economy 

24. Policies within the Plan set out employment land allocations to ensure 
that there is a portfolio of available employment sites across the county 
which are attractive to new employers, allow the expansion of existing 
businesses and respond to the changing needs of businesses.  The 

Page 347



 

 

CDP allocates 300ha of general employment land as well as specific 
use and safeguarded site allocations.  The Plan sets the indicators for 
monitoring the development of these allocations. 

25. The AMR therefore reports on the levels of approved and developed 
employment land over the full monitoring period, both of which have 
been monitored in similar form prior to adoption of the Plan.  It reports 
that 29.92ha of land has been approved for employment space.  Over 
half of this can be attributed to the approval at NETPark for Phase 3a, 
which proposes the development of 15.6ha for Research and 
Development floorspace.  Other approvals of note include an 
application at Belmont Industrial Estate of 5.2ha proposing B2 and B8 
floorspace.  The remaining approvals are all small-scale schemes. 

26. Further to approvals, the AMR reports that 5.51ha of employment land 
has been completed.  This is a fall on previous years and reflects that 
there have not been the large-scale units completed as there had been 
the previous year, (the last AMR reported on the completion of 
significant development at Integra61 and Jade).  This year’s figure 
reflects the completion of a number of smaller proposals across various 
locations in the county, including Aycliffe, Belmont, St Helen Auckland, 
Willington, Consett and South Hetton.  The majority of completions were 
either general industry or storage and distribution floorspace.  The 
impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic may have impacted on employment 
land completions, however it is anticipated that the figure will be 
significantly higher next year as a number of larger sites, such as 
Aykley Heads which are currently under construction, and also the rise 
in the levels of approvals over this monitoring period. 

Ensuring the vitality of town centres  

27. Recent years have been particularly difficult for town centres, the 
impacts of Covid-19 in 2020 and resulting lockdowns alongside 
changing consumer behaviour and the rise of e-commerce, mobile 
technology and internet shopping have provided challenging trading 
conditions.  Retailing and the county’s town centres are still however 
key drivers of the economy and are valuable assets for local 
communities.  Setting out a strategic framework for the county’s retail 
centres is an important factor in improving the overall performance of 
County Durham's economy and supporting communities.  The CDP sets 
out a retail hierarchy of centres across the County setting a policy 
framework to protect these centres from development that would impact 
on them. 

28. In order to understand how the centres within the retail hierarchy are 
performing, monitoring processes have been in place for a number of 
years which are now embedded in the CDP in terms of the new policy 

Page 348



 

 

monitoring indicators.  These measure how the town centres are 
performing in terms of vacancy rates.  Town centre surveys have been 
conducted annually across the county’s larger centres since 2013, this 
year’s surveys took place in June/July.  The survey results are reported 
within the AMR which identifies that vacancy rates are higher than the 
average national high street vacancy rates (14.1%) in some of our 
centres across the County.  Peterlee (32.8%), Bishop Auckland (26.3%) 
and Newton Aycliffe (20.4%) continue to have the highest percentage of 
vacant units, although in the case of Bishop Auckland and Newton 
Aycliffe the vacancy rate has declined since last year.  Notably, Newton 
Aycliffe has had the biggest decrease in vacancy of all centres 
surveyed, with 6 less units vacant. 

29. There has also been an increase in the number of centres, up from 5 to 
7, which have vacancy rates below the national average.  These are 
Barnard Castle (10.6%), Chester-le-Street (13.1%), Consett (12.1%), 
Crook (12.1%), Ferryhill (13.3%) and Seaham, which has the lowest 
vacancy rate within the whole of the County at just 6%, significantly 
below the national average.  Overall, the average vacancy rate stands 
at 16.1%, which is also a fall on last year’s figure of 16.64% but is 2% 
above the national average. 

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 

30. Addressing climate change is of importance for sustainable 
development and is a key priority of the Plan and to the Council.  
Policies within the Plan encourage renewable energy development 
where it is appropriately located, and give significant weight to the 
social, environmental, and economic benefits of renewable 
development. 

31. The AMR monitors the energy generated from renewable sources.  The 
data on capacity of renewables sites is supplied by the government one 
year in arrears, so the most recent data published is for 2021.  This data 
shows growth in renewable energy generation from 2018-2021, from 
505,899MWh in 2018 to 545,522MWh this year. 

Conserving and enhancing the natural and historic environment 

32. County Durham has a wealth of attractive natural and historic assets 
which present unique opportunities for residents, businesses and 
visitors.  There is a need therefore to successfully balance the 
protection and enhancement of these assets with the requirement for 
new development to meet our need for new homes and jobs.  New 
development in and around our historic towns and villages must 
complement their built heritage and natural landscapes. 

Page 349



 

 

33. The Council has developed a coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy 
to implement a programme of monitoring and mitigation measures to 
address potential adverse effects on County Durham’s Coast European 
Protected Sites, which can be caused from increased visitor pressures 
resulting from new planned residential and tourist development. 

34. Detailed developer guidance is provided to explain the responsibility of 
the Council and developers in respect of Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA), including the stages in the process and what 
assessments and mitigation are required.  This has ensured that no 
application has been approved which contravenes the requirements of 
Habitat Regulations since the adoption of the Plan. 

35. There has been a reduction in the number of buildings on the ‘At Risk 
Register’ (compiled by Historic England) from 57 to 53 heritage assets 
from the previous monitoring period.  The At Risk Register breaks down 
as follows: buildings and structures (25); places of worship (4); 
archaeology (17); parks and gardens (1) and Conservation Areas (6).  
The assets that were removed from the register include: 

• Church of St Andrew, Dalton-le-Dale and Church of St Helen, 
Church Kelloe - both removed as a result of extensive work 
funded by NHLF; 

• Bowburn Conservation Area removed as threat from adjacent 
development now clearly understood and Neighbourhood Plan 
adopted offering strong protection to CA and NDHA; 

• Shildon Conservation Area removed as result of significant 
investment in fabric of key assets, preparation and Historic Area 
Assessment and strategy for improvement through Levelling Up 
Funding; 

• Trimdon Village Conservation Area removed as a result of 
improvement in the condition of built fabric and environment and 
dismissal of appeal for housing which would have harmed setting. 

Next Steps 

36. If agreed, the AMR will be published on the Council’s website for 
information.  The AMR sits alongside the County Durham Plan and is an 
evidence base to support decision taking within County Durham and in 
particular, whether the Plan is out of date and needs to be reviewed.  
The conclusion this year is that there is currently no indication that an 
early review of the Plan is required. 

37. The Spatial Policy Team will continue to monitor the policies within the 
CDP, and work will commence on developing the 2022/23 AMR for 

Page 350



 

 

publication later next year.  It is anticipated that at this point, with 
policies having been in place for over 2 years the Council will be able to 
undertake further analysis on the impact of the policies. 

Author 

James Cook Tel: 03000 261910 

 

  

Page 351



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None.  

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

The CDP was subject to extensive consultation, the AMR does not require any 

consultation. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty 

under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  This 

duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under 

that legislation. 

An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken for the County Durham 

Plan.  This Equalities Impact Assessment confirmed that the Plan would have 

a potential positive impact across all of the protected characteristics, in 

particular for age (younger and older people), disability and sex (both male 

and female). 

The AMR monitors the policies in the County Durham Plan. 

Climate Change 

The CDP contributes towards Durham County Council’s response to the 

climate emergency.  A key objective in the Plan focuses on our adaptation to 

climate change.  This is through promoting appropriate sustainable urban 

drainage systems (SUDs) in new developments, promoting sustainable land 

management and conservation including protecting habitats such as woodland 

and peatland, ensuring that new development is located away from areas of 

flood risk, with an integrated approach to water management across all areas 

and encouraging appropriate building and infrastructure design and through 

the restoration of minerals and waste sites. 

Further to this it seeks to support the transition to a low carbon economy by 

encouraging and enabling the use of low and zero carbon technologies, 

supporting the development of appropriate renewable energy sources and 

sustainable and active transport. 

Page 352



 

 

The AMR reports on policies that seek to reduce the impact on climate 

change. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

  

Page 353



 

 

Appendix 2:  County Durham plan Annual Monitoring Report 

2020/21 

 

See document attached separately. 

 

 

Page 354



 

Annual Monitoring Report 

2021/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 355



Introduction  
An Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) monitors the effectiveness of planning policies and proposals 

within a Development Plan. 

A Local Planning Authority is required to produce a monitoring report of its Local Plan as per The 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The AMR should contain 

information on the implementation of the Local Development Scheme (LDS), and the extent to 

which planning policies set out in the Local Plan are performing and being delivered. 

Last year’s AMR (2020/21) was the first to report against the indicators within the adopted County 

Durham Plan (CDP). This year’s AMR (2021/22) is the second AMR of the CDP and first AMR to report 

on a full year of indicators within the Plan. It has been produced by the Spatial Policy team. It reports 

on activity from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.  

The structure of the report reflects that of the Plan and is reported by the following themes: 

• Quantity of Development (How Much) 

• Spatial Distribution (Where) 

• Building a strong and competitive economy  

• Ensuring the vitality of town centres 

• Supporting a prosperous rural economy 

• Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

• Protecting Green Belt land 

• Delivering sustainable transport 

• Supporting high quality infrastructure 

• Requiring good design 

• Promoting healthy communities 

• Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

• Conserving and enhancing the natural and historic environment 

• Minerals and waste 

The AMR includes analysis of the policy indicators and an assessment as to whether the 

corresponding policies have met any targets that have been set.  This year’s AMR builds on the initial 

findings of last year, in some sections providing more detail and analysis. The County Durham Plan 

(CDP) has been adopted just over 17 months (21st October 2020 – 31st March 2022) and this means 

that it is too early to provide any indications as to whether any intervention or early review is 

required. 

Update on other Development Plan Documents (DPD) and Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs)  
As well as having an adopted plan, the Council consulted on a Minerals and Waste Policies and 

Allocations Development Plan Document (M&WDPD) in September/October 2021. This DPD will 

supplement the Minerals and Waste policies with the CDP and on adoption will have its own 

monitoring framework that will be reported within the AMR. A further stage of consultation on a 

Publication Draft started on 28th November 2022. Once this consultation is completed the DPD, 

subject to Full Council approval, will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for an Examination in 

Public by an independent inspector. Following adoption, it will form part of the statutory 

development plan for County Durham and will replace the remaining saved policies of the County 

Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) and the County Durham Waste Local Plan (April 2005). 

Page 356



As well as the M&WDPD, a number of SPDs are in production. Consultation took place in June 2022 

on the Development Viability, Affordable Housing and Financial Contributions SPD. A further round 

of consultation is due to take place in January/February 2023 with the view to adopting this 

document in April 2023. In addition to this, four other SPDs are to be consulted on for the first time 

in January/February 2023. These are a Housing Needs SPD, a Design Code SPD, a Trees Woodland 

and Hedges SPD and a Solar Power SPD. A further SPD on Ecology is to be prepared later in 2023. 

A new Local Development Scheme was agreed in November 2022 and confirms this timetable for the 

M&WDPD and the SPDs in Table 1 below.  

Table 1 Local Development Scheme 

 Reg 19 
Consultation 

Submission EIP  Adoption 

M&WDPD Nov 2022- Jan 
2023 

May 2023 Sept 2023 Jun 2024 
 

 

 First Consultation  Second Consultation  Adoption 

Development Viability, 

Affordable Housing 

and Financial 

Contributions SPD 

N/A Jan/Feb 2023 Apr 2023 

Housing Needs SPD Jan/Feb 2023 Jun/Jul 2023 Sept 2023 

County Durham 

Design Code SPD 

Jan/Feb 2023 Jun/Jul 2023 Sept 2023 

Trees, Woodland and 

Hedges SPD 

Jan/Feb 2023 Jun/Jul 2023 Sept 2023 

Solar Power SPD Jan/Feb 2023 Jun/Jul 2023 Sept 2023 

Ecology SPD Sept/Oct 2023 Feb/Mar 2024 May 2024 

 

Update on Neighbourhood Plans 
Neighbourhood activity and the production of Neighbourhood Plans is led by parish and town 

councils, or in the case of an unparished area, a neighbourhood forum. The Council provides advice 

and support to these groups so they can navigate their way through the process . Within County 

Durham 9 Neighbourhood Plans have been adopted, these are: 

• Durham City 

• Cassop-cum-Quarrington 

• Cotherstone 

• Great Aycliffe 

• Lanchester 

• Oakenshaw 

• Sedgefield 

• Wholton 

• Witton Gilbert 

Page 357



The following Neighbourhood Plans are currently being prepared 

• Starforth 

• Brancepeth 

• Coxhoe 

• Middridge 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 358



Quantity of Development – How Much 
The County Durham Plan reflects the need to create successful places by improving the economic 

performance of County Durham and providing the housing and other development that we need. 

The Plan is paramount to creating the right conditions for a sustainable County Durham. This 

includes creating a better environment for business and residents by providing the infrastructure 

that is needed to enable an increased proportion of the working age population to be in 

employment, people to live in good quality housing and to have access to a range of facilities, with 

all the benefits to resident’s health, wellbeing and prosperity that follow as a result. The Plan 

therefore seeks to enable growth and economic prosperity by ensuring that there is sufficient land, 

of the right type and in the places where people and business wish to locate within the 

environmental constraints which exist. 

Policy 1 Quantity of Development 
Policy 1 provides the figure for the amount of employment land to be allocated and the minimum 

housing number for the plan period. The following provides detail of progress in terms of the 

development of employment land and also housing development over the period April 1st 2021 to 

March 31st 2022. 

QD1 Employment Land approved and completed 

 

Amount of employment land approved: 29.92ha 

Amount of employment completed: 5.51ha 

Target: In accordance with the employment land 
trajectory 

Performance against target: See indicator SD1  

 
Policy 1 allocates 300ha of employment land. It is Policy 2 that sets out a portfolio of employment 

sites which are allocated (undeveloped plots/areas) and protected (existing sites with 

industrial/premises on) for B1, B2 and B8 uses. From September 1st 2020 B1 uses now fall within the 

new E use class. For the purposes of the policy moving forward, the former B1 uses are monitored 

by the following use class  

E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions,  

E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes  

E(g)(iii) Industrial processes  

In the monitoring period 29.92ha of land has been approved for employment space and 5.51ha has 

been developed. Further analysis is provided under indicator SD1. 

QD2 Gross Housing Completions 

 

Gross Housing Completions: 1,681 gross completions (1,671 net) 

Target 1,308 net homes completed 

Performance against target: Target met 
*figures may be subject to small changes over time, as data is collected from a large number of sources and due to this some figures may 

be delayed. 

QD3 Number of houses approved 

Number of housing units approved: 2,528 

Target: No target 

Page 359



Performance against target: N/A 

 

Policy 1 also sets out the quantity of development required in the county throughout the plan period 

(2016-2035), and the housing need for County Durham is 1,308 homes per annum, which when 

applied over the plan period equates to 24,852 dwellings needed.   

There have been 2,528 units approved in 2021/22 which is a slight decrease on last year’s figure of 

2,370 housing units approved. This could be due to the CDP being adopted in October 2020 meaning 

that there has been less windfall sites approved, and development is being directed to the most 

sustainable locations through policy 4 and policy 6.  

There have been 1,681 completions in total in 2021/22.  The target for this indicator is to ensure that 

net completions are in line with the housing need of 1,308 homes per annum. To ensure this target 

is being met, several indicators are considered (QD2 and QD4-QD8) to determine the net completion 

figure taking into account other sources of losses and gains of housing units. 

QD4 Number of housing demolitions 

 

Number of housing demolitions 8 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
There have been 8 housing demolitions this financial year, therefore these housing units have been 

lost to demolition and need to be taken from the gross completions figure. 

QD5 Number of empty homes brought back into use 

 

Number of empty homes brought back into use 113* 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 
*Long Term Empty (LTE) (not including second homes) brought back into use between 31st March 2021 and 31st March 2022). 

Empty homes data shows that over the last full year period of available data there were 113 Long 

Term Empty (LTE) homes brought back into use.  

Since the gross figures for empty homes are offset to some degree by those that move from being 

short term vacancies to becoming long term vacancies during the same period, it has not been 

factored into the net completion figure for 2021/22, however we will continue to monitor empty 

homes annually going forward. 

QD6 Number of homes lost to conversion to other uses (excluding student accommodation: C4 small 

HMOs and Sui Generis large HMOs) 

 

Number of homes lost to conversion to other 
uses (excluding student accommodation: C4 
small HMOs and Sui Generis large HMOs) 

2 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
This year, 2 houses have been converted to other uses (retail units), these therefore  need to be 

taken from the gross completions figure. 

Page 360



QD7 Number of homes gained from conversion from other uses (excluding student accommodation: 

C4 small HMOs and Sui Generis large HMOs) 

 

Number of homes gained from conversion to 
other uses (excluding student accommodation: 
C4 small HMOs and Sui Generis large HMOs) 

1 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
Similarly, the number of homes gained from conversion from other uses should be added to the 

completions.  This year 1 housing unit has been gained through conversion from a public house to a 

residential dwelling. 

QD8 Number of C3 homes lost to C4 small HMOs and Sui Generis large HMOs 

Number of C3 homes lost to C4 small HMOs 
and Sui Generis large HMOs 

1 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
This indicator monitors homes lost to conversion, in this case being to Houses in Multiple Occupancy 

(HMOs).  This year, 1 house has been converted to a HMO. 

QD9 Number of C4 small HMOs and Sui Generis Larger HMOs brought back into C3 use 

Number of C4 small HMOs and Sui Generis 
Larger HMOs brought back into C3 use 

0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
Like indicator QD7, this indicator monitors the number of homes brought back into use, in this case 

from HMOs.  This year no homes have been converted back to C3 use from to HMOs. 

Net completions 

Taking all of the above into account from the gross completion figure of 1,681, the net completion 

figure this year is 1,671.  This is much higher than the target in Policy 1 of 1,308 net completions and 

is significantly higher than last year’s figure, and the highest since the start of the Plan period.   

The Covid 19 pandemic impacted on completions in quarter 1 of last year, which in part explains the 

significant increase from last year, as it was expected that developers would be compensating for 

that this year.  We have also seen several sites started and completed within this year. The table and 

graph below show past performance for gross and net housing completions.  

 

Table 2 - Gross and net housing completions 

 

* figures may be subject to small changes over time, as data is collected from a large number of sources and due to this some figures may 

be delayed. 

Housing completions 

 

 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/2

0 

2020/21 2021/22 

Gross housing completions 1,417 1,356 1,513 1,633 1,343 1,681 

Net housing completions 1,410 1,339 1,463 1,628 1,328 1,671 

Page 361



Figure 1 

 

QD10 Number of PBSA bedrooms completed 

Number of PBSA bedrooms completed 95 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
This year 95 new bedrooms have been completed in Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA). 

While this isn’t factored into the completions above, it is factored into the Housing Delivery Test 

(HDT) which is set out in further detail at indicator SD5. 

Spatial Distribution of Development – Where 
The County Durham Plan not only identifies the amount of new development needed but also where 

it should be located. Development within the Plan should reflect the principles of sustainable 

development but also be realistic and deliverable. 

Policy 2 Employment Land 
It is important to ensure that there is a portfolio of available employment sites across the county 

which are attractive to new employers, allow the expansion of existing businesses and respond to 

the changing needs of businesses. It is essential that these are located in areas of the county that 

offer good opportunities to attract investment. Policy 2 sets out the approach for allocating and 

protecting employment sites across the county. 

SD1 Amount of employment land approved and completed by Use Class on allocated sites 

 

Amount of employment land approved: 29.92ha 

Amount of employment completed: 5.51ha 

Target: In accordance with the employment land 
trajectory (29.35ha developed) 

Performance against target: See text below 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Housing Completions in County Durham

Gross housing completions Net housing completions

Page 362



This indicator consists of two parts to cover employment space permitted and employment space 

completed. 

Indicator SD1 is a similar indicator to that which the Council reported on through pre-CDP published 

AMRs. Therefore, as well as comparing against last year’s figure, the table below shows figures for 

2019/20 and 2018/19. 

Table 3 Data from previous AMRs 

 

Monitoring year Employment land approved Employment land completed 

2018/19 16ha 10.5ha 

2019/20 62.37ha 17.29ha 

2020/21 18.68ha 36.69ha 

2021/22 29.92ha 5.51ha 

 
Policy 2 sets out a portfolio of employment sites which are allocated (undeveloped plots/areas) and 

protected (existing sites with industrial/premises on) for B1, B2 and B8 uses. From September 1st 

2020 B1 uses now fall within the new E use class. For the purposes of the policy moving forward, the 

former B1 uses are monitored by the following use class. 

E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions,  

E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes  

E(g)(iii) Industrial processes  

In  the monitoring period 29.92ha of land has been approved for employment space and 5.51ha has 

been completed.  

Table 4 Amount of employment land approved on allocated/protected sites 

 

Monitoring 
year 

E(g)(i) 
office 

E(g)(ii) R&D E(g)(iii) 
Industrial 
processes 

B2 (General 
Industry) 

B8 (Storage 
and 
Distribution) 

Total 

20/21 15.153ha 0ha 0.43ha 3.03ha 0.067ha 18.68ha 

21/22 1.49ha 15.6ha 1.84ha 6.1ha 4.89ha 29.92ha 

 
Table 4 shows that of the 29.92ha of land approved, over half of this can be attributed to the 

approval at NETPark for Phase 3a, which proposes the development of 15.6ha for Research and 

Development floorspace. Other approvals of note include an application at Belmont Industrial Estate 

of 5.2ha proposing B2 and B8 floorspace. The remaining approvals are all small-scale schemes. 

This year’s AMR allows us to compare this year’s figures with the figures reported last year. It is first 

notable that more land has been approved in the monitoring period than last year. Apart from office 

development, the amount of land approved for each use has increased. Future AMRs will continue 

to monitor these trends. 

Table 5 Amount of employment land completed on allocated/protected sites 

 

Monitoring 
year 

E(g)(i) 
office 

E(g)(ii) R&D E(g)(iii) 
Industrial 
processes 

B2 (General 
Industry) 

B8 (Storage 
and 
Distribution) 

Total 

20/21 0.56ha 0ha 1.88ha 6.1ha 28.15ha 36.69ha 

Page 363



21/22 0ha 0ha 0.26ha 1.65ha 3.6ha 5.51ha 

 
Table 5 shows that 5.51ha of employment land has been developed for employment uses. This is a 

fall on previous years and reflects that there have not been the large-scale units completed as there 

had been the previous year (the last AMR reported on the completion of significant development at 

Integra61 and Jade). This year’s figure reflects the completion of a number of smaller proposals 

across various locations in the County, including Aycliffe, Belmont, St Helen Auckland, Willington, 

Consett and South Hetton. The majority of completions were either general industry or storage and 

distribution floorspace. 

The impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic may still being felt on employment land completions, 

however it is anticipated that the figure will be significantly higher next year as a number of larger 

sites, such as Plot C at Aykley Heads are currently under construction and the rise in the number of 

approvals over the monitoring period. However, given the low figure for completions, the target 

which is set by the employment land trajectory (29.35ha) has not been met in this monitoring 

period. 

SD2 The amount of allocated, specific and protected employment space lost to other use 

 

Amount of employment land lost (permitted): 0.83ha 

Amount of employment land lost (completed): 0.046ha 

Target: None lost to other uses 

Performance against target: See text below 

 
For the purposes of this indicator, it has been split into two to cover employment land lost 

(permitted), and employment land lost (completed). Over the monitoring period 0.83ha of land has 

been approved for uses other than what the land is allocated or protected for. In each case these 

have been generally small scale losses, the largest of which was an approval for a small convenience 

store on Castleside Industrial Estate. In addition there have been small scale losses to uses such as a 

tattoo studio, a beauty salon, an indoor children’s play area, a canine day care and a car sales use. 

Table 6 Amount of allocated, specific and protected employment space lost to other use 

 

Monitoring year Amount of employment land 
lost (permitted): 

Amount of employment land 
lost (completed): 

20/21 2.07ha Not monitored 

21/22 0.83ha 0.046ha 

 
Comparing the figures with the figures reported last year shows a slight fall in the amount of land 

permitted to non-employment uses. Future AMRs will continue to monitor these trends. 

This year’s AMR also reports on the permitted losses identified in last year’s AMR which have now 

been completed. Of the losses permitted in the period 20/21, just one has been completed, this 

being the change of use of a unit at Dragonville, from B8 to Class E (Bulky Goods Retail), now trading 

as Frank’s Factory Flooring. Due to this reported loss, the indicator target has not strictly been met. 

It should be noted that the applications approved have been able to demonstrate that they meet 

criteria a or b within Policy 2 which allows for uses outside of what the sites are protected or 

allocated for. 

Page 364



Policy 3 Aykley Heads 
Aykley Heads has been identified as a strategic employment site within the County Durham Plan. 

This recognises the potential opportunity to develop a high quality office development, building on 

recent investment and the locational advantages of the site. 

SD3 Gross employment floorspace completed at Aykley Heads 

  

Floorspace completed: 0sqm 

Target: 38,468sqm of floorspace completed 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The Aykley Heads policy sets out the criteria for assessing planning applications which will deliver a 

business park with the potential to create 4000 jobs over the Plan period. 

Last year’s AMR reported on the approval of an application on the full Aykley Heads site, as 

identified in the CDP. The application proposed a total of 38,468sqm of floorspace, the majority of 

this was in outline, although the application included a detailed submission on Plot C which was for 

an office building of 2,985sqm. The Council remain committed to the development of the site that 

can create a new and unique business location that maximises economic growth in County Durham 

and delivers jobs in new and growing sectors. Whilst Plot C is now currently under construction and 

nearing completion, this year’s AMR reports that no floorspace has been completed.  

Policy 4 Housing Allocations 
Policy 4 allocates sites that have been considered the most appropriate to deliver the new homes we 

need to ensure that we meet our Local Housing Need (LHN), making effective use of land and 

utilising previously developed land where it is available and viable. These allocations, together with 

the other elements of housing supply such as sites with planning permission and under construction, 

will provide the range and choice of sites to meet our needs and deliver the preferred spatial 

strategy for the distribution of housing in County Durham. 

SD4 Number of units approved and completed on allocated sites 

 

Number of housing units approved on allocated 
sites: 

• 200 units Ash Drive Willington (H26) 
• 500 units Sherburn road (H6) 

Number of Completions on allocated sites: • 17 units (full site) completed on 
Hawthorn House Newton Hall (H2) 

• 10 completions (out of 60) on Former 
Gilesgate School (H1) 

Target: Annual Housing Delivery 
Target - based on the 
Housing Trajectory 

Performance against target: The housing trajectory which accompanied the 
adoption of the plan did not anticipate any 
completions on these allocated sites when 
applying the definition of a deliverable site 
from the planning practice guidance. Within the 
updated housing trajectory, the 2 sites (H1 and 
H2) have now been brought forward to reflect 
the change in circumstances. 

 

Page 365



On the sites allocated for housing, 700 units were approved on housing allocations across 2 sites.  

This was 500 units approved on Sherburn Road (H6) and 200 units approved at Ash Drive Willington 

(H26). 

There have been no completions on these sites within 2021/22, however, there have been 27 

completions on allocated sites that were approved in 2020/21.  17 units (full site) were completed 

on Hawthorn House (H2) and 10 completions out of the 60 units approved at Gilesgate School (H1).   

SD5 Five year land supply position/delivery test 

 

Five year land supply position 5.47 years 

Delivery Test Result 145% 

Target: At least a five year supply and meeting the 
delivery test in accordance with the NPPF 

Performance against target: Target met (5.47 years housing land supply. 
Housing Delivery Test met.) 

 
The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) provides the Government’s official measure of housing delivery 

performance at local authority level. It measures net additional dwellings in a local authority area 

against the homes required, using national statistics and local authority data1. The HDT is calculated 

using a percentage measurement of the number of net homes delivered against the number of 

homes required, as set out in the relevant strategic policies, over a rolling three-year period.  The 

calculation uses net additional dwellings, with adjustments for net student and net other communal 

accommodation. 

County Durham has passed the HDT for 2022 with a result of 145% and is therefore above the 

required ‘pass mark’ of 95% where no action needs to be taken. This is higher than last year, due to 

a higher number of completions over the 3-year period. 

National planning policy require Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to maintain a five-year supply 

of deliverable sites (against housing requirements) to ensure choice and consumption in the 

market for land. Based on this, as at 1st April 2022 the council can demonstrate a supply of 

housing of 5.47 years against its Local Housing Need. This is slightly lower than last year’s housing 

land supply figure, due to a number of factors.  This year has seen significantly higher 

completions than last, moving housing units out of the supply as they have now been delivered.  

This also takes into account the sites which fall within the catchment of the Teesmouth and 

Cleveland Special Protection Area (SPA)/Ramsar and are affected by nutrient neutrality2. Where a 

site does not have full planning permission or conditions relating to drainage/water still need to 

be discharged, they have been pushed out of the 5-year supply.  

SD6 Delivery of infrastructure requirements as set out in the policy 

 

Delivery of infrastructure requirements as 

set out in the policy 

H2 is now complete however this didn't 

have any requirements set out in Policy 4. 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: N/A 

 

 
1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728523/ 

HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf 
2 https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/nutrient-neutrality-nn-and-planning-system 

Page 366

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728523/HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728523/HDT_Measurement_Rule_Book.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/nutrient-neutrality-nn-and-planning-system


Policy 4 sets out infrastructure requirements for housing allocations where they are required.  These 
have been identified throughout the SHLAA and allocation selection process to deliver the necessary 
improvements or infrastructure to enable the development to go ahead without any adverse 
impacts.   
 
As the only housing allocation which has been completed had no Policy 4 infrastructure 
requirements, there has been no infrastructure in relation to this policy delivered this year. This will 
change as more sites are brought forward for delivery. 
 

Policy 5 Durham City Sustainable Urban Extensions 
In order to meet housing needs and to promote sustainable patterns of development, land at 

Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road are allocated for planned urban extensions and have been 

removed from the Green Belt. Development is required to be comprehensively masterplanned and 

to demonstrate how the phasing of development on these sites will have regard to the provision and 

timing of the infrastructure and services necessary to support them. 

Sniperley Park 

The Sniperley Park site is covered by Policy 5 (Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions) which 
allocates urban extensions to Durham City and removed the site from the Green Belt. Two major 
applications have been submitted for the site. The application covering the largest area 
(DM/21/03574/OUT) seeks demolition of existing buildings adjacent to B6532 and outline planning 
permission (all matters reserved except access) for a maximum of 1,550 dwellings (Use Class C3), a 
local Centre (use classes E and F2), public house (use class sui generis) and primary school (use class 
F1), associated infrastructure and landscaping. 
 
The application covering the smaller site area (DM/21/02360/FPA) is a hybrid planning application 
consisting of outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for an extension to the Sniperley 
Park and Ride and full planning permission for the development of 370 dwellings associated access 
and works and demolition of former farm buildings. 
 
The Council took the decision to lead on the production of a Masterplan for Sniperley as it was not 
readily apparent that the main parties were working collaboratively as planning submissions were 
being prepared. The masterplan is a means to guide the future planning, design and development of 
the site as it moves towards delivery. A public consultation was undertaken in order to seek views 
from interested parties from 29 November 2021 to 14 January 2022. The Masterplan was adopted 
by the Council on 22nd June 2022 following consideration of the comments received. 
 
Both proposals are subject to appeals to the Planning Inspectorate against non-determination of the 
applications. In light of this, committee members were asked to consider reports in light of this and 
make resolutions based upon the decision they would make were the application to be determined 
in the usual manner. This resolution will be carried forward for consideration at the Public Inquiry. 
On 6th September 2022 members endorsed recommendations of ‘minded to refuse’ for both 
applications: 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=318&MId=14548&Ver=4. A public 
inquiry is scheduled for January 2023. 
 

Sherburn Road 

Banks Property were granted outline planning permission for up to 500 dwellings on the Sherburn 

Road allocation on 22nd March 2022. The development will provide 25% affordable housing on site 

as required by policy 15 of the CDP. As part of the development, there will be improvements to 

existing open spaces and recreational facilities in the Belmont area, as well as the delivery of off-site 

Page 367

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=318&MId=14548&Ver=4


green belt compensatory improvements and increased public access.  Financial contributions 

towards upgrading healthcare provision, primary and secondary school capacity in the area and 

improvements to the Laurel Avenue Community Centre will also be provided in line with the 

requirements set out in policy 5 of the CDP. 

A reserved matters application for 470 dwellings has been submitted and validated on 8th July 2022 

and is currently pending consideration, this will address the detail of the development including 

design and layout.   

SD8 Delivery of infrastructure requirements as set out in the policy and an agreed phasing plan 

 

Delivery of infrastructure requirement as set 
out in the policy and an agreed project plan: 

N/A (no sites have commenced yet) 

Target: On track in accordance with the phasing plan 

Performance against target: N/A 

 

SD7 Gross Housing units approved and completed by site 

 

Number of units approved on allocated sites: 500 

Number of completions on allocated sites: 0 completions 

Target: Annual Housing Delivery Target – based on the 
housing trajectory 

Performance against target: N/A 

 

Policy 6 Development on Unallocated Sites 
This policy recognises that, in addition to the development of allocated sites, there will be situations 

where future opportunities arise for additional new development over and above that identified in 

the development plan for that area. This policy sets out circumstances where such opportunities will 

be acceptable.  

SD9 Number of housing units permitted and completed on unallocated sites of 11 or fewer 

 

Number of housing units permitted on 
unallocated sites of 11 units or fewer 

230 units approved 

Number of housing units completed on 
unallocated site of 11 units or fewer. 

102 units approved 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 

SD10 Number of housing units permitted and completed on unallocated sites of 12 units or greater 

 

Number of housing units permitted on 
unallocated sites of 12 units or fewer 

1,598 units approved 

Number of housing units completed on 
unallocated sites of 12 units or fewer. 

1,552 units completed 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 

Page 368



Policy 4 and 5 identify the housing site allocations for the plan, however Policy 6 sets out how 

applications for new housing on unallocated sites will be assessed.  

The indicators monitor housing schemes on unallocated sites of 11 or fewer and schemes of 12 or 

more on unallocated sites. The figures show 230 units approved and 102 completed on smaller sites 

and 1,598 units approved and 1,552 completed on larger sites.  Compared with last year’s figures, all 

approvals have decreased, with both smaller and larger sites completions increasing from last year.  

The decrease in approvals could be due to the adoption of the CDP, and less windfall sites approved, 

and development is being directed to the most sustainable locations through policy 4 and policy 6.  

The increase in completions reflects the overall high completion numbers this year. 

SD11 Amount of employment space permitted and completed on unallocated sites 

 

Amount of employment space permitted: 8,325.5sqm 

Amount of employment space completed: 676sqm 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Whilst Policy 2 sets out employment allocations for new employment uses, Policy 6 sets out 

instances where new employment uses will be acceptable on unallocated sites. 

For the purposes of this indicator, it has been split into two to cover employment space permitted 

and employment space completed. The results are discussed further below. 

Table 7 Amount of employment space permitted on unallocated sites 

 

Monitoring 
year 

E(g)(i) 
office 

E(g)(ii) R&D E(g)(iii) 
Industrial 
Processes 

B2 B8 Total 

20/21 (Nov 
– Mar) 

225sqm 0 581sqm 0 0 806sqm 

21/22 1419.5sqm 0 410sqm 448sqm 6048sqm 8325.5sqm 

 
Table 7 shows that 8325.5sqm of employment space has been approved on unallocated sites across 

the County over the monitoring period. The table above shows that a significant amount of this 

floorspace fell within the B8 use class (Storage or Distribution), with the next highest falling within 

the E(g)(i) (office) use class. The total is made up by uses within the B2 (General Industrial) class and 

E(g)(iii) (Industrial Processes) use class. The figures for this year’s monitoring period are significantly 

higher than last years, although it should be noted that last year’s figures only reported from the 

adoption of the Plan (5 months).  

The largest of these approvals was an application for 7 storage units, totalling 3172sqm, at land east 

of Burger King at Thinford Park. Also of note was an approval for 557sqm of office floorspace at the 

former Mainstream USA site at Diamond Terrace, Durham City. 

Table 8 Amount of employment space completed on unallocated sites 

 

Monitoring 
year 

E(g)(i) 
office 

E(g)(ii) R&D E(g)(iii) 
Industrial 
Processes 

B2 B8 Total 

21/22 95sqm 0 581qm 0 0 676sqm 

Page 369



 
From last years permitted floor space (806sqm), from proportionate investigation, the AMR can 

report that 676sqm has been completed. This includes the development of a steel framed storage 

building on land adjacent to the Esh Winning protected employment site, a timber structure 

associated with a car valeting business in Chester-le-Street and the redevelopment of Wolsingham 

CIU Club which now includes some first floor offices. 

SD12 Amount of retail floor space permitted beyond a defined centre 

 

Retail floor space permitted 6,306.1sqm 

Target: No Target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Whilst Policy 9 directs retail floorspace to town centres defined within the retail hierarchy, there are 

instances where retail floorspace will be permitted outside of these centres on unallocated sites. 

This will be where an applicant has complied with the requirements of the sequential test, and if 

applicable, the impact test. 

There has been 6,306.1sqm of retail floorspace permitted beyond a defined town centre across the 

county over the monitoring period. The majority of this floorspace was covered by 2 applications, 

the largest of which was an approval for a retail unit of 3717sqm on the former Mono Containers 

site at Dragon Lane. The proposal would see the development of a large single retail unit on a long 

term vacant site situated on the edge of the defined Sherburn Road/Dragonville District Centre. Also 

of note was a variation of condition approval at the Morrison store at Dalton Park which allowed a 

further 1115sqm floorspace by way of a mezzanine. Elsewhere other applications included a small 

foodstore in Spennymoor, further retail floorspace at a petrol filling station in Barnard Castle and an 

extension to the existing edge of centre Lidl store in Spennymoor. 

Table 9 Amount of retail floorspace permitted on unallocated sites beyond a defined centre 

 

Monitoring year Retail floorspace permitted 

20/21 (Nov – Mar) 280sqm 

21/22 6,306.1sqm 

 
The figures for this year’s monitoring period are significantly higher than last years, although it 

should be noted that last year’s figures only reported from the adoption of the Plan (5 months). 

SD13 Number of valued facilities or services lost by settlement or neighbourhood 

 

Valued facilities or services lost 0 

Target  0 

Performance against target Target Met 

 
In some of County Durham smaller settlements and communities, a local shop/convenience store or 

community facility is of great importance to the local population. Policy 6 sets out criteria within the 

policy which seeks to guard against the loss of valued facilities or services within settlements and 

neighbourhoods on unallocated sites. There have been no approvals that would propose such losses 

and therefore such facilities lost over the monitoring period. This reflects the findings from last 

year’s AMR and again the performance target set by the indicator is met. 

 

Page 370



Building a Strong and Competitive Economy 
A key priority of the council and its partners is to improve economic performance and reduce 

deprivation in County Durham to ensure that all its residents have equal access to quality job 

opportunities. The visitor economy is an important and resilient part of the County Durham 

economy but there remains a great deal of untapped potential. The Plan aims to strengthen County 

Durham's role as a visitor/tourist destination, building on and adding to, the strength of existing 

attractions, townscapes and landscapes, encouraging the development of new visitor attractions and 

accommodation and increasing the contribution of Durham's rural areas to the overall value of the 

county's visitor economy. 

Policy 7 Visitor Attractions 
Policy 7 recognises the importance of the tourism sector to the economy of County Durham, and 

provides a series of criteria for assessing applications for new or extensions to existing visitor 

attractions. The policy aims to ensure that visitor attractions are sustainably located, conform with 

their setting, and are a viable addition to the county’s tourism offer. It also sets out additional 

criteria for proposals which would be located in the countryside, in order to avoid, minimise or 

mitigate harm. 

CE1 Number of new and expanded visitor attraction approved and completed 

 

Number of new and expanded visitor 
attractions approved: 

14 approved 

Number of new and expanded visitor 
attractions completed: 

3 completed 

Target: No target  

Performance against target: N/A 

 
This indicator monitors number of new and expanded visitor attractions that are approved and 

completed. Approved applications have only been counted where they are an entirely new 

attraction or an addition to an existing attraction which may draw in visitors. Minor extensions such 

as car parks have not been included in the figures. 

Over the monitoring period, there have been 14 approvals for a visitor attraction proposal, including 

one wedding venue in Shildon and one in Newton Aycliffe, refurbishment to the Durham Miners 

Hall, and a public house in Bishop Auckland.   

In the previous monitoring period – October 21st 2020 (adoption date) to March 31st 2021 – four 

applications were approved. Of these, three have been completed, which are a wedding venue at 

Dalton Pumping Station, glamping pods at Eden Grange Fisheries and a Viking Village at Kynren Flatts 

to be used to provide a pre-show immersive experience.  

Policy 8 Visitor Accommodation 
Policy 8 gives recognition to the importance of the tourism sector to the economy of County Durham 

and provides a series of criteria for assessing applications for visitor accommodation. The policy aims 

to ensure that visitor accommodation conforms with its setting and is not used for permanent 

residential occupation. The policy goes on to provide further criteria for sites which would be 

located in the countryside, and for camping, caravan, glamping or chalet proposals. 

CE2 Net additional bed spaces 

 

Page 371



Net additional bed spaces approved: 469 new bedspaces approved 

Target: No net loss 

Performance against target: Target Met 

 
This indicator monitors the number of net additional bedspaces. This figure has been calculated 

based on approved planning applications over the monitoring period. No bedspaces were counted 

for applications with no permanent bedspaces, such as caravan parks where the number of visitors 

would fluctuate, as they would bring their own accommodation with varying bed capacities. 

Permanent bedspaces in fixed structures such as static caravans and glamping pods have been 

counted.  

Over the monitoring period, there have been 469 bedspaces approved, including holiday cottages in 

Consett, Shepherds huts and log cabins in Bishop Auckland and a static caravan park in Eastgate with 

82 permanent caravans. There has been a significant increase in applications from the previous 

monitoring period, as well as the majority being larger scale developments. This may be attributed 

to the ending of COVID-19 restrictions, leading to the recovery of the tourism sector, and the 

popularity of the ‘staycation’. In the previous monitoring period 117 new bed spaces were approved, 

of these 63 have been completed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 372



Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres 
Over the past 3 years town centres have faced increasing challenges, the outbreak of Covid-19 in 

2020 and resulting lockdowns have accelerated processes of change that were already underway 

within town centres with changing consumer behaviour and the rise of e-commerce, mobile 

technology and internet shopping. As town centres transition back following the Covid-19 pandemic, 

setting out a strategic planning framework for town centres is as important as ever in providing 

locations where businesses can thrive and people want to visit.  

Policy 9 Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development 
Policy 9 sets out a retail hierarchy of centres across the County. The policy sets out a framework to 

protect these centres from development that would impact on them. 

TC1 Vacancy rates in town centres 

 

Average vacancy rate (Sub Regional, Large 
Town and Small Town Centres): 

16.1% 

Average vacancy rate (District Centres): 5.5% 

Target: Vacancy rates below national rate3 

Performance against target: Target partly met (See text below) 

 
In order to understand how the centres within the retail hierarchy are performing, town centre 

surveys are conducted annually. The following data follows surveys in June/July 2022 and provides 

details of how the town centres within the retail hierarchy have performed during the monitoring 

period. It provides details of vacancy rates in terms of vacant units within Sub Regional, Large Town 

and Small Town Centres as identified within the hierarchy. It is noted that the indicator TC1 is a 

similar indicator to that which the Council have reported on through previous published AMRs prior 

to adoption of the CDP. For context therefore, the table below shows the data from the last 3 

monitoring periods. 

Table 10 Vacancy Rates with Sub Regional, Large Town and Small Town Centres 

Centre Vacancy Rate (%) 
18/19 

Vacancy Rate (%) 
19/20 

Vacancy Rate (%) 
20/21 

Vacancy Rate (%) 
21/22 

Barnard Castle 9.9 9.3 9.9 10.6 

Bishop Auckland 24.4 22.9 27.7 26.3 

Chester-le-Street 9.6 12.9 14.5 13.1 

Consett 10.5 9.5 13.1 12.1 

Crook 10.6 7.8 11.4 12.1 

Durham City 11.9 16.1 16.2 14.3 

Ferryhill 9.9 10 8.9 13.3 

Newton Aycliffe 18.3 22.3 26.2 20.4 

Peterlee 26 26.8 32.3 32.8 

Seaham 9.9 9.2 7.3 6 

Shildon  9.5 11.6 15.8 16.8 

Spennymoor 17.2 22.5 17.3 14.8 

Stanley 18.6 16.4 15.8 16.7 

Average 14.33 15.17 16.64 16.1 

 
 

3 High Street Average 14,1%, Retail Park Average 10.6%, source Local Data Company, 1st Quarter vacancy rates 
2022 

Page 373



Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe continue to have the highest percentage of vacant 

units within the County, however it is noticeable that the number of vacant units has declined in 

Bishop Auckland and significantly in Newton Aycliffe, which has also had the biggest decrease in 

vacancy of all centres surveyed, with 6 less units vacant. It is also positive to see that as well as 

Newton Aycliffe and Bishop Auckland, vacancy rates had decreased in Chester-le-Street, Consett, 

Durham City, Seaham and Spennymoor.  

There has also been an increase in the number of centres, up from 5 to 7, which have vacancy rates 

below the national average. These are Barnard Castle, Chester-le-Street, Consett, Crook, Ferryhill 

and Seaham, which has the lowest vacancy rate within the whole of the County at just 6%, 

significantly below the national average. Overall, the average vacancy rate stands at 16.1%, which is 

also a fall on last years figure (16.64%) but is 2% above the national average.  

Whilst the improving picture in some the County’s town centre is encouraging, the Council continue 

to strive to bring further improvements recognising the continued challenges facing town centres 

and now have recently adopted masterplans in Bishop Auckland, Chester-le-Street, Crook, Peterlee, 

Newton Aycliffe and Stanley. These seek to improve and address some of the issues which are facing 

these town centres.   

Table 11 Vacancy Rates within District Centres 

 

Centre Vacancy Rate 
(%) (units) 18/19 

Vacancy Rate 
(%) 19/20  

Vacancy Rate 
(%) 20/21 

Vacancy Rate 
(%) 21/22 

Arnison Centre 9.1 12.1 20.6 8.8 

Dragonville/Sherburn 
Road 

5.9 2.7 2.3 2.3 

Average 7.5 7.4 11.45 5.55 

 
Policy 9 defines the Arnison Centre and Dragonville/Sherburn Road as District Centres. Both of the 

defined District Centres have large mainstream convenience foodstore anchors and also a higher 

order non-food retail offer which also reflects the origins of both centres as out of centre retail park 

developments. The District Centres do however lack the local service function (banks, professional 

services etc.) of traditional centres. For the purposes of the indicator therefore, they have been 

compared against the national vacancy rate for retail parks which stands at 10.6%. 

Table 11 identifies that the Arnison Centre has a vacancy rate of 8.8%, which is a significant fall on 

last years figure of 20.6% and is now below the national average. This represents 4 less vacant units 

within the centre. Dragonville/Sherburn Road has a low vacancy rate at just 2.3%, this figure remains 

unchanged from last year. 

Whilst the more traditional town centres have a vacancy rate above the national average, the retail 

parks have a vacancy rate below the national average. Given this it is considered that the target for 

the indicator has been partly met. 

TC2 Approved and completed retail floorspace outside of town centres that are over 1,500sqm for 

convenience and 1,000sqm comparison 

 

Approved retail floorspace outside of a town 
centre that is over 1,500sqm convenience and 
1,000sqm comparison 

4832sqm 

Page 374



Completed retail floorspace outside of a town 
centre that is over 1,500sqm convenience and 
1,000sqm comparison 

0sqm 

Failed the required impact test 0sqm 

Target: None delivered which failed the required 
impact test 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
The policy sets a retail impact threshold whereby an applicant has to submit an impact assessment 

for any retail proposal outside of a town centre that exceeds this threshold. This considers the 

impact of their proposals on the defined centres within the County. The policy states that where an 

application fails the impact assessment, it should be refused. 

Policy 6 and Indicator SD12 reported on the amount of retail floorspace approved on unallocated 

sites located outside of a defined centre. Of those approvals two were above the impact thresholds 

set out in Policy 9. These were the proposed retail store at the Mono Containers site on Dragon Lane 

(3717sqm) and the proposed mezzanine at the Morrisons store at Dalton Park (1115sqm). These 

applications were subject to an impact test and in both instances were found to have passed the 

impact test, the proposals were not found to have significant adverse impacts on defined centres. 

Given this, it is considered that the target set by the indicator has been met. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 375



Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy 
Ninety percent of the county's population lives east of the A68 in forty percent of the county area, 

yet rural communities do not only exist within the west of the county. County Durham's rural areas 

vary widely in character from remote and sparsely populated areas in the Pennine Dales, to the 

larger villages located within the former coalfield communities in the centre and east. These areas 

do not have good access to more urban areas and the services and facilities in those areas including 

housing and employment. 

Policy 10 Development in the Countryside 
Policy 10 seeks to control development within the countryside, directing new development to sites 

within the built-up area, those well-related to a settlement or those specifically allocated for 

development. It sets out a framework for assessing development in the countryside, guarding 

against inappropriate development. 

RE1 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 7 

Appeals Allowed: 1 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 

applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 

Over the monitoring period there were 7 appeals of applications refused against Policy 10. Of these 

appeals, 6 were dismissed and 1 was allowed (APP/X1355/W/21/3275023). This was an application 

that proposed the conversion of an existing agricultural structure into a family dwelling south of Old 

Quarrington. The application was refused against Policy 10, criteria (q) and (r) and Policy 26. This 

related to highway safety issues in terms of impacts on existing users of the bridleway footpath, over 

which future occupiers of the proposed dwelling would need to gain access to the development. The 

inspector found that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable intensification of traffic to 

such a degree that it would compromise the safety, and recreational experience, of users of the 

bridleway. The inspector consequently found no conflict with Policy 10 or Policy 26.  

Whilst the policy is performing well at appeal, given that the afore mentioned appeal was allowed, 

the target set by the indicator has not been met. 

RE2 Number of new agricultural or other rural land based enterprise ventures (approved and 

completed) 

 

Number of new agricultural or other rural land 
based enterprise ventures approved: 

19 

Number of new agricultural or other rural land 
based venture completed: 

11 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purposes of this indicator, it has been split into two to cover new agricultural or other rural 

land based enterprise ventures space permitted, and those that have been completed. 

Page 376



There have been 19 agricultural or other land based enterprise ventures that have been approved 

over the monitoring period. Many of these approvals were for holiday accommodation proposals, 

notably for shepherd huts and glamping pods. There were approvals for this type of development in 

locations such as Copley, West Pelton, Shotley Bridge and south of Durham City. A number of 

applications were also approved to convert buildings to holiday lets at locations such as Croxdale, 

Copley, Ireshopeburn, High Stoop, Butterknowle, Westgate, Barnard Castle and Escomb. Other such 

enterprises approved were wedding venues at Eden Grange and Croxdale, a farm shop at Dalton 

Moor, Murton and a commercial livery and riding centre just outside Stanley.  

From last years approved new ventures, from proportionate investigation, the AMR can report that 

11 have been completed. These include the change of use of Dalton Pumping Station to a wedding 

venue and a timber wedding ceremony building at Bradbury. In terms of holiday accommodation, 

completions included glamping pods at Edmundbyers, Etherley Grange and Eden Grange and holiday 

lets at Wycliffe Grange. Other completions included a dog kennel facility near Shotton Colliery. 

RE3 Numbers of buildings brought back into use for economic generating uses 

 

Approved proposals that will bring building 
back into economic generating uses: 

8 

Buildings brought back into economic 
generating uses: 

2 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purposes of this indicator, it has been split into two to cover applications approved that 

propose to bring buildings in the countryside back into economic generating uses and where 

following the approval, the building has been brought back into such use.  

In terms of approvals, there were 8 applications approved that propose to bring buildings in the 

countryside back into economic use. These include proposals for holiday lets, a farm shop, a storage 

and distribution warehouse and a heritage centre in locations such as Croxdale, Copley, Dalton 

Moor, Escomb, Westgate and Ireshopeburn. 

From last year’s approvals, there have been 2 buildings that have now been brought back into 

economic use, the conversion of a barn at Wycliffe Grange to a holiday let and the change of use of 

Dalton Pumping Station to a wedding venue. 

RE4 Number of community facilities within the countryside being lost to alternative non community 

use (approved) 

 

Facilities lost: 0 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
As identified in the monitoring of Indicator SD13, the value of community facilities is of great 
importance. This is particularly the case in the countryside. Policy 10 sets out criteria which seeks to 
guard against the loss of community facilities within the countryside. There have been no approvals 
that would propose such losses and therefore no such facilities lost over the monitoring period. 
 

Page 377



RE5 Proportion of new dwellings (excluding rural exceptions, replacement, conversions, subdivisions 

and those associated with a rural enterprise) within the countryside approved and completed 

 

Proportion of new dwellings (excluding rural 
exceptions, replacement, conversions, 
subdivisions and those associated with a rural 
enterprise ) within the countryside approved 

0.03%   
1 unit 

Proportion of new dwellings (excluding rural 
exceptions, replacement, conversions, 
subdivisions and those associated with a rural 
enterprise ) within the countryside completed 

2.32% 
39 units 

Target: Reducing trend 

Performance against target: Approvals- Target met 
Completions- Target not met 

 

This indicator breaks down approvals and completions in the countryside and reflects Policy 10.  

In 2021/22, there was 1 house approved in the countryside, out of 2,528 approved overall equating 

to 0.03% of the units approved in total.  Of the gross completions total of 1,681 this year, 39 

completions were in the countryside, equating to 2.32% of all completions.   

These figures are low which would be expected, and approvals have decreased significantly from 

7.8% (186 houses) last year which is meeting the target of reducing the trend.  This reduced trend is 

due to the adoption of the CDP and the implications of policy 10.  Completions this year has 

increased from 1.3% last year, and although this has not met the target to reduce the trend, it will be 

due to existing permissions from before the adoption of policy 10 which are still being delivered on 

site. This will continue to be monitored annually and it is expected that the completion figure will 

start to decrease once older permissions are completed.  

Policy 11 Rural Housing and Employment Exception Sites  
Policy 11 recognises that there are circumstances where affordable and specialist housing and 

employment related development is needed which would be contrary to Policy 6 (Development on 

Unallocated Sites) and Policy 10 (Development in the Countryside). These are known as exception 

sites. 

RE6 Number of housing units approved and completed on exception sites 

 

Number of houses approved on exception sites: 0 

Number of houses completed on exceptions 
sites: 

0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there have been no approved housing exception sites and there have 

been no completions.  

RE7 Amount of employment floorspace approved and completed on exception sites 

 

Amount of floorspace approved on exception 
sites: 

0 

Page 378



Amount of floorspace completed on exception 
sites: 

0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there have been no approved exception employment floorspace. There 

has been no completion of exception employment floorspace.  

RE8 Number of new businesses created on exception sites 

 

Number of businesses created: 0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there have been no businesses created.  

Policy 12 Permanent Rural Workers Dwellings 
Isolated new houses in the countryside require special justification for planning permission to be 

granted. One of the few circumstances in which isolated residential development may be justified is 

when there is an essential need for agricultural, forestry and other full-time rural workers to live 

permanently at, or in the immediate vicinity of, their place of work. Policy 12 sets out criteria where 

such applications will be assessed. 

RE9 Number of applications for rural dwellings approved 

 

Number of rural dwellings approved: 6 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
In 2021-22 , six rural workers dwellings have been approved in the period, two new dwellings and 
four conversions.  
 

Policy 13 Equestrian Development 
Many parts of the county, including within the Green Belt, are experiencing growth in horse riding as 

an outdoor recreation and leisure pursuit and subsequently an increase in demand for land to graze 

and stable horses. Policy 13 sets out criteria for assessing equestrian development proposals. 

RE10 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals Allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 13. 

Policy 14 Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources 
This policy seeks to conserve and protect best and most versatile agricultural land and associated 

soil resources. It sets out the circumstances when development of the best and most versatile 

Page 379



agricultural land will be permitted and how soil resources will be managed and conserved in a viable 

condition and used sustainably in line with accepted best practice. 

RE11 Percentage of eligible schemes accompanied by an Agricultural Land Clarification Assessment 

 

Number of eligible schemes: 6 

Schemes accompanied by assessment: 6 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Agricultural Land Classification Assessments are picked up as part of the validation process so this 
indicator should always be 100%. As such over the reporting period there were 6 applications 
received on BMV agricultural land and all contained assessments. The target has therefore been 
met. 
 

RE12 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals Allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 14. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 380



Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Local Plans are required to proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to 

deliver the homes and thriving local places the County needs.  

This section covers the need to provide affordable housing, housing that is the right type and meets 

the needs of all sections of society including older people, children, students, travellers and those 

that wish to build their own homes. 

Policy 15 Addressing Housing Need 
Policy 15 seeks to meet the need for affordable housing and to meet the housing needs of older 

people and people with disabilities. The policy requires that affordable housing will be sought on 

sites of 10 or more units, for 25% of units in the highest value areas to 10% in the lowest. On sites of 

10 or more units, 10% of the homes provided should be for affordable home ownership (starter 

homes, discount market sale housing and other affordable routes to home ownership). Any 

contribution above 10% should be provided as affordable housing for rent.  

In designated rural areas, the policy requires that schemes of between 6 and 9 units will provide a 

financial contribution towards the delivery of affordable housing. 

Policy 15 also aims to meet the needs of older people and people with disabilities. On sites of 5 units 

or more, 66% of dwellings must be built to Building Regulations Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and 

adaptable dwellings) standard. 

On sites of 10 units or more, a minimum of 10% of the total number of dwellings on the site are 

required to be of a design and type that will increase the housing options of older people. These 

properties should be built to M4(2) standard and would contribute to meeting the 66% requirement 

set out above. They should be situated in the most appropriate location within the site for older 

people. Appropriate house types considered to meet this requirement include: 

• level access flats; 

• level access bungalows; or 

• housing products that can be shown to meet the specific needs of a multi-generational family 

QH1 Percentage of approved and completed housing units that meet the specific needs of older 

people by tenure type 

Percentage of approved housing units that 
meet the specific needs of older people by 
tenure type 

245 units, 11% of homes approved on sites of 
10 units or more meet the needs of older 
people. 
 

Percentage of completed housing units that 
meet the specific needs of older people by 
tenure type 

106 bungalows completed, 6.3% of total 
completions. 

Target: 10% of private or intermediate housing 
provided on all sites to meet specific needs of 
older people in terms of design, form and 
layout. 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
This indicator has been split into two parts, one for older persons housing approved and a second for 

older persons housing completed.  The target of 10% relates only to approvals, as this is the element 

Page 381



controlled through the policy. We would however expect approved development to come forward 

and what has been approved to be delivered on each site. However, due to varying site build out 

rates it is not possible to have a target for completions by year. 

In 2021/22, 11% of units approved on sites of 10 units or more will meet the needs of older people. 

These are mainly bungalows, and a small number of level access flats.  As last year, this was a new 

indicator and this data was not monitored prior to this, the approval figures reported were based on 

the period 21st October 2020 – 31st March 2021, therefore it is not possible to directly compare 

with the previous AMR data on this indicator.         

With regards to completions, as there is not a target within this indicator for the completion of older 

persons units, this data is not collected.  However, in 2021/22, 106 bungalows have been completed, 

which is 6.3% of total completions.  This has almost doubled from last year where 54 bungalows 

were completed.  Although bungalows are not the only house types which accord with the policy, 

they will contribute towards the requirement to meet the needs of older people. 

QH2 Percentage of affordable units delivered by viability area 

Percentage of affordable units delivered by 
viability area 

• Highest - 9 units (29%) 
• High – 11 units (35%) 
• Medium – 7 units (23%) 
• Low – 4 units (13%) 

 
Target: Highest 25%, High 20%, Medium 15%, Low 10% 

Performance against target: See text below 

 
This indicator considers affordable units delivered by viability area. In line with the policy, affordable 

housing is to be delivered in line with the percentage requirement of the viability as follows: Highest 

25%, High 20%, Medium 15%, Low 10%.   

Whilst the indicator sets a target for percentage of completions by viability area, this doesn’t show a 

true reflection of what will be delivered across the site once it has been built out. It is expected that 

once a site is built out the target will be met. However, it is recognised that varying site build out 

rates and the phasing of the affordable units within the build out, can have a significant impact on 

annual reporting. It is therefore not possible to monitor this indicator for completions by year in a 

way that provides meaningful data for monitoring purposes.  

The above data therefore shows the percentage of affordable completions in each viability area, as a 

proportion of the total affordable completions, as this provides a more meaningful indicator (albeit 

in line with build out rates and in line with site phasing) showing that a larger proportion of the 

affordable units are in the highest value areas.   

QH3 Affordable housing units approved and completed by tenure and viability area 

Affordable housing units approved by tenure 
and viability area 
 

520 affordable units approved 
• 345 units affordable rent 
• 119 affordable home ownership 
• 56 unit tenure not specified 

Affordable housing units completed by tenure 
and viability area 
 

Affordable completions through Section 106 
Agreements- 31 

• Highest - 9 units  
• High – 11 units  
• Medium – 7 units  

Page 382



• Low – 4 units 
Affordable completions through Homes 
England Grant- 505 
 
536 Total affordable units completed 

• 411 Affordable Rent 
• 6 Affordable Home Ownership 
• 13 Help to buy shared ownership 
• 75 Rent to buy 
• 31 Tenure not specified 

Target: Affordable housing with a tenure mix of 70% 
affordable rented housing to 30% intermediate 
products. 

Performance against target: See text below 

 
This indicator considers affordable housing units approved and completed, by tenure and viability 

area. The indicator has been split into two parts, one for affordable units approved and one for units 

completed on the basis that the data available to monitor differs between the two.   

In the reporting period and relating to approvals by tenure, there were 119 units approved for 

affordable home ownership and 345 units approved for affordable rent. The tenure for 56 of the 

affordable units approved are unknown.  

Since the target of a tenure mix of 70% affordable rented housing to 30% intermediate products was 

set for this policy, changes to national policy have resulted in a different target tenure mix.  The 

requirement is now that the first 10% of affordable housing provided on site should be affordable 

home ownership, with the remainder (if any, depending on viability area) to be affordable rent.  

Therefore, going forward this indicator will be monitored in line with this approach. 

With regards to completions by viability area, there have been 31 affordable units completed 

through Section 106 Agreements this year, 9 in the highest viability area, 11 in the high viability 

areas, 7 in the medium viability areas and 4 across the low viability areas.   

With regards to affordable housing completed through Homes England grants this year, there were 

411 Affordable Rent, 6 Affordable Home Ownership, 13 Help to buy shared ownership and 75 Rent 

to buy units. 

Policy 16 Durham University Development, Purpose Built Student Accommodation and 

Houses in Multiple Occupation  
This policy provides a means to consider Durham University development, proposals for purpose 

built student accommodation and proposals for houses in multiple occupation in the Durham City 

area. Durham University has published a Strategy for the period 2017-27, which contains and Estate 

Masterplan. Part 1 of this policy will be used to assess applications brought forward by the 

University. Part 2 of the policy relates to purpose built student accommodation and will be used to 

assess and applications for such proposals from the University or other accommodation providers. 

Part 2 of the policy allocates suitable sites for student accommodation. Part 3 of the policy relates to 

houses in multiple occupation. 

QH4 Number of new bedspaces in HMOs approved 

 

Number of new bedspaces in HMOs approved 73 

Page 383



Target: Related to identified need  

Performance against target: N/A 

 
A House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) under planning legislation is defined as a house or flat 

occupied by a certain number of unrelated individuals who share basic amenities and is classified by 

the Use Class Order as C4 (between three and six residents); and Sui Generis (more than six 

residents). In County Durham the majority of HMOs are located in Durham City and are occupied by 

Durham University students. 

Planning permission is not required for changes of use from Class C3 (residential) to Class C4 (HMO) 

unless an Article 4 Direction has been made for a particular locality. In Durham City, Part 3 of this 

policy will apply to the assessment of such proposals, given the likelihood of occupation as an HMO. 

During the monitoring period 73 bedspaces have been approved, this is an increase on last year’s 

figure of 23. The target specifies that it is related to identified need, however, at this point in time 

there is no assessment of identified need for HMO bedspaces. 

QH5 Number of units approved and completed on allocated PBSA sites 

 

Number of units approved and completed on 
allocated PBSA sites 

0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
During the monitoring period there has been no units approved or completed on the allocated PBSA 
sites. This was also reported in last year’s AMR.  
 

QH6 Percentage change of total HMOs in Durham City 

 

Percentage change See text below. 

Target: No target. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For this indicator data is collected on the spatial concentrations of student exempt properties as a 

proportion of total residential properties. The policy approach recognises that it is the cumulative 

impact of HMOs that has an impact upon residential amenity and can change the character of an 

area over time.  This indicator helps to monitor the impact of the policy by understanding what 

changes there have been in student HMO numbers across the city. The postcode geography utilised 

in the AMR is on the basis that it provides a small scale and constant geography to monitor change 

over time.   

In order to assess the percentage of student exempt properties, the council use council tax 

information consisting of those properties with Class N exemption mapped using the council’s GIS 

mapping system. Council tax data provides an independent, secondary and consistent data set to 

understand the presence of student properties within general market housing. An exemption from 

council tax is only possible if the property is solely occupied by students.   

As context to the evolution of the policy and Article 4 Direction in Durham City, on 13th April 2016 

the council adopted an interim policy on student accommodation. Article 4 Directions mean that 

planning permission is required for the change of use from a family home to a house in multiple 

occupation (HMO). Article 4 Directions were made for the centre of Durham City on 16th September 

Page 384



2016 and Newton Hall, Framwellgate Moor on 13th May 2017.  An additional Article 4 Direction was 

introduced for Mount Oswald, Carrville and Belmont on 14 January 2022.  The revised student 

accommodation policy of the CDP (Policy 16 - Durham University Development, Purpose Built 

Student Accommodation and Houses in Multiple Occupation) was adopted at full Council on 21st 

October 2020.   

This indicator helps to monitor the impact of the Policy and provides a wider understanding of 

concentrations of student HMOs across Durham City.   

Map 1 below shows the percentage of residential properties (per postcode) benefiting from a 

student exemption from council tax in Durham City as a proportion of total residential properties 

(published in November 2021).  The darker the shaded area, the greater the concentration of HMOs 

in that location. From reviewing the map, it is clear that the concentrations of Class N exempt 

properties vary across the city, with the greatest concentrations in the viaduct area and the city 

centre. There are further pockets of higher density student populations where there is purpose built 

student accommodation and college halls of residence. 

Map 2 shows the same data for the Framwellgate Moor, Newton Hall and Pity Me Article 4 Area 

where concentrations remain low. It can be observed that there are a number of postcode areas 

without any student Class N exempt properties and that Class N exempt properties are generally 

spread across the area in low concentrations where they are present.  The obvious exception to this 

is the high density area adjacent to the University Hospital of North Durham, which has two blocks 

of purpose built student accommodation which are made up of a number of individual flats. 

As the new Article 4 Area for Mount Oswald, Carville and Belmont was not introduced until January 

2022 a map showing this data will be included in the next iteration of the AMR. 

Page 385



Map 1 Durham City Article 4 Area November 2021 

 

  

Page 386



Map 2 Framwellgate Moor, Newton Hall and Pity Me Article 4 Area November 2021 

 

The HMO market in Durham City is a dynamic one and this is reflected in the data.  Data is collected 

in April and November each year to ensure up to date information is available for decision making 

and for the purpose of monitoring, to provide an understanding as to which areas of the city are 

seeing changes and to identify potential trends in student Class N exemptions.  

Map 3 below shows the percentage change by postcode for Class N exempt properties between 

November 2020 and November 2021.  Map 4 below shows the same information between April 

2021 and April 2022.  The blues and greens highlight a decline in student HMOs and the orange and 

reds show where numbers are increasing.  

It should be noted that in some areas of the city changes in percentages can look more significant 

because of the small number of dwellings within the postcode area, for example the large dark blue 

area to the north east of the city on the map 3, where the change in status of one dwelling has made 

noticeable difference.  This is also reflected in the large orange area to the south east of the city 

which has seen a very small increase in student exempt properties, but in an area with very few 

houses.  There have also been some further conversions to the upper floors of city centre buildings 

which can be seen through the higher percentage changes within the town centre.  

More information and up to date percentage mapping for the Article 4 designations in Durham City 

can be found at: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2499/Multiple-occupancy-homes 

 

Page 387

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2499/Multiple-occupancy-homes


Map 3 Percentage change by postcode in Class N student exemptions November 2020 – November 

2021

 

Map 4 Percentage change by postcode in Class N Student exemptions April 2021 – April 2022 

 

Page 388



QH7 Number of new bedspaces in PBSA approved 

 

Number of new bedspaces in PBSA approved 0 

Target Related to identified need 

Performance against target N/A 

 
Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) is accommodation built or converted, with the specific 
intent of being occupied by students, either with individual en-suite units or sharing facilities. PBSA is 
a building which is not classified as Use Class C4 or anything licensable as an HMO. 
 
During the monitoring period there has been no units approved and therefore no new bedspaces to 
report. This was also reported in last year’s AMR. 
 

QH8 Appeals upheld to this policy  

 

Appeals 6 

Appeals allowed 3 

Target None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target Target not met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 

applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 

Over the monitoring period there were 6 appeals of applications refused against Policy 16. Of these 

appeals, 3 were allowed and 3 were dismissed. Below discusses the cases that have been allowed. 

The first appeal allowed was a 2 storey-part single storey extension to the rear of 75 Whinney Hill, 

Durham, the proposal was to change from a 4 bedroom C4 HMO to a 6 bedroom C4 HMO 

(APP/X1355/D/20/3258480). Although the inspector considered that the proposals would be 

contrary to Part 3(a) of Policy 16, it was further assessed that there was limited specific evidence 

that the occupation of two additional bedspaces in the existing HMO would be detrimental to the 

area. The inspector also noted that the site benefited from permitted development rights and 

indicated that this was a fallback position. A scheme was provided that showed how permitted 

development could be utilised to provide 6 bedrooms at the property by extending at ground floor 

level. The appeal was allowed with the inspector giving this ‘fallback position’ significant weight, also 

satisfied that the proposal would not have a harmful effect on the living conditions of nearby 

residents with regard to noise and disturbance and the character and appearance of the area.  

The second appeal allowed was a proposal for the flexible use as a dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) and 

a House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) at 8 Laburnum Avenue, Durham 

(APP/X1355/W/21/3284723). The inspector concluded that there was sufficient evidence to warrant 

an exception to CDP Policy 16 (Part 3) which seeks to prevent the change of use of properties to 

HMOs where this would be detrimental to the range and variety of housing stock in any particular 

area. In coming to this conclusion over the concentration of students, the inspector used alternative 

data sources and methods of assessment to those outlined in the Policy. Further to this the inspector 

drew on evidence provided by the appellant in the form of an email from an estate agent confirming 

that the property had been on the market and this had indicated limited levels of interest in it.  

Subsequently the Council have raised concerns with the planning inspectorate with regards to the 

use and interpretation of Policy 16 in relation to the decision at 8 Laburnum Avenue. It is considered 

Page 389



by the Council that the approach taken by the inspector conflicted with the approach set out in the 

Policy and the supporting text in relation to assessing the housing stock in the area and also the 

inspector’s acceptance of the limited information in terms of marketing. The Council have also 

highlighted concerns over the inspector’s assessment of the proposal at 75 Whinney Hill against Part 

3 (a) of the Policy in terms of the inspector’s comments when stating that there was limited 

evidence that further additional bedspaces in the existing HMO would be detrimental to the area. 

The third appeal allowed was a proposal at 21 Market Place, Durham for the erection of part two 

storey, part single story extension to the rear to form 1no. self contained 5 bed HMO (C4) to 1st and 

2nd floor and additional retail office, storage, and welfare facilities to the ground floor. It also 

included the erection of a single storey rear extension to the existing Card Factory premises to form 

a new stockroom, office, and welfare facilities to the ground floor (APP/X1355/W/21/3275009 & 

APP/X1355/Y/20/3265941).  The application was refused contrary to officer recommendation 

against Policy 16 in terms of concerns over imbalances in the community and the proposal having a 

detrimental impact on surrounding residential amenity and character of the area. The inspector 

concluded that the surrounding area could reasonably be characterised as having predominantly 

commercial uses within the 100m radius of the appeal site and therefore the appeal proposal would 

fall within the exemption set out in Criterion i of Policy C16, Part 3. It would therefore be in 

accordance with Policy 16. The inspector also found no conflict with Policy 44 and 45 discussed later 

under Policy 44 and 45. 

Whilst there are concerns with how the policy is being interpreted by Inspectors, given that the 

above appeals were allowed, the target set by the indicator has not been met. 

Policy 17 Sites for Travellers 
County Durham has significant numbers of Gypsies and Travellers. Most live in housing but a sizeable 

population live on six council sites and a number of authorised private sites across the county. Policy 

17 sets criteria for assessing new sites and extensions to existing sites. 

QH9 Net additional Traveller pitches or plots approved and completed by type and meeting the 2015 

planning definition 

 

Net additional plots and pitches approved 
(2015 definition): 

0 

Net additional plots and pitches completed 
(2015 definition): 

0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
In the 2015 revision, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites introduced a changed definition of Gypsies 

and Travellers for planning purposes. This excluded members if these communities who have 

permanently stopped travelling. There have been no new traveller pitches or plots approved and 

completed by type, meeting the 2015 planning definition over the monitoring period. 

QH3 Net additional Traveller pitches or plots approved and completed by type and meeting the wider 

2012 definition 

 

Net additional plots and pitches approved 
(2012 definition): 

0 

Page 390



Net additional plots and pitches completed 
(2012 definition): 

0 

Target: Pitches for 6 Gypsy and Traveller households 
delivered by 2035 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
There have been no new traveller pitches or plots approved and completed by type and meeting the 

wider 2012 definition over the monitoring period. 

County Durham has six permanent Gypsy, Traveller sites: 

• 13 double pitches at Tower Road, Greencroft, Stanley; 

• 19 double pitches at Drum Lane, Birtley; 

• 19 double pitches at Adventure Lane, West Rainton; 

• 25 single pitches at St Phillip's Park, Coundon Grange; 

• 25 double pitches at Ash Green Way, Bishop Auckland; and 

• 25 double pitches at East Howle, Ferryhill 

As per the above, there has been no change in the number of pitches in the reporting year. 

QH11 Net additional Travelling Show People pitches approved and completed 

 

Net additional plots and pitches approved: 0 

Net additional plots and pitches completed: 0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
No additional Travelling Show people pitches were approved or completed, sites remain at Coxhoe, 

Tudhoe and Thornley. 

QH12 Status of five year supply of pitches and plots 

 

Performance achieved: 5 year supply achieved 

Target: At least 5 year supply 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
The Durham Traveller Site Needs Assessment (TSNA) (2018) identified a need for pitches for 6 
additional Gypsy and Traveller households over the period 2016 to 2035. It set a five-year supply 
requirement for the period from April 2016 of 1.5 households. The five-year supply requirement has 
been exceeded with pitches for 6 households delivered by 2020. A private site to accommodate 2 
households granted planning permission in 2016 was completed in 2018. In addition, 4 vacant 
pitches on council sites came back into use in 2020. 
 

Table 12 Performance against 5-year supply requirement from April 2016 to March 2020 

 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total 

Target (G&T 
households) 

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 1.5 

Page 391



Delivery 
(G&T 
households) 

  2  4 6 

 
Whilst the target for pitches for 6 additional households set in the TSNA has been met, the council 
will continue to monitor demand and has identified capacity for further pitches should they be 
needed. There is capacity for an additional 14 pitches within the council’s existing social sites. In 
addition, 101 of the council’s social pitches managed by the council are double pitches. Most of 
these are occupied by single households but were designed with the intent that they could provide 
accommodation for two households.  
 

Policy 18 Children’s Homes 
Policy 18 sets criteria for assessing for proposals for children’s homes. Often these are homes for the 

most vulnerable children and young people in society, many have special educational needs or 

disabilities, including social, educational and mental health difficulties and many are victims of abuse 

or neglect. The policy sets requirements for evidence that the needs of young people will be met in 

terms of access to any services and facilities and to ensure that any necessary safeguards are put in 

place, including having had regard to any crime or safety concerns of the particular area. 

Consideration must also be given to existing residents in terms of amenity. 

QH13 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 18. 

Policy 19 Type and Mix of Housing  
Policy 19 requires all new housing developments to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types 

and sizes, taking account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability, 

economic and market considerations. 

QH14 Housing units approved and completed by dwelling type and size 

Housing units approved by dwelling type and 
size 

Type Approved 
Bungalows - 171 
Flats - 72 
Detached Houses- 834   
Semi-detached - 507 
Terraced - 373 
Not specified- 571 
  
Size Approved 
1 bed- 41 
2 bed- 392 
3 bed- 1032 
4+ bed- 533 
Not specified- 530 
 

Page 392



Housing units completed by dwelling type and 
size 

Type Completed 
Bungalows- 106 
Flats - 21 
Detached Houses - 462 
Semi-detached 398 
Terraced - 134 
Not specified- 560 
 
Size Completed 
1 bed- 4 
2 bed- 272 
3 bed- 459 
4+ bed- 323 
Not specified- 623 
 

Target: No target 

Performance against target N/A 

 
As set out above, the data shows that there were a range of types of dwellings both approved and 

completed in 2021/22.  From the available data, it shows that there were more detached houses 

approved and completed, followed by semi-detached, however there was still a good mix of other 

house types being delivered.  With regards to bedrooms, 3-bedroom houses were highest in both 

approval and completion data, followed by 4-bedrooms and then 2-bedrooms.  This is all consistent 

with the trends in last year’s data.  It should also be noted that 171no. bungalows were approved 

and 106no. bungalows were completed, which will also help to meet the needs of older people and 

People with Disabilities in accordance with policy 15 (Addressing Housing Need). 

Overall, this shows that there are a good range of house sizes and types coming forward as part of 

both approved planning applications and schemes being delivered in line with policy 19. 

QH15 Numbers on the self and custom-build register 

 

Numbers of self and custom-build register 97 (in total) 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Durham County Council’s self and custom build register has been open for entries from April 2016. 

Each entry onto the register falls within a ‘base period’. The first base period began on the day the 

register was established (1 April 2016) and ended on 30 October 2016.  Each subsequent base period 

is 12 months beginning immediately after the end of the previous base period (31st October to 30 

October each year). Therefore, for the purpose of this indicator, the base period we will be reporting 

on is the 6th base period, during which, 15 individuals were added to the council’s register. The table 

below shows the total number of individuals and groups on the register up to October 2021. 

Table 13 Self and Custom Build Register 

 

Base 
Period 

Date Individuals Groups/Associations Total 
Entries 

1 1 April 2016 to 30 October 2016 7 1 8 

2 31 October 2016 to 30 October 2017 22 0 22 

3 31 October 2017 to 30 October 2018 22 0 22 

Page 393



4 31 October 2018 to 30 October 2019 19 0 19 

5 31 October 2019 to 30 October 2020 11 0 11 

6 31 October 2020 to 30 October 2021 15 0 15 

Total  96 1 Group (made up 
of 4 individuals) 

97 

 

QH16 Numbers of planning permissions granted which are capable of delivering serviced plots 

 

Numbers of planning permissions granted 
which are capable of delivering serviced plots 

195 

Target: More of equivalent planning permissions 
granted which are capable of delivering 
serviced plots than numbers on the self and 
custom build register 

Performance against target On track  

 
Local authorities must grant planning permission for enough suitable serviced plots of land to meet 

the demand for self-building and custom housebuilding in their area. The level of demand is 

established by reference to the number of entries added to an authority’s register during a base 

period. A serviced plot of land has to have access to a public highway and have connections for 

electricity, water and wastewater, or can be provided with access to these things within the duration 

of a granted permission. 

At the end of each base period authorities have 3 years in which to permission an equivalent 

number of plots of land, which are suitable for self-build and custom housebuilding, as there are 

entries on the register for that base period. Associations of individuals should be counted as a single 

entry on the register but planning practice guidance states that the rationale for joining the register 

as a member of an association will be for a self-build and custom housebuilding project to be in close 

proximity to other members of the association. Taking this into account, the council has assumed 

that each member of an association will require their own plot on a single site. 

Having regard to the above, the council currently has a duty to grant planning permission for the 

following self-build and custom housebuilding plots: 

Table 14 Numbers on Self-Build Register 

 

Base 
Period 

Date Individuals Groups/Associations Total Date Planning 
Permission has to be 
granted by  

1 1 April 2016 to 30 
October 2016 

7 4 11 30th October 2019 

2 31 October 2016 
to 30 October 
2017 

22 0 22 30th October 2020 

3 31 October 2017 
to 30 October 
2018 

22 0 22 30th October 2021 

4 31 October 2018 
to 30 October 
2019 

19 0 19 30th October 2022 

Page 394



5 31 October 2019 
to 30 October 
2020 

11 0 11 30th October 2023 

6 31 October 2020 
to 30 October 
2021 

15 0 15 30th October 2024 

Total  96 4 100  

 

The first base period ran from 1 April 2016 to 30 October 2016 and 11 individuals were added to the 

register in this time; given this the council had a duty to grant planning permission for 11 plots that 

are suitable for self-build and custom housebuilding between the period 31 October 2016 and 30 

October 2019 (i.e. the 3 years following the end of the base period). During the period 31 October 

2016 to 30 October 2019 the council granted planning permission for 79 plots and so the duty was 

met for the first base period.  

The second base period ran from 31 October 2016 to 30 October 2017 and 22 individuals were 

added to the register in this time; given this the council had a duty to grant planning permission for 

22 plots that are suitable for self-build and custom housebuilding between the period 31 October 

2017 and 30 October 2020 (i.e. the 3 years following the end of the base period). During the period 

31 October 2017 to 30 October 2020 the council granted planning permission for 123 plots and so 

the duty was met for the second base period. 

The third base period ran from 31 October 2017 to 30 October 2018 and 19 individuals were added 

to the register in this time; given this the council had a duty to grant planning permission for 19 plots 

that are suitable for self-build and custom housebuilding between the period 31 October 2018 and 

30 October 2021 (i.e. the 3 years following the end of the base period). During the period 31 October 

2018 to 30 October 2021 the council granted planning permission for 157 plots and so the duty was 

met for the third base period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 395



Protecting Green Belt Land 
Great importance is attached to our Green Belt, which covers a total land area of 8,591 hectares. 

The Green Belt's essential characteristic is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 

open. The county's Green Belt is designated in three distinct areas: 

• City of Durham Green Belt (surrounds Durham City, extends to the east of Bearpark and 

then southwards towards Croxdale and then northeastwards to Sherburn and West 

Rainton.)  

• North East Durham Green Belt (located to the north of Seaham and forms a strategic gap 

between Seaham and Ryhope in the south of neighbouring authority, Sunderland. The Green 

Belt extends between Lord Byron's Walk and Ryhope Dene and includes land to the west of 

Tuthill Quarry to Ryhope railway adjacent to Seaton Village and to the north of the B1404 

towards the administrative boundary).  

• North Durham Green Belt (reaches around Chester-le-Street and along the north of the 

A693, encircles Urpeth and Ouston and then eastwards towards Tyneside. The Green Belt 

seeks to prevent coalescence of Perkinsville, Pelton, Beamish, High Handenhold, 

Kibblesworth and Birtley and maintains the open countryside between Chester-le-Street and 

Pelton. To the east, the Green Belt maintains open countryside between Shiney Row, 

Washington (Fatfield, Harraton and Rickleton), Bournmoor and Fencehouses.)  

Policy 20 Green Belt 
There is a presumption against inappropriate development in the Green Belt unless very special 

circumstances can be demonstrated. Policy 20 states that development proposals within the Green 

Belt will be determined in accordance with national planning policy. The National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) sets out a number of exceptions: buildings for agriculture and forestry; 

appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for cemeteries; proportionate 

extensions or alterations of a building; replacement buildings which are not materially larger; limited 

infilling and limited affordable housing for community needs and partial or complete redevelopment 

of previously developed land which do not have a greater impact on openness. The NPPF also sets 

out other forms of development which may not be inappropriate in the Green Belt including: 

mineral extraction; engineering operations and transport infrastructure. 

GB1 Number of planning applications and type of development approved in the Green Belt contrary 

to this policy 

 

Applications approved contrary to policy: 0 

Target: No planning applications approved in the Green 
Belt contrary to this Policy 

Performance against target Target met 

 
During 2021/22 there have been no applications approved within the Green Belt that are contrary to 

policy. An application (DM/21/02896/FPA) to redevelop existing stables at Fernhill, Newcastle Road, 

Crossgate Moor, Durham to provide a new dwelling was refused in November 2021. The decision 

was subsequently appealed (APP/X1355/W/22/3297345), and the outcome of that case will be 

reported within the 2022/23 AMR. 

There have been three appeal decisions relating to schemes in the Green Belt during 2021/22, all of 

which were dismissed. These concerned a single storey dwelling at Rainton Gate 

(APP/X1355/W/20/3264212); the partial demolition of agricultural building and conversion 

Page 396



to holiday cottage at Crossgate Moor, Durham (APP/X1355/W/21/3271529); and a development 

proposing a pair of semi-detached houses within the garden curtilage of an existing property at 

Waldridge (APP/X1355/W/21/3286233).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 397



Delivering Sustainable Transport  
The council is committed to delivering a high quality integrated and sustainable transport network 

which supports our aspirations for a strong economy, a vibrant tourism offer and improved quality 

of life for all of our residents, including reducing air pollution and emissions of CO2. The county's 

dispersed settlement pattern does however create specific transport issues that need to be 

addressed through policies within the Plan. 

Policy 21 Delivering Sustainable Transport 
Policy 21 sets a framework for considering the transport implications of new development. It also 

helps to provide more sustainable transport choices when new proposals are being considered. 

ST1 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 5 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period there were 5 appeals of applications refused against Policy 21. On each 

occasion the inspector dismissed the appeal. The target set by the indicator has therefore been met. 

Policy 22 Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Policy 22 of the County Durham Plan (CDP) and the Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan 

(DCSTDP) 2019-35 provide a policy framework and a package of transport proposals that supports 

sustainable transport in Durham City.  

The monitoring section for Policy 22 is to assess whether the council and relevant partners are being 

effective in promoting sustainable transport in the city and progressing travel plans and through 

sustainable transport interventions are able to reduce the demand to travel by car. 

ST2 Percentage of employees in Durham City walking, using public transport or cycling to work 

 

Target: Increasing above the baseline 
Performance against target: N/A 

 

Prior to completion of the 2020/21 AMR we had received travel to work survey responses from 3 

major employers in the City. Durham University, Durham County Council and Northumbria Water Ltd 

(NWL) have all returned large samples after surveying their respective workforces.  

All data was taken prior to the start of the pandemic, and we hoped to use it as a baseline for future 

years. In last year’s AMR we noted that it was imperative that the same organisations continue to 

monitor travel to work habits of staff who are travelling into Durham City. Unfortunately, there is no 

statutory requirement for any of the surveys to be carried out on an annual basis and with Covid 

recovery and economic pressures prioritised, even large organisations do not have resources to 

prioritise travel surveys. 

The Council’s travel team have been unable to acquire any new data in 2021/22 for Durham County 

Council or for Northumbrian Water.  

Notwithstanding the above, we have though had a return from Durham University for 2021 data that 

has built into the table below. Its worth mentioning that post Covid we have very different travel 

Page 398



patterns with many office workers, choosing to work from home. At the University, most staff now 

work a minimum of 2 days in the office. 

Table 15 Durham University Travel to Work 

 

% of staff travelling 
by sustainable mode 

Durham University 2020 
(pre-pandemic) 

Durham University 
2021 (post 
pandemic) 

Trend 

Walk 19% 7% Decrease 

Cycle 8% 5% Decrease 

Bus 12% 5% Decrease 

Train 6% 3% Decrease 

Car4 55% 41% Decrease 

Work from Home n/a 38% Increase 

 
The University has been working on green travel plans for a number of years. Its parking is also 
constrained and monitored closely which may explain why a great number of staff have taken up 
more sustainable transport modes for their journey to work. 
 
Looking the 2021 data, everything has changed post covid and working from home has had a 
significant impact on all mode percentages. Travel Surveys results will look very different post 
pandemic.  
 
The tables below for Northumbria Water and Durham County Council are a repeat of the tables 
presented in last year’s AMR. The Council will endeavour to acquire new travel data in future years. 
 

Table 16 Northumbria Water (NWL) Travel to Work 

 

% of staff travelling by sustainable mode Northumbria Water 2018 

Walk 4% 

Cycle 6% 

Public Transport 4% 

Work from Home 1% 

Motorcycle/Moped 1% 

Car 84% Car Share (passenger) (4%) 
Car Share (Driver) (8%) 
Car (Alone) (89%) 

 
There were no surveys done at NWL in 2019 or 2020 but it is the intention to do one for NWL in 
2021. The above data for 2018 tells us that nearly 90% of staff are reliant on the private car for 
journeys to work.  
 

Table 17 Durham County Council Travel to Work 

 

% of staff travelling by 
sustainable mode 

Durham County Council - 2020 (pre-pandemic) 

Walk 4% 

Cycle 1% 

 
4 Include those car sharing driver (3.5%) passenger (2.74%), in taxis (0.05%), motorcycles (0.43%) and vans 
(0.5%) 

Page 399



Public Transport 7%  

Car 88% 

 
The data for 2020 show that although the main Council buildings are located in accessible locations, 
88% of staff are reliant on the private car to travel to work. Post pandemic, it is expected that travel 
to work habits will change dramatically after the increase in working from home and the surge in 
walking and cycling. Next years AMR will provide these findings. 

 

ST3 Percentage of pupils walking, cycling or using public transport to school 

 

Target: Increasing trend above the baseline figure. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purposes of this indicator all junior schools have been monitored (30 schools in 2019/20 and 
20 schools in 2020/21). Unfortunately, no data has yet been collected for 21/22 but we are 
expecting new survey data to be available in November 2022 and then the following years data to be 
collected in June 2023. At the time of writing, the Council are confident that this will be a reliable 
data set which will be obtained for future years.  
 
The data and commentary presented below is the same as last year’s AMR. 
 
The Council have installed a system called ModeShift Stars where the Council store data on travel 
modes for schools. Collecting data has already begun for primary schools in Durham City, where a 
‘hands up surveys’ are done every summer and winter with some data for Jan 2020 and Jan 2021 
already on the ModeShfit Starts system.  The results of the first surveys have been combined to 
provide data for a baseline year 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
 

Table 18 Travel to School Data 

 

Percentage by Mode 2019/20 
BASELINE 
YEAR 

20/21  Trend 

Walking  40% 39% No change 

Cycle 2% 2% No change  

Dedicated School bus 10% 10% No change 

Public Service Bus 1% 1% No change 

Park and Stride 12% 5% Reduction  

Car Share 4% 4% No change 

Car 35% 39% Increase  

 
The obvious change is less park and stride and more car trips. It is highly likely this is caused because 

of fears over the Covid-19 pandemic. 

It is evident that there is not a lot of change at this stage although it was clear that there had been 

less park and stride since the pandemic. A greater number of survey years will help show longer 

term trends to analyse changes from baseline year. 

Page 400



ST4 Accessibility of Durham City Centre, Aykley Head Strategic Employment Site and other Durham 

City employment centres (access within one hour and by 08:30 by bus) from percentage of County 

Durham households 

 

Target: Increasing trend above the baseline figure. 

Performance against target: See text below 

 
The purpose of this indicator is to understand what percentage of households inside of County 

Durham (from a total of 253,564 households) could ‘in theory’ reach the City of Durham’s key 

employment sites by using the existing timetable public bus service within 60 minutes. 

The origins would be residential dwellings and the destinations would be the 7 employment sites as 

set out by the County Durham Plan in Policy 2. 

The 60 minutes journey time includes the walk from the dwelling (origin) to the public transport 

stop, any interchange of public transport and then arriving at the bus station (destination).  The 

journey assumes arrival at the first stop 1 minute before the initial departure, with any subsequent 

interchange waiting times included as part of the final journey time 

Table 19 Accessibility of Employment Allocations by Bus 

 

Durham City 
Employment 
Allocations in 
CDP 

No. of 
households in 
County 
Durham (from 
a total of 
253,564 
households) 

No. of 
households 
in County 
Durham 
(from a 
total of 
253,564 
households) 

% of County 
Durham 
households 
who can 
access within 
60mins by bus 
BASELINE 
2021 

% of County 
Durham 
households 
who can 
access within 
60mins by 
bus 2022 

Trend – 
Increase or 
Decrease in 
Accessibility 

Abbey Road 129,927 115,312 51.24 45.48% Decrease 

Abbey Woods 133,837 117,809 52.78% 46.46% Decrease 

Aykley Heads 154,263 144,965 60.84% 57.17% Decrease 

Belmont 
Industrial Estate 

69,305 102,828 27.33% 40.55% Increase 

Dragonville 139,043 127,506 54.84% 50.28% Decrease 

Durham City 
Centre 

182,931 171,324 72.14% 67.57% Decrease 

Durham Science 
Park 

150,179 126,189 59.23% 49.77% Decrease 

 
All but one of the employment sites in Durham City above are showing a net decrease in accessibility 

when compared to the baseline year of 2021. The decreases amount to around 4 – 6% reduction in 

County Durham residents able to access employment sites in Durham City.  

This reflects the reduction of frequency in the public transport network and associated timing 

changes as post covid travel patterns have changed which has led to a reduction of people using 

public transport to access employment.   

As well as travel patterns changing, operators have had to deal with ongoing problems with 

recruiting drivers and Covid absences of drivers which has made it difficult to maintain a full level of 

Page 401



service. They operators have been left with little option but to make changes and reduce the levels 

of service. 

Only one site, at Belmont Industrial Estate has seen an increase in accessibility. This is because the 

service 65 was re-routed to operate into the estate at peak times from October last year. That 

service connects with services from further afield in Durham on a morning thus increasing the 

catchment 

Unsurprisingly, Durham City centre is still the most accessible location by bus with 67.57% of the 

county’s households within 60minutes of this employment site. This is because the bus station in the 

city is the hub of the County’s bus network which makes the surrounding built up area the best-

connected area for those wishing to use public transport as a means of getting to work.  Although it 

has had increase in accessibility due to the re-routing of the service 65, Belmont Industrial Estate 

remains the poorest served employment site with only 40% of the County’s residents able to reach 

the site within an hour if they use the bus.  

ST5 Levels of nitrogen dioxide at Durham Air Quality Management Area 

 

Performance achieved Reduction of levels of nitrogen dioxide in 2020 
in two key monitoring stations. 

Target: Reduction of levels nitrogen dioxide in AQMA 
year on year. 
 

Performance against target: Target partly met 

 
There are four locations where air quality is monitored within the city. A summary of the annual 

mean air quality monitoring results (nitrogen dioxide concentrations) obtained in 2019, 2020 and 

2021 at locations where the monitors are sited across Durham City is as follows: 

Table 20 Air Quality in Durham City 

Location  2019  
µg/m3 

2020 
µg/m3 

2021 
µg/m3 

Performance 
against 
target 

Air Quality Monitor at 
Gilesgate 
Roundabout 

36.94 33.51 26.1 
(89%) 

Reduction 
from 
previous year 
and baseline 
year 

Air Quality Monitor at 
Crossgate Peth (AQ 
Mesh Monitor) 

22.10 (See Note 1 
below) 

23.99 18.0 
(77.5%) 

Reduction 
from 
previous year 
and baseline 
year 

Air Quality Analyser 
at Leazes Road (AQ 
Mesh Monitor) 

46.7 (See Note 2 
below) 

35.08 41.8 
(97.4%) 

Increase from 
previous year 
but reduction 
from baseline 
year 

Air Quality Monitor 
on the approach to 

No Result 
(See Note 3 
below) 

17.06 23.1 
(75.6%)  

Increase from 
2020 

Page 402



the junction at 
Neville’s Cross 
(IGAS Monitor) 

 

Notes: 

1. There was only data available for 9 months during 2019 for the monitor located at Crossgate 

Peth i.e. a percentage capture rate of 75 percent. 

2. The air quality analyser was relocated to the site at Leazes Road in May 2019 and no data 

was obtained for other months of the year due to the interruption of power to the monitor. 

The annual mean result is therefore representative of a 47 percent capture rate.  

3. The IGAS monitor was purchased in 2019 and sited at Neville’s Cross in late October and 

therefore there is no meaningful data available for that year. (Below 3 months data obtained 

during the year).  

4. The percentage capture rates are shown in brackets below the annual mean concentration 

levels for 2021. It should be noted that the Air Quality Analyser is a DEFRA approved method 

of monitoring concentrations of nitrogen dioxide whereas the portable air quality monitors 

are not. The air quality monitors measure concentrations using electrochemical sensors that 

are subject to measurement fluctuations and error.  

5. In addition to the above monitoring, the concentrations of nitrogen dioxide are measured 

using diffusion tubes at a network of locations across Durham City. This method involves 

exposing a tube for a set period prior to being sent away for laboratory analysis. There were 

only 2 locations where the measured concentrations of nitrogen dioxide exceeded the 

annual mean objective (40 µg/m3) in 2021 which were as follows: 

(i) 1 Sutton Street (Crossgate Peth) where the annual mean measured 42.06 µg/m3. 

(ii) 68/68A Gilesgate where the annual mean measured 41.42 µg/m3. 

The above results have been bias corrected for the laboratory method of analysis. It is noted that 

there may be more exceedances of the objective (40µg/m3) if a locally derived bias correction factor 

is used. A locally derived correction factor may be derived from the results from the triplicate 

diffusion tubes that are located adjacent to the air quality analyser.   

The table shows that in two locations there was a reduction in nitrogen dioxide since 2020, at 

Gilesgate roundabout and at Crossgate Peth, however nitrogen dioxide had increased at Leazes Road 

and at the Neville’s Cross junction. The target therefore has been partly met. 

ST6 Traffic levels in Durham City including the amount crossing Milburngate Bridge and using the 

A167 

 

Target: Decreasing trend below baseline figure. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
To get a comprehensive picture of traffic levels in Durham City, it was decided to monitor a range of 

sites across the City. To only monitor Milburngate Bridge and the A167 would have given us an 

insight into key areas but would not have given the full picture of how the entire network is 

operating. 

Page 403



It is also worth noting that 2020 was an unusual year because of the start of the pandemic, so traffic 

counts were always going to be reduced. 2021 was likewise an unusual year with a lockdown in 

operation between January and March. The impact of the lockdowns is reflected in the following 

results.  

The full detailed results and summary of 2021 are presented in the following pages. They are 

compared directly with the baseline year of 2019 which was not impacted by the pandemic. 

In total, 19 sites have been monitored throughout the City and presented here. Of the 19 sites, 14 

sites have seen a significant decrease in traffic since 2019, 1 site has no data and 3 sites have seen an 

increase in traffic. There were two significant increases in traffic at Merryoaks and Crossgate Peth, 

but we think this was linked to the closure of Old Elvet Bridge in 2021 and people need to take 

alternative routes. So overall, mainly because of the pandemic, traffic levels in 2021 are significantly 

lower than 2019. 

The roads and areas chosen are: 

• A167 

• A691 

• A690 

• A177 

• A181 

• Gilesgate Sunderland Road 

• Newton Hall Framwelgate Moor. 

 

Page 404



Map 5 Traffic Counting Sites in Durham City 

 

   P
age 405



Table 21 – Traffic Counts in Durham City 

Location of 
Counter on 
A167 

2019 AADT 
Northbound 

2019 AADT 
Southbound 

Coverage 2021 AADT 
Northbound 

2021 AADT 
Southbound 

Coverage % Change  
from 2019 
Northbound 

% Change  
from 2019 
Southbound 

Trend 
from 
Baseline 
Year 

1 Merryoaks 6498 6118 69% 7807 7370 89% 20.14% 20.46% Increase 

2 Sniperley 11122 11991 55% 8003 10524 84% -28.04% -28.46% Decline 

3 Pity me 10054 9903 61% 8912 8724 77% -11.36% -11.91% Decline 

Location of 
Counter A691 

2019 AADT 
Northwest 

2019 AADT 
Southeast 

Coverage 2020 AADT 
NorthWest 

2020 AADT 
SouthEast 

Coverage % Change  
from 2019 
Northwest 

% Change  
from 2019 
Southeast 

 

4 Sniperley 6841 6840 74% 5865 5843 83% -14.27% -14.27% Decline 

5 
Framwellgate 
Peth 

12114 11347  9703 10449 66% -19.90% -7.91% Decline 

A690 2019 AADT 2019 AADT Coverage 2021 AADT 2021 AADT Coverage % Change   
from 2019 

% Change 
from 2019 

 

6 Nevilles 
Cross Bank 

9529 (SW) 9747(NE) 76% 7882 (SW) (NE) 8000 98% -17.28% (SW) -17.28% (NE) Decline 

7 Crossgate 
Peth 

6766 (E) 5838 (W) 91% 5614 (E) 7332 (W) 94% -13.49 (E) 25.59 (W) Increase 

8 Castle Chare 6882 (E) 7926 (W) 56% 6984(E) 8514 (W) 99% 1.48 (E) 1.48% (W) Increase 

9 Milburngate 
Westbound 

20831 (W) Westbound 
only 

83% 17374 (W) Westbound 
only 

100% -30.65% (W) n/a Decline 

10 
Milburngate 
Eastbound 

18649 (E) Eastbound 
only 

58% 14700(E) Eastbound 
Early 

98% -32.11% (E)  Decline 

11 Leazes 
Road 

17412 (E) 17937 (W)   96% 15558(E) 16517 (W) 95% -10.65% (E) -7.92% (W) Decline 

A177 2019 AADT 2019 AADT Coverage 2021 AADT 2021 AADT Coverage % Change   
 from 2019 

% Change   
from 2019 

 

P
age 406



12 Farewell 
Hall 

3823 (NE) 4098 (SW) 71%  1971 (NE)  2387 (SW) 64% -48.44% (NE) -48.44% (SW) Decline 

13 Houghall 7433 (SE) 7915 (NW) 82% 5632 (SE) 5339 (NW) 78% -24.23% (SE) -30.02% 
(NW) 

Decline 

A181 2019 AADT 2019 AADT Coverage 2021 AADT 2021 AADT Coverage % Change 
from 2019 

% Change   
from 2019 

A181 

14 Sherburn 
Road 

4872 (NW) 5403 (SE) 69% 5026 (NW)  4879 (SE) 89% 3.16 % (NW) 3.16% (SW) Increase 

15 Dragonville 7045 (W)  7908 (E) 32% NO DATA (W) NO DATA (E) 0% n/a  n/a n/a 

Gilesgate 2019 AADT 
South West 

2019 AADT 
North East 

Coverage 2021 AADT 
South West 

2021 AADT 
North East 

Coverage % Change  
from 2019 

% Change  
from 2019 

Gilesgate 

16 Sunderland 
Road 

5428 (SW) 4669 34% 4838 (SW) 4364 (NE) 68% -10.87% 
South West 

-6.53%  
North East 

Decline 

Newton Hall/ 
Fram Moor 

2019 AADT 2019 AADT Coverage 2021 AADT 2021 AADT Coverage % Change  
from 2019 

% Change  
from 2019 

Newton 
Hall/ 
Fram 
Moor 

17 Finchale 
Road 

7115 (NE)  
 

7072 (SW) 34% 6309 (NE)  6446 (SW) 68% -32.24% (NE) -32.24% (SW) Decline 

18 Front Street 
Pity Me 

3784 (S) 3390 (SW) 35% 3761 (S) 3090 (N) 52% -18.34% (S) -17.84(N) Decline 

19 Rotary Way 8158 (East) East Only 38% 7948 (E) East only 9% -2.57% (E) n/a Decline 

P
age 407



 

Commentary on Traffic Levels in 2021 

Although 2021 was not as bad a year for lockdowns as 2020, the year was still impacted by a 

significant lock down with the schools and workplaces locked down in January and February 2021. 

Most locations reopened March 8th, 2021. 

Therefore, although traffic levels generally increased in 2021 when compared with 2020 levels, they 

were still significantly lower than 2019. Below is a summary of changes by road. 

A167 

• Unusually, traffic has increased significantly (20%) from 2019 at Merryoaks. This was likely 

caused by the closure of Old Elvet Bridge during this period. 

• Traffic has decreased significantly (around 28%) at Sniperley and at Pity Me (11%). 

A691 

• Traffic declined at both locations measures on the A167 

• Traffic levels declined by 14% at Sniperley and by 20% at Framwellgate Peth Northbound 

and 8% Southbound. 

A690 

• Neville’s Cross Bank traffic was like 2020 with a decline in both directions of 17%. 

• Milburngate Bridge and Leazes Road were higher than 2020 levels but still significantly 

reduced from the 2019 baseline year with reductions of 21% Eastbound and 16% 

Westbound on the bridge. Leazes Road was reduced from the baseline year by only 10% 

Eastbound and 8% westbound. 

• Castle Chare counter shows a marginal increase on 2019 data 

• Crosgate Peth was the most unusual result because traffic had declined by 17% East bound 

but increased 25% Westbound. The closure of Old Elvet Bridge this could explain the 

increase in the traffic numbers of westbound traffic using Crossgate Peth. 

A177 

• Traffic has declined dramatically on both locations measured on the A177.  

• Traffic was reduced at both Farewell Hall by around 48% in both directions and Houghhall by 

24% and 30%. 

A181 

• The traffic at Sherburn Road had increased from 2019 by 3.16% and was significantly 

increased from 2020 by around 20%. 

• No data available for Dragonville.  

Gilesgate 

• Sunderland Road traffic was reduced from 2019 by 10% and 6% 

Newton Hall/Framwellgate 

• Finchale Road, Front Street and Rotary way all saw traffic levels decline between 2019 and 

2022. 

•  Finchale Road had the largest decrease in traffic with reduction of vehicles over 30%. 

Page 408



 

Policy 23 Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities 
Policy 23 safeguards the routes and associated infrastructure of the Leamside Line and Bowburn 

Industrial Estate Access Road. The policy states that any development preventing the future 

development of these routes will not be permitted.  

ST7 Planning applications approved within safeguarded areas which prevent development of routes 

and facilities  

 

Approved schemes: 0 

Target: No applications approved 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
The indicator monitors the number of applications approved contrary to Policy 23. Over the 

monitoring period no applications have been approved within the safeguarded areas which would 

prevent the development of these safeguarded routes. The target has therefore been met. 

Policy 24 Provision of Transport Infrastructure 
Policy 24 supports the development of new and improved transport infrastructure, should it meet 

the criteria set out in the policy. The criteria ensures that new transport infrastructure is necessary, 

minimises any harmful impacts that may result from the development and prioritises the sustainable 

modes of transport.  

ST8 Number of major transport infrastructure schemes identified in the IDP that have been approved 

and completed 

 

Approved schemes: 0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The indicator monitors the number of Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) schemes that have been 

approved and completed. Over the monitoring period there have been no relevant applications 

submitted.  

As there were no relevant applications made during the previous monitoring period, there have 

been no complete schemes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 409



 

Supporting High Quality Infrastructure 
 
Infrastructure can take many forms: 

• physical, such as roads, utilities and energy supply networks;  

• social, such as community buildings, education, health facilities, sport and recreation and 

employment or training opportunities; and  

• environmental, such as heritage assets, areas for wildlife and green infrastructure.  

We have worked with statutory undertakers, utility companies and other agencies to identify the 

need for new infrastructure. If additional infrastructure is not delivered alongside new development, 

it can put pressure on existing facilities that may not have the ability or capacity to cope with the 

additional demand. This may have a detrimental impact on the existing population. 

Policy 25 Developer Contributions 
It is important to ensure that development proposals contribute to improvements in infrastructure 

capacity to mitigate for the additional demands that new development creates. By securing financial 

contributions through planning obligations, developers help fund the physical, social and 

environmental infrastructure that is needed to make development acceptable and ensure that the 

development mitigates its impact upon existing infrastructure. 

QI1 Amount of money agreed through planning obligations 

Money agreed £5,309,449.17 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The total amount of money to be provided under any planning obligations which were entered 

during the reported year is £5,309,449.17. This figure does not consider indexation 

(inflation/deflation) that may be applied when the money becomes due. This year’s figure is an 

increase on last year’s figure of £3,460,581.86. 

QI2 Amount of money received through planning obligations. 

Money received £5,459,073.68 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The total amount of money received from planning obligations during the reported year was 
£5,459,073.68. This year’s figure is an increase on last year’s figure of £3,314,964.21. 
 
QI3 Amount of money spent through planning obligations. 

Money spent £1,307,313.62 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The total amount of money from planning obligations spent during the reported year was 

£1,307,313.62. Of this amount £210,916.58 was spent by a third party on behalf of Durham County 

Council. These figures are below last year’s figures of £1,643,444.65 and £371,118.75. 

QI4 Number of applications where required contributions have been waived. 

Page 410



 

Number of applications 0 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
There were no applications approved where required contributions were waived, as per last years 

monitoring period. 

Policy 26 Green Infrastructure 
Green Infrastructure (GI) is the network of green and blue spaces and corridors that exist within and 

between cities, towns and villages. As well as public open space, it includes wildlife sites, river 

corridors, coastlines, mountains, moorland, woodland and agricultural land and is integral to the 

health and quality of life of sustainable communities. The policy sets out a strategic approach to 

planning for the creation, protection, enhancement, and management of networks of biodiversity 

and to plan for biodiversity at a landscape scale across local authority boundaries. 

QI5 Amount of Green Infrastructure lost on approved sites 

Green Infrastructure lost 0ha 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purposes of this indicator, this has considered the loss of sites defined within the Council’s 

Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) and any other large strategic GI losses of sites outside of the 

OSNA definition. Data has been sourced from IDOX reports noting the use of Policy 26, this has 

looked at approvals in the previous monitoring period and where relevant cross referenced with 

housing approvals in the housing monitoring database. As per last year, this highlighted that there 

has been no GI lost over the monitoring period. 

QI6 Amount of new Green Infrastructure created on approved sites 

Green Infrastructure created 0.87ha 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purpose of this indicator, this has considered new green infrastructure enhanced through 

developer contributions which are a result of new development, notably housing development. Data 

has been sourced from the housing monitoring database which notifies when a housing 

development has been completed. A manual check of the application has determined that 0.87ha of 

GI has been created. This is an increase on last year’s figure of 0ha. 

QI7 Amount of new Green Infrastructure enhanced on approved sites 

Green infrastructure enhanced 0ha 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
For the purpose of this indicator, this has considered new green infrastructure enhanced through 
developer contributions which is the result of new development, notably housing development. 
Data has been sourced from the housing monitoring database which notifies when a housing 
development has been completed. A manual check of the applications has determined that, as per 
last year, there has been no new Green Infrastructure enhanced over the monitoring period.  
 

Page 411



 

QI8 Loss of Open Space Needs Assessment sites by hectare and number of sites where there is no 
compensation or mitigation provided.  
 

OSNA sites lost: 0 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Data has been sourced from IDOX reports noting the use of Policy 26. This has been cross referenced 

with housing approvals in the housing monitoring database which has highlighted that, as per last 

year, there has been no GI lost where there has been no compensation or mitigation provided. The 

target has therefore been met. 

Policy 27 Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure 
Policy 27 sets out criteria for considering proposals for new or extensions to existing energy 

generation, utility transmission facilities, telecommunication masts or other broadcast and 

broadband equipment which facilitate the electronic transfer of data. 

QI9 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 4 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 
applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 
 
Over the monitoring period there were 4 appeals of applications refused against Policy 27. On each 
occasion the inspector dismissed the appeal. The target set by the indicator has therefore been met. 
 

Policy 28 Safeguarded Areas 
Policy 28 defines safeguarded areas on the policies map. These are Major Hazard Sites, Major Hazard 

Pipelines, the defined Teesside and Newcastle International Aerodrome Safeguarding Areas, the 

High Moorsely Metrological Office radar site, Fishburn Airfield, Shotton Airfield and the Peterlee 

Drop Zone. Development proposals within these areas are considered under Policy 28 through a 

series of criteria. 

QI10 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 28. 
 
 

Page 412



 

Requiring Good Design 
The Council are committed to a high standard of architecture, urban design, sustainability and 

innovation. This is to ensure new development enhances and complements existing high-quality 

areas and raises the design standards and quality of areas in need of regeneration. New 

development should provide local people with civic pride, make them feel safe and secure and help 

improve the overall image of the county and reflect local distinctiveness. 

Policy 29 Sustainable Design 
Policy 29 addresses all new development in the built environment including new housing and other 

new buildings, as well as extensions, alterations and changes of use of existing buildings. It aims to 

ensure that development is well-designed, responds to the local context and incorporates 

appropriate energy standards. 

SD1 Density of new housing schemes on allocated and windfall sites 

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: 30 dwellings per hectare and where applicable 
the allocation yield 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
This indicator monitors the density of new major residential developments, based upon the number 

of dwellings per hectare (dph).  The Policy sets down a requirement for at least 30 dph (net) in 

sustainable locations, and to ensure more efficient use of land and support for services.  Lower 

densities may be acceptable however, including in less-central locations for example, or, where it is 

necessary to ensure good design and development that is compatible with its surroundings and 

character.  Lower densities may also be suitable in order to secure particular house types, to help 

meet local needs, and to meet particular infrastructure requirements. 

Net density measures the number of dwellings provided within the development site, plus certain 

essential elements, including: site specific roads; pavements and incidental spaces/small areas of 

verge; and, open space.  Gross density encompasses the whole site envelope, which can include 

public infrastructure, such as: main/arterial roads; more significant areas of open space; sustainable 

drainage systems and features; significant landscape buffers; and, in some instances non-residential 

development (e.g. schools and shops).  

The following table identifies relevant residential schemes that were approved within the 21/22 

monitoring period.  They comprise: Full Planning Applications (FPA); Reserved Matters Applications 

(RM); and Variation of Condition Applications (VOC).  Outline applications were omitted from the 

sample as they do not include sufficient detail to provide accurate data and are often subject to 

amendments (including for example in relation to the number of dwellings provided and the net 

build area). 

 

 

Page 413



 

Table 22 Density of approved housing sites 

Application Details  
(Reference, Address, Approval Date) 
 

Dwellings 
(no.) 

Gross Site 
Area (ha) 

Net Site 
Area (ha)5 
 

Density 
(Net)6  
 

DM/20/03358/VOC - Variation of conditions 
no.2 (compliance with approved plans) and 
no. 4 (landscaping) so as to replace 11no. 
split level dwellings with 9no. standard 
house type design and 1no. split level 
dwelling in addition to amendments to the 
proposed retaining wall solution pursuant to 
planning permission 7/2011/0447/DM 
(substitution of house types on 228 plots) 
 
Land to the East Of Spout Lane, Shildon 
 
Approved 30 April 2021 
 

278 9 Approx 8.7 32 

DM/20/00511/RM - Reserved matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 
for the erection of 201 dwellings (Phase 2 
and 3) in addition to the discharge of 
conditions 6 (materials) 8 (means of 
enclosure), 9 (land contamination), 11 
(archaeology), 17 (drainage) and 18 (energy) 
pursuant to outline planning permission 
3/2012/0278 (as amended by 
DM/18/01423/NMA) 
 
Phases 2 and 3 at Bracks Farm, Bishop 
Auckland 
 
Approved 7 May 2021 
 

201 11.47 6.17 33 

DM/20/03758/RM - Reserved matters 
relating to planning approval ref: 
DM/15/02341/VOC for the construction of 
39no. affordable rent bungalows for the over 
55s 
 
Plot D at Former Black And Decker, Green 
Lane, Spennymoor 
 
Approved 18 May 2021 
 

39  1.38 1.38 28 

DM/20/00386/RM - Erection of 123 
dwellings and associated works (reserved 

123 Approx 6.4 Approx 5 25 

 
5 Approximate figures where they are indicated 
6 Figures rounded 

Page 414



 

matters pursuant to planning permission 
DM/15/02326/OUT) (Amended Description) 
 
Land North of West Chilton Terrace, Chilton 
 
Approved 27 May 2021 
 

DM/20/03354/FPA - Revised application for 
residential development of 18 affordable 
homes - 2 and 3 bedroom (resubmission) 
 
Site of Former Magistrates Court, Ashdale 
Road, Consett 
 
Approved 14 June 2021 
 

18 0.52 0.48 38 

DM/20/03044/FPA - Erection of two 
additional dwellings (total of 76) from 
planning permission DM/18/03277/OUT 
(Amended 14th December 2020). 
 
Land to the West of Davis Crescent, Langley 
Park 
 
Approved 21 July 2021 
 

76 Approx 4.6 Approx 3.4 22 

DM/20/02896/RM - 469 dwellings (reserved 
matters) 
 
Land to the North of Lowhills Road and West 
of 
Thorpe Road, Little Thorpe 
 
Approved 11 August 2021 
 

469 Approx 
20.4 

Approx 14 34 

DM/20/02983/RM - Reserved matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 
for the erection of 105 dwellings pursuant to 
outline planning permission 
DM/17/02333/OUT and discharge of 
conditions 6 (archaeology), 8 (CMP), 9 
(access), 10 (internal highways), 11 
(drainage), 12 (trees), 14 (levels) and 20 
(landscape buffer) 
 
Land to the North East of Castledene Road, 
Delves Lane 
 
Approved 26 August 2021 
 

105 3.34 3.15 33 

Page 415



 

DM/21/00319/RM - Approval of reserved 
matters (appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) relating to planning permission 
DM/14/00338/OUT 
 
Land to the rear of Delamere and Lamorna, 
Station Road West, Coxhoe 
 
Approved 9 September 2021 
 

50 2 Approx 1.7 29 

DM/21/01072/RM - Reserved matters 
application (appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) for the erection of 145no. 
dwellings pursuant to outline planning 
permission DM/16/04062/OUT and 
discharge of conditions 15 (disposal of foul 
and surface water), 19 (CMP), 20 (coal 
legacy), 21 (archaeology) and 22 (land 
contamination - parts a, b and c discharged, 
part d not discharged) (amended description 
17/09/2021) 
 
Land to the North of Etherley Moor, Bishop 
Auckland 
 
Approved 17 September 2021 

145 9.46 Approx 6 24 
 
Predom 
Larger 4 
bed 
detached  
 
Significant 
infra 

DM/20/01080/FPA - Demolition of Council 
Depot and construction of 21 no residential 
dwellings and associated landscaping 
 
Bullion Depot, Bullion Lane, Chester-le-Street 
 
Approved 25 January 2022 
 

21 0.28 0.28 75 

DM/20/03422/FPA - 8 no. affordable 
bungalows and 2 no. affordable dormer 
bungalows with associated parking and 
landscaping 
 
Vacant Land at Ramsey Crescent, Bishop 
Auckland 
 
Approved 10 February 2022 
 

10 0.32 0.32 31 

DM/21/02127/FPA - Development of 89 no 
dwellings including hard and soft 
landscaping, public open space, highways 
and associated works 
 
Land at Ridding Road and Rowan Court and 
The Oaks, Esh Winning 

89 2.1 Approx 1.7 52 

Page 416



 

 
Approved 21 February 2022 
 

DM/21/02381/RM - Application for reserved 
matters for 401 dwellings and associated 
works and approval of conditions 6, 7, 10 and 
11 pursuant to planning permission 
3/2011/0521 
 
Land to the South of St Phillips Close, 
Auckland Park 
 
Approved 21 February 2022 
 

401 15.96 Approx 13 31 

DM/19/03541/FPA - Erection of 20 unit 1 
and 2 bedroom apartment block 
 
Land to the South of 9 Rutter Street, Langley 
Moor 
 
Approved 10 March 2022 
 

20 0.17 0.17 118 

DM/21/00970/RM - Reserved Matters 
approval for 13 affordable dwellings at 
Lambton Cell C1 
 
Land to the South East of Bowes Gate Lodge, 
Lambton Park 
 
Approved 23 March 2022 
 

13 0.35 0.35 37 

DM/21/03180/FPA - Demolition of 24no. 
apartments and garages and erection of 
15no. bungalows 
 
9-16 Fir Tree And 22-28 Maple Avenue, 
Shildon 
 
Approved 30 March 2022 
 

15 0.58 0.58 26 
 
Sewer 
easement 
communal 
garden                        

 

A total of 17 housing schemes were approved during the monitoring period, which were relevant to 

density monitoring.  Taking an average reading across these schemes (excluding the outlier of 118 

dph) an average density of over 32 dph was recorded, and therefore the monitoring target was met.   

Looking at the data in more detail, a total of 11 developments were built to at least minimum 

density requirements.  Typically these schemes were larger developments where a range of house 

types and styles can be incorporated, helping to achieve efficient use of land.     

Six schemes were approved at lower densities. The developments at Green Lane Spennymoor and 

Station Rd West Coxhoe were just under the target (at around 28 and 29 dph) however both 

Page 417



 

schemes were quite small scale edge of settlement proposals.  Both developments provided 

extensive highway accessibility, car parking and back gardens which impacted upon site yield.  

Further limiting factors included the scheme at Green Lane being for bungalows and the Coxhoe site 

being a slightly ‘awkward’ shape and layout. 

The scheme at Etherley Moor includes significant areas of open space, SUDs and landscape areas, 

while the housing mix is focussed on larger detached properties.  The development at Davis Crescent 

also includes significant open space and landscaping, along with extensive highway infrastructure to 

provide access past the cemetery.  This site was approved contrary to officer recommendation.  Both 

sites are in edge of settlement locations where the density minimum may be relaxed in accordance 

with policy stipulations.  The development at Shildon provides bungalows and the site also 

incorporates a sewage easement.  The scheme at Chilton is an edge of settlement site, which forms 

the second phase to a larger new development.  The development is introducing larger detached 

dwellings and a more spacious layout incorporating significant open space to integrate with an 

existing recreation area.  Lower yields are therefore considered acceptable in accordance with the 

policy guidance.   

Overall, the policy continues to operate as intended. 

SD2 Proportion of housing schemes which are put forward for Building for Life 12 accreditation  and 

achieve it 

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
No schemes have been put forward for Building for Life 12 accreditation. 

SD3 Schemes receiving one or more red scores through internal Building for Life design review 

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target Target not met 

 

This indicator monitors the effectiveness of the Council’s internal design review process, which is 

based upon the Building for Life Standards.  Proposals are assessed against the standards and given a 

traffic light score.  A red score indicates that the scheme fails to meet the standard.  In accordance 

with Policy 29, red scores are grounds for refusal, unless there are significant overriding reasons to 

allow a red score.  However, the Council works with developers to help them improve upon the 

design as far as possible, so that schemes are not passed with red scores. 

Where a scheme receives a red score, applicants are given advice on what needs to be improved so 

that they can ideally achieve a green score.  Normally, the modified proposal is then reassessed at a 

subsequent design review session, or further amendments are agreed with officers to ensure 

conformity with the Standards.  Schemes can be reassessed several times until a satisfactory 

outcome is achieved.  If applicants choose to ignore the outcome of design review, and a proposal 

has a red score at decision time, the proposal should be refused or recommended for refusal by 

committee, unless there are significant overriding reasons to allow the red score. 

Page 418



 

The following table gives a breakdown of the proposals by application type that were assessed at 

design review during the 2021-22 monitoring period. 

Application Type Number of Development Proposals 

Full Planning Application 22 

Outline 7 

Pre-Application  13 

Reserved Matters 14 

Variation of Condition 0 

Total 56 

 
A total of the 56 separate schemes were assessed at design review, with some proposals receiving 

follow-up reviews.  The majority of these schemes are either pending a decision or at the informal 

planning stage and therefore still under review and not reported upon.  The following table 

identifies the schemes that have been determined.  Two schemes were refused during this period: at 

Peases West in Crook and Cadger Bank in Lanchester.  Both schemes had red scores in respect to the 

Building for Life Standards.  Of the 14 schemes that were approved, only two schemes had red 

scores remaining.  The commentary section of the table explores the reasons for approving these 

schemes in more detail, however in respect of the development at Esh Winning (The Oaks), the 

decision maker considered that the merits of the proposal outweighed the policy conflicts.  In 

respect to the proposal in Bishop Auckland (South of St Phillips Close) while the red score technically 

remained at the decision stage, conditions and amendments were included to address the concerns 

around drainage and open space which were considered sufficient to cover off this issue.  While the 

target was not met during the monitoring period, the design review process, and policy requirement 

set down under Policy 29, continue to operate as intended and to provide a positive framework for 

achieving significant design improvements and higher standards within new residential proposals 

throughout the County.  

Table 23 Design Code Assessments 

Application Details  
(Reference, Address) 

Red score at 
approval/refusal 
stage 
(BfL Standard No.) 
 

Commentary 

DM/20/02896/RM 
Land to the North of 
Lowhills Road, 
Peterlee  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/20/03558/OUT 
Land to the east of 
Regents Court, 
Sherburn Road  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy  

DM/21/02127/FPA 
The Oaks, Esh 
Winning Approved 
 

Yes  
(Standard Nos: 6, 10, 
11, 12) 

In this case the scheme was considered at design 
review on several occasions, and through this 
process a number of design improvements were 
made to the scheme.  However, ultimately a 

Page 419



 

planning balance was performed by the decision 
maker who considered that the benefits of the 
proposal - which included provision of bungalows, 
affordable provision and remediation and 
redevelopment of a cleared site, along with 
energy betterment of above building regulation 
standards, amongst other things – was sufficient 
to overcome the policy conflicts.  
 

DM/20/03054/RM  
Land to the West of 
Davis Crescent, 
Langley Park  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/00855/FPA 
Land to the North of 
Peases West Sports 
Centre, Crook  
Refused 
 

Yes  
(Standard Nos: 5, 6, 
7, 10, 11) 

Scheme refused in line with Policy 

DM/20/02983/RM 
Land North East of 
Castledene Road, 
Delves Lane  
Approved 
 

None  Complies with Policy 

DM/21/01072/RM 
Land North of 
Etherley Moor, 
Bishop Auckland  
Approved 
 

None  Complies with Policy 

DM/21/00319/RM  
Rear of Delamere and 
Lamorna, Station Rd 
W, Coxhoe  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/02025/RM 
Land East of Porter 
Gardens, Bishop 
Auckland  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/01520/FPA 
Land at Colliery Road, 
Bearpark  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/02606/RM None Complies with Policy 

Page 420



 

land To The East Of 
Hollinside, Barnard 
Castle  
Approved 
 

DM/21/01832/FPA 
Land West of Durham 
Road, Wolsingham 
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/02381/RM 
Land South of St 
Philips Close, 
Auckland Park  
Approved 
 

Yes (Standard Nos: 
11) 

In response to the areas of concern, some further 
SuDS improvements were made in the form of 
reducing the gradient of one of the basins from a 
previous 1 in 3 to 1 in 5 and the introduction of 
additional roadside swales.  The late stage of 
submission of these amendments meant no 
further detailed consultation could occur with the 
Drainage Team.  However, in the opinion of the 
decision maker the amendments made steps to 
address the concerns raised regarding basin 
design and swale shortages. A condition exists on 
the outline planning permission in relation to 
drainage and a final scheme could be agreed via 
its discharge. 
 
In relation to the public open space, draft revised 
proposals were received making a commitment 
to provide a children’s play area as opposed to 
just trim trail features and again a condition could 
resolve the final detail. 
 

DM/21/03839/FPA 
Land North of Delves 
Lane, Consett  
Approved 
 

None Complies with Policy 

DM/21/03893/RM  
Phase 2B Integra 61, 
Bowburn  
Approved 
 

None  Complies with Policy 

DM/22/00184/OUT 
Land West of 
Briardene, Cadger 
Bank, Lanchester 
Refused 
 

Yes  
(Standard Nos: 1, 2, 
4, 5, 6) 

Scheme refused in line with Policy 

 

 

 

Page 421



 

Promoting Healthy Communities 
The planning system can play an important role in facilitating interaction and creating healthy, safe 

and inclusive communities. The Plan seeks to embed health and wellbeing considerations 

throughout, to achieve healthy places with safe, accessible and inclusive environments for people to 

come together. 

Policy 30 Hot Food Takeaways 
Policy 30 sets a framework for assessing proposal for hot food takeaways. The key driver for this is 

reducing levels of obesity. Large concentrations of hot food takeaways within our town centres can 

have the opposite effect by encouraging unhealthy eating habits. An over-concentration of hot food 

takeaways can also have a detrimental impact on vitality and viability. The policy recognises that 

where an application is proposed within a centre where the numbers of hot food takeaways already 

exceed 5% or a new proposal would lead to it exceeding 5%, closer scrutiny is required. 

HC1 Percentage of units within Sub Regional, large town, small town and district centres in use or 

with planning permission for A5. 

 

Performance achieved:  See tables 24 and 25 

Target: Hot food takeaways not increasing to or 
exceeding 5% 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
The following provides details of the percentage of hot food takeaways in Sub Regional, Large Town, 
Small Town and District centres. It follows surveys in June/July 2022. This is an indicator that is 
similar to what the Council have reported on through previous published AMRs, so as well as  
containing last years data, the table below shows data from 19/20 and 18/19. 
 

Table 24 Percentage of Hot Food Takeaways 

 

Centre % of hot food 
takeaway 18/19 

% of hot food 
takeaway 19/20 

% of hot food 
takeaway 20/21 

% of hot food 
takeaways 
21/22 

Arnison Centre 0 0 0 0 

Barnard Castle 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 

Bishop Auckland 4.5 4.8 5 5.3 

Cheste-le-Street 4.3 4.3 4.6 5.2 

Consett 6.8 6.8 7.2 6.7 

Crook 7.1 7.8 7.9 8.6 

Dragonville/Sherburn 
Road 

2.9 2.7 2.3 2.3 

Durham City 2.6 2.6 2.4 2.9 

Ferryhill 8.8 10 10 10 

Newton Aycliffe 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 

Peterlee 0.8 0.8 0.8 0 

Seaham 5.9 5.9 5.3 6 

Shildon 8.4 8.4 8.4 8.4 

Spennymoor 6.9 6.9 7.9 7.9 

Stanley 3.4 3.4 3.3 5 

 

Page 422



 

As can be seen from Table 24, there are now 9 centres where the number of hot food takeaways 

exceed 5%, this is an increase from 7 reported on in last year’s AMR. Ferryhill has the highest 

percentage of hot food takeaways (10%), although this figure has now remained stable for the past 3 

years. Crook now has the second highest number of hot food takeaways (8.6%) with Shildon and 

Spennymoor also having high numbers, albeit these have remained stable over the past year. It is 

noted that the figure for the Arnison Centre stands at 0% despite McDonald’s and KFC being present. 

These uses are recorded as Class E (b) as they provide facilities for the consumption of food and 

drink on the premises and are not a traditional takeaway under the Use Class Order 2020. 

In assessing applications for new hot food takeaways in centres which exceed 5%, consideration is 

given to whether the proposals would detract from the vitality and viability of a centre. In assessing 

such applications regard is had to the existing levels of vacant units within the centre. In particular, 

where vacancy rates are above the national average, weight is given to the contribution that the 

proposal would make to reducing this. In addition, the frontage is required to be of good design 

avoiding the use of roller shutters where possible. Encouragement will also be given to uses that are 

a not solely to support the night-time economy. Whilst therefore there will be instances whereby 

new proposals will be approved, the target is to reduce hot food takeaway levels particularly in 

centres where there is already a heavy concentration. 

Table 25 Centres where hot food numbers are increasing or decreasing 

 

Centre % change in number of hot food takeaway 
uses 

Arnison Centre No change 

Barnard Castle No change 

Bishop Auckland +0.3 

Chester-le-Street +0.6 

Consett -0.5 

Crook +0.7 

Dragonville/Sherburn Road No change 

Durham City +0.5 

Ferryhill No change 

Newton Aycliffe No change 

Peterlee  -0.8 

Seaham +0.7 

Shildon No change 

Spennymoor No change 

Stanley  +1.7 

 

Table 25 shows that there are 6 centres where the numbers of hot food takeaways have increased 

over the monitoring period. Durham City has seen a 0.5% increase in the numbers of hot food 

takeaways which represents an increase in 2 hot food takeaways. Durham does however still retain 

low levels of hot food takeaways with the overall percentage at 2.9%, well below the 5% threshold 

where new proposals require closer scrutiny. The increases in the other 5 centres (Bishop Auckland, 

Chester-le-Street, Crook, Seaham and Stanley) represent just one more unit in hot food takeaway 

use. The majority of centres have seen no change, with the numbers of hot food takeaways falling in 

Consett and Peterlee.  

Page 423



 

As there are centres which have seen an increase in the number of hot food takeaways and still 

centres which exceed 5% in terms of hot food takeaways, the target is not met. It is however 

encouraging that the overall levels have either not changed or reduced in the majority of centres. 

Policy 31 Amenity and Pollution 
Policy 31 is used to assess the impacts of a proposed development on amenity, new development 

should be integrated without unacceptably impacting on existing business, community facilities or a 

person’s general amenity. The policy also allows consideration of where development would have 

unacceptable impacts on the environment. 

HC2 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy  

 

Appeals: 9 

Appeals allowed: 1 

Target: None upheld at appeal  

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 

applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 

Over the monitoring period there were 9 appeals of applications refused against Policy 31. Of these 

appeals, 8 were dismissed and 1 was allowed (APP/X1355/W/21/3276266). This was an application 

that proposed reserved matters of a dwelling in relation to a single plot as part of an outline 

approval of 14 dwellings in Lanchester. The application was refused at committee, contrary to officer 

recommendation. The inspector deemed that the proposal would not cause material harm to the 

living conditions of the occupiers of the neighbouring house in respect of outlook, light or privacy. 

The inspector therefore found that the proposal would therefore accord with Policy 29, 31 and the 

Residential Amenities SPD.  

Whilst the policy is performing well at appeal, given that the afore mentioned appeal was allowed, 

the target set by the indicator has not been met. 

Policy 32 Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land 
Despoiled land is land which has been affected by the removal of material assets i.e. mineral 

resources which have affected the condition of the land. Degraded land is land that has lost some 

degree of its natural productivity due to human-caused processes. Derelict land is land that has 

become damaged by industrial or other development possibly with the remains of previous buildings 

and structures upon it. Contaminated land can be regarded as any land which is in such a condition 

by reason of substances in, on or under the land, that it can cause a risk to human health, property 

or the wider environment. 

New development can provide an opportunity to address the risk associated with despoiled, derelict, 

degraded, contaminated or unstable land by bringing about its improvement through remediation. 

When new development is proposed it is essential that the developer undertakes investigations and 

risk assessments and undertake any necessary remedial measures to ensure that any despoiled, 

degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land issues are satisfactorily addressed. 

HC3 Number of eligible schemes that are supported by appropriate investigations 

 

% of eligible schemes that are supported by 
appropriate investigations: 

70% 

Page 424



 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target not met  

 
For the purposes of this indicator, approved applications during the time period citing policy 32 have 

been reviewed. There have been 202 applications approved with 142 application including screening 

assessments, risk assessments or contamination reports as part of the application submission. Out of 

the 60 applications where no information was provided 34 applications reviewed by the council’s 

Contaminated Land officer recommended informatives, conditions or provided advice based on their 

knowledge of the site specifics or outside agencies consulted. The number of applications submitted 

with the supporting information is a similar percentage to the 2020/21 figure of 71.6% of 

applications.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 425



 

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Addressing climate change is of importance for sustainable development and a key priority of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It is therefore important to encourage the prudent use 

of non-renewable resources, contribute to reducing emissions and stabilising climate change 

(mitigation) and take into account the unavoidable consequences (adaptation). 

Policy 33 Renewable Energy 
Policy 33 encourages renewable energy development where it is appropriately located, and gives 

significant weight to the social, environmental, and economic benefits of renewable development. 

CC1 Energy generated from renewable sources (MWh) 

Energy generated: 545,522 MWh 

Target: Increase above the baseline figure (2018)  

Performance against target: Target met (see table and text below) 

 
The indicator monitors the energy, (in MWh) generated from renewable sources. The data on 

capacity of renewable sites is supplied by the government one year in arrears, so the most recent 

data published is for 2021.  

Table 26 Renewable Energy Generated in County Durham 

 

MWh Renewable 
Energy Generated 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

County Durham 505,899 497,389 512,850 545,522 

 
The data includes photovoltaics, onshore wind, hydro, anaerobic digestion, sewage and landfill gas, 
municipal solid waste, and animal and plant biomass. Offshore wind and wave energy are not 
counted as they are not possible to situate within the County’s boundaries.  
 
This data shows growth in renewable energy generation from 2018-2021. The impact of CDP Policy 
33 should become more apparent in future updates to the AMR, although early findings indicate an 
increase in renewable energy generated. 
 

Policy 34 Wind Turbine Development 
Policy 34 gives support to wind turbine development where it is located in an area identified as 

suitable on the policies map, and where it has community support. The policy also sets out a number 

of criteria that wind turbine development should meet in order to prevent harm to the environment 

and landscape, and to prevent risk from toppling or shadow flicker. It gives further protection to the 

AONB and Yorkshire Dales National Park and clarifies how proposals for extensions to or repowering 

of wind farms should be assessed. 

CC2 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 34. 

Page 426



 

 

CC3 Renewable energy capacity of approved and completed schemes 

 

Energy generated: 135.4 MW 

Target: Increasing trend above the baseline figure 
(2018) 

Performance against target: Target not met (see table and text below) 

 
The data on capacity of approved turbines is supplied by the government one years in arrears, so 

that the most recent data relates to 2021 

Table 27 Capacity of installed wind turbine development in County Durham 

 

Capacity of 
installed wind 
turbine 
development 
(MW) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

County Durham 140.3 135.4 135.4 135.4 

 
These figures continue to show a slight decreasing trend in renewable energy capacity of installed 
wind turbine development in the County, the figure has however remained stable over the past 3 
years.  
 

Policy 35 Water Management  
Policy 35 highlights the importance of water quality and where development is in close proximity to 
a watercourse then opportunities to improve the river environment and water quality should be 
explored. This could include naturalising watercourse channels, improving the biodiversity and 
ecological connectivity of watercourses, safeguarding and enlarging river buffers with appropriate 
habitat or mitigating diffuse agricultural and urban pollution. The policy also requires that on all new 
development there is no net increase in surface water runoff for the lifetime of the development 
and provides a hierarchy for how surface water run-off must be managed. 
 

CC4 Number of water bodies which show Water Framework Directive improvement as a direct 

consequence of new development 

 

Target: An increasing trend. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
This indicator was included within the monitoring framework in order to highlight schemes which 
directly affected water bodies, in order to encourage new development to provide water framework 
directive improvements as part of the design process. There have been no schemes which meet 
these criteria within this monitoring period. 
 

CC5 Percentage of major developments which include SuDS. 

 

Performance achieved 100% 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target met 

 

Page 427



 

For the purposes of this indicator, approved applications for major development during the time 
period citing policy 35 have been reviewed to determine if they included approved SuD Schemes 
and/or the inclusion of appropriate conditions to ensure their delivery.  All major developments 
which required SuDS did include SuDS. The target for this indicator is therefore met for this 
monitoring period. 
 

Policy 36 Water Infrastructure 
Policy 36 sets out the criteria for disposing of fowl water flows from new development.  Priority 
should be given, where possible, to accommodate any additional flows within existing sewage 
treatment works. Where new sewage treatment works are required there will need to be a balance 
between meeting higher discharge standards, the environmental benefits of the development and 
the protection of the existing environment and amenity. 
 
CC6 Number of major developments permitted where connection to a mains sewer is not possible 
and an alternative solution has not been secured. 
 

Performance achieved Zero 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Non-mains drainage systems, such as package treatment plants and septic tanks should only be 
employed in non-sewered areas.  Where they are required, careful consideration of their siting and 
design will be required to ensure that there is no adverse impact upon ground water, water quality 
or existing ecosystems. 
 
For the purposes of this indicator, approved applications for major development during the time 
period citing policy 36 have been reviewed and all proposals have been connected to a main sewer 
as per the policy requirement. 
 

Policy 37 Durham Coast and Heritage Coast 
Policy 37 seeks to guard against inappropriate development within the Durham Heritage Coast or 

wider Coastal Zone that have the potential to individually or cumulatively impact on their setting. 

CC7 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal  

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 37. 
 

CC8 Status of proposed extension of Heritage Coast around Dene Mouth 

 

Target: Completed by 2035 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
The Heritage Coast Partnership approached Natural England in March 2021 to request that the 

Durham Heritage Coast be extended.  

Page 428



 

In their response to this request Natural England were pleased to hear that the Partnership felt that 

areas which were originally left out of the Heritage Coast have now been improved sufficiently to 

warrant consideration for inclusion within the existing Heritage Coast.  

The work to produce a detailed assessment report, which assesses the relevant qualities of the area 

for inclusion in a Heritage Coast, to support our submission has not significantly progressed during 

this monitoring period but is ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 429



 

Conserving and enhancing the natural and historic environment 
County Durham has a wealth of attractive natural and historic assets which present unique 

opportunities for residents, businesses and visitors. There is a need therefore to successfully balance 

the protection and enhancement of these assets with the requirement for new development to 

meet our need for new homes and jobs. New development in and around our historic towns and 

villages must complement their built heritage and natural landscapes. 

Policy 38 North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Large parts of the North Pennines are designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

Policy 38 recognises the importance and sensitivity of the AONB and the need to conserve and 

enhance it as an environmental and economic asset and therefore seeks to guard against 

development that would harm the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB. 

CE1 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 38. 
 

Policy 39 Landscape 
The Durham landscape is one of enormous contrasts and diversity. From its western boundary high 

in the summit ridges of the North Pennines, to the limestone cliffs of the North Sea coast, remote 

moorlands and pastoral dales give way to fertile settled farmlands. Policy 39 is used to assess the 

landscape impacts of any proposed development in order to guard against development that would 

cause unacceptable harm. 

CE2 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy  

 

Appeals: 4 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 
applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 
 
Over the monitoring period there were 4 appeals of applications refused against Policy 39. On each 
occasion the inspector dismissed the appeal. The target set by the indicator has therefore been met. 
 

Policy 40 Trees, Woodland and Hedges 
Policy 40 recognises the important contribution trees, woodlands and hedges make to the beauty, 

diversity and distinctiveness of our rural landscapes and the beauty and liveability of our 

townscapes. The policy seeks to prevent the loss of, or damage to trees, woodlands and hedges, by 

retaining, protecting or as a last resort replacing them through the development process. 

Page 430



 

CE3 Net loss of trees/woodlands/hedges as a result of new development 

 

Net loss: 0 

Target: No net loss of trees/woodlands/hedges 

Performance against target Target met 

 
For the purpose of this indicator, approved applications for development during the time period 
citing Policy 40 have been reviewed, none of which affected trees and hedges. 
 

CE4 Loss of Ancient Woodland (hectares) 

 

Hectares lost: 0 

Target: No loss of Ancient Woodland 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Policy 40 also recognises the special protection afforded to Ancient Woodland as an irreplaceable 
habitat. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) says that planning permission should be 
refused for development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including 
ancient woodland, and the loss of aged or veteran trees found outside ancient woodland, unless 
there are wholly exceptional reasons, and a suitable compensation strategy is in place.  
 
For the purpose of this indicator, approved applications for development during the time period 
citing Policy 40 have been reviewed, none of which affected Ancient Woodland.  
 

Policy 41 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy 41 seeks to guard against development that will cause significant harm to biodiversity or 

geodiversity. Proposals for new development are also required to actively enhance biodiversity in 

order to provide net gains. 

CE5 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 1 

Appeals allowed: 0* 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: See text below 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 
applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 
 
Over the monitoring period there was 1 appeal of an application refused against Policy 41. This was 
an outline application for 36 dwellings at Tudhoe Colliery (APP/X1355/W/21/3289081). Whilst the 
inspector dismissed the appeal against Policies 6, 21 and 35, it was concluded that the proposal 
would meet the requirements of Policy 41 which the Council had found conflict with and had been 
cited as a reason for refusal. 
 

CE6 Percentage of proposal permitted which would result in a loss of biodiversity or geodiversity 

where mitigation or compensation has been secured 

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: Zero 

Page 431



 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
For the purpose of this indicator, approved applications for development during the time period 

citing Policy 41 have been reviewed. Within this review period, out of 429 applications, there was 

one application where Ecology colleagues had raised no objections to the proposals subject to the 

conditioning of the Method Statement, appended to the Preliminary Ecology Assessment. Yet, in this 

instance, this requirement was not conditioned. The Method Statement sets out the methods which 

must be employed during the works to minimise the risk of disturbing protected species such as 

bats. The report identified that there was a low risk at the time as there was no visible evidence of 

bats being present when the survey took place. Nonetheless, the property in question had features 

that were suitable for bats to roost. Therefore, whilst this target has not been met, there has been 

no recorded loss in biodiversity. However, mitigation to prevent any potential future loss has not 

been secured. 

Policy 42 Internationally Designated Sites 
Policy 42 seeks to guard against development that would adversely impact upon sensitive 

Internationally Designated Sites. There are certain internationally designated sites within the county 

that are already experiencing recreation and urbanisation impacts on site integrity. These are: 

• Northumbria Coast Spa/Ramsar site 

• Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar site 

• Durham Coast SAC 

• Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast potential SPA 

Policy 42 states that development that has the potential to have an effect on internationally 

designated sites, either individually or in combination with other plans or projects will need to be 

screened in the first instance to determine whether significant effects on the site are likely and if so, 

will be subject to an Appropriate Assessment. If following Appropriate Assessment, taking mitigating 

measures into account, it is established that harm is likely to occur, or if there is uncertainty over the 

effects of a planning proposal, the Council will be required to proceed on a precautionary basis and 

not grant consent. The Council would only be able to grant consent under these circumstances if 

three additional, sequential tests (known as derogations) are met. These tests must be interpreted 

strictly and include: 

• No feasible less damaging alternative solutions to the proposal exist; 

• Imperative reasons for overriding public interest can be demonstrated; and 

• Compensatory measures can be secured. 

CE7 Number of applications approved which have a likely significant effect upon the integrity of an 

internationally designated site 

 

Applications approved 0 

Target: No applications approved which contravene the 
requirements of the Habitats Regulations 2017 
(or subsequent amendments) or adversely 
impact upon sensitive Internationally 
Designated Sites. 

Performance against target: Target met 

 

Page 432



 

The Council has developed a coastal avoidance and mitigation strategy to implement a programme 

of monitoring and mitigation measures to address potential adverse effects on County Durham’s 

Coastal European Protected Sites, which can be caused from increased visitor pressures resulting 

from new planned residential and tourist development.  

Detailed developer guidance is provided to explain the responsibility of the Council and developers 

in respect of HRA, the stages in the process and sets out in great detail the coastal avoidance and 

mitigation measure. This has ensured that no application has been approved which contravenes the 

requirements of Habitat Regulations since the adoption of the Plan.  

CE8 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 42. 
 

Policy 43 Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites 
Policy 43 seeks to guard against development that would adversely impact upon Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSIs), National Nature Reserves (NNRs), Local Sites (Geology and Wildlife) and 

Local Nature Reserves. 

CE9 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 43. 
 

Policy 44 Historic Environment 
Heritage assets, designated and non-designated, are irreplaceable, so any harm or loss will require 

clear and convincing justification. This policy aims to ensure that County Durham’s heritage assets 

are preserved and enhanced so that they can continue to make an important contribution to the 

environment, economy, quality of life and lifelong learning for this and future generations. 

CE10 Number of heritage assets lost 

 

Assets lost 3 

Target: No heritage assets subject to unjustified loss 

Performance against target: Target met (See text below) 

 
A total of three heritage assets were lost during the monitoring period, which comprised: 
 

Page 433



 

• Masters House, Manual Instruction Block, Bicycle Sheds, Walls, Gates, Piers and Railings at 
Easington Colliery School 

• Former Girls Block South at Easington Colliery School 

• Former Boys Block North at Easington Colliery School 
 
However, all three losses were justified in policy terms on public benefit, so the performance target 
was met. 
 

CE11 Number of heritage assets removed from At Risk Registers as a result of the implementation of 

a permitted scheme 

 

Number of heritage assets on the ‘at Risk 
Register’ 

53 

Target: 100% of heritage assets removed from the At 
Risk Register, that relate to permitted schemes 

Performance against target On track (see text below) 

 
There has been a reduction in the number of buildings on the At Risk Register (compiled by Historic 

England) which has come down from 57 to 53 heritage assets from the previous monitoring period.  

The At Risk Register breaks down as follows: buildings and structures (25); places of worship (4); 

archaeology (17); parks and gardens (1) and Conservation Areas (6). 

 
The assets that were removed from the register include: 

• Church of St Andrew, Dalton-le-Dale and Church of St Helen, Church Kelloe - both removed 

as a result of extensive work funded by NHLF 

• Bowburn Conservation Area removed as threat from adjacent development now clearly 

understood and Neighbourhood Plan adopted offering strong protection to CA and NDHA 

• Shildon Conservation Area removed as result of significant investment in fabric of key assets, 

preparation and Historic Area Assessment and strategy for improvement through Levelling 

Up Funding  

• Trimdon Village Conservation Area removed as a result of improvement in the condition of 

built fabric and environment and dismissal of appeal for housing which would have harmed 

setting. 

However, the archaeological sites of Park Level Mine Jigger House and Crushing Mill Water Wheel, 

(Killhope Museum) have been added to the register as a result of surface flooding and deterioration 

of key structures.  Museum Estate and Development Fund (MEND) funding has subsequently been 

secured from Arts Council England to undertake urgent works and business planning and fundraising 

strategy in preparation to rescue the asset with the aim to remove it from the register. 

It is likely that several assets (Gainford Hall, Dovecote south of Gainford Hall, Iron Gates and Railings 

Lambton Castle, and, Low Harperley Farmhouse) will be removed from the list during the 2022-23 

monitoring period as a result of planning determinations.   

CE12 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy  

 

Appeals: 6 

Appeals allowed: 2 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Page 434



 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 

applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 

Over the monitoring period there were 6 appeals of applications refused against Policy 44. Of the 

appeals four were dismissed and two were allowed. Of these two allowed appeals, both were 

applications that were approved contrary to officer recommendation. The first of these was a 

proposal for the retention of land for 2 parking spaces at Ainsley Street, Durham 

(APP/X1355/W/21/3274720). The proposal was considered to have an adverse visual impact within 

the streetscene and conservation area and also not considered to be in keeping with the character 

and appearance of other parking spaces within the area, thereby failing to preserve or enhance the 

character and appearance of the conservation area. It was therefore found to be contrary to policy 

44. The inspector disagreed however, considering that the proposal would not harm the character 

and appearance of the surrounding area and the Conservation Area. 

The other appeal allowed was a proposal at 21 Market Place, Durham for the erection of part two 

storey, part single story extension to the rear to form 1no. self contained 5 bed HMO (C4) to 1st and 

2nd floor and additional retail office, storage, and welfare facilities to the ground floor. It also 

included the erection of a single storey rear extension to the existing Card Factory premises to form 

a new stockroom, office, and welfare facilities to the ground floor (APP/X1355/W/21/3275009 & 

APP/X1355/Y/20/3265941). The application was refused contrary to officer recommendation. The 

application was refused against Policy 16 (discussed under Policy 16), the proposed extension was 

also considered an incongruous feature that would detract from the setting of a listed building and 

have a significant detrimental impact on the nearby Heritage Assets resulting in less than substantial 

harm to a designated heritage asset with no public benefit to outweigh this harm.  It was therefore 

found to be contrary to Policies 44 and 45. In allowing the appeal the inspector found that the 

proposal would preserve the special historic interest of the Grade II listed building, the setting of 

adjoining listed buildings and the character and appearance of Durham City Conservation Area and 

therefore would not conflict with Policy 44 and 45. 

Given that the above appeals were allowed, the target set by the indicator has not been met. 
 

Policy 45 Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site 
Through the 1972 World Heritage Convention, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and 

Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) has identified the formal recognition and management of World 

Heritage Sites (WHS) as a key means of conserving the world's cultural and natural heritage for 

present and future generations. The designation of the Durham Cathedral and Castle WHS in 1986 

recognised its national and international significance. Policy 45 guards against development that 

would result in harm to the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage Site or its setting. 

CE14 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 1 

Appeals allowed: 1 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
It is important that policies are being used to uphold planning decisions made by the Council if the 
applicant subsequently appeals that decision. 

Page 435



 

 
Over the monitoring period there was 1 appeal of an application refused against Policy 45. This was 

a proposal at 21 Market Place, discussed under Policy 44  (APP/X1355/W/21/3275009 & 

APP/X1355/Y/20/3265941).  Given that this appeal was allowed, the target set by the indicator has 

not been met. 

Policy 46 Stockton and Darlington Railway 
Policy 46 seeks to guard against development that would impact on the historic route of the 

Stockton and Darlington Railway (S&DR) of 1825, the Black Boy and Haggerleases branch lines and 

the Surtees Railway, together with their associated structures, archaeological and physical remains 

and setting. 

CE15 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy  

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 46. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 436



 

Minerals and Waste 
National planning policy requires the council to plan for the needs of mineral extraction and waste 

management in order to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 

infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods the country needs, and that waste is managed in a 

sustainable and efficient manner in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

Policy 47 Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management 
Policy 47 seeks to promote, encourage and facilitate the development of a sustainable resource 

economy in County Durham. It sets out the need for waste to be managed in line with the waste 

hierarchy in sequential order. It also seeks to support opportunities for on site management of 

waste where it arises, encouraging the co-location of waste development. In terms of mineral 

extraction, the policy seeks to minimise the amount of waste during extraction, it encourages the 

concurrent working of two or more minerals from the same site and seeks to permit proposals for 

aggregate recycling facilities. 

MW1 Percentage of proposals permitted that either minimise waste production; help prepare waste 

for re-use and increase the capacity and capability of the county's network of waste management 

facilities to reuse, recycle and recover value from waste materials. 

 

Performance achieved 100% 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target met 

In the 2021/22 monitoring period two planning applications were submitted of which one was 

granted planning permission and one which is still pending determination. The proposal which was 

granted planning permission will improve process operations at an existing waste management 

facility but will not in itself increase waste management capacity or capability.  Further details are 

provided under Policy 60. 

MW2  Percentage of proposals permitted that enable the disposal of waste via landfill or via the 

incineration of waste without energy recovery where an alternative treatment solution is available at 

a higher level in the waste hierarchy. 

 

Performance achieved: 0% 

Target: None. 

Performance against target: Target met 

During the monitoring period no proposals were permitted which would allow the disposal of waste 

via landfill or via the incineration of waste. Two proposals for the incineration of waste were 

refused, both of which would have recovered value from waste via energy and or heat. While no 

planning applications were refused for landfill, two planning applications were refused for proposals 

which would have allowed the disposal of inert waste to land. Further details are provided under 

Policy 60. 

MW3 Capacity (tonnage) of secondary and recycled aggregate management facilities 

 

Tonnage of secondary and recycled aggregate 
management facilities 

An additional 75,000 capacity received planning 
permission. 

Page 437



 

Target: Increase the capacity of secondary and recycled 
aggregate management facilities (against the 
baseline figure). 

Performance against target: N/A 

One planning permission was granted for a new secondary aggregate recycling facility during the 

monitoring period. A further planning application is pending determination. Further details are 

provided under Policy 60. 

MW4 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 47. 

Policy 48 Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste 

Management Sites. 
Policy 48 safeguards and protects minerals sites, minerals related infrastructure and waste 

management sites from non-mineral and non-waste related development. Therefore it sets out 

criteria for considering such development that would result in the loss of existing or allocated 

minerals processing facilities and minerals related transportation infrastructure and waste 

management sites. 

MW5 Percentage of relevant approved development proposals that do not have an adverse effect or 

lead to the loss of a safeguarded Minerals Site, Minerals Related Infrastructure or Waste  

Management site. 

 

Percentage achieved : 100% 

Target: 100% of relevant approvals are consistent with 
policy 

Performance against target: Target met 

Since adoption of the Plan, no planning permissions were granted which would have an adverse 

effect or lead to the loss of a safeguarded Minerals Site, Minerals Related Infrastructure or Waste 

Management site. 

MW6 Percentage of relevant proposals within a Minerals and Waste Site Safeguarding Zone where 

the compatibility of the proposed development with the safeguarded Minerals Site, Minerals Related 

Infrastructure or Waste Management site is considered as part of the consideration of the proposal. 

 

Target: 100% 

Performance achieved: 0% 

Performance against target: N/A (see text below) 

During the monitoring period no planning applications were reported as being made within a 

Minerals and Waste Site Safeguarding Zone.  

Page 438



 

MW7 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 48. 

Policy 49 Primary Aggregates Provision 
Policy 49 sets out how throughout the Plan period a steady and adequate supply of primary 

aggregates will be maintained.  

MW8 Annual and cumulative sales of sand and gravel 

 

Performance achieved. Sales 2017 = 330,000 tonnes 
Sales 2018 = 446,000 tonnes 
Sales 2019 = 537,000 tonnes 
Sales 2020 = 438,000 tonnes 
Cumulative production 2017 to 2020 = 
1,751,000 tonnes. 

Target: The extraction of 5.4 million tonnes of sand and 
gravel at a rate of no less than 285,000 tonnes 
per annum over the 19 year period 1.1.2017 to 
31.12.2035. 

Performance against target: On track 

 
Sand and Gravel sales are the quantity of aggregate which was extracted and sold from all of County 

Durham’s hard and soft rock quarries which produce sand & gravel. No further information is 

currently available on sales of sand and gravel other than that which was reported in last year’s 

Annual Monitoring Report. Sales information for 2021 will be published in the Council’s next Local 

Aggregate Assessment which will report upon 2021 sales. 

MW9 Annual and cumulative sales of crushed rock 

 

Performance achieved. Sales 2017 = 2.636 million tonnes 
Sales 2018 = 3.484 million tonnes 
Sales 2019 = 3.256 million tonnes 
Sales 2020 = 2.613 million tonnes 
Cumulative production 2017 to 2020 = 11.989 
million tonnes 

Target: The extraction of 53.2 million tonnes of crushed 
rock at a rate of no less than 2.8 million tonnes 
per annum over the 19 year period 1.1.2017 to 
31.12.2035. 

Performance against target: On track 

 
Crushed rock sales are the quantity of crushed rock aggregate which was extracted and sold from all 
of County Durham’s hard rock quarries. It excludes all mineral used for non-aggregate purposes. No 
further information is currently available on sales of crushed rock other than that which was 

Page 439



 

reported in last year’s Annual Monitoring Report. Sales information for 2021 will be published in the 
Councils next Local Aggregate Assessment which will report upon 2021 sales. 
 

MW10 Additional permitted reserves of carboniferous limestone 

 

Performance achieved 6.97 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone 
approved 

Target: That planning permission will be granted to 
permit the release of an additional 14.2 million 
tonnes of carboniferous limestone over the 19 
year period 1.1.2017 to 31.12.2035. 

Performance against target: On track 

 
One planning application (DM/18/02483/MIN) was approved on 6 June 2019 to allow a north-
western extension to Heights Quarry. This application granted permission to a total of 6.97 million 
tonnes of carboniferous limestone including 3.7 million tonnes in the extension area. A planning 
application to extend Hulands Quarry to the east was submitted was validated on 27 May 2022 and 
is now pending consideration.  
 

MW11 Crushed rock land bank years 

 

Landbank Landbank (2020) = 31.2 years 

Target: To maintain at least a minimum 10 year land 
bank of crushed rock. 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Landbanks of aggregate mineral reserves are used principally as an indicator of the security of 

aggregate minerals supply and to indicate the additional provision that needs to be made for new 

aggregate extraction and alternative supplies in Local Plans. The NPPF advises that the landbank 

indicator which must be maintained for crushed rock is at least 10 years. No further information is 

currently available on the crushed rock landbank than that which was reported in last year’s Annual 

Monitoring Report. Landbank information for 2021 will be published in the Councils next Local 

Aggregate Assessment which will report upon 2021 sales, permitted reserves and landbanks.  

MW12 Sand and Gravel land bank (years) 

 

Land Bank Landbank 2020 = 11.98 years  

Target: To maintain at least a minimum 7 year land 
bank of sand and gravel. 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Landbanks of aggregate mineral reserves are used, principally as an indicator of the security of 

aggregate minerals supply and to indicate the additional provision that needs to be made for new 

aggregate extraction and alternative supplies in Local Plans. The NPPF specifies that the landbank 

indicator which must be maintained for sand and gravel is at least 7 years. No further information is 

currently available on the sand and gravel landbank other than that which was reported in last year’s 

Annual Monitoring Report. Landbank information for 2021 will be published in the Councils next 

Local Aggregate Assessment which will report upon 2021 sales, permitted reserves and landbanks. 

Page 440



 

Policy 50 Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates 
Policy 50 sets out the locational approach for aggregate working over the Plan period including for 

different types of crushed rock and sand and gravel.   

MW13 Percentage of permissions granted on sites or extensions to sites located on land outside and 

land not adversely affecting designated and defined areas and in accordance with specific policy 

criteria 

 

Permissions: 0 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target Target met 

 
No planning applications were approved during the monitoring period.  

Policy 51 Meeting Future Aggregate Requirements 
Policy 51 sets out how future aggregate requirements in County Durham will be met over the plan 

period and provides decision making criteria for allocated sites, non-allocated sites and existing 

permitted reserves.  

MW14 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals: 0 

Appeals allowed: 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 51. 
 

Policy 52 Brick Making Raw Materials 
Policy 52 sets the criteria for assessing proposals for new workings to meet the raw material needs 

of brickwork within County Durham and for new workings which are intended to serve brickworks 

outside of County Durham. 

MW15  Number of years of approved reserves at brickworks in County Durham  

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: To maintain a minimum 25 year stock of 
permitted reserves at brickworks in County 
Durham. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Following the closure of Eldon Brickworks in 2012, only one brickworks remains operational in 

County Durham. This is located at Todhills, near Byers Green. The Todhills brickworks is supplied 

with coal measures mudstone by the adjacent Long Lane Quarry. In accordance with NPPF 

requirements a revised landbank period or stock of permitted reserves figure of 25 years has now 

been incorporated within Policy 52 (Brickmaking Raw Materials) of the adopted County Durham 

Plan. The number of years of approved reserves (data based on end dates of planning permission) 

currently stands at less than 25 years by virtue that planning permission expired in 2019. In January 

2019 the operators of Todhills Brickworks submitted a planning application to continue mineral 

Page 441



 

extraction at Long Lane Quarry until 2043 and the creation of a new quarry to the south of Todhills 

brickworks. This planning application is awaiting determination but if permitted will supply the long 

term needs of this brickworks. 

MW16 Number of years of approved reserves at the Union Brickworks at Birtley in Gateshead 

 

Number of years of approved reserves: 21 years 

Target: In association with Gateshead Council to 
maintain a minimum 25 year stock of permitted 
reserves at the Union Brickworks at Birtley 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
County Durham supplies glacial clay to the Union Brickworks in Gateshead, via the adjacent Birtley 

Quarry which is located in County Durham. In accordance with NPPF requirements a revised 

landbank period or stock of permitted reserves figure of 25 years has now been incorporated within 

Policy 52 (Brickmaking Raw Materials) of the adopted County Durham Plan. The number of years of 

approved reserves (data based on end dates of planning permission which requires all mineral 

extraction to cease by 13 February 2044) currently stands at less than 25 years (22 years). In 

addition, it should be noted that paragraph 13.16 of the Newcastle/ Gateshead 'One Core Strategy - 

Planning for The Future Core Strategy and Urban Core Plan' refers to potentially workable deposit of 

brick clay at Lamesley in Gateshead which is safeguarded. 

Policy 53 Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay 
Policy 53 sets the decision making criteria for assessing proposals for the extraction of coal and/or 

fireclay.  

MW17 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals 0 

Appeals allowed 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 
against Policy 53. 
 

Policy 54 Natural Building and Roofing Stone 
Policy 54 sets the decision making criteria for new and extensions to existing natural building and 

roofing stone quarries. 

MW18 Quantity of new permitted reserves granted. 

 

Performance achieved See text below 

Target: To maintain a steady, adequate and diverse 
supply of natural building and roofing stone 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
No new permitted reserves of natural building and roofing stone were granted planning permission 

during AMR year 21/22. No planning applications were submitted or were pending determination 

during the monitoring year.  

Page 442



 

Policy 55 Reopening of Relic Building Stone Quarries for Heritage Projects 
Policy 55 sets the criteria for assessing proposals to temporarily reopen, on a time limited basis, relic 

natural building and roofing stone quarries, including those identified by Historic England through 

the Strategic Stone Study or for new extraction adjacent to or close to these quarries to extract small 

quantities of stone required for heritage projects. 

MW19 Quantity of new permitted reserves granted on relic sites for natural building and roofing 

stone working 

 

Performance achieved See text below 

Target: No target 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
No new permitted reserves were granted planning permission during AMR year 21/22. No planning 

applications were submitted or were pending determination during the monitoring year.  

Policy 56 Safeguarding Mineral Resources 
Policy 56 seeks to prevent planning permission from being granted for non-mineral development 

that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral resources. It sets out where development may be 

applicable within these areas. 

MW20 Number of eligible schemes within the County’s Mineral Safeguarding Area, that are 

supported by a Mineral Assessment 

 

Performance achieved See text below 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target not met 

 
This monitoring indicator has been monitored only since the adoption of the County Durham Plan. 

Not all planning applications within a Mineral Safeguarding Areas require a Mineral Assessment as 

some planning applications are considered exempt (as defined in Appendix C C2 of the County 

Durham Plan).   

Of the 24 planning applications monitored  none were accompanied by a Mineral Assessment. The 

majority of planning applications monitored were small planning applications and many were 

located within or adjoining the built up framework of settlements. This reflects the fact that many 

Mineral Safeguarding Areas in County Durham are extensive and have also washed over settlements. 

The majority of the planning applications which were monitored did not require a Mineral 

Assessment as they were exempt, for example they related to an application which involved infilling 

in an otherwise built up frontage within a settlement (exempt development category 1); or 

alterations and extensions to existing buildings including applications for new or improved accesses 

(exempt development category 3); or a change of use of existing buildings (exempt development 

category 4). On occasion this reasoning was not provided within the Committee Reports which 

accompanied these planning applications.  

In considering some pre-application enquiries and planning applications Council officers have also 

reviewed the available information and advised that a Mineral Assessment is not in fact necessary. 

This is because officers have assessed that the application site would be unlikely to ever be suitable 

for minerals extraction, sterilisation would be minimal or where a planning application overlies a 

coal mineral safeguarding area a Coal Mining Risk Assessment has been submitted which has 

Page 443



 

provided an indication that mineral is not of a thickness or at depth which would enable recovery to 

be economic. This approach is considered consistent with policy and is to ensure that Mineral 

Assessments are not unnecessarily requested.   

The most problematic mineral which is safeguarded is coal due to the extent of the area safeguarded 

within the County which covers most of Central Durham. This mineral has been safeguarded due to 

the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework which continues to identify coal as a 

mineral of local and national importance and the requires local planning authorities to safeguard 

minerals of local and national importance and the consideration of their prior extraction if sterilising 

development were to occur. Experience has shown that Coal Mining Risk Assessments when 

submitted where applications are in the Coalfield Development High Risk Area have been most 

useful in understanding the incidence and depth of coal resources.  

During the monitoring period no significant sterilisation of mineral resources has been permitted 

following the grant of planning permission. Only one planning application was reported within a 

Committee Report where sterilisation was identified in a Committee Report as being contrary to 

Policy 56, however, this related to a variation of a condition application and should therefore have 

been considered as exempt e.g. exemption criterion 10 - applications to remove or amend a 

condition attached to an existing planning permission. 

Policy 57 The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite 
Policy 57 sets out how the long term conservation and future use of high grade dolomite will be 

achieved.  

MW21 Number of planning applications approved which sterilise areas believed to be underlain by 

high grade dolomite 

 

Performance achieved 0 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target: Target met 

 
No planning applications were pending consideration or were approved over the monitoring period. 
 

MW22 Number of planning applications permitted which lead to the use of high grade dolomite 

reserves for lower grade uses. 

 

Performance achieved 0 

Target: Zero 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
One planning application (DM/18/03884/VOCMW) was pending determination on the 31.03.22. This 

application at Thrislington East Quarry East near West Cornforth seeks to vary planning permission 

No. 7/2006/0179CM (DCC Reference: CMA/7/55) to allow a change to the working method and 

working hours for Phase 2 and variation to the associated S106 agreement in terms of the 

percentage of High Grade Dolomite removed from the site. 

Policy 58 Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction 
Two allocations are shown on the CDP policies map. Policy 58 sets out detailed policy considerations 

applicable to both of these allocations.  

Page 444



 

MW23 Quantity of additional permitted reserves of carboniferous limestone granted following the 

grant of planning permission to enable extensions to Hulands Quarry and Heights Quarry. 

 

Performance achieved 3.7 million tonnes 

Target: 11.9 million tonnes 

Performance against target: On track 

 
One planning application (DM/18/02483/MIN) was approved on 6 June 2019 to allow a north-

western extension to Heights Quarry. This application granted permission to a total of 6.97 million 

tonnes of carboniferous limestone including 3.7 million tonnes in the extension area. A planning 

application to extend Hulands Quarry to the east was submitted was validated on 27 May 2022 and 

is pending consideration.  

Policy 59 Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks 
A strategic area of search is shown on the CDP policies map. Policy 58 sets out detailed policy 

considerations applicable to this area of search. 

MW24 Number of years of approved reserves at Todhills Brickworks 

 

Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: To maintain a minimum 25 year stock of 
permitted reserves at Todhills Brickworks 

Performance against target: On Track 

 
The number of years of approved reserves (data based on end dates of planning permission) 

currently stands at less than 25 years by virtue that planning permission expired in 2019. In January 

2019 the operators of Todhills Brickworks submitted a planning application (DM/19/00051/MIN) to 

continue mineral extraction at Long Lane Quarry until 2043 and the creation of a new quarry to the 

south of Todhills brickworks. This planning application is awaiting determination but if permitted will 

supply the long term needs of this brickworks. 

Policy 60 Waste Management Provision 
Policy 60 sets criteria for proposals for the provision of new or enhanced waste management 
capacity. 
 

MW25 Waste Management Capacity Gap (calculated periodically). 

 
Performance achieved: See text below 

Target: No Target 
Performance against target: N/A 

 
To date the waste management capacity gap has not been recalculated. The following key waste 
parameters however have been monitored: 
 

1) Quantity of waste received at waste management facilities in County Durham and the North East of 

England. 

Table 60.1 below provide information on waste received at waste management facilities in County 

Durham and the North East of England in 2021 (and for 2016 for comparison which was the base 

year for the County Durham Plan and its capacity gap calculation). It is important to note that the 

Environment Agency’s waste received information does not represent waste arisings for a particular 

Page 445



 

area but instead is indicative of which area or region initially managed the waste. A proportion of the 

waste received at some sites is also sometimes subsequently transferred to other sites for further 

management i.e. recycling, recovery, treatment or disposal.  In the absence of waste arisings 

information, waste received information can be and is often used as a proxy for waste arisings.  

The table below show that in 2021 a total of 2,016,152 tonnes of waste was received at waste 

management facilities in County Durham. This is a very small rise in the overall quantity of waste 

which was reported as being received in 2020 when 2,004,892 tonnes of waste was received. 

However, it is nonetheless a 31.7% increase in the overall quantity of waste which was received in 

2016.  

The quantities of all waste received in County Durham in 2021 can be compared to the equivalent 

figures for the North East region in 2021 as a whole. In particular, it can be seen that while in 2021 

County Durham’s waste management facilities received 19.26% of all waste received, it received 

23.55% of all inert construction and demolition waste, 16.4% of all household, commercial and 

industrial waste and 6.5% of all hazardous waste.  

Similar to the position in previous monitoring periods the most significant issue of note, is that 
County Durham continues to manage significantly more waste than it is reported to originate within 
the County.  

 

Table 28 - Quantity of waste received in 2021 (and 2016 for comparison), (all figures in tonnes)  

  2021 
County 
Durham – 
(Durham 
waste only) 

2021 
County 
Durham - 
(All waste 
received 

2021 North 
East - (All 
waste 
received 

2016 
County 
Durham – 
(Durham 
waste only) 

2016 
County 
Durham - 
(All waste 
received) 

2016 North 
East - (All 
waste 
received) 

Total Volume 
of waste 
received  

656,786 2,016,152 12,391,960 780,731 1,529,720 10,464,106 

Total volume 
of inert/ 
construction 
and 
demolition 
waste 

263,660 1,121,678 4,263,725 413,529 899,571 4,762,524 

Total quantity 
of household 
commercial 
and industrial 
waste 

389,762 866,627 7,295,779 365,302 621,630 5,274,485 

 
Total quantity 
of hazardous 
waste  

3,365 27,848 832,455 1,900 8,519 427,097 
 

Source: Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 2022. 

2) Amount of waste (tonnage) imported into/exported out of County Durham per annum and by 

stream 

Waste management facilities in County Durham manage waste which arises within County Durham 

and also manage waste which first arose in other local authority areas outside of County Durham. 

Similarly, some waste which arises within County Durham is also managed at waste management 

Page 446



 

facilities outside of County Durham. The movement of waste between different local authority areas 

is a normal occurrence and is due to a variety of factors including contractual arrangements, the 

operational networks of private waste management companies as well as geographical proximity. 

The North East of England has a highly integrated waste management market. 

Waste Imported in 2021 

In 2019 1,359,365.3 tonnes of waste which had a recorded origin of outside of County Durham was 

received by waste management facilities in County Durham. This waste included 858,017.95 tonnes 

of inert/construction and demolition waste, 476,864.25 tonnes of household, commercial and 

industrial waste and 24,483.1 tonnes of hazardous waste.  This reflects the concentration of 

recycling, treatment and inert and non-hazardous landfill facilities within County Durham. 

Waste exported in 2021 

In 2021 in 681,028 tonnes of waste which was recorded as having an origin in County Durham was 

received at waste management facilities outside of County Durham. This included 172,385 tonnes of 

inert construction and demolition waste, 473,375.52 tonnes of household, industrial and commercial 

waste and 35,267.89 tonnes of hazardous waste. In total 516,673 tonnes of this waste was received 

at sites in the North East, with 394,044.9 tonnes of waste being received at sites in the Tees Valley, 

95,251.4 tonnes of waste being received at sites in Tyne and Wear and 27,376.7 tonnes being 

received at sites in Northumberland. In relation to the waste which was recorded as having an origin 

in County Durham which was received at sites in the  Tees Valley, 382,537.4 tonnes of which was 

received at waste management sites in Stockton-on-Tees, Hartlepool and Redcar and Cleveland, 

reflecting the large number of specialist waste incineration and treatment sites in these waste 

planning authority areas. A proportion of this waste, 122,002.32 tonnes was destined for 

incineration in a number of specialist EFW facilities including the Wilton 11 EFW Plant and the 

Teesside EFW plant which incinerates residual municipal wate from County Durham.  

Net flows in 2021 

Net flows of waste in 2021 were minus 678,337 tonnes of waste. This means more waste was 

imported into County Durham than was exported from County Durham. This included a significant 

net inflow of 685,632.86 tonnes of inert construction and demolition waste. The flows of household 

industrial and commercial waste were broadly in balance, with a minor net inflow of only 3,488.72 

tonnes. In addition 10,784.8 tonnes more hazardous waste was exported than was imported.  The 

overall net flow figure shows how County Durham imports more waste than it exports and is in 

overall terms demonstrating net self-sufficiency in the management of its own waste whilst also 

making a significant contribution to the management of the inert construction and demolition waste 

stream. 

3) Waste Fate 

Waste fate can be defined as what eventually happens to the waste, for example by disposal into 

voids (landfill), or on land (landraise), by incineration with or without energy recovery or by recovery 

of treatment.  

Understanding how waste is managed is important as it enables the council to assess how waste is 

being managed in accordance with the waste hierarchy. In terms of waste fate in 2021 the majority 

of waste received was either subject to recovery (42%) (848,564 tonnes), landfilled (41%) (826,691 

tonnes),  transferred for disposal (7%) (140,992 tonnes), incinerated (6%) (129,292 tonnes) or 

subject to treatment (3%) (70,219 tonnes).  

Page 447



 

While 41% of waste received in 2021 was landfilled, it should be noted that 91.1% of landfilled waste 

was inert waste which was disposed at both former and existing mineral sites as part of landfilling or 

site restoration operations. All inert waste which is landfilled is required by law to be subject to 

recycling prior to the residual waste being disposed to landfill. A large proportion of waste was also 

subject to other forms of recovery and treatment in the County.  

Table 29 - Waste Received Waste Fate 2020 (All figures in tonnes) 

Broad 
Waste 
Type 

Incineration  Landfill Recovery Transfer 
(D) 

Other Fate Treatment Total 

All Wastes 129,292 826,691 848,564 140,992 394.66 70,219 2,016,152 

Household
/Ind/Com 

121,016 72,067 463,598 139,839 394.66 69,711 866,627 

Inert 7,643 753,260 360,774 0 0 0 1,121,678 

Hazardous 632.54 1,363 24,192 1152.067 0 507.66 27,848 

Source: Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 2022. 

4) Remaining Landfill Capacity in County Durham and North East England 

Monitoring this indicator is important because County Durham’s landfill sites provide regionally 

important landfill void space and because national policy requires waste planning authorities to plan 

for residual waste disposal. The table below shows remaining landfill void space by landfill site type 

for both County Durham and the North East of England. In particular, it identifies the importance of 

the remaining landfill sites and remaining void space in County Durham for inert waste compared to 

the North East position overall. There are four operational landfill sites in County Durham. All four 

remaining landfill sites lie on the East Durham Limestone Plateau east, north east or south east of 

Durham City.  

• Bishop Middleham Quarry, Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry and Crime Rigg Quarry are 

all inert landfills (L05 Inert Landfill) and are licensed to accept only inert construction and 

demolition waste (inert/c+d) and are also active quarries producing a range of aggregate 

products.  

• A fourth sites Aycliffe Quarry Landfill (L02 - Non-Hazardous with SNRHW7 Cell) is licensed to 

accept non-hazardous waste and is also licensed to accept hazardous waste in a specially 

constructed waste cell. 

• A fifth site known as Joint Stocks Quarry Landfill is licensed as a non-hazardous landfill (L04 – 

Non-Hazardous) site but is now closed and in recent years has being undergoing restoration 

using soils and inert / construction and demolition waste.  

 
7 Stable Non-Reactive Hazardous Waste cell. 

Page 448



 

Table 30 Remaining Landfill Void Space in County Durham and the North East in 2021, 2020 and 2016 

(all figures in thousands of cubic metres). 

Landfill Site 
Type 

County 
Durham 

remaining 
landfill void 

space in 
2021.  

North East 
remaining 

landfill void 
space in 

2021.  

County 
Durham 

remaining 
landfill void 

space in 
2020.  

North East 
remaining 

landfill void 
space in 

2020  

County 
Durham 

remaining 
landfill void 

space in 
2016. 

North East 
remaining 

landfill void 
space in 

2016.  

L01 - 
Hazardous 
Merchant 

Landfill 

0 4,486 0 4,643 0 6,985 

L02 - Non-
Hazardous 

with 
SNRHW 
Cell       

400 1,485 728 2,027 2,064 4,284 

L04 – Non-
Hazardous 

1,768* 7,959 1,781* 7,840 1,700* 10,759 

L05 Inert 
Landfill  

7,258 8,170 7,261 8,681 7,340 10,236 

Total 9,426 22,101 9,770 22,193 11,104 32,266 
* Capacity at Joint Stocks Quarry Landfill not available as site is under restoration. Source: Environment Agency Remaining landfill 

capacity: England as at end 2021, 2020 and 2016. 

Despite no further landfill capacity being permitted in County Durham during 2021 and 826,991 

tonnes being tipped in 2021, remaining landfill capacity  for all types of waste has only fallen by 

344,000 cubic metres compared to 2020.  

The extent of remaining landfill void space at the County’s one L02 - Non-Hazardous with SNRHW 

Cell Landfill site (Aycliffe Quarry Landfill) has fallen by 45% from 728,000 cubic metres in 2020 to 

400,000 cubic metres in 2021. Sizeable reductions in remaining void space at this site have occurred 

since 2019 when it was reported that 1,721,036 cubic metres of void space remained available. For 

comparison, when the County Durham Plan capacity gap was prepared in 2018 using 2016 based 

information, 2,064,587 cubic metres of remaining void space was reported as remaining available at 

this site. Within the North East of England as a whole remaining L02 - Non-Hazardous with SNRHW 

Cell Landfill site capacity void space has fallen by 65% from 4,284,694 cubic metres in 2016 to 

1,485,654 cubic metres. In 2021.  In 2021 County Durham’s one L02 - Non-Hazardous with SNRHW 

Cell Landfill site contained 27% of the North East’s L02 - Non-Hazardous with SNRHW Cell Landfill 

site remaining capacity. 

The extent of remaining landfill void space at the County’s three L05 Inert Landfill sites has fallen by 

less than 1% from 7,261,368 cubic metres in 2020 to 7,258,377 cubic metres at the end of 2021. For 

comparison when the County Durham Plan capacity gap was prepared in 2018, the latest available 

information at that time was 2016 based and at that time 7,340,326 cubic metres of remaining void 

space was reported as remaining available in County Durham. In 2021 County Durham’s three L05 

Inert Landfill sites contained 89% of the North East’s remaining inert landfill capacity.  

The County’s one remaining L04 – Non-Hazardous landfill site (Joint Stocks Quarry Landfill) is 

reported to contain 1,768,339 cubic metres of capacity. However, this site has now been closed for a 

number of years and in recent years has only accepted inert material for restoration purposes.  

Page 449



 

Further details of individual remaining landfill capacity are set out in the Council’s Waste Technical 

Paper. 

MW26 New waste management capacity permitted by waste type and management type 

 

Performance achieved: 75,000 tonnes per annum secondary aggregate 
recycling facility 

Target: No Target 
Performance against target: N/A 

 
In the 2021/22 monitoring period, two planning applications were submitted of which one was 

granted planning permission and the other is still pending determination.   

• The grant of planning permission related to a new materials reception area at an existing 

Anaerobic Digestor at Newton Aycliffe.  

• The planning application which is pending determination is a proposal to improve 

agricultural land through use of 12,129 cubic metres of inert material (19,406 tonnes). 

Three planning applications from the last monitoring period (2020/21) were refused planning 

permission, one was approved and one was still pending determination.   

• The refusals related to 1) landraising (300,000 tonnes of inert material) at a site near Lumley; 

2) an energy from waste facility (60,000 tonnes of commercial and industrial waste per 

annum) at Consett. This application was appealed (awaiting outcome); 3) a hazardous and 

clinical waste incinerator (12,500 tonnes of waste per annum) at Newton Aycliffe. This 

application was also appealed (awaiting outcome).  

• The grant of planning permission related to an aggregate recycling facility (75,000 tonnes 

per annum) at Thrislington West Quarry. Planning permission had previously been granted 

for this facility but had lapsed. 

• The planning application which is pending consideration is for an aggregate recycling facility, 

concrete block manufacturing plant utilising recycled aggregate (300,000 tonnes per annum 

of construction, demolition and excavation waste and 50,000 tonnes of commercial and 

industrial waste) at Peterlee North West Industrial Estate. 

One planning application from the 2018/19 monitoring period was also refused planning permission 

in the 2021/22 monitoring period, was subject to an appeal which was dismissed. This planning 

application related to landraising (40,000 tonnes of inert material) near Edmondsley. 

MW27 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals 0 

Appeals allowed 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 60. 

Policy 61 Location of New Waste Management Facilities 
The Plan seeks to ensure that suitable provision is made to manage anticipated future waste arising 

in County Durham whilst ensuring that the environment and the amenity of local communities in 

Page 450



 

County Durham are protected and enhanced and that the health of local communities is not 

endangered. Policy 61 sets the criteria for assessing proposals for new or enhanced waste 

management facilities that will assist the efficient collection, recycling and recovery of waste 

materials. 

MW28 Number of approved facilities located on land outside designated and defined areas and upon 

land given priority by the policy 

 

Performance achieved 100% 

Target: 100% 

Performance against target: Target not met 

Two planning applications were approved on land outside designated and defined areas.  

MW29 Appeals upheld contrary to this policy 

 

Appeals 0 

Appeals allowed 0 

Target: None upheld at appeal. 

Performance against target: N/A 

 
Over the monitoring period, there has been no appeals against applications that have been refused 

against Policy 61. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 Cabinet 

14 December 2022 

 Family Hubs and Start for Life 

Programme 

   

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 

Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 

and Young People’s Services 

Councillor Chris Hood, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services.  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide information regarding the launch of the government’s Family 
Hubs and Start for Life programme and its implications for County 
Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 The Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) and the 
Department for Education (DfE) recently launched a three-year Family 
Hubs and Start for Life (SfL) programme to deliver a step-change in 
outcomes for babies, children, young people, parents, and carers.  The 
Government’s vision for Family Hubs and SfL is to provide a system-
wide model of providing high-quality, joined-up, whole-family support 
services.  Family Hubs will deliver these services from conception, 
through a child’s early years until they reach the age of 19 (or 25 for 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities). 

3 The DHSC and DfE have developed a Family Hub and SfL programme 
guide, a programme framework and expectations document which 
describes the offer required of each Family Hub and SfL programme 
across the three-year implementation period. 

Page 453

Agenda Item 9



 

4 County Durham is one of 75 LAs who will receive additional funding to 
develop its Family Hub and SfL offer.  Durham is due to receive around 
£4.4 million funding over the three-year programme. 

5 County Durham submitted a Family Hub and SfL ‘Sign Up’ document on 
31 August, which outlined our readiness to implement the programme.  
This has been approved by the Government and we are due to receive 
year one funds in November 2022 and January 2023 subject to receipt 
of County Durham’s Delivery plan. 

6 Durham submitted a ‘Trailblazer’ application which DfE and DHSC will 
award to 15 LAs. Trailblazer LAs will need to demonstrate they can 
make the fastest and most ambitious improvements to services in year 
one and establish best practices to benefit all local authorities delivering 
the programme in three priority areas: breastfeeding, perinatal mental 
health/parent child relationships and parenting support.  An additional 
£183,000 will be awarded to Trailblazer LAs.  At the time of preparing 
this report Durham is awaiting feedback on this application. 

7 The programme provides an opportunity to further build on our current 
Family Centre and broader system offer such as Health Visiting and 
Midwifery support to ensure we have a comprehensive, integrated, and 
accessible offer for children, young people, parents, and carers (0-19 
years up to 25 for children and young people with SEND). 

8 A multi-agency Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group has been 
established with programme management arrangements and five 
workstreams set up to drive the programme deliverables.  Governance 
will be provided through the Prevention and Early Help Partnership - 
responsible for broader early help work and DLUHC’s Supporting 
Families programme – with reporting up to the Children, Young People 
and Families Partnership, engaging with the Best Start in Life Steering 
Group, which has seven priority areas, including perinatal and infant 
mental health and breastfeeding. 

Recommendation(s) 

9 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note that this programme will sit alongside other work to support 
families and funding from the council, local partners and other 
government initiatives such as the Supporting Families 
Programme; 

(b) note that the additional government funding referred to for this 
programme is available over a three-year period initially and 
future consideration will be required of any funding implications 
after 2025. 

 

Page 454



 

Background 

10 Evidence shows that disadvantaged and vulnerable children suffer from 
poor outcomes across the four key domains of development, physical, 
cognitive, language, and social-emotional from conception to 19 years. 

11 We know that a child’s experiences from conception to age five play a 
critical role in their development, and that the early years represent a 
key opportunity for families, policymakers and the economy.  However, 
we know that measurable gaps in outcomes between disadvantaged 
and vulnerable children and their better off peers can emerge early, 
before children are two years of age, and are difficult and costly to close 
once open. 

12 As children grow older and move into adolescence, the risks to them not 
only come from within their families but also the wider community.  
These include child criminal and sexual exploitation, gang involvement, 
county lines and trafficking, as well as serious violence, and peer-on-
peer abuse.  These can take place in both physical and online spaces.  
These risks often co-occur and can be further exacerbated by a child or 
young person’s own vulnerabilities, for example if they have a learning 
disability, or where they have already experienced adversity earlier in 
childhood. 

13 There is evidence to show that a child’s home environment, family 
stability and parent-child relationships are central to children and young 
people’s development and their success in life.  Local and national 
services have a vital role to play in supporting families with this and 
reducing disparities.  However, disadvantaged and vulnerable families 
often experience significant difficulty as they interact with a complex 
service landscape and must constantly ‘re-tell their story’ to different 
services.  Often professionals working in these services face practical 
barriers to working together as a team around the family, such as 
information sharing. 

14 For families, there is no consistent public-facing point for access, 
assessment, and navigation of family services that directs them to the 
services across the myriad of needs they might have, such as maternity 
services, support for SEND, mental health, housing, parental support, 
and debt advice. 

15 An improved single gateway for more of these family support services, 
such as through Family Hubs, could improve join-up between 
organisations, offer a whole family approach with relationships at the 
heart of family help, manage statutory pressures more effectively, 
reduce waiting times for early help interventions and ensure that 
families are offered support at the first time of asking. 

16 Innovations in digital and data may provide opportunities to support 
local areas to further develop integrated service offers.  While the Covid 

Page 455



 

pandemic provides a challenging backdrop, it has also sharpened 
awareness of how some disadvantaged and vulnerable families risk 
being left behind and has encouraged local agencies to share 
information and collaborate in different ways. 

National Family Hub and Start for Life programme 

17 In the 2021 Autumn Budget, the Government announced a three-year 
Family Hubs and Start for Life programme to deliver a step-change in 
outcomes for babies, children, young people, parents, and carers.  The 
Government’s vision for Family Hubs is to provide a system-wide model 
of providing high-quality, joined-up, whole-family support services.  
Family Hubs will deliver these services from conception, through a 
child’s early years until they reach the age of 19 (or 25 for young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities). 

18 Family Hubs aim to make a positive difference to parents, carers, and 
their children by providing a mix of physical and virtual spaces, as well 
as outreach, where families can easily access non-judgmental support 
for the challenges they may be facing.  They will provide a universal 
‘front door’ to families, offering a ‘one-stop shop’ of family support 
services across their social care, education, mental health, and physical 
health needs, with a comprehensive SfL offer for parents and babies at 
its core.  A Family Hub will be designed to be particularly accessible to 
families from lower socio-economic groups, families who have special 
education needs or a disability, or those from minoritized groups who 
are experiencing exclusion. 

19 The Family Hub and SfL programme is delivered by the Department for 
Health and Social Care and the Department of Education who will 
allocate £301.75 million over the next three financial years to enable 75 
upper-tier local authorities in England, including County Durham, to 
deliver a package of family support and Start for Life services.  This 
includes: 

(a) £100 million for bespoke parent-infant mental health support; 

(b) £81.75 million to create a network of Family Hubs, improving 
access to a wide range of integrated support services for families 
with children of all ages; 

(c) £50 million to establish multicomponent breastfeeding support 
services in line with local needs; 

(d) £50 million to fund evidence-based parenting programmes; 

(e) £10 million to support local authorities to publish a clear ‘Start for 
Life offer’ and ensure that parents’ and carers’ voices are heard in 
the design, planning and delivery of services. 

Page 456



 

20 A further £10 million will support trials of innovative Start for Life 
workforce models in a smaller number of areas.  It will also include 
£28.7 million announced in August 2021 to train practitioners to support 
parents with the home learning environment. 

21 15 local authorities (LAs) will be chosen to be a Family Hub Trailblazer 
and will access an additional £183,000.  Trailblazer LAs will need to 
demonstrate they can make the fastest and most ambitious 
improvements to services in year one and establish best practices to 
benefit all local authorities delivering the programme in three priority 
areas: breastfeeding, perinatal mental health/parent child relationships 
and parenting support. 

22 This investment underpins the Government's commitment to giving 
families and their children the best start in life.  It sits alongside funding 
to further embed the DWP Reducing Parental Conflict programme in 
local areas and the previously announced £200 million uplift to the 
Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
Supporting Families programme. 

Family Hubs Start for Life programme in County Durham 

23 The Government’s vision for Family Hubs builds on County Durham’s 
current 15 Family Centre offer which provides a range of family support 
services for children, young people aged 0-19 years (up to 25 with 
SEND) and their parents and carers.  The Government will expect all 
LAs to use the naming convention of Family Hubs for all building 
currently named as Family Centres in County Durham. 

24 The programme will help further develop our current Family Centre 
offer, ensuring services such as Midwifery, Health Visiting, DCC’s One 
Point Service (Early Help), both children and adult Mental Health 
Services, VCS and other key partner organisations, working with 
families, provide an integrated, accessible offer of support which is 
designed and delivered using co-production, based on the County 
Durham Approach to Wellbeing principles. 

25 Our Family Hub vision is:  

Family Hubs will provide a system-wide model of providing high-quality, 
whole-family, joined up family support services from pregnancy, through 
the child’s early years and later childhood, and into early adulthood until 
they reach the age of 19 (or up to 25 for young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities). 

26 Our aims include to: 

(a) make a positive difference to parents, carers, and their children, 
through providing a mix of physical and virtual spaces, as well as 
home visits for families to easily access non-judgemental support; 

Page 457



 

(b) provide a universal front door to families, offering a one-stop shop 
of family support services across their social care, education, 
mental health, and physical health needs; 

(c) develop and publish a comprehensive Start for Life offer for 
parents and carers; 

(d) facilitate professionals across public sector, voluntary, community 
and faith sector to work together, through co-location, data 
sharing and a common approach to their work with children, 
young people, and families. 

27 The outcomes we are working to achieving are: 

(a) improved health, wellbeing and developmental outcomes for 
babies, children, and young people; 

(b) improved health and wellbeing outcomes for parents and carers; 

(c) improved access, connections, and relationships within local 
family services; 

(d) reduce inequalities; and 

(e) a stronger evidence base on what works in difference delivery 
contexts. 

28 The programme will be co-produced with system wide partners 
including DCC, VCS, Mental Health Services, Midwifery and Health 
Visitors and key partner agencies working with children and families, 
with a central focus on co-production with parents and carers with lived 
experience and will involve setting up of a Parent and Carer Panel to 
influence and shape service design and delivery.  This will also build on 
the current strengths and assets of our communities in different parts of 
the county using the Approach to Wellbeing principles. 

29 A multi-agency Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group has been 
established with programme management arrangements and five 
workstreams set up to drive the programme deliverables.  Governance 
will be provided through the Prevention and Early Help Partnership 
reporting up to the Children, Young People and Families Partnership, 
engaging with the Best Start in Life Steering Group, which has seven 
priority areas, including perinatal and infant mental health and 
breastfeeding. 

30 A regional Family Hub and Start for Life Network has been established 
with all LA leads to share implementation plans and best practice. 

County Durham Family Hub Funding 

31 County Durham funding allocation for the three-year programme ranges 
between £4.4 million and £4.6 million as set out in table 1 below.  To 

Page 458



 

date the first tranche of year 1 funding has not to be allocated to LAs.  
DfE have confirmed there will be no facility to carry any unspent funding 
into year 2.  The Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group appreciate 
it will be an ambitious task to utilise all available funding in year 1 but 
will ensure we maximise expenditure across the partnership. 

2022-23  2023-24  2024-25  Total  

Total  Lower 
Range  

Upper 
Range  

Lower 
Range  

Upper 
Range  

Lower 
Range  

Upper 
Range  

£1,123,000  £1,796,000  £1,923,000  £1,485,000  £1,583,000  £4,404,000  £4,630,000  

            Table 1: County Durham Family Hub Start for Life funding allocation  

32 The funding allocated to Durham is due to be divided across the 
programme’s strands as set out in the programme guide as follows: 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

   

(Lower 
Range) 

(Lower 
Range)  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

50% of 2022/2023 allocation released on sign up (October 2022) 50.0% 562    
50% of 2022/2023 allocation upon completion of the delivery plan 
(December 2022) 50.0% 562    

  1,123 1,796 1,485 4,404 
      

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Family hubs programme spend 20.7%  20.7% 232 371 307 910 

Family hubs capital spend 5.2%  5.2% 58 93 77 228 

Perinatal mental health and parent-infant relationships 30.3%  30.3% 340 544 450 1,334 

Parenting support 16.1%  16.1% 181 289 239 709 

Infant feeding support 14.8%  14.8% 166 266 220 652 

Home learning environment services 10.0%  10.0% 112 179 148 439 

Publishing ‘Start for Life’ offers and Parent and Carer Panels 3.0% 3.0% 34 54 44 132 

Total  1,123 1,796 1,485 4,404 
      

  2022/23    

Trailblazers (if successful)  £000    

Perinatal mental health and parent-infant relationship support    100    

Infant feeding support   50    

Parenting support  33    

Trailblazers funding total  183    

      

Total for 2022/23 incl. Trailblazers  1,306    
          Table 2: County Durham allocation of Family Hub and Start for Life programme  

33 Although the Family Hub and Start for Life programme provides 
additional funding during the lifetime of the 3-year programme, the 
government has not provided guarantees of ongoing funding beyond 
2025 and will therefore require the LA and partners to consider 
sustainability beyond 2025.  A comprehensive national evaluation of the 
programme is planned which it is hoped will demonstrate the impact of 

Page 459



 

the programme on positive outcomes for children and families as well 
as providing value for money. 

34 It must also be noted that compared with when government launched 
this programme, both the national and local funding position has 
changed significantly, and we are likely to need to make savings over 
the three-year period of the programme.  It will therefore be imperative 
we continue discussions with DfE and DHSC about sustainable funding 
as well as working locally with our partners to capture and evaluate the 
impact of the programme on children and families as well as savings to 
the ‘Durham pound’ through new ways of local working. 

35 The Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group have developed a 
funding application process within the programme to ensure that 
funding is spent where there is evidence of improving outcomes for 
babies, children, young people, parents, and carers. In line with 
Durham’s Delivery Plan additional resources in the form of full-time 
posts will be required across the partnership.  The Family Hub and SfL 
Implementation Group will agree all additional posts by the end of 
November 2022 and progress recruitment.  Additional posts will include 
posts within partner organisations such as County Durham and 
Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust (HDFT) and with a smaller number of posts within 
DCC, thus reducing any potential redundancy liabilities for DCC beyond 
2025 if funding is not sustained after then. 

Timescales for Implementation 

36 The Family Hub and SfL programme guide with each LA funding 
allocation was released on 8 August 2022.  All eligible LAs were 
encouraged to sign up to the programme by 31 August 2022.  LAs 
wishing to apply to be a Family Hub and Start for Life Trailblazer were 
required to submit both their Sign-Up application along with Trailblazer 
application on 31 August. 

37 After local discussions it was agreed to submit our ‘Sign-Up’ application 
and a Trailblazer application on 31 August 2022 under the delegated 
authority of the Corporate Director and with agreement from a range of 
required signatures as listed in Appendix 2. 

38 A Briefing Note was also prepared to share with County Durham MPs 
and Council Members. (Appendix 3). 

Implementation Progress 

39 Several key development and implementation milestones have been 
achieved to date and include: 

(a) Family Hub and Start for Life ‘Sign Up’ document was completed 
with multi agency partners and submitted on 31 August 2022.  
The ‘Sign Up’ document set out County Durham’s readiness to 

Page 460



 

change and initial plans to develop support aimed at improving 
outcomes for babies, children, and families in County Durham.  
This has now been approved by DfE and DHSC. The outcome of 
the Trailblazer application is still not known at time of writing the 
report; 

 
(b) Initial briefing shared with local partners, all councillors, and local 

MPs; 
 

(c) DCC has agreed and signed Memorandum of Understanding with 
DfE and DHSC; 

 
(d) A multi-agency Implementation Group has been established and 

a project plan is in place; 
 
(e) A range of workstreams have been established, including data 

and intelligence, accommodation, service design, culture and 
leadership and communications and marketing; 

  
(f) Specialist support has been secured to develop and implement 

the Parent and Carer Panel; 
 
(g) Agreement to start Birth Registrations at Woodhouse Close 

Family Centre before considering other locations in the county; 
  
(h) In October 2022 an initial workshop was held to agree our 

consensus for change and identify gaps in current support.  
Around 90 multi-agency partners attended the workshop including 
parents and peer supporters; 

(i) A funding application process has been established by the Family 
Hub and SfL Implementation Group to ensure that the additional 
funding is spent where there is evidence of improving outcomes 
for babies, children, young people, parents, and carers and 
sustainability is considered. 

 
Next Steps 
 
40 The future planning and delivery timescales are set out in table 3. 

Production of a County Durham delivery plan December 
2022 

Workshop 2: Agreeing Durham’s Family Hub Approach  January 2023 

Family Hubs operational  April 2023 

Publish a Start for Life Offer  April 2023 

Establish a Parent Carer Panel  April 2023 

Review current provision across the system, identify what 
is working well, any improvements/gaps/duplication 

Throughout 
2023 

Page 461



 

Implement new pathways  2024 

Review and adjust  2024/25 

Fully implemented  March 2025 

Table 3: Implementation timescales 

Conclusion 

41 The DHSC and DfE Family Hub and SfL programme provides an 
opportunity to further build on our current Family Centre offer to ensure 
we have a comprehensive, integrated, and accessible Start for Life offer 
for babies, children, young people, parents, and carers (0-19 years up 
to 25 for young people with SEND).  The programme also provides an 
opportunity to utilise the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing 
principles ensuring key stakeholders, parents, carers, children, and 
young people are at the heart of service design and delivery.  In the 
current economic climate, we will be seeking to maximise our local 
partnership offer to help families whilst having to carefully consider 
sustainability and efficiency savings in a number of service areas. 

Background papers 

• Programme guidance documents Family hubs and start for life 
programme: local authority guide - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

• Anna Freud National Centre for family hubs  National Centre for 
Family Hubs 

Other useful documents 

• The best start for life The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 
critical days - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Author(s) 

Karen Davison Tel:  03000 268904 

Martyn Stenton Tel:  03000 268067 

  

Page 462

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/family-hubs-and-start-for-life-programme-local-authority-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/family-hubs-and-start-for-life-programme-local-authority-guide
https://www.nationalcentreforfamilyhubs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalcentreforfamilyhubs.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The DHSC and DfE Family Hub and Start for Life programme provides 
additional funding to Durham County Council and key partner organisations to 
develop and deliver a range of comprehensive and accessible family support 
services aimed at families with children and young people aged 0-19 years 
(up to 25 years where a child/ young person has SEND). 

Finance 

This new programme is expected to bring between £4.4 and £4.6 million ring-
fenced grant to County Durham over the next three years.  Future funding 
beyond this period is currently unclear and will need to be a consideration for 
the council and local partners as the programme develops. 

Probity of DHSC and DfE Funding sits alongside existing government funding 
programmes to support children and families from DfE, DWP and DLUHC. 

In the current economic climate, we will be seeking to maximise our local 
partnership offer to help families whilst having to carefully consider 
sustainability and efficiency savings in a number of service areas.   

Consultation 

The Family Hub and Start for Life programme will be co-produced with key 
stakeholders, parents, carers, children, and young people.  See Appendix 2 
for Senior Leaders required to agree to the Sign Up for the programme by  
31 August 2022. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None directly. 

Climate Change 

The programme will encourage families to take up service offers through the 
network of local family centres/family hubs closest to where they live. 

Human Rights 

Equal opportunities: Access: There is a clear and simple way for all families 
with children of all ages and abilities to access help and support through a 
Family Hub building and a Family Hub approach. 

Crime and Disorder 

None directly. 

  

Page 463



 

Staffing 

Additional staffing across the partnership will be required to support delivery of 
the programme and will be funded through Family Hub and Start for Life 
funding allocation.  The Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group will agree 
all additional posts by the end of November 2022 and progress recruitment.  
Additional posts will include posts within partner organisations such as County 
Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust (HDFT) and with a smaller number of posts within DCC, thus 
reducing any potential redundancy liabilities for DCC beyond 2025 if funding is 
not sustained after then. 

Accommodation 

Minor improvement funding within current Family Centre stock is available 
within the 5.2% capital funding allocation. 

Risk 

A risk log has been established by the Implementation Group.  Risks 
highlighted include, not being able to recruit appropriately qualified and trained 
staff to provide additional support on offer to families. 

The Family Hub and Start for Life programme provides additional funding 
during the lifetime of the three-year programme, the Government has not 
provided guarantees of ongoing funding beyond 2025 and will therefore 
require the LA and partners to consider sustainability beyond 2025. 

Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 464



 

Appendix 2:  ‘Sign Up’ Programme Document Signatory 
Requirements and Consultation 

 

 

Consultation 

Local Members of 

Parliament for County 

Durham 

Dehenna Davison - MP Bishop Auckland. 

Mary Kelly Foy - MP Durham City  

Richard Holden - MP North West Durham 

Paul Howell- MP Sedgefield  

Kevan Jones- MP North Durham  

Graham Morris - MP Easington  

Cabinet member for CYPS Cllr Ted Henderson 

Integrated Care Board 

Executive 

David Gallagher  

Local providers of services that are relevant to the programme. Including  

✓ Local health systems, e.g. NHS trust, local midwifery team, health visitor leads. 

✓ Local third sector/voluntary and community/faith  
 

 

 

Signatures required for Family Hub and Start for Life programme  

DCC CEO 

Director Children’s Services 

Director of Public Health 

Chief Finance Officer 

Leader of Council 

Chair Health and Wellbeing Board 

Page 465



 

 

Appendix 3:  Briefing Note  

 

   Briefing Note 

   Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme 

   Children and Young People’s Service  

    

 

To: County Durham MPs and County Council Members 

From: Martyn Stenton, Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable 
Children 

Karen Davison, Strategic Manager One Point and Think 
Family Service 

Date: August 2022 

Purpose: To inform MPs and Members on proposals regarding Family 
Hubs and Start for Life Programme in County Durham 

 

Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme 

1 In the 2021 Autumn Budget, the Government announced a three-year 
Family Hubs and Start for Life (SfL) programme to deliver a step-
change in outcomes for babies, children, young people, parents, and 
carers.  The Government’s vision for Family Hubs is to provide a 
system-wide model of providing high-quality, joined-up, whole-family 
support services.  Family Hubs will deliver these services from 
conception, through a child’s early years until they reach the age of 19 
(or 25 for young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities). 

2 Family Hubs aim to make a positive difference to parents, carers, and 
their children by providing a mix of physical and virtual spaces, as well 
as outreach, where families can easily access non-judgmental support 
for the challenges they may be facing.  They will provide a universal 
‘front door’ to families, offering a ‘one-stop shop’ of family support 
services across their social care, education, mental health, and physical 
health needs, with a comprehensive Start for Life offer for parents and 
babies at its core.  A Family Hub will be designed to be particularly 

Page 466



 

accessible to families from lower socio-economic groups, families who 
have special education needs or a disability, or those from minoritised 
groups who are experiencing exclusion. 

3 The Family Hub and Start for Life programme is delivered by the 
Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) and the Department of 
Education (DfE) was launched on 8 August 2022.  The Government will 
allocate £301.75 million over the next three financial years to enable 75 
upper-tier local authorities in England, including County Durham, to 
deliver a package of family support and Start for Life services. This 
includes: 

(a) £100 million for bespoke parent-infant mental health support; 

(b) £81.75 million to create a network of Family Hubs, improving 
access to a wide range of integrated support services for 
families with children of all ages; 

(c) £50 million to establish multicomponent breastfeeding support 
services in line with local needs; 

(d) £50 million to fund evidence-based parenting programmes; 

(e) £10 million to support local authorities to publish a clear ‘Start for 
Life offer’ and ensure that parents’ and carers’ voices are heard 
in the design, planning and delivery of services. 

4 A further £10 million will support trials of innovative Start for Life 
workforce models in a smaller number of areas.  It will also include 
£28.7 million announced in August 2021 to train practitioners to support 
parents with the home learning environment. 

5 15 local authorities (LAs) will also have access to an additional £183,00 
to be a Family Hub Trailblazer in three priority areas, breastfeeding, 
perinatal mental health/ parent child relationships and parenting 
support.  LAs applying to be a Trailblazer will need to demonstrate they 
are able to make the fastest and most ambitious improvements to 
services in year 1 and establish best practices to benefit all local 
authorities delivering the programme. 

6 This investment underpins the Government's commitment to giving 
families and their children the best start in life.  It sits alongside funding 
to further embed the Reducing Parental Conflict programme in local 
areas and the £200 million uplift to the Supporting Families programme. 

  

Page 467



 

Family Hubs and Start for Life programme in County Durham 

7 County Durham is one of the 75 LAs eligible for additional funding to 
develop and implement Family Hubs and SfL programme.  The 
Government’s vision for Family Hubs builds on County Durham’s 
current 15 Family Centre offer which provides a range of family support 
services for children, young people aged 0-19 years (up to 25 with 
SEND) and their parents and carers.  The Government have yet to 
decide as to whether a national branding will be used for all Family 
Hubs across all 75 LAs eligible for additional funding. 

8 The programme will help further develop our current Family Centre 
offer, ensuring services such as Midwifery, Health Visiting, DCC’s One 
Point Service (Early Help), VCS and other key partner organisations, 
working with families, provide an integrated, accessible offer of support 
which is designed and delivered using co-production, based on the 
County Durham Approach to Wellbeing principles. 

9 Our Family Hub vision is: In County Durham, Family Hubs will provide a 
system-wide model of providing high-quality, whole-family, joined up 
family support services from pregnancy, through the child’s early years 
and later childhood, and into early adulthood until they reach the age of 
19 (or up to 25 for young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities). 

10 Our aims include to: 

(a) make a positive difference to parents, carers, and their children, 
through providing a mix of physical and virtual spaces, as well as 
home visits for families to easily access non-judgemental support; 

(b) provide a universal front door to families, offering a one-stop shop 
of family support services across their social care, education, 
mental health, and physical health needs; 

(c) develop and publish a comprehensive Start for Life offer for 
parents and carers; 

(d) facilitate professionals across public sector, voluntary, community 
and faith sector to work together, through co-location, data 
sharing and a common approach to their work with children, 
young people, and families. 

11  The outcomes we are working to achieving: 

(a) improved outcomes for babies, children, and young people as set 
out in the County Durham Family Outcome Framework; 

(b) improved outcomes for parents and carers as set out in the 
County Durham Family Outcome Framework; 

(c) improved access, connections, and relationships within local 
family services; 

Page 468



 

(d) reduced inequalities; and 

(e) a stronger evidence base on what works in different delivery 
contexts. 
 

12 The programme will be co-produced with system wide partners 
including DCC, VCS, Midwifery and Health Visitors and key partner 
agencies working with children and families, with a central focus on co-
production with parents and carers with lived experience and will involve 
setting up of a Parent and Carer Panel to influence and shape service 
design and delivery. 

13 A multi-agency Family Hub Implementation Group has been established 
and five workstreams set up to drive the programme deliverables. 
Governance will be provided through the Prevention and Early Help 
Partnership reporting up to the Children, Young People and Families 
Partnership, engaging with the Best Start in Life Steering Group, which 
has seven priority areas, including perinatal and infant mental health 
and breastfeeding. 

14 We will be holding three system wide workshops to gather views and 
identify key priorities for improvement, as well as specifying our Family 
Hub Approach and ensuring we are ready for implementation. 

Family Hub Funding  

15 County Durham’s funding allocation for the three-year programme 
ranges between £4.4 million and £4.6 million as set out in table 1 below. 

2022-23  2023-24  2024-25  Total  

Total  Lower 
Range  

Upper 
Range  

Lower 
Range  
 

Upper 
Range  

Lower 
Range  

Upper 
Range  

£1,123,000  £1,796,000  £1,923,000  £1,485,000  £1,583,000  £4,404,000  £4,630,000  

Table 1: County Durham Family Hub Start for Life funding allocation  

16 The funding allocated for Durham is divided across the programme’s 
strands as set out in the programme guide. 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

   

(Lower 
Range) 

(Lower 
Range)  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

50% of 2022/2023 allocation released on sign up (October 2022) 50.0% 562    
50% of 2022/2023 allocation upon completion of the delivery plan 
(December 2022) 50.0% 562    

  1,123 1,796 1,485 4,404 
      

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Family hubs programme spend 20.7%  20.7% 232 371 307 910 

Family hubs capital spend 5.2%  5.2% 58 93 77 228 

Perinatal mental health and parent-infant relationships 30.3%  30.3% 340 544 450 1,334 

Page 469



 

Parenting support 16.1%  16.1% 181 289 239 709 

Infant feeding support 14.8%  14.8% 166 266 220 652 

Home learning environment services 10.0%  10.0% 112 179 148 439 

Publishing ‘Start for Life’ offers and Parent and Carer Panels 3.0% 3.0% 34 54 44 132 

Total  1,123 1,796 1,485 4,404 
      

  2022/23    

Trailblazers  £000    

Perinatal mental health and parent-infant relationship support    100    

Infant feeding support   50    

Parenting support  33    

Trailblazers funding total  183    

      

Total for 2022/23 incl. Trailblazers  1,306    
            Table 2: County Durham allocation of Family Hub and Start for Life programme funding 

17 The Family Hub and Start for Life programme provides additional 
funding during the lifetime of the 3-year programme, the government 
has not provided guarantees of ongoing funding beyond 2025 and will 
therefore require the LA and partners to consider sustainability beyond 
2025. 

18 The Family Hub and SfL Implementation Group have developed a 
funding application process within the programme to ensure that 
funding is spent where there is evidence of improving outcomes for 
babies, children, young people, parents, and carers. 

Timescale for Implementation 

19 All eligible LAs are encouraged to sign up to the programme from the 31 
August 2022.  LAs wishing to apply to be a Family Hub and SfL 
Trailblazer will be required to submit both their Sign-Up application 
along with Trailblazer application on 31 August.  It is County Durham’s 
intention to submit both ‘Sign-Up’ application and a Trailblazer 
application on 31 August 2022.  The future planning and delivery 
timescales are set out in table 3.   

Production of a delivery plan December 2022 

Family Hubs operational  April 2023 

Review current provision across the system, identify what is 
working well, any improvements/gaps/duplication 

Throughout 2023 

Publish a Start for Life Offer  April 2023 

Establish a Parent Carer Panel  April 2023 

Implement new pathways  2024 

Review and adjust  2024/25 

Full implementation  March 2025 

Page 470



 

Table 3: Implementation timescales 

Conclusion 

19  The DHSC and DfE Family Hub and SfL programme provides an 
opportunity to further build on our current Family Centre offer to ensure 
we have a comprehensive, integrated and accessible Start for Life offer 
for children, young people, parents and carers (0-19 years up to 25 for 
children and young people with SEND).  The programme also provides 
an opportunity to utilise the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing 
principles ensuring key stakeholders, parents, carers, children and 
young people are at the heart of service design and delivery. 

20 Useful links: 

(a) Programme guidance documents Family hubs and start for life 
programme: local authority guide - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

(b)  Anna Freud National Centre for family hubs  National Centre for 
Family Hubs 

(c) The best start for life The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 
critical days - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

 

 

Page 471

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/family-hubs-and-start-for-life-programme-local-authority-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/family-hubs-and-start-for-life-programme-local-authority-guide
https://www.nationalcentreforfamilyhubs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalcentreforfamilyhubs.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Cabinet 

14 December 2022 

Proposed revisions to the constitution for 
the Durham County Council Standing Advisory 
Council for Religious Education (SACRE) 

Ordinary Decision 

 
 
Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services 

Electoral division(s) affected:  

None 

Purpose of the report 

1 To bring to the attention of Cabinet a request from DCC Standing 
Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) to make a change 
to its membership, which action requires altering the constitution. 

Executive summary 

2 An alteration to the SACRE constitution can only be approved by 
Cabinet, so this report sets out the background, circumstances and 
implications of a request to change membership and asks that 
Cabinet approves the change. 

3 The establishment of SACRE is part of the Council’s statutory duties 
under the Education Act 1996, and its membership must represent an 
appropriate reflection of the principal religious traditions of the region. 

4 In attempting to achieve this, SACRE advises the Council that a 
representative of the Humanist non-religious worldview, currently co-
opted without voting rights, should become a full member alongside 
denominations and religions currently forming Committee A of 
SACRE. 

Page 473

Agenda Item 10



5 Other SACREs nationally have responded to the question of 
Humanist representation, either fully (as Durham SACRE advises it 
would like to achieve through the proposed constitution change), by 
co-opted representation (as Durham SACRE has currently), or not at 
all. 

6 The Council is able to make the decision that most appropriately 
meets its statutory duties as summarised in paragraphs 10 and 11 
below. 

Recommendations 

7 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the current membership arrangements of Durham’s 
SACRE; and 

(b) approve the request that Cabinet alters the constitution to 
enable Humanist representation. 

  

Page 474



Background 

8 There is a duty placed upon local authorities under section 390 of the 

Education Act 1996 to establish a Standing Advisory Council on 

Religious Education. 

9 The representative groups a local authority must appoint are: 

(a) a group of persons to represent such Christian denominations 
and other religions and denominations of such religions as, in 
the opinion of the authority, will appropriately reflect the 
principal religious traditions in the area.  The numbers 
representing each denomination or religion should reflect 
broadly the proportionate strength of that denomination or 
religion in the area (Committee A); 

(b) a group of persons to represent the Church of England 
(Committee B); 

(c) a group of persons to represent such associations representing 
teachers as, in the opinion of the authority, ought to be 
represented, having regard to the circumstances of the area 
(Committee C); 

(d) a group of persons to represent the authority (Committee D). 

10 Section 391 of the Education Act 1996 sets out the functions of the 
SACRE, including advising the local authority on matters connected 
with religious worship in maintained schools and religious education 
in these schools in accordance with an agreed syllabus, including 
methods of teaching and provision of training. 

11 In addition, the members of Committees A, B and C may at any time 
require a review of any agreed syllabus that the local authority has 
adopted.  Each representative group has a single vote on the 
question of whether to require such a review. 

12 The SACRE should also publish an annual report specifying matters 
on which they have advised the Council. 

13 SACRE’s Constitution sets out the current membership as follows: 

Committee A - the Methodist Church (2), the United Reformed 
Church (2), the Roman Catholic Church (2), the Baptist Church (1), 
the Assemblies of God (1), Salvation Army (1), Society of Friends (1); 
Hinduism (1), Buddhism (1), Sikhism (1), Judaism (1), Islam (1), 
Spiritual Assembly of the Bahai Faith (1); 

Committee B - 5 representatives of the Church of England; 

Committee C -  8 representatives of teaching unions plus 2 
representatives from the R.E. Curriculum Development Group; 

Page 475



Committee D - 4 Elected Members. 

In addition, there are currently 2 co-opted members. 

14 There are currently 5 vacancies in Committee A and 4 vacancies in 
Committee C. 

15 The constitution of Durham’s SACRE was amended on 14 
September 1994 to allow the inclusion of a representative of the 
Buddhist faith to SACRE and to serve on the Durham Agreed 
Syllabus Committee.  On 6 February 2003, a further amendment was 
agreed to allow the inclusion of a member of the Bahai’ faith.  At the 
same time an application to join SACRE was received from a 
Humanist representative, but the amended constitution did not extend 
the group of representative members to include a Humanist at that 
time. 

16 SACRE has reviewed its membership again and has requested a 
change to the constitution that would allow the representative of the 
Humanist non-religious worldview, currently co-opted and without 
voting rights, to be admitted to Committee A. 

17 As SACRE does not determine its own membership, this is a matter 
for the Council to decide and any agreement would need to be made 
by Cabinet. SACRE can advise the Council about what it feels is a 
properly representative membership, but this remains simply as 
advice until ratified by the Council. 

18 Currently the majority of SACREs nationally have Humanist 
representation, but in a range of different capacities; some do not 
include them at all. Like Durham’s SACRE, some have included them 
as co-opted members with no voting rights (and this has not 
necessitated a change to the constitution). Northumberland County 
Council admitted a Humanist representative to Committee A in July 
2021 and Darlington did so in November 2019.  Southampton, by 
contrast, has been threatened with legal action by refusing to do so in 
April 2021, although this action was paused on condition the Council 
agreed to consider the matter at a later date, which it has agreed to 
do. 

19 Over 40 councils now have Humanist representatives on Committee 
A of their SACREs.  At least one local authority has a Humanist 
representative with voting rights as part of Committee D – the County 
Council members. 

20 It might be assumed that local authorities with Humanist 
representation on their SACREs decided upon this because there are 
significant numbers of non-religious people in the community.  
Humanism and other non-religious worldviews feature in the 
Religious Education syllabus and must be studied. Humanists UK 
have membership on the national R.E. Council. 

Page 476



21 The Welsh Government, in response to a judicial review in 
Glamorgan that found Humanism to be analogous to a religion, 
accepted that it would be appropriate for Humanists to be considered 
eligible for inclusion in Committee A of SACREs.  The Department for 
Education has made it clear that it has no intention of issuing similar 
guidance regarding English SACREs but notes that Humanists are 
already represented on Committee A in many SACREs in England. 

22 The view of NASACRE (the National Association of Standing 
Advisory Councils on Religious Education) on the question,  Can we 
appoint Humanists to our SACRE?” is:  

“to appoint a Humanist representative to group (a) [ie: 
Committee A], the LA must satisfy itself that Humanism is at 
least ‘analogous’ to a religion.” and: 

“It is also worth noting that members of groups (c) and (d) [ie: 
Committees C and D] may be of any faith, or none. Meetings 
are open to the public, and many SACREs co-opt 
representatives (often including Humanist representatives). It is 
worth remembering that each group has one collective vote.” 

23 Section 10 of the Equality Act 2010 also may provide guidance as it 
recognises that an acknowledgement of religion carries with it the 
acknowledgement that a “lack of religion” must also form part of the 
characteristic make-up of ‘the principal religious traditions in [an] 
area’. 

“(1) Religion means any religion and a reference to religion 
includes a reference to a lack of religion. (2) Belief means any 
religious or philosophical belief and a reference to belief 
includes a reference to a lack of belief.” 

Whether that “lack of religion” can be fairly represented by the 
appointment of a Humanist to SACRE, and whether such an 
appointment proportionately reflects the strength of any “lack of 
religion” in an area, is for the Council to agree and determine. 

24 In other words, the number of representatives of the Humanist and 
other non-religious worldviews (such as pantheist, nihilist, Marxist or 
any secular worldview) would need to reflect the strength of “lack of 
religion” in the area, just as the nominations of representatives of 
religious groups are intended to reflect the strength that these groups 
have in the community that Durham’s SACRE covers. 

25 This approach will help to ensure proportionate and balanced 
representation of all worldviews, religious and non-religious, which 
feature in the R.E. Agreed Syllabus. 

26 The functioning of the local authority’s SACRE depends upon this 
proportionate and balanced representation of religions, non-religious 
worldviews and beliefs, whether achieved by adjusting the 

Page 477



membership of that group (which action requires a change to the 
SACRE constitution) or by other means as suggested in paragraphs 
18 and 19 above. 

Conclusion 

27 If, on consideration, Cabinet agrees to the request of Durham’s 
SACRE to change the current membership, arrangements will be 
made to agree consequent amendments to the Constitution. 

Authors 

Phil Hodgson Tel: 03000 265842 

Kelsey Clayton Tel: 07899062945 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 478



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

The duty to establish a standing advisory council on religious education and 
its functions are set out in the Education Act 1996 and summarised in this 
report at paragraphs 6 to 10. 

Finance 

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

Consultation 

Not required. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix 4. 

Climate Change 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Human rights are not affected by the recommendations in this report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

There is a risk that, as a consequence of actions taken by the Council to 
include or exclude a representative of the Humanist non-religious world 
view (or the failure to make a decision on this matter) that pupils and 
students do not receive an adequate religious education. 

There is a risk that denial of the request to include a Humanist 
representative on Committee A could result in legal challenge, as has 
happened in both Greenwich and the Vale of Glamorgan, and which is 
currently paused in Southampton Council pending further consideration of 
the request to alter membership. 

Page 479



Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

  

Page 480



Appendix 2:  Members 

 

See document attached separately. 

 

  

Page 481



Appendix 3:  Constitution of the Durham County Council Standing 
Advisory Council on Religious Education 

 

See document attached separately. 

 

Page 482



Appendix 2:  Members 

 
Members of Durham’s SACRE:  as of September 2021  

1. Church of England (5) 

 Canon L Burton, N Dodd, K Passmore, H Tait and C Weir (Confirmed 

14/7/21) letters sent 08/09/21 

2. Other Religious Denominations and Faiths 

 Roman Catholic (2) 

 Mrs J Pallister Mrs S Baker and A Barron (Confirmed 21/7/21 & 08/09/21) 

letters sent 14/09/21 

 Methodist Church (2) 

 Miss J Bainbridge and Ms FA Johnson and Rev R Fisher (Confirmed 29/7/21) 

letters sent 08/09/21 

 United Reformed Church (2) 

 2 vacancies 

 Baptist Church (1) 

 1 vacancy 

 Assemblies of God (1) 

 1 vacancy 

 Sikhism (1) 

 Mr Cloud Singh (Confirmed 7/9/21) letter sent 08/09/21 

 Judaism (1) 

 Deanna Van der Velde (Confirmed 14/7/21) letter sent 08/09/21 

 Islam (1) 

 Mahshid Turner e-mail sent 08/09/21 

 Hinduism (1) 

 Bhakti Rasa Adhikhara letter sent 08/09/21 

 Buddhism (1) 

 Wendy Gray (Ch agreed to continue) letter sent 08/09/21 

 Bahá’í Faith (1) 

 Miss C Spencer (Ch agreed to continue) letter sent 08/09/21 

 Salvation Army (1) 

 1 vacancy 

 Society of Friends (Quaker) (1) 

Page 483



 Ms J Nicholls letter sent 08/09/21 

3. Teachers Associations  

 R E Curriculum Group (2) 

 Ms S Lupton and Mr B Dunn letters sent 08/09/21 

 NEU (3) 

 Ms V Bain, Mr P Welch and Ms M Lowden letters sent 08/09/21 

 NASUWT (2) 

 Ms A Hartley plus 1 vacancy letter sent 08/09/21 

 ATL (1) 

 1 vacancy 

 ASCL (1) 

 1 vacancy 

 NAHT (1) 

 1 vacancy 

4. County Council Representatives (4) 

 Councillors D Haney, S Townsend, C Varty and M Walton 

5. Co-opted Members: 

 Mr M Dixon 

 Ms S Walker - Humanist 

 

Page 484



Appendix 3:   

 

CONSTITUTION OF THE DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 

A. Composition and Membership 

1. The Council will consist of: 

(i) 4 groups of representative members, all of whom are to be 
appointed by the Local Education Authority;  

(ii)  Such members as the Council (that is, members of the Council 

who have not themselves been co-opted) shall co-opt. These 

will hold office on such terms as may be determined by the 

members co-opting them.  

2.  The ‘representative members’ will be representatives of:  

(i) such Christian denominations and other religions and 

denominations of such religions (except for the Church of 

England) as, in the opinion of the Local Education Authority, 

shall, so far as is consistent with the efficient discharge of the 

group’s functions, reflect broadly the proportionate strength of 

that denomination or religion in the area: namely, the Methodist 

Church (2), the United Reformed Church (2), the Roman 

Catholic Church (2), the Baptist Church (1), the Assemblies of 

God (1), Salvation Army (1), Society of Friends (1); Hinduism 

(1), Buddhism (1), Sikhism (1), Judaism (1), Islam (1), Spiritual 

Assembly of the Bahai Faith (1) (Committee A); 

(ii) the Church of England (5 members) (Committee B); 

(iii) such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of 

the Authority, ought to be represented: namely, (8) 

representatives of teaching unions, plus (2) from the R.E. 

Curriculum Development Group (Committee C); 

(iv) the County Council (4 Elected Members) (Committee D). 

3.  The appointment of members is subject to the following provisions:  

(i)  Before appointing a person to represent any denomination or 

association the Local Education Authority shall consult locally 

and take all reasonable steps to assure themselves that he/she 

is representative of the denomination or association in 

question.  

Page 485



(ii) A member appointed by the Local Education Authority may be 

removed from membership if in the opinion of the Local 

Education Authority he/she ceases to be representative of the 

denomination or association he/she was appointed to 

represent or (as the case may be) the Authority.  

4. (i) Members of the Standing Advisory Council shall hold office for four 
years. Any outgoing member may be re-appointed. Substitutes may 
be allowed at the discretion of the SACRE chairperson for 
representatives who are unable to attend a particular meeting. 

 (ii) Any member of the Standing Advisory Council may at any time 

resign his/her office. 

B. Powers, Duties and Responsibilities  

1. The Standing Advisory Council has two main responsibilities:  

(i)  to advise the Authority on such matters as the Authority may 

refer to the Council or as the Council may see fit, connected 

with collective worship in community schools and other 

maintained schools having no religious character and the 

religious education to be given in schools in accordance with 

the Agreed Syllabus. 

These matters include in particular giving advice on methods of 

teaching, the choice of materials and the provision of training 

for teachers in these areas  

In the performance of this task the Council may expect to be 

consulted by the Local Education Authority and kept fully 

informed on all matters relating to religious education and 

collective worship in the schools of the Authority.  

(ii)  to consider and make a ‘determination’ on any application from 

a community school or other maintained school having no 

religious character (from the head teacher after the head 

teacher’s consultation with the school’s governing body) that 

the requirement for the majority of acts of collective worship to 

be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character should not 

apply to a particular school, or class or description of pupils 

within that school. The Council’s decision should have regard 

to the backgrounds of the pupils concerned. The Council 

should review any such determination every five years. 

Appeals against any such determination are to be dealt with by 

a panel chaired by the chairperson of SACRE (who has no 

vote), consisting of one member of each of the representative 

groups as determined by each group. 

Page 486



2.  Additional powers, duties, and responsibilities:  

(i)  The representative groups on the Council, other than that 

consisting of persons appointed to represent the Authority, may 

at any time require a review of any agreed syllabus for the time 

being adopted by the Authority. Each representative group 

concerned shall have a single vote on the question of whether 

to require such a review.  

(ii) The Council may offer advice to head teachers, governing 

bodies and such other parties as it sees fit, and disseminate 

information about good practice in religious education and 

collective worship. 

(iii) The Council should monitor the practice of religious education 

and collective worship, including the delivery of the agreed 

syllabus, in particular through the inspection reports on 

religious education, collective worship and spiritual, moral, 

social and cultural education. 

(iv) The Council should consider any complaints about the 

provision and delivery of religious education or collective 

worship referred to it by the Authority. 

(v)  The Council shall in each academic year publish a report with 

respect to the exercise of its functions, in accordance with the 

guidance on the format and structure of such reports provided 

by the Qualifications and Curriculum Authority. This annual 

report shall in particular: 

(a)  specify any matters in respect of which the Council has 

given advice to the Authority;  

(b)  broadly describe the nature of the advice given; and  

(c)  where any such matter was not referred to the Council 

by the Authority, give the Council’s reasons for offering 

advice on that matter.  

Copies of the annual report will be sent to schools and to the 

Qualifications and Curriculum Authority. They will also be sent 

to local teacher training institutions when the report makes 

reference to initial teacher training or in-service training.  

C.  Proceedings 

1.  The Council shall appoint a chairperson and a vice-chairperson from 

among its members, whose term of office shall be for four years. An 
Page 487



outgoing chairperson or vice-chairperson may be re-elected. In the 

absence of either person, the Council may appoint a chairperson for 

that meeting. 

2. The Authority will provide a clerk to attend and minute each meeting. 

3.  The Council shall meet not less than once in each school term.  

4.  The Council and, in relation to any question falling to be decided by 

members of the Council of any particular category the members of 

that category, may regulate their own proceedings subject to the 

following limitation: 

On any question to be decided by the Council only the representative 

groups on the Council shall be entitled to vote, and each such group 

shall have a single vote. Decisions within groups on how that vote is 

to be cast shall not require unanimity. Co-opted members do not 

have a vote. In the event of a tied vote of the Council, the proposal 

will be lost. 

5.  The validity of proceedings of the Council or of the member of the 

Council of any particular category shall not be affected:  

(i) by a vacancy in the office of any member of the Council 

required by section A of this constitution, or  

(ii) on the ground that a member of the Council appointed to 

represent any denomination or association does not at the time 

of the proceedings represent the denomination or association 

in question.  

6. The quorum for a meeting of the Council will be one quarter of the 

total membership.  

7. The Council may appoint sub-committees, providing that the sub-

committees represent the four representative groups and voting 

follows the procedure given in section C.4 of this constitution. 

8. Meetings of the Council shall be open to the press and public, except 

in the case of matters deemed confidential by the Council. 

9. Notice of meetings, together with an agenda, will be circulated by the 

clerk at least five days before the meeting. 

10. Extraordinary meetings may be called at the request of the Authority, 

or on receipt by the clerk of requests for such a meeting from at least 

two of the representative groups. 

Page 488



11. The costs of the Council and of its sub-committees shall be met by the 
Authority. 

 

Page 489



This page is intentionally left blank



Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County Council 

to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 

victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 

people from different groups. Completion of this template allows us to provide a 

written record of our equality analysis and demonstrate due regard. It must be used 

as part of decision making processes with relevance to equality. 

Please contact equalities@durham.gov.uk for any necessary support. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section Education and Skills 

Lead Officer name and job 
title 

Jim Murray 
Head of Education and Skills 

Subject of the impact 
assessment 

Proposed revisions to the constitution for the Durham 
County Council Standing Advisory Council for 
Religious Education (SACRE) 

Report date 
(Cabinet/CMT/Mgt team etc) 

CYPSMT – 25th August 2022 

CMT – 26th October 2022 

MTFP Reference (if relevant) - 

EIA Start Date September 2022 

EIA Review Date Not applicable 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice which is the 
subject of this impact assessment. 

1 A request by the DCC Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) 

to change its constitution to allow inclusion of a representative of the Humanist 

non-religious worldview, currently co-opted without voting rights, as a full member 

alongside denominations and religions currently forming Committee A of SACRE.  
 

 

 

Who are the main people impacted and/or stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, 
members, specific clients/service users, community representatives): 

Page 491

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Children and young people in schools receiving statutory religious education; 
teachers and subject leads of religious education in schools; members of religious 
and worldview communities in County Durham; SACRE members. 

 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics1? 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Yes, No or 
Unsure 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Yes, No or 
Unsure 

Age N N 

Disability N N 

Gender reassignment N N 

Marriage and civil partnership (only 
in relation to ‘eliminate 
discrimination’) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity N N 

Race N N 

Religion or Belief N Y 

Sex N N 

Sexual orientation N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause discrimination or negative 
impact. Record full details and any mitigating actions in section 2 of this 
assessment. 

 

 

 
1 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics 

Page 492

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


Please provide brief details of positive impact. How will this policy/proposal 
promote our commitment to our legal responsibilities under the public sector 
equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

A decision to admit a representative of the Humanist non-religious worldview to 
Committee A of Durham’s SACRE, a move which would be supported by SACRE, 
would reflect the balance of views held by the local community in terms of its 
religious and non-religious standpoints. The Council has a duty to form a SACRE 
that has properly representative membership and both the views of the current 
SACRE group and of the data below would indicate the inclusion of a 
representative of non-religious worldviews to Committee A would be proportionate 
and reasonable. Such a move would have the potential to achieve a positive 
impact in all three areas of the public sector equality duty listed above. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your data analysis and any findings?  

Please outline any data you have and/or proposed sources (e.g. service user or 
census data, research findings). Highlight any data gaps and say whether or not 
you propose to carry out consultation. Record your detailed analysis, in relation to 
the impacted protected characteristics, in section 2 of this assessment. 

The most recent national data available that pertains to religions or denominations 

nationally is from the census 2011; census 2021 data which will include updated 

information on religion is likely to be released this October. The census does not 

collect data about belief (e.g. Humanist) but does indicate non-religion. Please see 

Section 10 of the Equality Act 2010 which recognises that an acknowledgement of 

religion carries with it the acknowledgement that a “lack of religion” must also form 

part of the characteristic make-up of ‘the principal religious traditions in [an] area’. 

“(1) Religion means any religion and a reference to religion includes a 
reference to a lack of religion. (2) Belief means any religious or 
philosophical belief and a reference to belief includes a reference to a lack 
of belief.” 

Durham Insight population data provides information on the religious make-up of 
the community: https://www.durhaminsight.info/population/#/view-
report/ac541fd4e3d24f0ea88dc7a04fc2b1b1/___iaFirstFeature 
 
Here it is in table form: 
 

Page 493

https://www.durhaminsight.info/population/#/view-report/ac541fd4e3d24f0ea88dc7a04fc2b1b1/___iaFirstFeature
https://www.durhaminsight.info/population/#/view-report/ac541fd4e3d24f0ea88dc7a04fc2b1b1/___iaFirstFeature


Religion County 

Durham 

North East England & Wales 

Has religion 375,599 

73.2% 

1,831,321 

70.5% 

37,940,651 

67.7% 

Christian 369,715 

72% 

1,753,334 

67.5% 

33,243,175 

59.3% 

Buddhist 

 

1,001 

0.2% 

6,316 

0.2% 

247,743 

0.4% 

Hindu 607 

0.1% 

7,772 

0.3% 

816,633 

1.5% 

Jewish 208 

0% 

4,503 

0.2% 

263,346 

0.5% 

Muslim 1,934 

0.4% 

46,764 

1.8% 

2,706,066 

4.8% 

Sikh 609 

0.1% 

5,964 

0.2% 

423,158 

0.8% 

Other 1,525 

0.3% 

6,668 

0.3% 

240,530 

0.4% 

No religion 107,281 

20.9% 

607,700 

23.4% 

14,097,229 

25.1% 

Not stated 30,362 

5.9% 

157,865 

6.1% 

4,038,032 

7.2% 

 

While there is no specific reference to non-religious worldviews in the current data, 
the category of ‘no religion’ (nearly 21% of the community in County Durham) 
would suggest that the inclusion of a Humanist representative as one member in a 
committee of 16 would not be unreasonable or disproportionate. By statistical 
comparison, and making no judgement, 5 of the religious denominations in the 
table above which together represented less than 1% of the county’s population 
are represented on Committee A by 5 members. 

 

 

Page 494



Screening Summary 

On the basis of the information provided in this equality impact 
screening (section 1), are you proceeding to a full impact 
assessment (sections 2&3 of this template)? 

Please confirm 
(Yes/No) 

No 

 
 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 

Jim Murray 

Date: 

 

 

22 November 2022 

Equality representative sign off (where required): 

 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to sections two and three. 

If not proceeding to full assessment, please ensure your screening record is 

attached to any relevant decision-making records or reports, retain a copy for 

update where necessary, and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of assessing impact please contact the corporate equalities team 

for further advice: equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details of impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups 

and advancement of equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions, including any necessary mitigating actions to ensure fair treatment. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

Page 495

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
age? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
disability? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Gender reassignment  

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
gender reassignment? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership (only in relation to 
‘eliminate discrimination’) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
marriage and civil 
partnership? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
pregnancy and maternity? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Race 

Page 496



What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
race? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
religion or belief? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
sex? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact in relation to 
sexual orientation? 

Record of evidence which 
supports and/or explains your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings; a summary of any positive and/or 
negative impacts across the protected characteristics, links to the involvement of 
different groups and/or public consultation, mitigations and conclusions made. 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

Page 497



By ensuring a full range of voices relating to religious and non-religious viewpoints 
are reflected proportionately in the discussion and decision-making of SACRE, in 
line with the National R.E. Council and the principles of the Equality Act 2010, this 
proposal will promote positive relationships. 

 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

 

Review and connected assessments 

Are there any additional or connected equality impact 
assessments that need to be undertaken? (If yes, 
provide details) 

no 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 

Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 

Jim Murray  

Date: 

 

 

22 November 2022 

Equality representative sign off (where required): 

 

Date: 

 

Page 498



Please ensure: 

• The findings of this EIA are carefully considered and used to inform any 

related decisions and policy development  

• A summary of findings is included within the body of any relevant 

reports or decision-making records 

• The EIA is attached to reports or relevant decision-making records and 

the report Implications Appendix 1 is noted that an EIA has been 

undertaken 

 

Please retain a copy for review and update where necessary, and forward a copy to 

equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Page 499

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2022
	4 Adoption of the Inclusive Economic Strategy - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision: REG/08/22]
	Appendix 2 - County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy
	Appendix 2.pdf (p.1-2)
	Appendix 2 - County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy.pdf (p.3-46)

	Appendix 3a - County Durham Economic Review
	Appendix 3a.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix 3a - County Durham Economic Review.pdf (p.2-52)

	Appendix 3b - County Durham Economic Review Update
	Appendix 3b.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix 3b - County Durham Economic Review Update.pdf (p.2-22)

	Appendix 4 - County Durham Economic Statement
	Appendix 4.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix 4 - County Durham Economic Statement.pdf (p.2-6)

	Appendix 5 - IES Econ-versation Feedback Report
	Appendix 5.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix 5 - IES Econ-versation Feedback Report.pdf (p.2-41)

	Appendix 6 - Response to Economy and Enterprise OSC
	Appendix 6.pdf (p.1-2)
	Appendix 6 - Response to Economy and Enterprise OSC.pdf (p.3-14)

	Appendix 7 - IES Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 7.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix 7 - IES Equality Impact Assessment.pdf (p.2-18)


	5 Ecological Emergency: Outline Strategy and Action Plan - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change [Key Decision: NCC/04/22]
	6 Quarter Two, 2022/23 Performance Management Report - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	7 Adult Social Care Update Report - Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
	8 County Durham Plan Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 2021/22 - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	AMR 21-22

	9 Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and Director of Public Health
	10 Proposed revisions to the constitution for the Durham County Council Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	Appendix 2 - Members
	Appendix 3 - Constitution
	APPENDIX 4 - SACRE EIA


